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PART I

Item 1. Business:

Our Company

Kyndryl Holdings, Inc. (“we,” “Kyndryl” or the “Company”) is a leading technology services company and the
largest IT infrastructure services provider in the world, serving as a partner to more than 4,000 customers and with
operations in over 60 countries. We have a long track record of helping enterprises navigate major technological changes,
particularly by enabling our customers to focus on the core aspects of their businesses during these shifts while trusting us
with their most critical systems. Our purpose is to design, build and manage secure and responsive private, public and
multicloud environments to accelerate our customers’ digital transformations.

We provide engineering talent, operating paradigms and insights derived from our data around IT patterns. This
enables us to deliver advisory, implementation and managed services at scale across technology infrastructures that allow
our customers to de-risk and realize the full value of their digital transformations. We do this while embracing new
technologies and solutions and continually expanding our skills and capabilities, as we help advance the vital systems that
power progress for our customers. We deliver transformation and secure cloud services capabilities, insights and depth of
expertise to modernize and manage IT environments based on our customers’ unique patterns of transformation at scale.
We offer services across domains such as cloud services, core enterprise and zCloud services, applications, data and
artificial intelligence services, digital workplace services, security and resiliency services and network and edge services as
we continue to support our customers through technological change. Our services enable us to modernize and manage
cloud and on-premise environments as “one” for our customers, enabling them to scale seamlessly.

To deliver these services, we rely on our team of skilled practitioners, consisting of approximately 90,000
professionals. Given that our large and diversified customer base operates in multiple industries and geographies, we utilize
a flexible labor and delivery model with a balanced mix of global and local talent as needed to meet customer-specific
needs, regulatory requirements and data protection and labor laws. Our employees leverage their deep engineering
expertise and extensive experience operating complex and heterogeneous technology environments to drive service quality,
intellectual property development and our long-term trusted customer relationships.

As described in “— Our Customers,” we have many customer relationships that are decades long, as we provide
high-quality, mission-critical services that are core to operations with customers that represent the backbones of their
respective industries. These customers entrust us to deliver the services they need and to manage their complex
environments so that they can achieve their business objectives.

We partner with a broader ecosystem, including a wide range of hyperscale cloud providers, system integrators,
independent software vendors and technology vendors from startups to market leaders. This enables us to serve our
customers with the contemporary technology capabilities that best fit their needs and open new avenues for growth. This is
all underpinned by our ability to integrate and operate mission-critical technology at scale using deep engineering expertise
and intellectual property.

Our approach has enabled us to reach significant scale, with $18.7 billion in revenue for the year ended December
31, 2021. We are focused on driving revenue growth with sustainable margins by extending our leadership in the markets
in which we operate while investing in our capabilities and expanding our high-value, next-generation services consistent
with customer needs.

Kyndryl’s Spin-off

In October 2021, the Board of Directors of International Business Machines Corporation (“IBM” or “Parent”)
approved the spin-off (the “Separation” or the “Spin-off”) of the infrastructure services unit (the “Kyndryl Businesses”) of
its Global Technology Services (“GTS”) segment through the distribution of shares of Kyndryl’s common stock to IBM
stockholders (the “Distribution”). In conjunction with the Distribution, Kyndryl underwent an internal reorganization
following which it became the holder, directly or through its subsidiaries, of the Kyndryl Businesses. On November 3,
2021, the Separation was achieved through the Parent’s pro rata distribution of 80.1% of the shares of



Table of Contents

4

common stock of Kyndryl to holders of the Parent’s common stock as of the close of business on the record date of
October 25, 2021. The Parent retained 19.9% of the shares of the Company’s common stock. The Parent’s stockholders of
record received one share of the Company’s common stock for every five shares of the Parent’s common stock.

Our Industry and Market Opportunity

We participate in an industry that provides services for customers’ technology environments that power their
businesses. These services span areas such as management of mission-critical systems across dedicated data centers and
multiple clouds. As customers advance their digital transformations, they are looking for partners that understand their
business objectives and unique digital journeys and have the skills to instrument and engineer the IT environments to
enable their transformations. Our long-standing position as an informed and trusted partner, with decades-long
relationships and leading capabilities, provides us with the knowledge and expertise to help existing and new customers
realize their future.

The market for these services is large and dynamic. We estimate that these markets, which are a subset of the total
IT services market, collectively represent a $415 billion opportunity in 2021, which we expect will grow on average 7%
annually to $510 billion in 2024. Growth in this market is driven by services that are aligned to customers’ transformations,
including public cloud managed services (expected compound annual growth of 11% from 2021 to 2024), data services
(expected compound annual growth of 18% from 2021 to 2024), security services (expected compound annual growth of
12% from 2021 to 2024) intelligent automation services (expected compound annual growth of 27% from 2021 to 2024)
and managed services for edge environments representing a smaller portion of the market (expected compound annual
growth above 100% from 2021 to 2024).

Several trends underpin the growth of our market, including:

● Greater demand for digital transformation services. Companies continue to digitally transform to deliver better
customer experiences and compete more effectively, which drives the need for services to support modernization
of IT within the enterprise. The COVID-19 global pandemic has accelerated this already pervasive trend, as
organizations look to further their digital capabilities. International Data Corporation (“IDC”) estimates that
approximately 65% of GDP will be digitized by 2022. While customers seek to transform, skills availability
often represents a challenge, with lack of skills ranked as one of the top three impediments to transformation of
the IT environment according to Technology Business Research, Inc.

● Ongoing migration to the cloud. Companies continue to migrate workloads to the cloud, adopting new
capabilities for flexibility, workload portability and management. Public cloud is an increasingly critical
component of enterprise IT strategy. These transitions are often complex, with companies frequently seeking
assistance from service providers. Gartner forecasts that by 2026, 90% of large organizations will have engaged
external service providers to migrate applications to the cloud, an increase from 53% in 2020. The extension of
public cloud services to multiple environments in different locations has given rise to distributed cloud and
migration of workload to these infrastructures that have a greater fit for purpose.

● Rapid data growth. As economies have evolved digitally, significantly increasing data volume, management of
this data has become much more complex. IDC estimates that in 2021, enterprises created, captured and
replicated 45.9 zettabytes of data. The challenge for many organizations is how to collect, harness and govern
this data for insights that yield business results and realize data as a differentiator. In order to leverage advanced
capabilities such as artificial intelligence and machine learning to enable their business use cases, enterprises
need to address data privacy, compliance, security, multicloud data management and data governance across
physical and virtual layers of the IT estate.

● Increasing need for secure systems. As technology environments become increasingly complex and online,
remote and distributed work environments persist, cybersecurity will remain of paramount importance as threats
proliferate. Breaches in security can have severe, lasting financial and reputational consequences on businesses.
In response, businesses continue to build out their cybersecurity efforts, using service providers to augment their
capabilities. According to PwC’s 2021 CEO Survey, one-third of U.S. CEOs plan to increase investments in
cybersecurity by double digits, with 47% of CEOs citing cyber threats as sources of extreme
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concern to growth prospects. Enterprises seek service providers that can deploy the expertise and resources
needed to manage their growing cybersecurity needs with an efficient and comprehensive approach. Gartner
estimates approximately 80% of organizations currently have 16 or more tools from different vendors in their
cybersecurity portfolio, recognize vendor consolidation as an avenue for reduced costs and better security that
addresses the complexity in their IT environments and are, therefore, interested in vendor consolidation
strategies.

● Accelerating pace of technological advancement. As companies adopt new technologies for improved business
performance and innovation, they face a challenge in complexity to integrate these new technologies with their
existing IT estates. As a result, the required skills, integration burden and cost in end-to-end operational
management often increases. This drives adoption of new capabilities, such as automation, artificial intelligence
and machine learning to ensure that the IT environment is well designed and orchestrated to effectively realize
business objectives.

Our Services

We provide advisory, implementation and managed services in and across a range of technology domains to help
our customers manage and modernize enterprise IT environments in support of their business and transformation
objectives. Our services are differentiated based on our expertise and intellectual property and data around IT patterns
across customers in the following domains:

● Cloud Services: We design, build and provide managed services for our customers’ multicloud environments. We
apply a mix of skilled practitioners, intelligent automation and modern service management principles of Site
Reliability Engineering, AIOps, Infrastructure as Code and DevOps. We help enterprises optimize their use of
hyperscale cloud providers in a unified environment, seamlessly integrating services delivered by independent
software vendors (“ISVs”), large public cloud providers, internal platforms and other technologies (e.g., internet
of things (“IoT”)).

● Core Enterprise & zCloud Services: We establish and operate modern, dedicated technology infrastructure on
behalf of enterprise customers to enable their current and future growth and profitability objectives. We support a
range of enterprise infrastructure, including private clouds, mainframe environments, distributed computing,
enterprise networks and storage environments.

● Application, Data and Artificial Intelligence Services: We provide end-to-end enterprise data services, including
data transformation, data architecture and management, data governance and compliance and data migration. We
support chief digital officers and chief information officers (“CIOs”) in governing the vast quantities of enterprise
data across internal and external sources to drive their digital strategies, transactions and business objectives,
while maintaining security, ethical standards and compliance with country-specific data protection regulations
(e.g., GDPR, HIPAA and PCI). We provide services to design, build, manage and automate the IT environments
for enterprise applications as they migrate to the cloud. Our services help CIOs and chief technology officers
unlock the full value of leading third-party enterprise resource planning systems (e.g., Oracle, SAP) and
packaged applications through the use of AI and software-defined technologies.

● Digital Workplace Services: Our digital workplace services provide the technology infrastructure, mobility,
security and access solutions to support a global workforce that is constantly evolving. Our services include
enterprise mobility solutions that provide users with the ability to work seamlessly across environments and
locations.

● Security & Resiliency Services: We provide comprehensive enterprise cybersecurity services for chief
information security officers and chief risk officers, including insights, protection, detection, response and
recovery to support the security of our client's hybrid IT estate, data and operations. Concurrently, we provide
resiliency services that include a mix of business continuity planning and cloud-based disaster recovery
capabilities (composed of experts, digital tools and automation and failover environments). These services allow
our customers to operate without issue or disruption in response to attacks, outages, natural disasters and
geopolitical events.
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● Network Services & Edge: We provide network and edge services to help customers meet their technological and
commercial requirements for connectivity and compute across their digital environments. Our strategy and
assessment services help evaluate customers’ network needs for their multicloud environments, while our
network transformation and managed services allow customers to realize benefits of the latest software-defined
network technologies. We deliver these services with a proprietary framework and architecture coupled with
proof of concepts to then implement and manage enterprise networks with the right economics.

Our Competitive Strengths

We are a recognized leader in many of the services we provide, as acknowledged by research analysts (e.g.,
Everest, Forrester, Gartner, IDC, NelsonHall and HfS Research). We are known for our technology integration and
modernization expertise – designing, building and managing complex technology environments. Our worldwide and high-
quality service delivery is underpinned by experienced and highly-trained practitioners that bring the best of our
capabilities to our customers on a daily basis. Importantly, our culture of customer service excellence – especially in times
of crisis, from COVID-19 to tsunamis, floods, cyber-attacks and power outages – carries on from our heritage through our
people. Given our unique capabilities, scale, intellectual property and engineering talent, we are positioned to partner with
enterprises for their future across a range of technologies, use cases and business strategies to help them maximize the
return on their technology investments and digital transformations.

Our competitive strengths stem from our intellectual property and data around IT patterns, our mission-critical
expertise and our broad ecosystem of partners:

● We are a leader in technology services. We are the largest provider of IT infrastructure services and are
recognized by research analysts as a leader in key service areas. We possess significant experience in virtually all
industries, gained through collaboration with customers across over 30 years designing, building and managing
operating environments for their IT systems. Our highly skilled workforce provides the expertise (e.g.,
approximately 13,000 Red Hat accreditations) to securely and reliably handle many of the most complex issues.
In conjunction with our delivery capabilities (such as artificial intelligence that augments our people) and scale,
we provide mission-critical services to a diversified customer base. We also have unique intellectual property
applicable to IT environments, as reflected by our portfolio of approximately 3,000 patents.

● We consistently deliver unsurpassed performance and reliability for complex environments. Our expert
practitioners and talented engineers provide services through modern ways of working, including agile and
design thinking. Additionally, our unique intellectual property and industry-leading technology platforms utilize
contemporary approaches to IT operations to provide reliable and efficient solutions for each customer’s
operating model. These capabilities allow us to execute with secure and compliant operating and delivery models
at scale, driving high-quality performance and customer satisfaction. We realize high-quality performance across
thousands of service-level agreements and consistently achieve world-class customer satisfaction and advocacy.

● We deliver insights at scale, supported by unique automation capabilities and application of AI. Our ability to
deliver superior outcomes for customers is driven by our capacity to leverage our data around IT patterns and
insights, derived from multiple technology environments across customer engagements. We apply machine
learning, combined with our practitioner expertise, to derive unique insights used to service customers, enhance
our offerings and produce our next-generation services. For example, we are recognized leaders in the use of
automation and operational AI in the delivery of our services, with over 6,000,000 automated actions per month,
enabling greater quality and efficiency for us and our customers. Our operational AI approach and set of
technologies, along with intellectual property that we apply and continually evolve, are leveraged to develop
predictive actions to prevent issues before they arise.

● We are a recognized leader in managed services for cloud and on-premise environments and services such as
security and resiliency. We offer a range of high-value capabilities including cloud services and security &
resiliency services, providing us with a sustainable competitive advantage when helping customers transform
their technology environments. Our multicloud management capabilities are differentiated by our ability to
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deliver an integrated view of our customers’ diverse technology environments and to provide our services and
solutions digitally. We offer integrated services between the cloud and on-premise environments.

● We offer an integrated ecosystem to help customers adopt and run an increasingly heterogeneous set of
technologies. As customers pursue multiple cloud-based technology partners, applications and capabilities,
integration is increasingly critical for customers to manage and orchestrate the technology ecosystem required to
run their businesses and achieve their broader objectives. We provide holistic services across thousands of
diverse technologies, delivering end-to-end integration across public and private / on-premise cloud platforms
and other full-stack technology solutions. We continue to enhance our ecosystem of partners, including large
public cloud providers, application-oriented system integrators, independent software vendors and other players
in the technology stack to provide leading technologies and capabilities for our customers. Our services and
ecosystems enable us to offer leading services for all levels of customer environment complexity and integration.

Our Strategies

Our strategy is centered on our ability to build and enrich trusted relationships with customers and technology
partners, differentiating through our proven ability to create and deploy scale-derived intellectual property, provide
mission-critical expertise across industries and partner with a broad ecosystem for contemporary capabilities that best suit
customers’ needs. We have a strong and long-standing foundation developed by governing and managing complex
technology environments, including IBM (e.g., Red Hat and Cloud Paks) and third-party technologies (e.g., VMware,
ServiceNow and Microsoft). We are extending these capabilities to an even broader ecosystem of technology providers,
including new strategic relationships with Microsoft and Google Cloud announced in fourth quarter 2021, and are
developing more services that are digitally consumable to expand accessibility to new customers and markets.

We have a long track record of running customers’ technology environments, enabling them to focus on the core
aspects of their businesses. Given the nature of the work we do, we have a unique perspective on the operating paradigms
that enable the high-quality technology environments which our customers have come to rely on for their most critical
systems. This position enables us to meet customers where they are in their unique digital transformations, work alongside
our customers to take them where they want to be and in turn enable them to realize the full, at-scale value of that journey.
Underpinning all of this are our intellectual property, mission-critical expertise across industries and a broad ecosystem.

We benefit from our long-standing and deep relationship with IBM. We manage the largest installed base of IBM
hardware and software products, including some of the most complex deployments.

Our focus is centered on the following strategic tenets:

● Scale insights and intellectual property. We are investing to position ourselves at the forefront of developing and
innovating the services and operating paradigms for the evolution and integration of mission-critical technology,
further expanding our existing intellectual property in differentiated areas. Our depth of experience implementing
and operating complex architectures across technology sets has yielded valuable experience and intellectual
property that has defined the operating paradigm for much of the technology stack. We have approximately 3,000
patents that relate to various areas of running complex technology environments, including certain patents related
to multi-cloud management, orchestration, integrated monitoring, issue triage and resolution and several other
areas that enable quality of service. Our mission-critical expertise across all industries, augmented by our
automation platforms that draw on our IP and data, is a key differentiator in managing complex technology
environments.

● Diverse ecosystem with freedom of action. As an independent entity, we have the freedom of action to develop a
broad ecosystem of strategic partnerships with a wider set of technology and services companies. We are
investing in an ecosystem of technology providers and corresponding skill-sets that are increasingly relevant as
enterprises digitize and transform their business models, building on our existing base of certifications across
many market-leading technologies. In parallel, we are extending our operating paradigms and governance and



Table of Contents

8

compliance models to this broader set of technologies to integrate and provide end-to-end capabilities for our
customers as they digitize and evolve their environments.

● Digitally consumable services models. Looking ahead, we see opportunity to further expand in areas where we
can better serve customers through consumption models that allow them to experience our services digitally.
These models will combine our platforms, our technology governance and our ecosystem with ease-of-use and
scalability, tailored to the needs of specific customer segments such as middle-market enterprises.

To execute these strategies, our operating model reflects that of a services company, emphasizing customers and
resulting in a flatter, faster and more focused company. We are pursuing an investment and co-investment strategy focused
on building our team, developing aligned intellectual property and automation and broadening our ecosystem of
partnerships.

Our Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) strategy is at the heart of Kyndryl’s purpose to power human
progress. We aim to create a sustainable and inclusive future by driving sustainable business practices and positive social
impact at scale. As a newly independent company, Kyndryl is working to assess and establish its operational baseline
across ESG dimensions.

Kyndryl expects to develop greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions targets and plans to recertify pursuant to the ISO
certifications most relevant to Kyndryl, including the ISO 14001 standard. Beyond our environmental commitments,
Kyndryl is focused on building a diverse workforce and an inclusive and equitable culture. With respect to governance
matters, Kyndryl will also leverage industry best practices to govern its quality management system, processes and tools to
ensure operations meet the standards of compliance and responsible business practices that clients and partners expect. We
also maintain Business Conduct Guidelines for directors, executive officers and employees which summarize our policies
addressing anti-harassment; anti-discrimination; retaliation prevention; physical and cybersecurity; confidentiality and data
privacy; and prevention of fraud, waste and abuse.

Our Customers

Our customer relationships across all industries demonstrate the deep level of trust that we have earned and the
role we play as a partner that provides technical expertise, insight and intellectual property to solve customer challenges.
We are the trusted advisor and partner to more than 4,000 customers worldwide, in technology-intensive and often highly
regulated environments, managing mission-critical technology environments across a wide range of industries. Our
customers collectively represent:

● In financial services, over 60% of the top 50 banks’ assets under management

● In telecommunications, approximately half of the industry’s mobile connections worldwide

● In retail, over 50% of the industry’s hypermarket sales

● In automotive, approximately 45% of the industry’s production of passenger vehicles

● In transportation, over 35% of total revenue passenger miles flown

Our revenues are concentrated in the industries mentioned above, but our revenues are diversified across a broad
set of customers. In 2021, our top five customers accounted for approximately 9% of our revenue, with our largest
customer representing approximately 2% of our revenue.

As companies engage in their digital journeys, they face a key impediment related to the skills and expertise
needed to realize their transformations. This, in part, is brought on by the increasing complexity of enterprise
environments, the incorporation of new technologies and the deployment of different operating models. While many
companies have strengthened their technology teams, they have also encountered difficulties in sourcing the breadth of
expertise needed for their environments and leveraged service providers to address their needs. Companies will benefit
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from selecting service providers that have greater insight into their environments and needs, which advantages partners
with long-lasting customer relationships.

Through decades of collaboration with customers, we have developed deep relationships as we supported the
technology environments that advanced their business agendas. Recent examples include:

Large-scale transformation to cloud: We partnered with a large, European financial institution to help it migrate
from a predominantly on-premise, classic infrastructure environment to a cloud-based infrastructure, utilizing both private
and public clouds. We provided the expertise and support to navigate this digital transformation while maintaining and
improving quality of service as we moved over 1,000 applications. We also deployed a new Kubernetes container-based
environment and management capabilities to increase workload portability and flexibility. This work enabled the
customer’s platform to run with increased digital agility and efficiency, embedding strong data security within the new
cloud-based infrastructure and providing alignment to the existing infrastructure environment. The customer’s
transformation has brought business benefits, from new products and services that are brought to market faster, to an
increase in sales through online channels.

Modernization of the technology environment: Based on a relationship spanning almost two decades, we
partnered with a large European bank to help launch a 10-year transformational program to increase operational agility and
efficiency by optimizing the customer’s critical infrastructure, reducing complexity, migrating to hybrid cloud and reducing
operational costs. We reduced IT infrastructure complexity by redesigning critical infrastructure architecture, including
networks, storage, virtualization and data backup for improved efficiency, enabled ‘scalable’ hybrid cloud by implementing
and updating existing systems to a hybrid cloud solution supported by Red Hat and transformed legacy IT services by
modernizing tools and the operating model for deployment of IT services. The customer will benefit from modern IT
infrastructure including cloud and mainframes that supports their core banking services and treasury functions.

Digital transformation across the enterprise: We collaborated with a large material sciences company in North
America to support their mission-critical IT infrastructure globally, providing integrated management for environments that
include hybrid cloud infrastructure, network, security and end-user services. As the COVID-19 pandemic impacted the
operations of many companies, we worked with our customer to help move more than 40,000 employees to a remote model
while maintaining critical operations in production facilities without disruption. Building on our 16-year history of
collaboration, we are working to accelerate their digital transformation. We are helping our customer build foundational
capabilities for their digital journey, powered by data, analytics and artificial intelligence and machine learning integrated
into core business processes and connected through a flexible and secure network. This will support our customer’s ability
to fully exploit digital technologies and realize business benefit.

Digitization for flexibility: Our customer, a large Japanese transportation company, was engaged in a technology-
driven transformation to establish a flexible IT environment using hybrid cloud that evolves with changing business needs.
We worked with the customer to build an integrated private and public cloud with the same virtualization architecture and a
management capability that unifies operations and evolves with the business. Through our collaboration, we created an
integrated infrastructure to meet our customer’s current and future needs by modernizing its on-premise, off-premise and
network environments as well as its management platform. We deployed software-defined networks across the
environment and automation to realize improved quality and business continuity. Our work helps support our customer’s
efforts to become one of the most valued and preferred transportation companies in the world.

An important part of our services involve supporting our customers during times of crisis, including global
disruptions. For instance, during the COVID-19 pandemic, our business continuity plans mitigated all COVID-driven
outages in the height of the pandemic, providing peace-of-mind to our customers and giving them the confidence to focus
on their core businesses. We ensured that our customers had the data and IT services needed to migrate operations to a
work-from-home environment. Our response also demonstrated the resilience of our delivery model, as most of our
professionals moved to work-from-home without impact to customer service.
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Sales and Marketing

Our customer engagement and brand positioning is focused on deepening our existing customer relationships,
attracting and winning new customers and creating an ecosystem built on go-to-market relationships with leading cloud
and other technology providers, advisors and integrators to offer best-in-class advisory, implementation and managed
services tailored to each existing and new customer’s environment and requirements.

Customer-centric account approach. We have dedicated account coverage teams within our global operating
structure. The teams leverage our intellectual capital and tools underpinned by insights and proven practices derived from
operating at scale. Senior account leaders orchestrate the teams and have end-to-end accountability from sale to delivery
for managed services customers. They tailor the full suite of our services to customers’ needs to deliver value and business
outcomes across a wide range of technology environments. Account leaders are supported by dedicated, multi-disciplinary
technical sales and delivery teams, as well as by shared services teams, to support an effective and efficient engagement.
This account coverage model ensures consistent and reliable delivery of services for our existing relationships over the
lifetime of current and renewal contracts. In addition, the model supports the potential expansion of existing relationships
based on our deep industry perspective and expertise and knowledge of customers’ unique needs. Finally, this account-
based model seeks to build and expand existing relationships with line-of-business buyers, as they have become critical
decision makers working alongside our customers.

Customer growth and new customer acquisition. In line with our customer-centric approach, we are focused on
co-creating and innovating with customers to advance and deepen our relationships. We leverage our broad base of
expertise, capabilities and partners to prototype, test and develop innovative solutions across various approaches and
technologies. Additionally, we offer bespoke project capabilities in advisory, implementation and transformation services to
help customers enhance and evolve their technology environments. We deploy our talent, thought leadership, proven
practices, intellectual capital and partnership ecosystem as part of our project engagements to mature them into longer-tail
managed services opportunities. In addition, we attract and develop new customers across the globe via account-based
marketing, insights derived from operating at scale and direct sales teams with years of sector-specific experience and
proven practices to generate unique insights for customers. As we gain new customers, we apply our account coverage
model to expand our relationships and footprint over time.

Partnership and alliance ecosystem. While we maintain a large and strong partnership with IBM, we are
continuing to enhance and develop strategic partnerships with companies in the ecosystems most relevant to our customers’
digital transformations. This includes building new routes to market across these ecosystems to serve as a multiplier
enabling us to expand business via partners such as: public cloud providers, ISVs, technology providers (ranging from
established, scaled players to growth-stage start-ups), system integrators, business consulting firms and business services
providers. These relationships bring value to our customers through broader access to best-in-class solutions that are
tailored for their unique technology environments and digital journeys. We announced several partnerships in the fourth
quarter of 2021, including with Microsoft, Google, SAP and VMware, that accelerate broader market participation, joint
solution development and investment in skills and certification enhancements for Kyndryl. We have established dedicated
teams to support our key alliance partners and will continue to co-create and co-market with them to deliver value to our
mutual customers, driving differentiation in the market with industry leading technology and Kyndryl services.

Our Competition

We compete in a market for technology services along with many other providers, ranging from small, highly
specialized companies that serve a limited number of customers to large, multi-service enterprises with many clients. These
service providers include incumbents that have expanded their offerings to migration and management of cloud-based
environments; companies that utilize labor-based models and leverage talent pools primarily in lower-cost countries that
have grown to offer a broad range of services with a worldwide presence; and advisory-focused system integrators
specializing in bringing together disparate technology environments so that they function as one. Many of these companies
offer a mix of advisory, implementation and managed services across infrastructure, application and business processes.
Examples include Atos, DXC, Fujitsu, Infosys, Rackspace, Tata Consultancy Services and Wipro, among others.
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The basis of competition involves multiple factors, with key elements including quality of service, technical skills
and capabilities, industry knowledge and experience, financial value, ability to innovate, intellectual property and methods,
contracting flexibility and speed of execution. Long-standing partnerships and knowledge of the customers’ technology
environment often enable service providers to better address requirements and future needs. Our decades-long
collaboration with customers provides us with the insights to realize distinctive performance that supports their digital
transformation. We deliver unique value by providing intellectual property derived from insights at scale, deploying
mission-critical expertise and leveraging a broad ecosystem – while building and strengthening partnerships to enhance the
customer experience.

We position ourselves uniquely, leveraging a core strength in governance and management of complex IT
infrastructure environments, delivered through a global footprint. Our services support customers’ digital transformations,
as we help accelerate their journeys by providing instrumented and engineered technology environments. We offer choice
with consistency through an operating paradigm and management model built from our experiences with complex
technologies. These capabilities uniquely position us as both a leading partner and competitor within the same market.

Intellectual Property

We are committed to developing leading-edge ideas and technologies and see innovation as a source of
competitive advantage. We have approximately 3,000 patents that are related to our business model. A key pillar of our
strategy is continuing to invest in knowledge and intellectual property to support extending our services to a broader
ecosystem of technology providers and customer challenges and solutions. Our decades of experiences working with our
customers has generated operational insights, creating intellectual property that we leverage for the benefit of our
customers and deploy at scale. We rely on intellectual property protections in the countries in which we operate, along with
contractual restrictions, to establish and protect our offerings and services and other applicable rights. In addition, we
license third-party software along with other technologies that are used in the provision of or incorporated into some
elements of our services. We possess a significant intellectual property portfolio, which we believe is important to our
success. However, we believe our business as a whole is not materially dependent on any particular intellectual property
right or any particular group of patents, trademarks, copyrights or licenses.

Additionally, we own or have rights to various trademarks, logos, service marks and trade names that are used in
the operation of our business. We also own or have the rights to copyrights that protect the content of our products and
other proprietary materials.

Human Capital Resources

Employees

As of December 31, 2021, we had approximately 90,000 employees in more than 60 countries. Approximately
92% of our employees work outside the U.S., with workforce hubs in India, Poland, Brazil, Japan, Czech Republic and
Hungary.

Our people advance the vital systems that power human progress. Our global workforce is highly skilled,
reflective of the work we do for our customers’ digital transformations and in support of their mission-critical operations.
Our industry experts are also always continuously learning. Over the past five years, we earned more than 245,000 badges
through our learning platform in strategic skills, including cloud, AI, analytics, design thinking, quantum and security. At
Kyndryl, we are:

● A purpose-led culture, focused on inspiring our dedicated people to advance what’s possible for our customers

● A business where our people are our business. We want empowered employees who keep learning, thriving and
creating

● Inclusive and open. This starts with a diverse and empathetic workforce that listens and learns at every step



Table of Contents

12

● Fostering an environment that supports new ways of working, accelerated career progression and the chance to
work with the most interesting technology systems

● Promoting innovation at every turn – in our open and transparent leadership, in our purpose and in our shared
values built around a commitment to advancing what’s next for ourselves and our customers

Our people are at the center of designing, building and managing the technology environments that the world
depends on every day. We will continue to invest in our teams to be at the heart of technological change for our customers.

Talent and Culture

Our business is our people, and our talent strategy revolves around our ability to best serve our customers through
ongoing investment in talent and skill development. We attract, develop and retain talent in a dynamic and competitive
environment. We are focused on optimizing the employee experience at Kyndryl through:

● Attracting: We create technical careers of the future through increased skill development to meet and exceed new
market demands

● Developing: We align our people’s goals with our customers’, promoting acquisition of critical skills on an
individual level and continuous learning

● Retaining: We retain talent through increased career mobility, internal upskilling, reskilling opportunities and
promotions

We are committed to building the technical careers of the future and have made investments in training and skills
to ensure our people are relevant, experienced and technically positioned to serve our customers on their most complex
challenges. We continue to expand our certifications and accreditations each year through consistent investment in skill
development around emerging technologies and key areas for growth.

We offer comprehensive market-competitive rewards and benefits programs including health benefits, mental
health support and Employee Assistance Plans, retirement savings benefits, paid time off and recognition programs, among
others.

Inclusion, Diversity and Equity (“ID&E”)

We empower Kyndryls to embed ID&E throughout our business to engender a diverse workforce and inclusive,
equitable culture that delivers exceptional service for our customers and advances the vital systems that power human
progress.

We will uphold and build upon a strong history of inclusion, diversity and equity. Key diversity and inclusion
objectives are:

● Connected and inclusive culture: Drive a culture where employees feel a sense of inclusion and belonging 

● Diverse and representative teams : Attract, develop and retain diverse talent across levels and geographies 

● Embedding ID&E within business and operations: Embedding ID&E in every part of our business 

● Community engagement and advocacy: Cultivate opportunity and promote equity for under-served communities
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Health, Safety and Well-Being

We have a clear commitment to the health, safety and well-being of our employees. We have an experienced
Health and Safety team comprised of medical doctors, nurses, industrial hygiene, safety and workforce health experts. This
team has implemented a health and safety management system that ensures compliance with all local health and safety
regulations, minimizes workplace health and safety risks and provides for safe and healthy workplaces so our employees
can do their best work.

Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, our priority has continued to be the health and safety of employees,
customers and partners, while supporting our customers’ operations. We have a comprehensive, global pandemic
management plan that is regularly updated to reflect the changing environment of workplace health and safety. Our
employees are supported with access to our Health and Safety team, education, timely updates and forums to ask questions
and raise concerns. Additionally, we have continued to focus on mental health and supporting our employees through
different phases of the pandemic.

Company Website, Social Media and Availability of SEC Filings

The Company’s internet website is www.kyndryl.com. Information on the Company’s website is not incorporated
by reference herein and is not a part of this report. The Company makes available free of charge on its website or provides
a link on its website to the Company’s Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current
Reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as soon as reasonably practicable after those reports are electronically filed with or
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission. To access these filings, go to the investor relations section of the
Company’s website (investors.kyndryl.com) and under the “Financials” heading, click on “SEC Filings.” In addition, the
SEC maintains an Internet website (http://www.sec.gov) containing reports, proxy and information statements, and other
information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC.

The Company may use its website and/or social media outlets, such as Facebook, LinkedIn and Twitter, as
distribution channels of material Company information. Financial and other important information regarding the Company
is routinely posted on and accessible through the Company’s website at https://investors.kyndryl.com, its Facebook page at
https://www.facebook.com/kyndryl, its LinkedIn page at https://linkedin.com/company/kyndryl and its Twitter account
(@Kyndryl) at https://twitter.com/Kyndryl. In addition, you may automatically receive email alerts and other information
about the Company when you enroll your email address by visiting the “Investor Email Alerts” section under the
“Resources” section at https://investors.kyndryl.com.

Industry and Market Data

The sources of certain statistical data, industry data, estimates and forecasts contained in this 10-K are the
following independent industry publications or reports:

● Gartner, Smarter With Gartner: Top Security and Risk Trends for 2021, dated April 5, 2021

● Gartner, Forecast: IT Services, Worldwide, 2019-2025, 4Q21 Update, dated December 21, 2021 (the “Gartner IT
Services Report”)

● Gartner, Forecast Analysis: Digital Business Consulting Services, Worldwide, dated December 7, 2020 (the
“Gartner Consulting Services Forecast Report”)

● Gartner, Forecast Analysis: Cloud Consulting and Implementation Services, Worldwide, dated July 23, 2021

● Gartner, Magic Quadrant for Managed Mobility Services, Global 2021, dated April 6, 2021

● Gartner, Market Share: IT Services, Worldwide 2020, dated April 8, 2021
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We performed calculations of market sizes and growth rates using Gartner research from the Gartner IT Services
Report and the Gartner Consulting Services Forecast Report.

The Gartner reports described herein (the “Gartner Content”) represent research opinion or viewpoints published,
as part of a syndicated subscription service, by Gartner, Inc. (“Gartner”) and are not representations of fact. The Gartner
Content speaks as of its original publication date (and not as of the date of this 10-K), and the opinions expressed in the
Gartner Content are subject to change without notice.

Gartner does not endorse any vendor, product or service depicted in its research publications, and does not advise
technology users to select only those vendors with the highest ratings or other designation. Gartner research publications
consist of the opinions of Gartner’s research organization and should not be construed as statements of fact. Gartner
disclaims all warranties, expressed or implied, with respect to this research, including any warranties of merchantability or
fitness for a particular purpose.

Item 1A. Risk Factors:

Risks Relating to Our Business

A lack of new customers, retention of existing customers and sales of additional services to customers could adversely
impact our revenue and results of operations.

Our ability to maintain or increase our revenues and profit may be impacted by a number of factors, including our
ability to attract new customers, retain existing customers and sell additional, comparable gross margin services to our
customers. We may incur higher customer acquisition or retention costs as a result of the Spin-off and as we seek to grow
our customer base and expand our markets. Moreover, to the extent we are unable to retain and sell additional services to
existing customers, our revenue and results of operations may decrease. Our outsourcing customer contracts typically have
an average duration of over five years and, unless terminated, may be renewed or automatically extended on a month-to-
month basis. Our customers have no obligation to renew their services after their initial contract periods expire and any
termination fees associated with an early termination may not be sufficient to recover our costs associated with such
contracts. The loss of business from any of our major customers, whether by the cancellation of existing contracts, the
failure to obtain new business or lower overall demand for our services, could adversely impact our revenue and results of
operations.

We may not meet our growth and productivity objectives.

Our goals for profitability and growth rely upon a number of assumptions, including our ability to make
successful investments to grow and further develop our business and simplify our operations. The risks and challenges we
face in connection with our strategies include expanding our professional services capability, expanding in geographies
where we currently have a small presence and ensuring that our services remain competitive in a rapidly changing
technological environment. We may invest significantly in key strategic areas to drive long-term revenue growth and share
gains. These investments may adversely affect our near-term revenue growth and results of operations, and we cannot
guarantee that they will ultimately be successful. Customer adoption rates and viable economic models are less certain in
highly competitive segments. Additionally, emerging business and delivery models may unfavorably impact demand and
profitability for our solutions or services. If we are unable to find partners to develop cutting-edge innovations in a highly
competitive and rapidly evolving environment or are unable to implement and integrate such innovations with sufficient
speed and versatility, we could fail in our ongoing efforts to maintain and increase our revenue and profit margins.

Competition in the markets in which we operate may adversely impact our results of operations.

Our competitors include incumbents that have expanded their offerings to migration and management of cloud-
based environments; companies that utilize labor-based models and leverage talent pools primarily in lower-cost countries
that have grown to offer a broad range of services with a worldwide presence; and advisory-focused system integrators
specializing in bringing together disparate technology environments. Our competitiveness is based on factors including
quality of services, technical skills and capabilities, industry knowledge and experience, financial value, ability
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to innovate, intellectual property and methods, contracting flexibility, and speed of execution. If we are unable to compete
based on such factors, our results of operations and business prospects could be harmed.

This competition may decrease our revenue and place downward pressure on operating margins in our industry,
particularly for contract extensions or renewals. As a result, we may not be able to maintain our current revenue and
operating margins, or achieve favorable operating margins, for contracts extended or renewed in the future. If we fail to
create and sustain an efficient and effective cost structure that scales with revenues during periods with declining revenues,
our margins and results of operations may be adversely affected.

Companies with whom we have alliances in certain areas may be or become competitors in other areas. In
addition, companies with whom we have alliances also may acquire or form alliances with competitors, which could
reduce their business with us. If we are unable to effectively manage these complicated relationships with alliance peers,
our business and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Our business could be adversely impacted by our relationships with critical suppliers and partners.

Our business employs a wide variety of products and services from a number of suppliers and partners around the
world. Our relationships with our partners, who supply us with necessary components to the services and solutions we offer
our customers, are also critical to our ability to provide many of our services and solutions that address customer demands.
There can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain such relationships, including in light of our separation from
IBM. Among other things, such partners may in the future decide to compete with us, form exclusive or more favorable
arrangements with our competitors or otherwise reduce our access to their products, impairing our ability to provide the
services and solutions demanded by customers. Further, changes in the business condition (financial or otherwise) of these
suppliers or partners could subject us to losses and affect our ability to bring our offerings to market. Additionally, the
failure of our suppliers and partners to deliver products and services in sufficient quantities, in a timely manner, and in
compliance with all applicable laws and regulations could adversely affect our business. Any defective products or
inadequate services received from suppliers or partners could reduce the reliability of our services and harm our reputation.

If we are unable to attract and retain key personnel and other skilled employees, our business could be harmed.

If any of our key employees were to leave, we could face substantial difficulty in hiring qualified successors and
could experience a loss in productivity while any successor obtains the necessary training and experience. Although we
have arrangements with some of our executive officers designed to promote retention, our employment relationships are
generally at-will, and key employees may leave us. We intend to continue to hire additional highly qualified personnel but
may not be able to attract, assimilate or retain similarly qualified personnel in the future.

In addition, much of our future success depends on the continued service, availability and integrity of skilled
employees, including technical, sales and staff resources. Skilled and experienced personnel in the areas where we compete
are in high demand, and competition for their talents is intense. Our inability to retain skilled employees could intensify the
adverse impact of a shortage of critical skills. Changing demographics and labor workforce trends also may result in a
shortage of or insufficient knowledge and skills. Further, as global opportunities and industry demand shift, realignment,
training and scaling of skilled resources may not be sufficiently rapid or successful. Any failure to attract, integrate,
motivate and retain these employees could harm our business.

Due to our global presence, our business and operations could be adversely impacted by local legal, economic, political,
health and other conditions, including the COVID-19 pandemic.

We are a globally integrated company and have operations worldwide. Changes in the laws or policies of the
countries in which we operate, or inadequate development or enforcement of such laws or policies, could affect our
business and our overall results of operations. Further, we may be impacted directly or indirectly by the development and
enforcement of laws and regulations in the U.S. and globally that are specifically targeted at the technology industry. Our
results of operations also could be affected by economic and political changes in those countries and by macroeconomic
changes, including recessions, inflation, currency fluctuations between the U.S. dollar and non-U.S. currencies and adverse
changes in trade relationships among those countries. As we expand our customer base and the scope of our offerings, both
within the United States and globally, we may be further impacted by additional regulatory
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or other risks, including compliance with U.S. and foreign data privacy requirements, data localization requirements, labor
relations laws, enforcement of intellectual property protection laws, laws relating to anti-corruption, anti-competition
regulations, and import, export and trade restrictions. Further, international trade disputes could create uncertainty. Tariffs
and international trade sanctions resulting from these disputes could affect our ability to move goods and services across
borders, or could impose added costs to those activities. Measures taken to date by us to mitigate these impacts could be
made less effective should trade sanctions or tariffs change. In addition, any widespread outbreak of an illness, pandemic or
other local or global health issue, natural disasters including those that could be related to climate change impacts, or
uncertain political climates, international hostilities, or any terrorist activities, could adversely affect customer demand, our
operations and supply chain, and our ability to source and deliver solutions to our customers. For example, the COVID-19
pandemic has created significant volatility, uncertainty and economic disruption. In the current macroeconomic
environment, customers continue to balance short-term challenges and opportunities for transformation. While some
customers have begun to accelerate their digital transformation and increase their expenditures, the short-term priorities of
other customers continue to be focused on operational stability, flexibility and cash preservation, and as such, we may
experience some disruptions in transactional performance. Additionally, customers’ short-term priorities, as well as
quarantines, limitations on travel, supply chain disruptions and other factors associated with the COVID-19 pandemic have
resulted and may continue to result in delays in some services projects.

A downturn in the economic environment and customer spending budgets could adversely impact our business.

Our overall performance depends in part on global macroeconomic and geopolitical conditions, which can change
suddenly and unpredictably. Because we operate globally and have significant businesses in many markets, an economic
slowdown in any of those markets could adversely affect our results of operations. If overall demand for our solutions
decreases, or if customers decide to reduce their spending budgets as a result of such conditions, including those associated
with the COVID-19 pandemic, our revenue and profit could be materially and adversely impacted.

Damage to our reputation could adversely impact our business.

Our reputation may be susceptible to damage by events such as significant disputes with customers, internal
control deficiencies, delivery failures, cybersecurity incidents, government investigations or legal proceedings or actions of
current or former customers, directors, employees, competitors, vendors, alliance partners or joint venture partners. If we
fail to gain a positive reputation as leader in our field, or if our brand image is tarnished by negative perceptions, our ability
to attract and retain customers and talent could be impacted.

If we are unable to accurately estimate the cost of services and the timeline for completion of contracts, the profitability
of our contracts may be materially and adversely affected.

Our commercial contracts are typically awarded on a competitive or “sole-source” basis. Our bids are priced upon,
among other items, the expected cost to provide the services. We are dependent on our internal forecasts and predictions
about our projects and the marketplace and, to generate an acceptable return on our investment in these contracts, we must
be able to accurately estimate our costs to provide the services required by the contract and to complete the contracts in a
timely manner. We face a number of risks when pricing our contracts, as many of our projects entail the coordination of
operations and workforces in multiple locations and utilizing workforces with different skill sets and competencies across
geographically diverse service locations. In addition, revenues from some of our contracts are recognized using the
percentage-of-completion method, which requires estimates of total costs at completion, fees earned on the contract, or
both. This estimation process, particularly due to the technical nature of the services being performed and the long-term
nature of certain contracts, is complex and involves significant judgment. Adjustments to original estimates are often
required as work progresses, experience is gained, and additional information becomes known, even though the scope of
the work required under the contract may not change. Moreover, inflation can adversely affect us by increasing our costs
and, if we are unable to adjust our pricing, revenue or costs, can adversely affect the profitability of our contracts. If we fail
to accurately estimate our costs or the time required to complete a contract, the profitability of our contracts may be
materially and adversely affected.
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Service delivery issues could adversely impact our business and operating results.

We have customer agreements in place that include certain service-level commitments. If we are unable to meet
such commitments, we may be contractually obligated to pay penalties or provide these customers with service credits for a
portion of the service fees paid by our customers. However, we cannot be assured that our customers will accept these
penalties or credits in lieu of other legal remedies that may be available to them. Our failure to meet our commitments
could also result in customer dissatisfaction or loss and have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Risks from acquisitions, alliances and dispositions include integration challenges, failure to achieve objectives, the
assumption of liabilities and higher debt levels.

Subject in certain circumstances to the consent of IBM under the Tax Matters Agreement, as discussed in “- Risks
Relating to our Recent Spin-off from IBM,” we may decide to make acquisitions, alliances and dispositions in furtherance
of our strategy. Such transactions can present significant challenges and risks, and there can be no assurances that we will
identify or manage such transactions successfully or that strategic opportunities will be available to us on acceptable terms
or at all. The related risks include our failure to achieve strategic objectives, our failure to achieve anticipated revenue
improvements and cost savings, our failure to retain key strategic relationships of acquired companies, our failure to retain
key personnel and our assumption of liabilities related to litigation or other legal proceedings involving the businesses in
such transactions, as well as our failure to close planned transactions. Such transactions may require us to secure financing,
and our indebtedness may limit the availability of financing to us or the favorability of the terms of available financing. If
we do acquire other companies, we may not realize all the economic benefit from those acquisitions, which could cause an
impairment of goodwill or intangible assets. If our goodwill or net intangible assets become impaired, we may be required
to record a charge to our income statement as we did in the quarter ended December 31, 2021. See “�We have recorded
significant goodwill impairment charges and may be required to record additional charges to future earnings if our
goodwill or long-lived assets become impaired.”

We could be adversely impacted by our business with government customers.

Our customers include numerous governmental entities within and outside the United States, including foreign
governments and U.S. state and local entities. Some of our agreements with these customers may be subject to periodic
funding approval. Funding reductions or delays could adversely impact public sector demand for our services. Also,
government contracts tend to have additional requirements beyond commercial contracts and, for example, may contain
provisions providing for higher liability limits for certain losses. In addition, we could be suspended or debarred as a
governmental contractor and could incur civil and criminal fines and penalties, which could negatively impact our results
of operations, financial results and reputation.

Intellectual property matters could adversely impact our business.

Our intellectual property rights may not prevent competitors from independently developing services similar to or
duplicative of ours, nor can there be any assurance that the resources invested by us to protect our intellectual property will
be sufficient or that our intellectual property portfolio will adequately deter misappropriation or improper use of our
technology. Our ability to protect our intellectual property could also be impacted by changes to existing laws, legal
principles and regulations governing intellectual property. Further, we rely on third-party intellectual property rights, open-
source software, and other third-party software in providing some of our services and solutions, and there can be no
assurances that we will be able to obtain from third parties the licenses we need in the future. If we cannot obtain licenses
to third party intellectual property on commercially reasonable terms, or if we must obtain alternative or substitute
technology or redesign services, our business may be adversely affected. Additionally, we cannot be sure that our services
and solutions, or the solutions of others that we offer to our customers, do not infringe on the intellectual property rights of
third parties (including competitors as well as non-practicing holders of intellectual property assets), and these third parties
could claim that we, our customers or parties indemnified by us are infringing upon their intellectual property rights. In
addition, we may be the target of aggressive and opportunistic enforcement of patents by third parties, including patent
assertion entities and non-practicing entities. These claims, even if we believe they have no merit, could subject us to a
temporary or permanent injunction or damages, harm our reputation, divert management
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attention and resources, and cause us to incur substantial costs or prevent us from offering some services or solutions in the
future. Even if we have an agreement providing for third parties to indemnify us for the foregoing claims, the indemnifying
parties may be unwilling or unable to fulfill their contractual obligations.

We have recorded significant goodwill impairment charges and may be required to record additional charges to future
earnings if our goodwill or long-lived assets become impaired.

We are required under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) to
review our goodwill for impairment at least annually, and to review goodwill and long-lived assets when events or changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. Some factors that may be considered events or
changes in circumstances that would require our long-lived assets and/or goodwill to be reviewed for impairment include a
sustained decline in stock price, a substantial decline in business performance or other entity-specific events such as
changes in business management and strategy. In the fourth quarter of 2021, we reviewed our long-lived assets and
goodwill for impairment and identified certain reporting units in which the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeded
the fair value. Consequently, the Company recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $469 million in the fourth quarter.
We may be required to record additional non-cash impairment charges during any period in which we determine that our
goodwill or long-lived assets are impaired, which could adversely affect our results of operations. As of December 31,
2021, our goodwill balance was $732 million, which represented 6% of total consolidated assets. See Note 10 – Intangible
Assets Including Goodwill to our financial statements included elsewhere in this report for additional information about
our 2021 goodwill impairment.

Risks Relating to Cybersecurity and Data Privacy

Cybersecurity and privacy considerations could adversely impact our business.

We maintain information, including confidential and proprietary information, in digital form regarding our
business and information of our customers, contractors, business partners, vendors, employees, competitors and other third
parties. We also rely on third-party vendors to provide certain digital services in connection with our business. There are
numerous and evolving risks to our cybersecurity and privacy, including risks originating from intentional acts of criminal
hackers, hacktivists and nation states; from intentional and unintentional acts of customers, contractors, business partners,
vendors, employees, competitors and other third parties; and from errors in processes or technologies, as well as the risks
associated with an increase in the number of customers, contractors, business partners, vendors, employees and other third
parties working remotely as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Computer hackers and others routinely attack the security
of technology products, services, systems and networks using a wide variety of methods, including ransomware or other
malicious software and attempts to exploit vulnerabilities in hardware, software, and infrastructure. Attacks also include
social engineering to fraudulently induce customers, contractors, business partners, vendors, employees and other third
parties to disclose information, transfer funds or unwittingly provide access to systems or data. We are at risk of security
breaches not only of our own services, systems and networks, but also those of customers, contractors, business partners,
vendors, employees and other third parties.

Cyber threats are continually evolving, making it difficult to defend against certain threats and vulnerabilities that
can persist undetected over extended periods of time. Our services, systems and networks, including cloud-based systems
and systems and technologies that we maintain on behalf of our customers, may be used in critical Company, customer or
third-party operations, and involve the storage, processing and transmission of sensitive data, including valuable
intellectual property, other proprietary or confidential data, regulated data, and personal information of employees,
customers and others. These services, systems and networks are also used by customers in heavily regulated industries,
including those in the financial services, healthcare, critical infrastructure and government sectors. Successful
cybersecurity attacks or other security incidents with respect to our systems or those of our third-party vendors could result
in, for example, one or more of the following: unauthorized access to, disclosure, modification, misuse, loss or destruction
of Company, customer or other third-party data or systems; theft or import or export of sensitive, regulated or confidential
data including personal information and intellectual property; the loss of access to critical data or systems through
ransomware, crypto mining, destructive attacks or other means; and business delays, service or system disruptions or
denials of service. In the event of such actions, we, our customers and other third parties could be exposed
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to liability, litigation, and regulatory or other government action, as well as the loss of existing or potential customers,
damage to brand and reputation, damage to our competitive position, and other financial loss.

The cost and operational consequences of responding to cybersecurity incidents and implementing remediation
measures could be significant. In our industry, security vulnerabilities are increasingly discovered, publicized and exploited
across a broad range of hardware, software or other infrastructure, elevating the risk of attacks and the potential cost of
response and remediation for us and our customers. In addition, the fast-paced, evolving, pervasive, and sophisticated
nature of certain cyber threats and vulnerabilities, as well as the scale and complexity of the business and infrastructure,
make it possible that certain threats or vulnerabilities will be undetected or unmitigated in time to prevent or minimize the
impact of an attack on us or our customers. Cybersecurity risk to us and our customers also depends on factors such as the
actions, practices and investments of customers, contractors, business partners, vendors and other third parties.
Cybersecurity attacks or other catastrophic events resulting in disruptions to or failures in power, information technology,
communication systems or other critical infrastructure could result in interruptions or delays to Company, customer or
other third-party operations or services, financial loss, injury or death to persons or property, potential liability, and damage
to brand and reputation. Although we continuously take significant steps to mitigate cybersecurity risk across a range of
functions, such measures can never eliminate the risk entirely or provide absolute security. To date, while we continue to
monitor for, identify, investigate, respond to, remediate and develop plans to quickly recover from cybersecurity incidents,
there have not been cybersecurity incidents that have had a material adverse effect on us, though there is no assurance that
there will not be cybersecurity incidents that will have a material adverse effect in the future.

As we are a global enterprise, the regulatory environment with regard to cybersecurity, privacy and data protection
issues to which we are subject is increasingly complex and will continue to impact our business, including through
increased risk, increased costs, and expanded or otherwise altered compliance obligations. As our reliance on data grows,
the potential impact of regulations on our business, risks, and reputation will grow accordingly. The enactment and
expansion of data protection and privacy laws and regulations around the globe, including an increased focus on
international data transfer mechanisms driven by the European Court of Justice decision in the Schrems II matter; the lack
of harmonization of such laws and regulations; the increase in associated litigation and enforcement activity; the potential
for damages, fines and penalties; and the potential regulation of new and emerging technologies, such as artificial
intelligence, will continue to result in increased compliance costs and risks. Any additional costs and penalties associated
with increased compliance, enforcement and risk reduction could make certain offerings less profitable or increase the
difficulty of bringing certain offerings to market.

Risks Relating to Laws and Regulations

Our global operations expose us to numerous and sometimes conflicting legal and regulatory requirements, and
violation of these regulations could harm our business.

We are subject to numerous, and sometimes conflicting, legal regimes on matters as diverse as anticorruption,
import/export controls, content requirements, trade restrictions, tariffs, taxation, sanctions, immigration, internal and
disclosure control obligations, securities regulation, ESG initiatives, anti-competition, anti-money-laundering, data privacy
and protection, wage-and-hour standards, employment and labor relations and human rights. The global nature of our
operations, including emerging markets where legal systems may be less developed or understood by us, and the diverse
nature of our operations across a number of regulated industries, further increase the difficulty of compliance. Compliance
with diverse legal requirements is costly and time-consuming and requires significant resources. Violations of one or more
of these regulations in the conduct of our business could result in significant fines, enforcement actions or criminal
sanctions against us and/or our employees, prohibitions on doing business, unfavorable publicity and damage to our
reputation. Violations of these regulations in connection with the performance of our obligations to our customers also
could result in liability for significant monetary damages and restrictions on our ability to effectively carry out our
contractual obligations and thereby expose us to potential claims from our customers. Due to the varying degrees of
development of the legal systems of the countries in which we operate, local laws may not be well developed or provide
sufficiently clear guidance and may be insufficient to protect our rights.
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In particular, in many parts of the world, including countries in which we operate and/or seek to expand, practices
in the local business community might not conform to international business standards and could violate anti-corruption
laws, or regulations, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and the U.K. Bribery Act 2010. Our employees,
subcontractors, vendors, agents, alliance or joint venture partners, the companies we acquire and their employees,
subcontractors, vendors and agents, and other third parties with which we associate could take actions that violate policies
or procedures designed to promote legal and regulatory compliance or applicable anti-corruption laws or regulations.
Violations of these laws or regulations by us, our employees or any of these third parties could subject us to criminal or
civil enforcement actions (whether or not we participated or knew about the actions leading to the violations), including
fines or penalties, disgorgement of profits and suspension or disqualification from work, including U.S. federal contracting,
any of which could materially adversely affect our business, including our results of operations and our reputation.

Changes in laws and regulations could also mandate significant and costly changes to the way we implement our
services or could impose additional taxes on our services. For example, changes in laws and regulations to limit using off-
shore resources in connection with our work or to penalize companies that use off-shore resources, which have been
proposed from time to time in various jurisdictions, could adversely affect our results of operations. Such changes may
result in contracts being terminated or work being transferred on-shore, resulting in greater costs to us.

Tax matters could impact our results of operations and financial condition.

We are subject to income taxes in both the United States and numerous foreign jurisdictions. We calculate and
provide for taxes in each tax jurisdiction in which we operate. Tax accounting often involves complex matters and requires
our judgment to determine our worldwide provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities. Our provision for income
taxes and cash tax liability in the future could be adversely affected by numerous factors including, but not limited to,
income before taxes being lower than anticipated in countries with lower statutory tax rates and higher than anticipated in
countries with higher statutory tax rates, changes in the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, and changes in tax
laws, regulations, accounting principles or interpretations thereof, which could adversely impact our results of operations
and financial condition in future periods. The Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD)
continues to issue guidelines that are different, in some respects, than long-standing international tax principles. As
countries unilaterally amend their tax laws to adopt certain parts of the OECD guidelines, this may increase tax uncertainty
and may adversely impact our income taxes. Local country, state, provincial or municipal taxation may also be subject to
review and potential override by regional, federal, national or similar forms of government, which may also adversely
impact our income taxes. In addition, it is likely that our tax returns could be examined by taxing authorities in the
jurisdictions in which we do business. While we regularly assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from these
examinations in order to determine the adequacy of our provision for income taxes, there can be no assurance that the
outcomes from these examinations will not have an adverse effect on the Company’s provision for income taxes and cash
flows.

We are subject to legal proceedings and investigatory risks.

As a company with approximately 90,000 employees and with customers in over 100 countries, we are or may
become involved as a party and/or may be subject to a variety of claims, demands, suits, investigations, tax matters and
other proceedings that arise from time to time in the ordinary course of our business. The risks associated with such legal
proceedings are described in more detail in Note 13 – Commitments and Contingencies in the financial statements
elsewhere in this report. We believe that we have adopted appropriate risk management and compliance programs. Legal
and compliance risks, however, will continue to exist, and additional legal proceedings and other contingencies, the
outcome of which cannot be predicted with certainty, may arise from time to time.

We could incur costs for regulated environmental matters.

We are subject to various federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations concerning the discharge of
materials into the environment or otherwise related to environmental protection. We could incur costs, including cleanup
costs, fines and civil or criminal sanctions, as well as third-party claims for property damage or personal injury, if we
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were to violate or become liable under environmental laws and regulations. In addition, if we were to violate or become
liable under environmental laws and regulations our reputation could be harmed, which could have a negative impact on
demand for our products and services. Compliance with environmental laws and regulations is not expected to have a
material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations and competitive position.

We could be materially and adversely affected by increased focus on and demands from customers, investors and
regulators with respect to climate change and environmental, social and governance issues.

Global climate change is the result of increasing carbon emissions and has been linked to increasing
environmental degradation and increased incidence of natural disasters. Governments are implementing local, national and
international regulations, taxes and carbon mechanisms to reduce these emissions. If we do not meet these demands, our
business and operations may be negatively impacted. In addition, investors have linked corporate risks and management of
ESG to sustainable profits and growth. ESG includes not only environmental issues but also human rights, diversity,
responsible supply chain management, ethics, cybersecurity and privacy concerns. We risk divestment and challenges to
corporate practices and policies if we do not meet the ESG expectations of stockholders. Further, employees and customers
may seek employment opportunities, products and services that offer ESG benefits and/or minimize ESG risks. If we fail to
meet these demands, it may negatively impact our business and damage our reputation.

Risks Relating to Financing and Capital Markets Activities

A lowering or withdrawal of the ratings, outlook or watch assigned to our debt securities by rating agencies may
increase our future borrowing costs, reduce our access to capital and adversely impact our financial performance.

Any rating, outlook or watch assigned could be lowered or withdrawn entirely by a rating agency if, in that rating
agency’s judgment, current or future circumstances relating to the basis of the rating, outlook or watch, such as adverse
changes to our business, so warrant. Any future lowering of our ratings, outlook or watch likely would make it more
difficult or more expensive for us to obtain additional debt financing. Moreover, a reduction in our rating to below certain
levels could cause certain customers to reduce or cease to do business with us, which would adversely impact our financial
performance.

The commercial and credit environment may adversely affect our access to capital.

Our ability to issue debt or enter into other financing arrangements on acceptable terms could be adversely
affected if there is a material decline in the demand for our services or in the solvency of our customers or suppliers or if
there are other significantly unfavorable changes in economic conditions. Volatility in the world financial markets could
increase borrowing costs or affect our ability to access the capital markets. These conditions may adversely affect our
credit ratings.

Our financial performance could be adversely impacted by changes in market liquidity conditions and by customer
credit risk on receivables.

Our financial performance is exposed to a wide variety of industry sector dynamics worldwide, including sudden
shifts in regional or global economic activity such as those associated with the COVID-19 pandemic. Our earnings and
cash flows, as well as our access to funding, could be negatively impacted by changes in market liquidity conditions. Our
customer base includes many worldwide enterprises, from small and medium businesses to the world’s largest
organizations and governments, with a significant portion of our revenue coming from global customers across many
sectors. If we become aware of information related to the creditworthiness of a major customer, or if future actual default
rates on receivables in general differ from those currently anticipated, we may have to adjust our allowance for credit
losses, which could affect our net income in the period the adjustments are made.
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Our results of operations and financial condition could be negatively impacted by our pension plans.

Adverse financial market conditions and volatility in the credit markets may have an unfavorable impact on the
value of our pension trust assets and its future estimated pension liabilities. As a result, our financial results in any period
could be negatively impacted. In addition, in a period of an extended financial market downturn, we could be required to
provide incremental pension plan funding with resulting liquidity risk which could negatively impact our financial
flexibility. Further, our results could be negatively impacted by premiums for mandatory pension insolvency insurance
coverage outside the United States. Premium increases could be significant due to the level of insolvencies of unrelated
companies in the country at issue.

We are exposed to currency risk that could adversely impact our revenue and business.

We derive a significant percentage of our revenues and costs from our affiliates operating in local currency
environments, and those results are affected by changes in the relative values of non-U.S. currencies and the U.S. dollar, as
well as sudden shifts in regional or global economic activity such as those associated with the COVID-19 pandemic. In
addition, large changes in foreign exchange rates relative to our functional currencies could increase the costs of our
services to customers relative to local competitors, thereby causing us to lose existing or potential customers to these local
competitors. Further, as we grow our international operations, our exposure to foreign currency risk could become more
significant. Our hedging strategies may not fully mitigate our foreign currency risk or may prove disadvantageous.

Risks Relating to our Recent Spin-off from IBM

The Spin-off may not achieve some or all of the anticipated benefits.

We may not realize some or all of the anticipated strategic, financial, operational, marketing or other benefits from
the Spin-off, or such benefits may be delayed by a variety of circumstances, which may be outside of our control. As an
independent publicly-traded company, we are smaller and less diversified with a narrower business focus than IBM and
may be more vulnerable to changing market conditions, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

The Spin-off could result in significant tax liability to IBM and its stockholders if it is determined to be a taxable
transaction.

Prior to the Spin-off, IBM received a private letter ruling from the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) together with
a written opinion of Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Garrison LLP to the effect that, among other things, the Distribution,
including IBM’s retention of 19.9% of the shares of our common stock, will qualify as a transaction that is tax-free for U.S.
federal income tax purposes under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”).

The opinion of counsel does not address any U.S. state or local or foreign tax consequences of the Spin-off. The
opinion of counsel and the private letter ruling rely on certain facts, assumptions, representations and undertakings from
IBM and us regarding the past and future conduct of the companies’ respective businesses and other matters. If any of
these facts, assumptions, representations or undertakings are incorrect or not otherwise satisfied, IBM and its stockholders
may not be able to rely on the private letter ruling or the opinion of counsel and could be subject to significant tax
liabilities. The opinion of counsel is not binding on the IRS or the courts, and there can be no assurance that the IRS or a
court will not take a contrary position. Notwithstanding the private letter ruling or opinion of counsel, the IRS could
determine on audit that the Distribution or any of certain related transactions is taxable if it determines that any of these
facts, assumptions, representations or undertakings are not correct or have been violated or if it disagrees with the
conclusions in the opinion that are not covered by the private letter ruling, or for other reasons, including as a result of
certain significant changes in the stock ownership of IBM or us after the Distribution.

If the Distribution were determined not to qualify for non-recognition of gain or loss under Section 355 and
related provisions of the Code, each stockholder that is subject to U.S. federal income tax who received our common stock
in the Distribution would generally be treated as having received a distribution in an amount equal to the fair market value
of our common stock received, which would generally result in: (i) a taxable dividend to such stockholder to the extent of
that such stockholder’s pro rata share of IBM’s current or accumulated earnings and profits; (ii) a
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reduction in such stockholder’s basis (but not below zero) in IBM common stock to the extent the amount received exceeds
the stockholder’s share of IBM’s earnings and profits; and (iii) taxable gain from the exchange of IBM common stock to
the extent the amount received exceeded the sum of such stockholder’s share of IBM’s earnings and profits and such
stockholder’s basis in its IBM common stock.

If the Spin-off were determined not to qualify as tax-free for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we could have an
indemnification obligation to IBM, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

If, as a result of any of our representations being untrue or our covenants being breached, the Spin-off were
determined not to qualify for non-recognition of gain or loss under Section 355 and related provisions of the Code, we
could be required to indemnify IBM for the resulting taxes and related expenses. Those amounts could be material. Any
such indemnification obligation could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, if we or our stockholders were to engage in transactions that resulted in a 50% or greater change by
vote or value in the ownership of our stock during the four-year period beginning on the date that begins two years before
the date of the Distribution, the Distribution would generally be taxable to IBM, but not to its stockholders, under Section
355(e) of the Code, unless it were established that such transactions and the Distribution were not part of a plan or series of
related transactions. If the Distribution were taxable to IBM due to such a 50% or greater change in ownership of our stock,
IBM would recognize gain equal to the excess of the fair market value on the Distribution Date of our common stock
distributed to IBM stockholders over IBM’s tax basis in our common stock, and we generally would be required to
indemnify IBM for the tax on such gain and related expenses. Those amounts could be material. Any such indemnification
obligation could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. See Part III. Item 13, “Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence – Agreements with IBM – Tax Matters Agreement.”

We agreed to numerous restrictions to preserve the tax-free treatment of the Spin-off, which may reduce our strategic
and operating flexibility.

To preserve the tax-free nature of the Spin-off and related transactions, we agreed in the Tax Matters Agreement
with IBM to covenants and indemnification obligations that address compliance with Section 355 of the Code and related
provisions of the Code, as well as state, local and foreign tax law. These covenants include certain restrictions on our
activity for a period of two years following the Spin-off. Specifically, we are subject to certain restrictions on our ability to
enter into acquisition, merger, liquidation, sale and stock redemption transactions with respect to our stock or assets. In
addition, under the Tax Matters Agreement, we may be required to indemnify IBM against any such tax liabilities as a
result of the acquisition of our stock or assets, even if we do not participate in or otherwise facilitate the acquisition.
Furthermore, we are subject to specific restrictions on discontinuing the active conduct of our trade or business, the
issuance or sale of stock or other securities (including securities convertible into our stock, but excluding certain
compensatory arrangements), and sales of assets outside the ordinary course of business. These covenants and
indemnification obligations may limit our ability to pursue strategic transactions or engage in new businesses or other
transactions that may maximize the value of our business, and might discourage or delay a strategic transaction that our
stockholders may consider favorable. See Part III, Item 13, “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Directors
Independence – Agreements with IBM – Tax Matters Agreement.”

Our accounting and other management systems and resources may not be adequately prepared to meet the financial
reporting and other requirements to which we are subject following the Spin-off.

As a result of the Spin-off, we are subject to reporting and other obligations under the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Beginning with our second required Annual Report on Form 10-
K, we intend to comply with Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002, as amended (the “Sarbanes Oxley Act”),
which will require annual management assessments of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting and
a report by our independent registered public accounting firm on the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting. These reporting and other obligations may place significant demands on management, administrative and
operational resources, including accounting systems.
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The Exchange Act requires that we file annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and
financial condition. Under the Sarbanes Oxley Act, we are required to maintain effective disclosure controls and
procedures and internal controls over financial reporting. To comply with these requirements, we may need to upgrade our
systems, implement additional financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures and hire additional
accounting and finance staff. We expect to incur additional annual expenses for the purpose of addressing these, and other
public company reporting, requirements. If we are unable to upgrade our financial and management controls, reporting
systems, information technology systems and procedures in a timely and effective fashion, our ability to comply with
financial reporting requirements and other rules that apply to reporting companies under the Exchange Act could be
impaired, and we may be unable to conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is effective and to obtain an
unqualified report on internal controls from our auditors as required under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Any
failure to achieve and maintain effective internal controls could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flow.

Certain of our employees may have actual or potential conflicts of interest because of their financial interests in IBM.

Because of their former positions with IBM, certain of our executive officers own equity interests in both us and
IBM. Continuing ownership of IBM shares could create, or appear to create, potential conflicts of interest if we face
decisions that could have implications for both us and IBM. For example, potential conflicts of interest could arise in
connection with the resolution of any dispute between us and IBM regarding the terms of the agreements governing the
separation and distribution and our relationship with IBM. Potential conflicts of interest may also arise out of any
commercial arrangements that we or IBM may enter into in the future.

We or IBM may fail to perform under various transaction agreements that were executed as part of the Separation.

In connection with the Separation, we and IBM entered into various transaction agreements related to the Spin-
off. These agreements also govern our relationship with IBM following the Spin-off. We rely on IBM to satisfy its
performance obligations under these agreements. If we or IBM are unable to satisfy our or its respective obligations under
these agreements, including indemnification obligations, our business, results of operations and financial condition could
be adversely affected. See “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Directors Independence” in Part III, Item
13 of this report.

Risks Relating to Our Common Stock and the Securities Market

Substantial sales of our common stock may occur in the future, including the disposition by IBM of our shares of
common stock that it retained after the Distribution, which could cause our stock price to decline.

IBM owns 19.9% of our outstanding common stock. We understand that IBM currently intends to dispose of all of
our common stock that it retained after the Distribution through one or more subsequent exchanges of our common stock
for IBM debt held by one or more investment banks or, if market and general economic conditions and sound business
judgment do not support such exchanges during the twelve-month period following the Distribution, IBM may dispose of
such common stock (i) through distributions to IBM stockholders as dividends or in exchange for outstanding shares of
IBM common stock, in each case during the twelve-month period following the Distribution or (ii) in one or more public or
private sale transactions (including potentially through secondary transactions) as soon as practicable, taking into account
market and general economic conditions and sound business judgment, but in no event later than five years after the
Distribution. Prior to the Distribution, we entered into a stockholder and registration rights agreement under which we
agreed, upon the request of IBM, to use our reasonable best efforts to effect a registration under applicable federal and state
securities laws of any shares of our common stock retained by IBM, to facilitate IBM’s disposition of our common stock.
See Part III, Item 13, “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Directors Independence – Agreements with
IBM – Stockholder and Registration Rights Agreement.”

The sales of significant amounts of our common stock or the perception in the market that such sales might occur
may decrease the market price of our common stock.
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Holders of our common stock may be diluted due to future equity issuances.

In the future, holders of our common stock may be diluted because of equity issuances for acquisitions, capital
market transactions or otherwise, including any equity awards that we will grant to our directors, officers and employees.
Such awards have a dilutive effect on our earnings per share, which could adversely affect the market price of our common
stock. We plan to issue additional stock-based awards, including annual awards, new hire awards and periodic retention
awards, as applicable, to our directors, officers and other employees under our employee benefits plans as part of our
ongoing equity compensation program.

Certain provisions in our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Amended and Restated By-Laws and
Delaware law may discourage takeovers and limit the power of our stockholders.

Several provisions of our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, Amended and Restated By-Laws
and Delaware law may discourage, delay or prevent a merger or acquisition. These include, among others, provisions that
(i) provide for staggered terms for directors on our Board for a period following the Spin-off; (ii) establish advance notice
requirements for stockholder nominations and proposals; (iii) provide for the removal of directors only for cause during the
time the Board is classified; (iv) limit the ability of stockholders to call special meetings or act by written consent; and (v)
provide the Board the right to issue shares of preferred stock without stockholder approval. In addition, we are subject to
Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”), which could have the effect of delaying or preventing a
change of control that you may favor.

These and other provisions of our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, Amended and Restated By-
Laws and Delaware law may discourage, delay or prevent certain types of transactions involving an actual or a threatened
acquisition or change in control, including unsolicited takeover attempts, even though the transaction may offer our
stockholders the opportunity to sell their shares of our common stock at a price above the prevailing market price. Our
Board believes these provisions will protect our stockholders from coercive or otherwise unfair takeover tactics by
requiring potential acquirers to negotiate with the Board and by providing the Board with more time to assess any
acquisition proposal. These provisions will apply even if the offer may be considered beneficial by some stockholders and
could delay or prevent an acquisition that the Board determines is not in our and our stockholders’ best interests.

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation provides that certain courts in the State of Delaware or the
federal district courts of the United States will be the sole and exclusive forum for substantially all disputes between us
and our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with
us or our directors, officers or employees.

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation provides, in all cases to the fullest extent permitted by
law, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery located within the State of
Delaware will be the sole and exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of us, any action
asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer or other employee or stockholder to us or our
stockholders, any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to the DGCL or as to which the DGCL confers jurisdiction on
the Court of Chancery located in the State of Delaware or any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs
doctrine or any other action asserting an “internal corporate claim” as that term is defined in Section 115 of the DGCL, or
any action asserting a claim arising under the DGCL, our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation or our
Amended and Restated By-Laws. However, if the Court of Chancery within the State of Delaware does not have
jurisdiction, the action may be brought in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware. The exclusive forum
provision provides that it will not apply to claims arising under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act or other federal
securities laws for which there is exclusive federal or concurrent federal and state jurisdiction. Unless we consent in
writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States of America shall be the
exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act.

Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock will be deemed
to have notice of and, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to have consented to the provisions of our Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation described above. The choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s



Table of Contents

26

ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers, other
employees or stockholders, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our directors, officers, other employees or
stockholders. However, the enforceability of similar forum provisions in other companies’ certificates of incorporation has
been challenged in legal proceedings. If a court were to find the exclusive choice of forum provision contained in our
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur
additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments:

None.

Item 2. Properties:

As of December 31, 2021, we owned or leased approximately 27.4 million square feet of space worldwide, a
summary of which is provided below. We believe that our existing properties are in good condition and are suitable for the
conduct of our business.

U.S. Japan Principal Markets Strategic Markets Total
Number of Square Feet Number of Square Feet Number of Square Feet Number of Square Feet Number of Square Feet
Locations     (in millions) Locations     (in millions) Locations     (in millions) Locations     (in millions)    Locations     (in millions)

Leased  28 5.2  52 1.5  144 10.0  148 5.9  372 22.7
Owned  3 3.1  —  —  8 0.9  4 0.8 15 4.7
Total  31 8.3  52 1.5  152 10.8  152 6.7  387 27.4

Our principal executive offices, including our global headquarters, are located at New York, New York. We
believe that our facilities are sufficient for our current needs.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings:

Refer to Note 13 – Commitments and Contingencies to the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere
in this Form 10-K.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures:

Not applicable.

PART II

Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities:

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol KD.

As of March 4, 2022, there were approximately 280,520 record holders of our common stock. This is not the
actual number of beneficial owners of the Company’s common stock as some shares are held in “street name” by brokers
and others on behalf of individual owners.

Since the Separation, we have not paid, and we currently do not plan to pay, cash dividends on our common stock.

Stock Performance Graph

The graph below compares the cumulative total return of holders of our common stock with the cumulative total
return of the S&P 400 Midcap index and S&P IT Sector index. The graph tracks the performance of a $100
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investment in our common stock and in each index from November 4, 2021, the date our stock commenced regular-way
trading on the NYSE, to December 31, 2021.

Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations:

Overview

Included below are year-over-year comparisons between 2021 and 2020. For further information on year-over-
year comparisons between 2020 and 2019 not covered in the “Segment Results” below, refer to “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in the Form 10 for the period, which was filed with the
SEC on September 28, 2021.

    Year Ended December 31, 
(Dollars in millions)     2021 2020
Revenue $ 18,657 $ 19,352
Revenue growth (GAAP) (4)% (5) %
Revenue growth in constant currency(1) (5)% (5) %
Net income (loss)  (2,319)  (2,011)
Adjusted EBITDA(1) 2,049 2,179

(1)    Revenue growth in constant currency and adjusted EBITDA are non-GAAP financial metrics. For definitions of these metrics and a reconciliation
of adjusted EBITDA to the most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP, see “�Segment
Results.”

    At December 31, 
(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020
Assets $  13,213 $  11,205
Liabilities  10,511  6,274
Equity  2,702  4,931

Organization of Information

Kyndryl was formed as a wholly-owned subsidiary of IBM in September 2021 to hold the operations of the
managed infrastructure services unit of IBM’s Global Technology Services segment. On November 3, 2021, IBM
distributed shares representing 80.1% of Kyndryl’s outstanding common stock to holders of record of IBM’s common
stock as of the close of business on October 25, 2021, in a Spin-off that is tax-free for U.S. federal tax purposes. Following
the distribution, Kyndryl became an independent, publicly-traded company and is the world’s leading managed
infrastructure services provider.

Kyndryl utilized allocations and carve-out methodologies through the date of distribution to prepare historical
financial statements. The consolidated financial statements for periods prior to the Separation herein may not be indicative
of our future performance, do not necessarily include the actual expenses that would have been incurred by us and may not
reflect our results of operations, financial position and cash flows had we been a separate, standalone company during the
historical periods presented. For additional information, see “Basis of Presentation” in Note 1 – Significant Accounting
Policies to the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements.

Financial Performance Summary

Macro Dynamics

The COVID-19 pandemic and related macroeconomic uncertainty beginning in March 2020 caused many clients
to experience declines in their business volumes and resulted in client priorities shifting toward maintaining operational
stability, flexibility, and preservation of cash. The declines in business volumes and shifting client priorities negatively
impacted demand for technology services in 2020.

In 2021, we saw a broad-based macroeconomic recovery in most regions of the world. Demand for technology
services rebounded, as large organizations again demonstrated a need for assistance in designing, building, managing



Table of Contents

29

and modernizing their technology systems. Most economists, including the International Monetary Fund, expect global
macroeconomic growth to continue in 2022.

2021 Financial Performance

In 2021, we reported $18.7 billion in revenue, a decline of 4 percent when compared to the prior year primarily
driven by lower contract volumes due to existing and new clients pausing activities during our planned Separation from our
former Parent, as well as expected price declines in certain new and renewed customer contracts. This was a consistent
trend across all segments. United States revenue declined 5 percent, Japan declined 4 percent, Principal Markets declined 1
percent and Strategic Markets declined 5 percent compared to 2020. Net loss of $2.3 billion increased by $308 million
versus the prior year. The current year Net loss includes a goodwill impairment charge of $469 million, transaction-related
costs of $627 million and litigation charges for certain long-standing claims and disputes of $52 million, as well as cost
allocations from our former Parent.

2020 Financial Performance

In 2020, we reported $19.4 billion in revenue, a decline of 5 percent when compared to the prior year which was
primarily driven by declines in the United States. Revenue declined primarily due to a reduction in client volumes within
industries heavily impacted by the global pandemic. Net loss was $2.0 billion, an increase of $1.1 billion when compared
to the prior year, primarily due to higher workforce rebalancing charges of $759 million. We took these structural actions to
simplify and optimize our operating model.

Basis of Presentation

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, which requires us to make
estimates and assumptions that impact the amounts reported and disclosed in our consolidated financial statements and the
accompanying notes. We prepared these estimates based on the most current and best available information, but actual
results could differ materially from these estimates and assumptions. COVID-19 has had and we expect will continue to
have, significant effects on economic activity, on demand for our services and on our results of operations in 2022.

Prior to November 4, 2021, the accompanying financial statements of Kyndryl were derived from the consolidated
financial statements and accounting records of the Parent as if the Company operated on a standalone basis during the
periods presented and were prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC.
Historically, the Company consisted of the managed infrastructure services unit of the Parent’s Global Technology Services
segment and did not operate as a separate standalone company. Accordingly, the Parent had reported the financial position
and results of operations, cash flows and changes in equity of the Company in the Parent’s consolidated financial
statements.

The accompanying financial statements through the Separation date reflect allocations of certain IBM corporate,
infrastructure and shared services expenses, including centralized research, legal, human resources, payroll, finance and
accounting, employee benefits, real estate, insurance, information technology, telecommunications, treasury and other
expenses. Where possible, these charges were allocated based on direct usage, with the remainder allocated on a pro rata
basis of headcount, gross profit, asset or other allocation methodologies that are considered to be a reasonable reflection of
the utilization of services provided or the benefit received by Kyndryl during the periods presented. The accompanying
financial statements through the Separation date may not be indicative of the Company’s future performance and do not
necessarily reflect what the financial position, results of operations and cash flows would have been had it operated as an
independent company during the periods presented.

After the Separation on November 3, 2021, the Company’s financial statements for the periods from November 4,
2021, through December 31, 2021, are consolidated financial statements based on our reported results as a standalone
company. All significant transactions and accounts between Kyndryl entities were eliminated. All significant intercompany
transactions between IBM and Kyndryl prior to the Separation were included within Net Parent investment on the
accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Prior to the Separation, our operations were included in the consolidated U.S. federal and certain state and local
and foreign income tax returns filed by IBM, where applicable. The Company also files certain separate foreign income tax
returns. For purposes of the historical periods presented on a “carve-out” basis, the income tax provisions have been
calculated using the separate return basis, as if we filed separate tax returns.

Post-Separation, the income tax provisions are calculated based on Kyndryl’s operating footprint, as well as tax
return elections and assertions. Current income tax liabilities including amounts for unrecognized tax benefits related to our
activities included in IBM’s income tax returns were deemed to be immediately settled with IBM through the Net Parent
investment account in the Consolidated Balance Sheet and reflected in Net transfers from Parent in the financing activities
section in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.

Within the financial statements and tables presented, certain columns and rows may not add due to the use of
rounded numbers for disclosure purposes. Percentages presented are calculated from the underlying whole-dollar amounts.
Certain items have been recast to conform to current-period presentation.

Segment Results

As a result of the Separation, in the fourth quarter of 2021, the Company implemented a new operating model and
reporting structure resulting in four reportable segments: United States, Japan, Principal Markets and Strategic Markets.
Principal Markets consists of our operations in Australia/New Zealand, Canada, France, Germany, Italy, India,
Spain/Portugal and United Kingdom/Ireland. Strategic Markets consists of our operations in all other countries. In addition
to this change, the measures of segment operating performance changed to revenue and adjusted EBITDA.

The following table presents our reportable segments’ revenue and adjusted EBITDA for the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019. Segment revenue and revenue growth in constant currency exclude any transactions
between the segments.

    Year Ended December 31, Year-over-Year Change
(Dollars in millions)     2021 2020 2019 2021 vs. 2020 2020 vs. 2019
Revenue

United States $ 4,805 $ 5,084 $ 5,340 (5)% (5)%
Japan 2,923 3,042 2,929 (4)% 4 %
Principal Markets 7,085 7,187 7,587 (1)% (5)%
Strategic Markets 3,844 4,040 4,424 (5)% (9)%

Total revenue $ 18,657 $ 19,352 $ 20,279 (4)% (5)%
Revenue growth in constant
currency(1) (5)% (5)%

Adjusted EBITDA(1)

United States $ 757 $ 859 $ 855 (12)% 0 %
Japan 823 924 757 (11)% 22 %
Principal Markets 144 162 430 (11)% (62)%
Strategic Markets 479 386 662 24 % (42)%
Corporate and other(2) (154) (153) (144) NM NM

Total adjusted EBITDA(1) $ 2,049 $ 2,179 $ 2,561 (6)% (15)%

NM – not meaningful
(1)    Revenue growth in constant currency and adjusted EBITDA are non-GAAP financial metrics. See the information below for definitions of these

metrics and a reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA to the most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with
GAAP.

(2)    Represents net amounts not allocated to segments

We report our financial results in accordance with GAAP. We also present certain non-GAAP financial measures
to provide useful supplemental information to investors. We provide these non-GAAP financial measures as
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we believe it improves visibility to underlying results and the impact of management decisions on operational performance
and enables better comparison to peer companies.

Revenue growth in constant currency is a non-GAAP measure that eliminates the effects of exchange rate
fluctuations when translating from foreign currencies to the United States dollar. It is calculated by using the average
exchange rates that existed for the same period of the prior year. Constant-currency measures are provided so that revenue
can be viewed without the effect of fluctuations in currency exchange rates, which is consistent with how management
evaluates our revenue results and trends.

Additionally, management uses adjusted EBITDA to evaluate our performance. Adjusted EBITDA is a non-
GAAP measure and defined as net income (loss) excluding net interest expense, depreciation and amortization (excluding
depreciation of right-of-use assets and amortization of capitalized contract costs), pension costs other than pension
servicing costs and multi-employer plan costs, early extinguishment of debt charges, workforce rebalancing and
restructuring charges, transaction-related and integration-related items, goodwill and long-lived asset impairment charges,
foreign currency impacts of highly inflationary countries, significant litigation costs, stock-based compensation expense
and income taxes. We believe that adjusted EBITDA is a helpful supplemental measure to assist investors in evaluating our
operating results as it excludes certain items whose fluctuation from period to period does not necessarily correspond to
changes in the operations of our business. We provide this non-GAAP financial measure as we believe it improves
visibility to underlying results and the impact of management decisions on operational performance, enables better
comparison to peer companies and allows us to provide a long-term strategic view of the business.

These disclosures are provided in addition to and not as a substitute for the percentage change in revenue and
profit or loss measures on a GAAP basis compared to the corresponding period in the prior year. Other companies may
calculate and define similarly labeled items differently, which may limit the usefulness of this measure for comparative
purposes.

The following table provides a reconciliation of GAAP net income (loss) to adjusted EBITDA:

Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020 2019
Net income (loss) $ (2,319) $ (2,011) $ (943)

Provision for income taxes 397 246 364
Workforce rebalancing charges 39 918 159
Transaction-related costs 627 21 0
Stock-based compensation expense 71 64 51
Impairment expense 469  —  —
Interest expense 64 63 76
Depreciation expense 1,300 1,445 1,469
Amortization expense 1,314 1,408 1,335
Other adjustments * 88 25 50

Adjusted EBITDA (non-GAAP) $ 2,049 $ 2,179 $ 2,561

*    Other adjustments represents pension expense other than pension servicing costs and multi-employer plan costs, significant litigation costs and
currency impacts of highly inflationary countries.

United States
    Year Ended December 31, Year-over-Year

(Dollars in millions)     2021 2020 Change
Revenue $ 4,805 $ 5,084 (5)%
Adjusted EBITDA 757 859 (12)%

For the year ended December 31, 2021, United States revenue of $4.8 billion decreased 5 percent as compared to
the prior year, primarily driven by lower contract volumes due to clients pausing activities during the pandemic and our
planned Separation as well as lower pricing. Adjusted EBITDA decreased $102 million from the prior year, primarily due
to lower revenue, partially offset by cost reductions. For the year ended December 31, 2020, United States
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revenue of $5.1 billion decreased 5 percent as compared to the prior year, driven by declines across the contract portfolio
and impacts from the COVID-19 pandemic. Adjusted EBITDA increased $4 million from the prior year benefited from
travel and discretionary cost reductions due to the COVID-19 pandemic as well as realizing benefits from structural actions
taken in first quarter of 2020.

Japan
    Year Ended December 31, Year-over-Year

(Dollars in millions)     2021 2020 Change
Revenue $ 2,923 $ 3,042 (4)%
Revenue growth in constant currency (1)% 2 %
Adjusted EBITDA 823 924 (11)%

For the year ended December 31, 2021, Japan revenue of $2.9 billion decreased 4 percent as compared to the prior
year. Revenue decreased primarily as a result of currency exchange rates. Adjusted EBITDA decreased $101 million from
the prior year largely due to decreased revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2020, Japan revenue of $3.0 billion
increased 4 percent as compared to the prior year driven by strong performance in new client contracts. Adjusted EBITDA
increased $167 million from the prior year behind the strength of revenue growth mixed with lower travel and discretionary
costs due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Principal Markets

    Year Ended December 31, Year-over-Year
(Dollars in millions)     2021 2020 Change
Revenue $ 7,085 $ 7,187 (1)%
Revenue growth in constant currency (6)% (6)%
Adjusted EBITDA 144 162 (11)%

For the year ended December 31, 2021, Principal Markets revenue of $7.1 billion decreased 1 percent as
compared to the prior year. Revenue decreased due to certain joint ventures not transferring to us in connection with the
Separation partially offset by a favorable currency exchange rate impact of 4 points, primarily driven by the weakening of
the U.S. dollar against the euro and British pound. Adjusted EBITDA decreased $18 million from the prior year, primarily
due to lower revenue, partially offset by cost reductions from structural actions taken in the prior year. For the year ended
December 31, 2020, Principal Markets revenue of $7.2 billion decreased 5 percent as compared to the prior year, driven by
declines across the contract portfolio and impacts from the COVID-19 pandemic. Adjusted EBITDA decreased $268
million from the prior year, primarily due to revenue decline in these higher fixed-cost European countries.

Strategic Markets

    Year Ended December 31, Year-over-Year
(Dollars in millions)     2021 2020 Change
Revenue $ 3,844 $ 4,040 (5)%
Revenue growth in constant currency (7)% (7)%
Adjusted EBITDA 479 386 24 %

For the year ended December 31, 2021, Strategic Markets revenue of $3.8 billion decreased 5 percent as
compared to the prior year. Revenue decreased due to certain joint-ventures not transferring to us in connection with the
Separation and impacts from exiting low-margin accounts, partially offset by a favorable currency exchange rate impact of
2 points, primarily driven by the weakening of the U.S. dollar against the euro. Adjusted EBITDA increased $93 million
from the prior year, primarily due to exiting low-margin accounts and realizing benefits from structural actions taken in the
prior year. For the year ended December 31, 2020, Strategic Markets revenue of $4.0 billion decreased 9 percent as
compared to the prior year, driven primarily by strategic decisions to exit certain loss-making contracts to strengthen our
go-forward profit position. Adjusted EBITDA decreased $276 million from the prior year, primarily due
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to lower revenue as a result of both client volumes and pause of small-deal signings after the announcement of our
Separation in the higher fixed-cost European countries.

Corporate and Other

Corporate and other had an adjusted EBITDA loss of $154 million in 2021 compared to a loss of $153 million in
2020. Corporate and other had an adjusted EBITDA loss of $144 million in 2019.

Costs and Expenses

Year Ended December 31, Percent of Revenue Change
(Dollars in millions)     2021 2020     2021 2020     2021 vs. 2020
Revenue $ 18,657 $ 19,352 100.0 % 100.0 % (4)%
Cost of services 16,570 17,143 88.8 % 88.6 % (3)%
Selling, general and administrative expenses 2,776 2,948 14.9 % 15.2 % (6)%
Workforce rebalancing charges  39  918  0.2 % 4.7 % (96)%
Transaction-related costs 627 21 3.4 % 0.1 % NM
Impairment expense  469   —  2.5 %  — %  — %
Interest expense  64  63  0.3 % 0.3 % 2 %
Other (income) and expense  35  25  0.2 % 0.1 % 43 %
Income (loss) before income taxes $ (1,922) $ (1,766)    NM

NM – not meaningful

Costs of services were 88.8% of revenue in 2021 compared to 88.6% in 2020, primarily driven by the impact of
revenue decrease of advisory & implementation services and price decreases embedded in certain new and renewed
contracts mostly offset by benefits realized from prior-year structural actions. Selling, general and administrative expenses
were 14.9% of revenue in 2021 compared to 15.2% in 2020, primarily driven by benefits realized from prior-year structural
actions, partially offset by additional legal liabilities recorded in the fourth quarter of 2021. Workforce rebalancing charges
arising from structural actions to enhance productivity and cost-competitiveness and to rebalance skills that result in
payments to employees terminated in the ongoing course of business. Workforce rebalancing charges were 0.2% of revenue
in 2021 compared to 4.7% in 2020, when the Company announced a significant workforce reduction, primarily in Europe,
in the fourth quarter of 2020. Transaction-related costs were 3.4% of revenue in 2021 compared to 0.1% in 2020, primarily
driven by costs related to our Separation, including legal, consulting, audit and other professional fees, information
technology transition costs, and employee retention expenses. Impairment expenses were 2.5% of revenue in 2021,
primarily driven by an impairment of goodwill we recorded in the fourth quarter of 2021. Interest expense was 0.3% of
revenue in 2021 compared to 0.3% in 2020, and includes interest expense associated with the indebtedness we incurred in
connection with our Separation. Other (income) and expenses were 0.2% of revenue in 2021 compared to 0.1% in 2020.

Transaction-related Charges

The process of completing our Separation involves significant costs and expenses. Transaction-related charges are
primarily related to additional spend to establish certain standalone functions and information technology systems,
professional services fees, employee retention expenses and other spend related to contract and supplier novation
agreements. These costs primarily include items that are incremental and one-time in nature. Transaction-related charges
totaled $627 million in 2021. Transaction-related charges recorded for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were
$21 million and $0, respectively. The $498 million of transaction-related charges incurred in the periods prior to Separation
had no tax effect due to the valuation allowances discussed in Note 5 – Taxes. The tax impact of the $129 million of
transaction-related charges incurred post-Separation was $33 million.
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Income Taxes

The Company’s consolidated provision for income taxes and effective tax rate were as follows:

    Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020
Provision for income taxes $  397 $  246
Effective tax rate  (20.6)%  (13.9)%

In 2021 and 2020, we recorded income tax expense of $397 million and $246 million, respectively, on a pretax
book loss, which resulted in a negative effective tax rate. Our 2021 income tax expense was primarily related to taxes on
foreign operations generating taxable income, uncertain tax positions, and tax charges related to the transfer of Kyndryl’s
operations from Parent in contemplation of the Company’s Separation from IBM.

The effective tax rate for 2021 was lower compared to 2020 due primarily to tax charges related to the transfer of
Kyndryl’s operations from Parent in contemplation of the Company’s Separation and nondeductible goodwill impairment.
For more information, see Note 5 – Taxes.

Financial Position

Dynamics

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2021, were $2.2 billion, an increase of $2.2 billion when compared to
prior year-end since Kyndryl’s cash was managed by the Parent’s centralized treasury system in 2020.

Total assets of $13.2 billion increased by $2.0 billion from December 31, 2020 predominantly driven by an
increase in cash and cash equivalents of $2.2 billion driven by proceeds from debt issuances net of payment made to
former Parent; an increase in accounts receivable of $835 million primarily driven by a reduction in factoring of
receivables, new commercial activity with our former Parent, and receivables with the former Parent that are no longer
settled immediately post-Separation; and an increase in right-of-use assets of $230 million primarily due to entering into
post-Separation leases with the former Parent for spaces that are partially occupied by Kyndryl employees. These increases
were partially offset by a decrease in property and equipment of $1.1 billion mainly driven by the disposal of certain
properties with net book value of approximately $200 million, removal of property and equipment of approximately $300
million that were previously attributable to Kyndryl but did not transfer to Kyndryl upon Separation and depreciation
outpacing capital expenditures in 2021, a decrease of goodwill of $497 million primarily due to an impairment charge of
$469 million recorded in the fourth quarter of 2021 and a decrease of deferred costs of $460 million driven by lower
revenue and joint ventures previously attributed to Kyndryl that did not transfer to Kyndryl upon Separation.

Total liabilities of $10.5 billion increased by $4.2 billion from December 31, 2020 primarily as a result of a $3.0
billion increase in indebtedness, an increase in value-added and income tax liabilities of $357 million because the
Company’s tax liabilities were paid by the Parent through the Separation date, an increase of accounts payable of $221
million primarily due to commercial activity with our former Parent and balances owed to our former Parent that are no
longer settled immediately post-Separation, an increase in right-of-use liabilities of $184 million primarily due to entering
into post-Separation leases with the former Parent for spaces that are partially occupied by Kyndryl employees, and an
increase in retirement and nonpension postretirement benefit obligations of $307 million driven by pension obligations
transferred to Kyndryl after establishment of Kyndryl’s legal entities in the third quarter of 2021; see Note 1 – Significant
Accounting Policies for more details. This was partially offset by a decrease in workforce rebalancing liabilities of $513
million driven by payments to employees. Total equity of $2.7 billion decreased $2.2 billion from year-end 2020, mainly
driven by our loss from operations of $2.3 billion.

Overall pension funded status as of December 31, 2021, was 64% of estimated pension benefit obligation, an
increase from 55% at year-end 2020.
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Working Capital

At December 31, 
(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020
Current assets  $  5,777  $  2,843
Current liabilities   4,544   3,910
Working capital $  1,233 $  (1,067)

Working capital increased $2.3 billion from the year-end 2020 position. Current assets increased $2.9 billion due
to an increase of $2.2 billion in cash and cash equivalents primarily driven by proceeds from our debt issuance and an
increase of $835 million in accounts receivable primarily driven by a reduction in factoring of receivables, new commercial
activity with our former Parent, and receivables with the former Parent that are no longer settled immediately post-
Separation. Current liabilities increased $633 million as a result of an increase in value-added and income taxes of $357
million, and an increase in accounts payable of $221 million primarily due to commercial activity with our former Parent
and balances owed to our former Parent that are no longer settled immediately post-Separation.

Cash Flow

Our cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities, as reflected in the Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows are summarized in the table below.

For the year ended December 31:
(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020
Net cash provided by (used in):       

Operating activities $  (119) $  628
Investing activities   (572)   (953)
Financing activities   2,915   312

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   (22)   1
Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $  2,203 $  (13)

The change in net cash used of $119 million compared to a net cash provided by operating activities of $628
million in prior year was driven by payments of workforce rebalancing liabilities of $370 million arising from restructuring
actions taken by the former Parent in the fourth quarter of 2020 and cash used due to an increase in accounts receivable of
$1.1 billion primarily driven by a reduction in factoring of receivables, new commercial activity with our former Parent,
and receivables with the former Parent that are no longer settled immediately post-Separation; partially offset by an
increase in operating liabilities and accrued costs of approximately $400 million that were established by the Company for
the first time as an independent entity.

Net cash used by investing activities decreased $381 million in 2021 when compared to the prior year driven by
sales of two data centers and lower capital expenditures than in 2020.

Net cash provided by financing activities increased $2.6 billion in 2021 when compared to the prior year driven by
debt issuances of $3.0 billion, partially offset by a reduction in transfer from former Parent of $408 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents and the Revolving Credit Agreement entered into in
October 2021 will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for at least the next twelve months.

Senior Unsecured Notes

In October 2021, in preparation for our Spin-off, we completed the offering of $2.4 billion in aggregate principal
amount of senior unsecured fixed-rate notes as follows: $700 million aggregate principal amount of 2.05% Senior Notes
due 2026, $500 million aggregate principal amount of 2.70% Senior Notes due 2028, $650 million
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aggregate principal amount of 3.15% Senior Notes due 2031 and $550 million aggregate principal amount of 4.10% Senior
Notes due 2041 (the “Notes”). The Notes were offered and sold to qualified institutional buyers in reliance on Rule 144A
under the Securities Act and to non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S of the Securities Act. The Notes are subject to
customary affirmative covenants, negative covenants and events of default for financings of this type and are redeemable at
our option in a customary manner. In connection with the issuance of the Notes, we entered into a registration rights
agreement with the initial purchasers of the Notes, pursuant to which we will use commercially reasonable efforts to file
and have declared effective a registration statement with respect to a registered offer to exchange each series of Notes for
new notes with substantially identical terms by October 15, 2022. If the exchange offer is not completed on or before
October 15, 2022, and under certain other circumstances, we are required to use commercially reasonable efforts to file and
have declared effective a shelf registration statement relating to the resale of the Notes.

Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility

 In October 2021, we entered into a $500 million three-year variable rate term loan credit agreement (the “Term 
Loan Credit Agreement”). In November 2021, we drew down the full $500 million available under the Term Loan Credit 
Agreement.

 In October 2021, we entered into a $3.15 billion multi-currency revolving credit agreement (the “Revolving 
Credit Agreement” and, together with the Term Loan Credit Agreement, the “Credit Agreements”) for our future liquidity 
needs. The Revolving Credit Agreement expires, unless extended, in October 2026, and the Term Loan Credit Agreement 
matures, unless extended, in November 2024. Interest rates on borrowings under the Credit Agreements will be based on 
prevailing market interest rates, plus a margin, as further described in the Credit Agreements.

The Notes and the Credit Agreements were initially guaranteed by IBM. Approximately $900 million of the net
proceeds from the term loan and the sale of the Notes was transferred to IBM in conjunction with the Separation.
Following the completion of the Separation, the guarantee was released, and the Notes and the Credit Agreements are no
longer obligations of IBM.

We expect to be able to voluntarily prepay borrowings under the Credit Agreements without premium or penalty,
subject to customary “breakage” costs. The Credit Agreements include certain customary mandatory prepayment
provisions. In addition, the Credit Agreements include customary events of default and affirmative and negative covenants
as well as a maintenance covenant that will require that the ratio of our indebtedness for borrowed money to consolidated
EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Agreements) for any period of four consecutive fiscal quarters be no greater than 3.50 to
1.00.

Receivables Purchase Agreement

A portion of our receivables with extended payment terms were historically assigned to IBM’s Global Financing
business. In connection with the assignment, these receivables were not recognized on the Company’s Consolidated
Balance Sheet. In October 2021, in preparation for the Separation, we entered into a receivables purchase agreement with
an unaffiliated bank with similar volumes to the amounts historically financed by IBM (the “Receivables Agreement”).
Pursuant to the Receivables Agreement, we may sell at any one time, on a revolving basis, up to $1.1 billion of our trade
receivables. Under the Receivables Agreement, from time to time, we sell certain customers’ trade receivables with
extended payment terms at a discount on a non-recourse basis. These transactions are accounted for as sales. The initial
term of the Receivables Agreement is 18 months.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations

From time to time, we may enter into (i) off-balance sheet arrangements as defined by SEC Financial Reporting
Release 67 (FRR-67), “Disclosure in Management’s Discussion and Analysis about Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and
Aggregate Contractual Obligations.” or (ii) purchase commitments, which we expect to use in the ordinary course of
business.
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At December 31, 2021, and December 31, 2020, we had no such off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or are
reasonably likely to have, a material current or future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition,
revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources. We do not have retained
interests in assets transferred to unconsolidated entities or other material off-balance sheet interests or instruments.

At December 31, 2021, the Company’s material future contractual obligations were related to tax 
indemnifications, leases, debt and pension liabilities. See Note 5 – Taxes, Note 9 – Leases, Note 11 – Borrowings, Note 12 
– Other Liabilities and Note 16 – Retirement-Related Benefits of Notes to the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements. Additionally, the Company uses several software and cloud partners to provides services to its customers. The 
majority of the Company’s purchase obligations relate to noncancelable commitments to those third parties. At December 
31, 2021, we had short-term (in 2022), mid-term (in 2023 and 2024) and long-term (after 2024) purchase commitments in 
the amount of $0.8 billion, $1.5 billion and $1.1 billion, respectively.  

Other Information

Signings

The following table presents the Company’s signings for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

    Year Ended December 31,
($ in billions)     2021     2020
Total signings $  13.5 $  17.8

A significant portion of the year-over-year decline in signings was driven by large renewals of existing client
contracts in the first and third quarters of 2020.

The following table presents the total contract value for the Company’s signings greater than $100 million for new
and existing customers for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Year Ended December 31,
($ in millions) 2021 2020
New customers $ 775 $ 1,484
Existing customers $ 3,401 $ 6,770

We believe that the estimated values of signings provide insight into the Company’s potential future revenue and a
tool to monitor trends in the business, including the business’ ability to attract new customers and sell additional scope into
our existing customer base, and we believe signings are helpful information for investors. There are no third-party
standards or requirements governing the calculation of signings. We define signings as an initial estimate of the value of a
customer’s commitment under a contract. The calculation involves estimates and judgments to gauge the extent of a
customer’s commitment, including the type and duration of the agreement and the presence of termination charges or wind-
down costs. Contract extensions and increases in scope are treated as signings only to the extent of the incremental new
value. Signings can vary over time due to a variety of factors including, but not limited to, the timing of signing a small
number of larger outsourcing contracts. The conversion of signings into revenue may vary based on the types of services
and solutions, customer decisions and other factors, which may include, but are not limited to, macroeconomic
environment or external events.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The application of GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions about certain items and future events
that directly affect our reported financial condition. The accounting estimates and assumptions discussed in this section are
those that we consider to be the most critical to our financial statements. Our significant accounting policies are described
in Note 1 – Significant Accounting Policies to our consolidated financial statements.
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The inputs into certain of our critical accounting estimates considered the macroeconomic impacts of the ongoing
COVID-19 pandemic. These estimates included but were not limited to, the allowances for credit losses, the carrying
values of goodwill and intangible assets and other long-lived assets, valuation allowances for tax assets and revenue
recognition. The macroeconomic impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic did not have a material impact on our critical
accounting estimates reflected in our 2021 results. Given the inherent uncertainty of the magnitude of future impacts from
and/or the duration of the pandemic, our estimates may change materially in future periods.

A quantitative sensitivity analysis is provided where that information is reasonably available, can be reliably
estimated and provides material information to investors. The amounts used to assess sensitivity (e.g., 1 percent, 10
percent, etc.) are included to allow users of this report to understand a general effect of changes in the estimates and do not
represent management’s predictions of variability. For all of these estimates, it should be noted that future events rarely
develop exactly as forecasted and estimates require regular review and adjustment.

Revenue Recognition

Application of GAAP related to the measurement and recognition of revenue requires us to make judgments and
estimates. Specifically, complex arrangements with nonstandard terms and conditions may require significant contract
interpretation to determine the appropriate accounting, including whether promised goods and services specified in an
arrangement are distinct performance obligations. In certain arrangements revenue is recognized based on progress toward
completion of the performance obligation using a cost-to-cost measure of progress. The estimation of cost at completion is
complex and requires us to make judgements and estimates. Other significant judgments include determining whether we
are acting as the principal in a transaction and whether separate contracts should be combined and considered part of one
arrangement.

Revenue recognition is also impacted by our ability to determine when a contract is probable of collection and to
estimate variable consideration, including, for example, rebates, price concessions, service-level penalties and performance
bonuses. We consider various factors when making these judgments, including a review of specific transactions, historical
experience and market and economic conditions. Evaluations are conducted each quarter to assess the adequacy of the
estimates. If the estimates were changed by 10 percent in 2021, the impact on net income would have been immaterial.

Costs to Complete Service Contracts

During the contractual period, revenue, cost and profits may be impacted by estimates of the ultimate profitability
of each contract, especially contracts for which we use cost-to-cost method to measure progress. If at any time these
estimates indicate the contract will be unprofitable, the entire estimated loss for the remainder of the contract is recorded
immediately in cost. We perform ongoing profitability analyses of these services contracts in order to determine whether
the latest estimates require updating. Key factors reviewed to estimate the future costs to complete each contract are future
labor costs and product costs and expected productivity efficiencies.

Capitalization of Contract Costs

In connection with services arrangements, we incur and capitalize direct costs for transition and setup activities
performed at the inception of these long-term contracts that are necessary to enable us to perform under the terms of the
arrangement. These costs are capitalized and are amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected period of benefit. We
perform periodic reviews to assess the recoverability of deferred contract transition and setup costs. To assess
recoverability, undiscounted estimated cash flows of the contract are projected over its remaining life and compared to the
carrying amount of contract-related assets, including the unamortized deferred cost balance. Such estimates require
judgment and assumptions, and actual future cash flows could differ from these estimates. A significant change in an
estimate or assumption on one or more contracts could have a material effect on our results of operations.
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Pension Assumptions

For Company-sponsored and co-sponsored defined benefit pension plans, the measurement of the benefit
obligation to plan participants and net periodic benefit cost requires the use of certain assumptions, including, among
others, estimates of discount rates and expected return on plan assets.

Changes in the discount rate assumptions would impact the actuarial (gain)/loss amortization and interest cost
components of the net periodic benefit cost calculation and the projected benefit obligation (PBO). If the average discount
rate assumption for the non-U.S. defined benefit pension plans had increased or decreased by 25 basis points from 1.19
percent on December 31, 2021, this would not result in a material change to pretax income recognized in 2022. Further
changes in the discount rate assumptions would impact the PBO which, in turn, may impact our funding decisions if the
PBO exceeds plan assets. A 25 basis point increase or decrease in the discount rate would result in an approximate
corresponding decrease or increase, respectively, of $85 million in the Plans’ estimated PBO and accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation (APBO) based upon December 31, 2021 data.

The expected long-term return on plan assets assumption is used in calculating the net periodic benefit cost.
Expected returns on plan assets are calculated based on the market-related value of plan assets, which recognizes changes
in the fair value of plan assets systematically over a five-year period in the expected return on plan assets line in net
periodic benefit cost. The differences between the actual return on plan assets and the expected long-term return on plan
assets are recognized over five years in the expected return on plan assets line in net periodic benefit cost and also as a
component of actuarial (gains)/losses, which are recognized over the service lives or life expectancy of the participants,
depending on the plan, provided such amounts exceed thresholds which are based upon the benefit obligation or the value
of plan assets, as provided by accounting standards.

To the extent the outlook for long-term returns changes such that management changes its expected long-term
return on plan assets assumption, a 50 basis point increase or decrease in the expected long-term return on plan assets
assumption would not have a material estimated decrease or increase on the following year’s pretax net periodic benefit
cost (based upon plan assets at December 31, 2021 and expected contributions and benefit payments for 2022).

We may voluntarily make contributions or be required, by law, to make contributions to our pension plans. Actual
results that differ from the estimates may result in more or less future funding into the pension plans than is planned by
management. Impacts of these types of changes on our pension plans would vary depending upon the status of each
respective plan.

In addition to the above, we evaluate other pension assumptions involving demographic factors, such as
retirement age and mortality and update these assumptions to reflect experience and expectations for the future. Actual
results in any given year can differ from actuarial assumptions because of economic and other factors.

For additional information on our pension plans and the development of these assumptions, see Note 16 –
Retirement-Related Benefits to our consolidated financial statements.

Income Taxes

Prior to the Separation, our operations were included in the consolidated U.S. federal and certain state and local
and foreign income tax returns filed by IBM. The Company also filed certain separate foreign income tax returns. For
purposes of the financial statements presented on a “carve-out” basis, the income tax provisions were calculated as if we
filed separate tax returns and include transactions related to our Separation attributed to us, even if the related tax liabilities
were our former Parent’s responsibility.

Post-Separation, our income tax provisions are calculated based on Kyndryl’s operating footprint, as well as our
tax return elections and assertions. Current income tax liabilities including amounts for unrecognized tax benefits related to
our activities included in IBM’s income tax returns were deemed to be immediately settled with IBM through the Net
Parent investment account in the Consolidated Balance Sheet and reflected in Net transfers from Parent in the financing
activities section in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. Post-Separation, liabilities related to unrecognized tax
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benefits for which the Company is liable are reported within the Consolidated Balance Sheet based upon tax authorities’
ability to assert the Company may be the primary obligor for historical taxes, among other factors. Significant judgment is
required in determining any valuation allowance recorded against deferred tax assets. In assessing the need for a valuation
allowance, management considers all available evidence for each jurisdiction including past operating results, estimates of
future taxable income and the feasibility of ongoing tax planning strategies and actions. In the event that we change our
determination as to the amount of deferred tax assets that can be realized, we will adjust the valuation allowance with a
corresponding impact to income tax expense in the period in which such determination is made.

Prior to the Separation, the Company recorded deferred tax assets for stock-based compensation awards that result
in tax deductions in the consolidated financial statements calculated using the separate return basis based on the amount of
compensation cost recognized and the relevant statutory tax rates. Post-Separation, the differences between the deferred tax
assets recognized for financial reporting purposes and the actual tax deduction reported on the Company’s income tax
return are recorded as a benefit or expense to the provision for income taxes in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Valuation of Assets

The application of valuation and impairment accounting requires the use of significant estimates and assumptions.
Impairment testing for assets, other than goodwill, requires the allocation of cash flows to those assets or group of assets
and if required, an estimate of fair value for the assets or group of assets. Our estimates are based upon assumptions
believed to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable. These valuations require the use of
management’s assumptions, which would not reflect unanticipated events and circumstances that may occur. Assumptions
used to perform a recoverability test are consistent with those used for goodwill impairment; see “Valuation of Goodwill”
for further detail.

Valuation of Goodwill

We review goodwill for impairment annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying value of goodwill may not be recoverable by first assessing qualitative factors to determine if it is more likely than
not that fair value is less than carrying value. The fair values of the reporting units were determined using a discounted
cash flow model. Significant assumptions inherent in the valuation methodologies include estimates of future projected
business results, long-term growth rates and the weighted-average cost of capital.

We assess qualitative factors in each of our reporting units that carry goodwill including relevant events and
circumstances that affect the fair value of reporting units. Examples include, but are not limited to, macroeconomic,
industry and market conditions, as well as other individual factors such as:

● A significant adverse shift in the operating environment of the reporting unit such as unanticipated competition;

● Significant pending litigation;

● A loss of key personnel;

● A more-likely-than-not expectation that a reporting unit or a significant portion of a reporting unit will be sold or
otherwise disposed of; and

● An adverse action or assessment by a regulator.

We assess these qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform the quantitative goodwill
impairment test. This quantitative test is required only if we conclude that it is more likely than not that a reporting unit’s
fair value is less than its carrying amount. After performing the annual goodwill impairment qualitative analysis during the
fourth quarter of 2021, the Company determined it was necessary to perform the quantitative goodwill impairment test.
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We use an income-based approach where fair value is determined using a discounted cash flow model that
requires significant judgment with respect to revenue and growth rates, based upon annual budgets and long-term strategic
plans. Fair value estimates employed in our annual impairment review of goodwill involve using various assumptions.
Assumptions critical to our fair value were discount rates used in determining the fair value of the reporting unit, expected
revenue growth and projected EBITDA margins. These and other assumptions are impacted by economic conditions and
expectations of management and may change based on different facts and circumstances. We believe the assumptions used
to estimate future cash flows are reasonable, but there can be no assurance that the expected cash flows will be realized.
The use of different assumptions would increase or decrease discounted cash flows or earnings projections and therefore,
could change impairment determinations.

As a result of the impairment testing performed in the fourth quarter, we determined that $293 million of the
goodwill balance was impaired in our legacy EMEA segment and $176 million of the goodwill was impaired in our new
United States segment. As of October 1, 2021, the estimated fair value of the Strategic Markets reporting unit, which had
goodwill of $176 million, exceeded its carrying amount by greater than 50 percent. Management’s cash flow projections
for this reporting unit included significant judgments and assumptions relating to expected revenue growth and projected
EBITDA margins. A decline in the expected revenue growth rate of 50 basis points or projected EBITDA margins of 50
basis points would not have resulted in an impairment of the Strategic Market reporting unit. See Note 10 – Intangible
Assets Including Goodwill for further discussion.

Loss Contingencies

We are currently involved in various claims and legal proceedings. At least quarterly, we review the status of each
significant matter and assess our potential financial exposure. If the potential loss from any claim or legal proceeding is
considered probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated, we accrue a liability for the estimated loss. Significant
judgment is required in both the determination of probability and the determination as to whether an exposure is reasonably
estimable. Because of uncertainties related to these matters, accruals are based only on the best information available at the
time. As additional information becomes available, we reassess the potential liability related to our pending claims and
litigation and may revise our estimates. These revisions in the estimates of the potential liabilities could have a material
impact on our results of operations and financial position.

Cybersecurity

While cybersecurity risk can never be completely eliminated, our approach draws on the depth and breadth of our
global capabilities, both in terms of our offerings to clients and our internal approaches to risk management. In cooperation
with partners, we offer commercial security solutions that deliver capabilities in areas such as identity and access
management, data security, application security, network security and endpoint security. These solutions include pervasive
encryption, threat intelligence, analytics, cognitive and artificial intelligence and forensic capabilities that analyze client
security events, yielding insights about attacks, threats and vulnerabilities facing the client. We also offer professional
consulting and technical services solutions for security from assessment and incident response to deployment and resource
augmentation. In addition, we offer managed and outsourced security solutions from multiple security operations centers
around the world. Finally, security is embedded in a multitude of our offerings through secure engineering and operations
and by critical functions (e.g., encryption, access control) in servers, storage, software, services and other solutions.

From an enterprise perspective, we implement a multi-faceted risk-management approach based on the National
Institute of Standards and Technology Cybersecurity Framework to identify and address cybersecurity risks. In addition,
we have established policies and procedures that provide the foundation upon which our infrastructure and data are
managed. We regularly assess and adjust our technical controls and methods to identify and mitigate emerging
cybersecurity risks. We use a layered approach with overlapping controls to defend against cybersecurity attacks and
threats on networks, end-user devices, servers, applications, data and cloud solutions. We also have threat intelligence and
security monitoring programs, as well as a global incident response process to respond to cybersecurity threats and attacks.
In addition, we utilize a combination of online training, educational tools, videos and other awareness initiatives to foster a
culture of security awareness and responsibility among our workforce.
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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995. All statements other than statements of historical fact included in this report, including statements concerning
the Company’s plans, objectives, goals, beliefs, business strategies, future events, business condition, results of operations,
financial position, business outlook and business trends and other non-historical statements in this report are forward-
looking statements. Such forward-looking statements often contain words such as “will,” “anticipate,” “predict,” “project,”
“contemplate,” “plan,” “forecast,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “target,” “may,” “should,” “would,” “could,” “seek,”
“aim” and other similar words or expressions or the negative thereof or other variations thereon. Forward-looking
statements are based on the Company’s current assumptions and beliefs regarding future business and financial
performance. The Company’s actual business, financial condition or results of operations may differ materially from those
suggested by forward-looking statements as a result of risks and uncertainties which include, among others:

● risks related to the Company’s recent Spin-off from IBM;
● failure to attract new customers, retain existing customers or sell additional services to customers;
● technological developments and the Company’s response to such developments;
● failure to meet growth and productivity objectives;
● competition;
● impacts of relationships with critical suppliers;
● inability to attract and retain key personnel and other skilled employees;
● impact of local legal, economic, political, health and other conditions, including the COVID-19 pandemic;
● a downturn in economic environment and customer spending budgets;
● damage to the Company’s reputation;
● inability to accurately estimate the cost of services and the timeline for completion of contracts;
● service delivery issues;
● the Company’s ability to successfully manage acquisitions, alliances and dispositions, including integration

challenges, failure to achieve objectives, the assumption of liabilities and higher debt levels;
● the impact of our business with government customers;
● failure of the Company’s intellectual property rights to prevent competitive offerings and the failure of the

Company to obtain necessary licenses;
● risks relating to cybersecurity and data privacy;
● adverse effects from tax matters and environmental matters;
● legal proceedings and investigatory risks;
● impact of changes in market liquidity conditions and customer credit risk on receivables;
● the Company’s pension plans;
● the impact of foreign currency fluctuations; and
● risks related to the Company’s common stock and the securities market.

Additional risks and uncertainties include, among others, those risks and uncertainties described in the “Risk
Factors” section of this report, as such factors may be updated from time to time in the Company’s periodic filings with the
SEC. Any forward-looking statement in this report speaks only as of the date on which it is made. Except as required by
law, the Company assumes no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk:

Currency Rate Fluctuations

Changes in the relative values of non-U.S. currencies to the U.S. dollar affect our financial results and financial
position. At December 31, 2021, currency changes resulted in assets and liabilities denominated in local currencies being
translated into more dollars than at year-end 2020. During periods of sustained movements in currency, the marketplace
and competition adjust to the changing rates. Large changes in currency exchange rates relative to our functional currencies
could increase the costs of our services to customers relative to local competitors, thereby causing us to lose
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existing or potential customers. Currency movements impacted our year-to-year revenue growth. Based on the currency
rate movements in 2021, total revenue decreased 4 percent as reported and 5 percent in constant currency versus 2020. For
non-U.S. subsidiaries and branches that operate in U.S. dollars or whose economic environment is highly inflationary,
translation adjustments are reflected in results of operations. Generally, we manage currency risk in these entities by
linking prices and contracts to U.S. dollars.

Market Risk

In the normal course of business, our financial position is routinely subject to a variety of risks. In addition to the
market risk associated with non-U.S. dollar denominated assets and liabilities, another example of risk is the collectability
of accounts receivable. We regularly assess these risks and have established policies and business practices to protect
against the adverse effects of these and other potential exposures. As a result, we do not anticipate any material losses from
these risks.

To meet disclosure requirements, we perform a sensitivity analysis to determine the effects that market risk
exposures may have on the fair values of our financial assets. The financial instruments that are included in the sensitivity
analysis are comprised of our cash and cash equivalents and short-term and long-term debt.

To perform the sensitivity analysis, we assess the risk of loss in fair values from the effect of hypothetical changes
in interest rates and currency exchange rates on market-sensitive instruments. The market values for interest and currency
exchange risk are computed based on the present value of future cash flows as affected by the changes in rates that are
attributable to the market risk being measured. The discount rates used for the present value computations were selected
based on market interest and foreign currency exchange rates in effect at December 31, 2021 and 2020. The differences in
this comparison are the hypothetical losses associated with each type of risk.

Information provided by the sensitivity analysis does not necessarily represent the actual changes in fair value that
we would incur under normal market conditions because, due to practical limitations, all variables other than the specific
market risk factor are held constant. In addition, the results of the model are constrained by the fact that certain items are
specifically excluded from the analysis, while the financial instruments relating to the financing or hedging of those items
are included by definition.

The results of the sensitivity analysis at December 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Interest Rate Risk

A hypothetical 10 percent adverse change in the levels of interest rates, with all other variables held constant,
would result in a $21 million and a $2 million impact in the fair value of our financial instruments at December 31, 2021
and 2020, respectively.

Currency Exchange Rate Risk

A hypothetical 10 percent adverse change in the levels of currency exchange rates relative to the U.S. dollar, with
all other variables held constant, would result in a $188 million and a $19 million impact in the fair value of our financial
instruments at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Kyndryl Holdings, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Kyndryl Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the related consolidated income statements, statements of
comprehensive income (loss), statements of equity and statements of cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2021, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”).
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America.  

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting
firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our
audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial
statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts
or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging,
subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the
consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below,
providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates. 

Reporting Unit Goodwill Impairment Assessment

As described in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s goodwill balance was $732 million as of
December 31, 2021 including $176 million associated with the Strategic Markets reporting unit (the “Reporting
Unit”). Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually, or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value of goodwill may not be recoverable. In the fourth quarter of 2021, management reviewed its goodwill 
balances for impairment. Fair value is determined by management using a discounted cash flow model, which requires 
significant judgments and assumptions relating to discount rates, expected revenue growth, and projected EBITDA 
margins.  



Table of Contents

46

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the goodwill impairment
assessment for the Reporting Unit is a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by management when
developing the fair value of the Reporting Unit; (ii) a high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in
performing procedures and evaluating management’s significant assumptions related to the expected revenue growth and
projected EBITDA margins; and (iii) the audit effort involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and
knowledge.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our
overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These procedures included, among others, (i) testing
management's process for developing the fair value estimate of the Reporting Unit, (ii) evaluating the appropriateness of
the discounted cash flow model; (iii) testing the completeness and accuracy of underlying data used in the model; and (iv)
evaluating the reasonableness of the significant assumptions used by management related to the expected revenue growth
and projected EBITDA margins. Evaluating management’s assumptions related to the expected revenue growth and
projected EBITDA margins involved evaluating whether the assumptions used by management were reasonable
considering (i) the current and past performance of the Reporting Unit; (ii) the consistency with external market and
industry data; and (iii) whether these assumptions were consistent with evidence obtained in other areas of the audit.
Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge were used to assist in the evaluation of the Company’s discounted cash
flow model.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
New York, New York
March 10, 2022

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2020.
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KYNDRYL HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

(In millions, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,
 Notes     2021     2020     2019

Revenues * 3 $ 18,657 $ 19,352 $ 20,279

Cost of services ** 3 $ 16,570 $ 17,143 $ 17,682
Selling, general and administrative expenses 2,776 2,948 2,970
Workforce rebalancing charges 39 918 159
Transaction-related costs 627 21 —
Impairment expense 10 469 — —
Interest expense 11 64 63 76
Other (income) and expense 35 25 (29)
Total costs and expenses $ 20,580 $ 21,118 $ 20,858

Income (loss) before income taxes $ (1,922) $ (1,766) $ (579)
Provision for income taxes 5 $ 397 $ 246 $ 364
Net income (loss) $ (2,319) $ (2,011) $ (943)

Basic earnings (loss) per share 6 $ (10.35) $ (8.97) $ (4.21)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (10.35) (8.97) (4.21)

Weighted-average basic shares outstanding 6 224.1 224.1 224.1
Weighted-average diluted shares outstanding 224.1 224.1 224.1

*     Including related-party revenue of $704 in 2021, $645 in 2020 and $613 in 2019
**   Including related-party cost of service of $3,979 in 2021, $3,767 in 2020 and $3,592 in 2019

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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KYNDRYL HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(Dollars in millions)

Year Ended December 31,
2021     2020     2019

Net income (loss)  $ (2,319) $ (2,011) $ (943)
Other comprehensive income (loss), before tax:

Foreign currency translation adjustments 198 125 12
Unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedges:

Unrealized gains (losses) arising during the period 4 — —
Reclassification of (gains) losses to net income (1) — —

Total unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedges 3 — —
Retirement-related benefit plans:

Prior service costs (credits) 1 — (1)
Net (losses) gains arising during the period 72 (41) (84)
Curtailments and settlements 3 — —
Amortization of prior service (credits) costs — (1) —
Amortization of net (gains) losses 51 36 27

Total retirement-related benefit plans 127 (6) (57)
Other comprehensive income (loss), before tax 329 119 (45)
Income tax (expense) benefit related to items of other comprehensive income
(loss) (33) 2 18
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 296 121 (27)
Total comprehensive income (loss) $ (2,023) $ (1,891) $ (970)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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KYNDRYL HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

(In millions, except per share amounts)

December 31,
 Notes     2021     2020

Assets:      
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,223 $ 24
Restricted cash 17 14
Accounts receivable (net of allowances of $44 in 2021 and $91 in 2020)* 2,279 1,444
Deferred costs 3  920 1,205
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 337 157

Total current assets $ 5,777 $ 2,843

Property and equipment, net 8 $ 2,923 $ 3,991
Operating right-of-use assets, net 9 1,361 1,131
Deferred costs 3 1,265 1,441
Deferred taxes 5 675 424
Goodwill 10 732 1,230
Intangible assets, net 10 36 60
Pension assets 58 1
Other assets 385 85

Total assets $ 13,213 $ 11,205

Liabilities:
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable** $ 1,140 $ 919
Value-added tax and income tax liabilities 357 —
Short-term debt 11 105 69
Accrued compensation and benefits  381 350
Deferred income (current portion) 3  872 854
Operating lease liabilities (current portion) 8  360 333
Accrued contract costs 585 512
Other accrued expenses and liabilities 12 744 874

Total current liabilities $ 4,544 $ 3,910

Long-term debt 11 $ 3,128 $ 140
Retirement and nonpension postretirement benefit obligations 16 856 550
Deferred income (noncurrent portion) 3 475 543
Operating lease liabilities (noncurrent portion) 9 1,007 850
Other liabilities 12 501 282

Total liabilities $ 10,511 $ 6,274
Commitments and contingencies 13

Equity:
Stockholders’ equity 14

Net Parent investment — 5,972
Common stock, par value $0.01 per share, and additional paid-in capital (1,000.0 shares
authorized, 224.2 shares issued) 4,218 —
Accumulated deficit (375) —
Treasury stock, at cost (shares: 2021 - 0.0) (1) —
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (1,143) (1,100)
Total stockholders’ equity before noncontrolling interests $ 2,700 $ 4,873
Noncontrolling interests 3 58

Total equity $ 2,702 $ 4,931
Total liabilities and equity $ 13,213 $ 11,205

*     Including related-party accounts receivable of $373 at December 31, 2021
**   Including related-party accounts payable of $733 at December 31, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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KYNDRYL HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(Dollars in millions)

Year Ended December 31,  
     2021     2020     2019

Cash flows from operating activities:         
Net income (loss) $ (2,319) $ (2,011) $ (943)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to cash provided by operating activities:    

Depreciation and amortization    
Depreciation of property and equipment 1,300 1,445 1,469
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 327 424 429
Amortization of transition costs and prepaid software  1,278  1,379  1,305
Amortization of capitalized contract costs 563 683 803
Amortization of intangible assets  37  29  29

Goodwill impairment 469 — —
Stock-based compensation 71 64 51
Deferred taxes (401) (52) (33)
Net (gain) loss on asset sales and other 11 4 1
Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Deferred costs (excluding amortization) (1,618) (1,917) (1,802)
Right-of-use assets and liabilities (excluding depreciation) (374) (372) (418)
Workforce rebalancing liabilities (341) 560 27
Receivables  (1,076)  387  23
Accounts payable 125 70 33
Taxes (including items settled with Parent) 989 297 397
Other assets and other liabilities  842  (360)  (238)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ (119) $ 628 $ 1,134

Cash flows from investing activities:    
Payments for property and equipment $ (752) $ (1,036) $ (1,190)
Proceeds from disposition of property and equipment  194  84  63
Other investing activities, net (14) (1) (2)

Net cash used in investing activities $ (572) $ (953) $ (1,128)

Cash flows from financing activities:    
Debt repayments $ (91) $ (66) $ (18)
Proceeds from issuance of debt, net of debt issuance costs 3,038 — —
Net transfers (to) from Parent  (30) 377 18
Common stock repurchases for tax withholdings (1)  —  —

Net cash provided by financing activities $ 2,915 $ 312 $ (0)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ (22) $ 1 $ (1)
Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 2,203 $ (13) $ 5

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at January 1 $ 38 $ 50 $ 46
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at December 31 $ 2,240 $ 38 $ 50

Supplemental data
Income taxes paid, net of refunds received $ 12 $ — $ —
Interest paid on debt $ 2 $ — $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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KYNDRYL HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EQUITY

(In millions)

Common Stock and Accumulated
Additional Net Other Non-

Paid-In Capital Parent Comprehensive Treasury Accumulated Controlling Total
Shares Amount Investment Income (Loss) Stock Deficit Interests Equity

Equity – January 1, 2019 — $ — $ 7,457 $ (1,193) $ — $ — $ 52 $ 6,315
Net income (loss) (943) (943)
Other comprehensive income (loss),
net of tax (27) (27)
Net transfers from Parent 598 598
Changes in non-controlling interests 4 4
Equity – December 31, 2019 — $ — $ 7,112 $ (1,220) $ — $ — $ 56 $ 5,948

Common Stock and Accumulated
Additional Net Other Non-

Paid-In Capital Parent Comprehensive Treasury Accumulated Controlling Total
Shares Amount Investment Income (Loss) Stock Deficit Interests Equity

Equity – January 1, 2020 — $ — $ 7,112 $ (1,220) $ — $ — $ 56 $ 5,948
Net income (loss) (2,011) (2,011)
Other comprehensive income (loss),
net of tax 121 121
Net transfers from Parent 872 872
Changes in non-controlling interests 2 2
Equity – December 31, 2020 — $ — $ 5,972 $ (1,100) $ — $ — $ 58 $ 4,931

Common Stock and Accumulated
Additional Net Other Non-

Paid-In Capital Parent Comprehensive Treasury Accumulated Controlling Total
Shares Amount Investment Income (Loss) Stock Deficit Interests Equity

Equity - January 1, 2021 — $ — $ 5,972 $ (1,100) $ — $ — $ 58 $ 4,931
Net income (loss) (1,943) (375) (2,319)
Other comprehensive income (loss),
net of tax 296 296
Issuance of common stock and
reclassification of net transfers from
Parent 224.1 4,205 (4,029) (339) (163)
Common stock issued under
employee plans 0.1 13 13
Purchases of treasury stock 0.0 (1) (1)
Changes in non-controlling interests (56) (56)
Equity - December 31, 2021 224.2 $ 4,218 $ — $ (1,143) $ (1) $ (375) $ 3 $ 2,702

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Kyndryl’s Spin-off

Kyndryl Holdings, Inc. (“we”, “the Company” or “Kyndryl”) is a leading technology services company and the
largest infrastructure services provider in the world, serving as a partner to more than 4,000 customers whose operations
span over 100 countries. Prior to November 3, 2021, the Company was wholly owned by International Business Machines
Corporation (“IBM”, “Parent” or “former Parent”).

In October 2021, the Board of Directors of IBM approved the spin-off (the “Separation” or the “Spin-off”) of the
infrastructure services unit (the “Kyndryl Businesses”) of its Global Technology Services (“GTS”) segment through the
distribution of shares of Kyndryl’s common stock to IBM stockholders. In conjunction with the Distribution, Kyndryl
underwent an internal reorganization following which it became the holder, directly or through its subsidiaries, of the
Kyndryl Businesses. On October 12, 2021, Kyndryl’s registration statement on Form 10, as amended, was declared
effective by the US Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). On November 3, 2021, the Separation was achieved
through the Parent’s pro rata distribution of 80.1% of the shares of common stock of Kyndryl to holders of the Parent’s
common stock as of the close of business on the record date of October 25, 2021. The Parent retained 19.9% of the shares
of the Company’s common stock. The Parent’s stockholders of record received one share of the Company’s common stock
for every five shares of the Parent’s common stock.

Description of Business

Our purpose is to design, build and manage secure and responsive private, public and multicloud environments to
accelerate our customers’ digital transformations. We have a long track record of helping enterprises navigate major
technological changes, particularly by enabling our customers to focus on the core aspects of their businesses during these
shifts while trusting us with their most critical systems.

We provide engineering talent, operating paradigms and insights derived from our data around IT patterns. This
enables us to deliver advisory, implementation and managed services at scale across technology infrastructures that allow
our customers to de-risk and realize the full value of their digital transformations. We do this while embracing new
technologies and solutions and continually expanding our skills and capabilities, as we help advance the vital systems that
power progress for our customers. We deliver transformation and secure cloud services capabilities, insights and depth of
expertise to modernize and manage IT environments based on our customers’ unique patterns of transformation at scale.
We offer services across domains such as cloud services, core enterprise and zCloud services, applications, data and
artificial intelligence services, digital workplace services, security and resiliency services and network and edge services as
we continue to support our customers through technological change. Our services enable us to modernize and manage
cloud and on-premise environments as “one” for our customers, enabling them to scale seamlessly. To deliver these
services, we rely on our global team of skilled practitioners, consisting of approximately 90,000 professionals.

Basis of Presentation

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”), which requires us to make estimates and assumptions that impact the amounts reported and disclosed
in our consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes. We prepared these estimates based on the most
current and best available information, but actual results could differ materially from these estimates and assumptions,
particularly in light of the continuing COVID-19 pandemic. COVID-19 has had and we expect will continue to have,
significant effects on economic activity, on demand for our services and on our results of operations in 2022.

The financial statements and footnotes for the annual periods ending December 31, 2020 and 2019 and the period
from January 1 through November 3, 2021 (the “pre-Separation periods”) reflect allocations of certain IBM corporate,
infrastructure and shared services expenses using a variety of allocation methodologies that are appropriate for the type of
allocated expense. Where possible, these charges were allocated based on direct usage, with the remainder
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allocated on a pro rata basis of headcount, gross profit, asset or other allocation methodologies that are considered to be a
reasonable reflection of the utilization of services provided or the benefit received by Kyndryl during the periods presented.

The Consolidated Balance Sheet of the Company for the pre-Separation periods includes assets and liabilities of
IBM that are specifically identifiable or otherwise attributable to the Company, including subsidiaries and/or joint ventures
(“JVs”) conducting managed infrastructure services business in which IBM had a controlling financial interest or was the
primary beneficiary. Certain of these subsidiaries and JVs were historically managed by IBM’s GTS segment but not
transferred to Kyndryl in conjunction with the Separation. The JVs’ balance sheet balances, revenues, costs, expenses and
cash flow activities were recorded in the consolidated financial statements during the pre-Separation periods. The JVs’
balance sheet amounts were settled through Net Parent investment on the Separation date, and their business activities were
no longer recorded in the Consolidated Income Statement and Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow after the Separation
date.

Cash and cash equivalents held by IBM at the corporate level during the pre-Separation periods were not
attributable to the Company for any of the periods presented due to IBM’s centralized approach to cash management and
the financing of its operations. Only cash amounts specifically held by Kyndryl are reflected in the Consolidated Balance
Sheet. IBM’s debt was not attributed to the Company for any of the periods presented because IBM’s borrowings are not
the legal obligation of Kyndryl. The only third-party debt obligations included in the consolidated financial statements are
those for which the legal obligor is a legal entity of Kyndryl. Interest expense for the pre-Separation periods in the
Consolidated Income Statement reflects the allocation of interest on borrowing and funding related activity associated with
the portion of IBM’s borrowings where the proceeds benefited us.

Transfers of cash, both to and from IBM’s centralized cash management system prior to Separation, are reflected
as a component of Net Parent investment in the Consolidated Balance Sheet and as financing activities in the
accompanying Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. In addition, Net Parent investment in the Consolidated Balance
Sheet represents the accumulation of the Company’s net income (loss) over time and net non-trade intercompany
transactions between Kyndryl and IBM (for example, investments from IBM or distributions to IBM).

As a result of the allocations and carve-out methodologies used to prepare the consolidated financial statements
for the pre-Separation periods, the results may not be indicative of the Company’s future performance, and may not reflect
the results of operations, financial position and cash flows Kyndryl would have achieved if it had been a separate,
standalone company during the pre-Separation periods.

The income tax provision included in these consolidated financial statements for the pre-Separation periods was
calculated using the separate return basis, as if Kyndryl filed separate tax returns. The calculation of income taxes on a
hypothetical separate return basis requires a considerable amount of judgment and use of both estimates and allocations;
pre-Separation current and deferred taxes may not be reflective of the actual tax balances subsequent to the Separation.
Current income tax liabilities including amounts for unrecognized tax benefits related to Kyndryl’s activities included in
the Parent’s income tax returns were assumed to be immediately settled with Parent through the Net Parent investment
account in the Consolidated Balance Sheet and reflected in Net transfers from Parent in the Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows during these periods.

Certain items have been recast to conform to current period presentation.

Consolidation

For the pre-Separation periods, the accompanying financial statements of Kyndryl were derived from the
consolidated financial statements and accounting records of the Parent as if the Company operated on a standalone basis
during the periods presented and were prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and pursuant to the rules and regulations of
the SEC. Historically, the Company consisted of the managed infrastructure services unit of the Parent’s Global
Technology Services segment and did not operate as a separate standalone company. Accordingly, the Parent had reported
the financial position and results of operations, cash flows and changes in equity of the Company in the Parent’s
consolidated financial statements.
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All significant intercompany transactions during the pre-Separation periods between Kyndryl and IBM have been
included in the consolidated financial statements. Intercompany transactions between Kyndryl and IBM are considered to
be effectively settled in the consolidated financial statements at the time the transaction is recorded. The total net effect of
the settlement of these intercompany transactions is reflected as Net transfers from Parent in the financing activities section
in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and in the Consolidated Balance Sheet within Net Parent investment.

After the Separation on November 3, 2021, the Company’s financial statements for the periods from November 4,
2021, through December 31, 2021, are consolidated financial statements based on our reported results as a standalone
company. All significant transactions and accounts within Kyndryl were eliminated. All significant intercompany
transactions between IBM and Kyndryl prior to the Separation were included within Net Parent investment on the
accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements.

Within the financial statements and tables presented, certain columns and rows may not add due to the use of
rounded numbers for disclosure purposes. Percentages presented are calculated from the underlying whole-dollar amounts.
Certain items have been recast to conform to current-period presentation. Dollars are in millions except where otherwise
noted.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect amounts that are reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying disclosures.
Estimates are used in determining the allocation of costs and expenses from IBM and are used in determining the
following, among others: revenue, costs to complete service contracts, income taxes, pension assumptions, valuation of
assets including goodwill and intangible assets, the depreciable and amortizable lives of other long-lived assets, loss
contingencies, allowance for credit losses, deferred transition costs and other matters. These estimates are based on
management’s knowledge of current events, historical experience and actions that the Company may undertake in the
future and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, including the
macroeconomic impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic (beginning in 2020). Actual results may be different from these
estimates.

Revenue

The Company accounts for a contract with a client when it has written approval, the contract is committed, the
rights of the parties, including payment terms, are identified, the contract has commercial substance and consideration is
probable of collection.

Revenue is recognized when, or as, control of a promised service or product transfers to a client, in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring those products or
services. If the consideration promised in a contract includes a variable amount, the Company estimates the amount to
which it expects to be entitled using either the expected value or most likely amount method. The Company’s contracts
may include terms that could cause variability in the transaction price, including, for example, rebates, volume discounts,
service-level penalties and performance bonuses or other forms of variable consideration. In certain rare circumstances, if
we grant the customer the right to return a product and receive a full or partial credit or refund of any consideration paid,
the Company (i) recognizes revenue for the transferred products in the amount of consideration to which it expects to be
entitled, (ii) records a refund liability and (iii) recognizes an asset for its right to recover products from customers on
settling the refund liability.

The Company only includes estimated amounts in the transaction price to the extent it is probable that a
significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable
consideration is resolved. The Company may not be able to reliably estimate variable consideration in certain long-term
arrangements due to uncertainties that are not expected to be resolved for a long period of time or when the Company’s
experience with similar types of contracts is limited. Changes in estimates of variable consideration are included in Note 3
– Revenue Recognition.
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The Company’s standard billing terms are that payment is due upon receipt of invoice, payable within 30 days.
Invoices are generally issued as services are rendered and/or as control transfers, either at monthly or quarterly intervals or
upon achievement of contractual milestones. In some services contracts, the Company bills the client prior to recognizing
revenue from performing the services. In these cases, deferred income is presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. In
other services contracts, the Company performs the services prior to billing the client. When the Company performs
services prior to billing the client, the right to consideration is typically subject to milestone completion or client
acceptance and the amount is recorded as a contract asset. Contract assets are generally classified as current and are
recorded on a net basis with deferred income (i.e., contract liabilities) at the contract level. Refer to Note 3 – Revenue
Recognition for contract assets for the periods presented.

Contract assets are included in prepaid expenses and other current assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The
unconditional unbilled accounts receivable of $454 million and $358 million at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively,
is included in accounts receivable in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Additionally, in determining the transaction price, the Company would adjust the promised amount of
consideration for the effects of the time value of money if the billing terms are not standard and the timing of payments
agreed to by the parties to the contract provide the client or the Company with a significant benefit of financing, in which
case the contract contains a significant financing component. As a practical expedient, the Company does not account for
significant financing components if the period between when the Company transfers the promised product or service to the
client and when the client pays for that product or service will be one year or less.

The Company may include subcontractor services or Original Equipment Manufacturer (OEM) hardware and/or
OEM software components in certain integrated services arrangements. In these types of arrangements, revenue from sales
of OEM hardware and/or OEM software components or services is recorded net of costs when the Company is acting as an
agent between the client and the vendor and gross when the Company is the principal for the transaction. To determine
whether the Company is an agent or principal, the Company considers whether it obtains control of the products or services
before they are transferred to the customer. In making this evaluation, several factors are considered, most notably whether
the Company has primary responsibility for fulfillment to the client, as well as inventory risk and pricing discretion.

The Company reports revenue net of any revenue-based taxes assessed by governmental authorities that are
imposed on and concurrent with specific revenue-producing transactions.

Performance Obligations

The Company’s capabilities as an infrastructure services company include offerings that often encompass multiple
types of services and may integrate various OEM hardware and/or OEM software components. When an arrangement
contains multiple distinct performance obligations, revenue follows the specific revenue recognition policies for each
performance obligation, depending on the type of offering. The Company determines if the products or services are distinct
and allocates the consideration to each distinct performance obligation on a relative standalone selling price basis. When
products and services are not distinct, the Company determines an appropriate measure of progress based on the nature of
its overall promise for the single performance obligation.
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The revenue policies below are applied to each performance obligation, as applicable.

Standalone Selling Price

The Company allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation on a relative standalone selling price
basis. The standalone selling price (SSP) is the price at which the Company would sell a promised product or service
separately to a client. The Company establishes SSP based on management’s estimated selling price or observable prices of
products or services sold separately in comparable circumstances to similar clients. For OEM hardware and/or OEM
software components, the Company is able to establish SSP based on the cost from the vendor. The Company reassesses
SSP ranges on a periodic basis or when facts and circumstances change.

In certain instances, the Company may not be able to establish a SSP range based on observable prices and the
Company estimates SSP. The Company estimates SSP by considering multiple factors including, but not limited to, overall
market conditions, including geographic or regional specific factors, competitive positioning, competitor actions, internal
costs, profit objectives and pricing practices. Estimating SSP is a formal process that includes review and approval by the
Company’s management.

Nature of Products and Services

The Company delivers transformation and secure cloud services capabilities, insights and depth of expertise to
modernize and manage IT environments based on its customers’ unique patterns of transformation at scale. The Company
offers services such as cloud managed services, data services, security and resiliency services, enterprise infrastructure
services, digital workplace services, network services, managed Independent Software Vendor services and distributed
cloud services to support its customers through technological change. Many of these services can be delivered entirely or
partially through cloud or as-a-service delivery models. The Company’s services are provided on a time-and-material basis,
as a fixed-price contract or as a fixed-price-per-measure-of-output contract, and the contract terms range from less than one
year to over 10 years. The Company typically satisfies the performance obligation and recognizes revenue over time in
services arrangements because the client simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided as the Company
performs the services.

In outsourcing, other managed services, application management and other cloud-based services arrangements, the
Company determines whether the services performed during the initial phases of the arrangement, such as setup activities,
are distinct. In most cases, the arrangement is a single performance obligation comprised of a series of distinct services that
are substantially the same and that have the same pattern of transfer (i.e., distinct days of service). The Company applies a
measure of progress (typically time-based) to any fixed consideration and allocates variable consideration to the distinct
periods of service based on usage. As a result, revenue is generally recognized over the period the services are provided on
a usage basis. This results in revenue recognition that corresponds with the value to the client of the services transferred to
date relative to the remaining services promised.

Revenue from time-and-material contracts is recognized on an output basis as labor hours are delivered and/or
direct expenses are incurred. Revenue from as-a-service type contracts is recognized either on a straight-line basis or on a
usage basis, depending on the terms of the arrangement (such as whether the Company is standing ready to perform or
whether the contract has usage-based metrics). If an as-a-service contract includes setup activities, those promises in the
arrangement are evaluated to determine if they are distinct.

In design and build arrangements, revenue is recognized based on progress toward completion of the performance
obligation using a cost-to-cost measure of progress (e.g., labor costs incurred to date as a percentage of the total estimated
labor costs to fulfill the contract). The estimation of cost at completion is complex, subject to many variables and requires
significant judgment. Changes in original estimates are reflected in revenue on a cumulative catch-up basis in the period in
which the circumstances that gave rise to the revision become known by the Company. Refer to Note 3 – Revenue
Recognition for the amount of revenue recognized in the reporting period on a cumulative catch-up basis (i.e., from
performance obligations satisfied, or partially satisfied, in previous periods).
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The Company performs ongoing profitability analyses of its design and build services contracts accounted for
using a cost-to-cost measure of progress to determine whether the latest estimates of revenues, costs and profits require
updating. If at any time these estimates indicate that the contract will be unprofitable, the entire estimated loss for the
remainder of the contract is recorded immediately. For other types of services contracts, any losses are recorded as
incurred.

The Company’s services offerings may include the integration and/or sale of OEM hardware and/or software
components. Contracts that include hardware and/or software components are evaluated to determine if they are distinct
performance obligations as discussed in “Performance Obligations” above. Further, the Company assesses contracts with
customers to determine whether an embedded lease arrangement exists. A contract with a customer includes an embedded
lease when the Company grants the customer a right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. Generally, the hardware or software utilized in outsourcing, managed services, application
management and other cloud-based services arrangements are not distinct and do not meet the criteria to be considered an
embedded lease. As a result, revenue is generally recognized over time, consistent with the services provided to the
customer.

For distinct OEM hardware sales, revenue is recognized when control has transferred to the customer which
typically occurs when the hardware has been shipped to the client, risk of loss has transferred to the client and the
Company has a present right to payment for the hardware.

Arrangements that include a license to the software are determined to have distinct software components. To meet
this criterion, the customer must have both the contractual right to take possession of the software at any time and the
ability to feasibly run the software on its own hardware or hire another party to host the software without significant
economic or functional penalty. Revenue for distinct software is typically recognized at the beginning of the services
arrangement as that is the point in time the customer can access and benefit from the software and the point at which they
have a legal right to possession.

Cost of Services

Recurring operating costs for services contracts are recognized as incurred. Certain eligible, nonrecurring costs
(i.e., setup costs) incurred in the initial phases of outsourcing contracts and other cloud-based services contracts, are
capitalized when the costs relate directly to the contract, the costs generate or enhance resources of the Company that will
be used in satisfying the performance obligation in the future and the costs are expected to be recovered. These costs
consist of transition and setup costs related to the installation of systems and processes and other deferred fulfillment costs,
including, for example, prepaid assets used in services contracts (i.e., prepaid software or prepaid maintenance).
Capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected period of benefit, which approximates the pattern
of transfer to the client of the services to which the asset relates and includes anticipated contract renewals or extensions.
Additionally, fixed assets associated with these contracts are capitalized and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
expected useful life of the asset and recorded in cost of sales. If an asset is contract-specific and cannot be repurposed, then
the depreciation period is the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the contract term. Setup costs paid on behalf of clients
in excess of the fair value of services delivered in outsourcing arrangements are deferred and amortized on a straight-line
basis as a reduction of revenue over the expected period of benefit. The Company performs periodic reviews to assess the
recoverability of deferred contract transition and setup costs. If the carrying amount is deemed not recoverable, an
impairment loss is recognized. Refer to Note 3 – Revenue Recognition for the amount of deferred costs to fulfill a contract
at December 31, 2021 and 2020.

In situations in which an outsourcing contract is terminated, the terms of the contract may require the client to
reimburse the Company for the recovery of unbilled accounts receivable, unamortized deferred contract costs and
additional costs incurred by the Company to transition the services.

Incremental Costs of Obtaining a Contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract (e.g., sales commissions) are capitalized and amortized on a straight-line
basis, which approximates the pattern that the assets’ economic benefits are expected to be consumed, over the
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expected customer relationship period if the Company expects to recover those costs. The expected customer relationship
period is determined based on the average customer relationship period, including expected renewals, for each offering
type and ranges from three to six years. Expected renewal periods are only included in the expected customer relationship
period if commission amounts paid upon renewal are not commensurate with amounts paid on the initial contract.
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract include only those costs the Company incurs to obtain a contract that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been obtained. The Company has determined that certain commissions programs meet
the requirements to be capitalized. Some commission programs are not subject to capitalization as the commission expense
is paid and recognized as the related revenue is recognized.

Expense and Other (Income)

Expense and other income within the Company’s financial statements through the Separation reflect allocations to
the Company by IBM based on direct usage, with the remainder allocated on a pro-rata basis of gross profit, headcount,
assets or other measures the Company has determined as reasonable. Expense and other income within the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for the periods from November 4, 2021, through December 31, 2021, are based on our
reported results as a standalone company.

Selling, General and Administrative

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expense is charged to income as incurred, except for certain sales
commissions, which are capitalized and amortized. For further information regarding capitalizing sales commissions, see
“Incremental Costs of Obtaining a Contract” above. Expenses of promoting and selling services are classified as selling
expense and, in addition to sales commissions, include such items as compensation, advertising and travel. General and
administrative expense includes such items as compensation, legal costs, office supplies, non-income taxes, insurance and
office rental. In addition, general and administrative expense includes other operating items such as allowance for credit
losses, amortization of certain intangible assets and research, development and engineering (“RD&E”) costs allocated to
the Company by the former Parent. Total RD&E costs allocated to Kyndryl were $63 million, $76 million and $83 million
for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

Advertising and Promotional Expense

Advertising and promotional costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising and promotional expense, which
includes media, agency and promotional expense directly incurred by the Company was $56 million, $34 million and $55
million in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and is recorded in SG&A expense in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Other (Income) and Expense

Other (income) and expense primarily consists of expense related to certain components of retirement-related
costs, including interest costs, expected return on plan assets, amortization of prior service costs (credits), curtailments and
settlements and other net periodic benefit costs. Also included are gains and losses from foreign currency transactions,
certain real estate transactions and corporate expenses. For more information, see Note 17 – Related-Party Transactions.

Defined Benefit Pension and Nonpension Postretirement Benefit Plans

Prior to the Separation, the defined benefit plans and nonpension postretirement benefit plans in which certain 
Kyndryl employees participated were sponsored by IBM. During this period, an allocation of certain assets and liabilities 
was reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheet based on legal entities, and the Consolidated Income Statement reflected a 
proportional allocation of net period benefit cost based on headcount associated with the Company.  

In September 2021, in preparation for the Separation, certain defined benefit plans and nonpension postretirement 
benefit plans were amended, and Kyndryl became sponsor or co-sponsor (with IBM) of these plans.  Refer to Note 16 – 
Retirement-Related Benefits for further details on the accounting for these plans.  
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As a result of the amendment of these plans to make Kyndryl sponsor or co-sponsor in September 2021, the
funded status of these plans became recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The funded status is measured as the
difference between the fair value of plan assets and the projected benefit obligation at the balance sheet date. For defined
benefit pension plans, the benefit obligation is the projected benefit obligation (PBO), which represents the actuarial
present value of benefits expected to be paid upon retirement based on employee services already rendered and estimated
future compensation levels. For nonpension postretirement benefit plans, the benefit obligation is the accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation (APBO), which represents the actuarial present value of postretirement benefits attributed
to employee services already rendered. The fair value of plan assets represents the current market value of assets held for
the benefit of participants. For co-sponsored plans, the fair value of plan assets based on Company contributions,
distributions and market returns and the benefit obligation attributed to employees of the Company are allocated to
Kyndryl. Overfunded plans, in which the fair value of plan assets exceeds the benefit obligation, are aggregated and
recorded as a prepaid pension asset equal to this excess. Underfunded plans, in which the benefit obligation exceeds the
fair value of plan assets, are aggregated and recorded as a retirement and nonpension postretirement benefit obligation
equal to this excess.

The current portion of the retirement and nonpension post-retirement benefit obligations represents the actuarial
present value of benefits payable in the next twelve months exceeding the fair value of plan assets, measured on a plan-by-
plan basis. This obligation is recorded in accrued compensation and benefits in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Net periodic benefit cost of defined benefit pension and nonpension postretirement benefit plans is recorded in the
Consolidated Income Statement and includes service cost, interest cost, expected return on plan assets, amortization of
prior service costs/(credits) and actuarial (gains)/losses previously recognized as a component of other comprehensive
income/(loss) (OCI). The service cost component of net benefit cost is recorded in Cost of services and SG&A in the
Consolidated Income Statement (unless eligible for capitalization) based on the employees’ respective functions. The other
components of net benefit cost are presented separately from service cost within other (income) and expense in the
Consolidated Income Statement.

Actuarial (gains) losses and prior service costs/(credits) are recognized as a component of OCI in the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss) as they arise. Those actuarial (gains) losses and prior service costs/(credits) are
subsequently recognized as a component of net periodic benefit cost pursuant to the recognition and amortization
provisions of applicable accounting guidance. Actuarial (gains) losses arise as a result of differences between actual
experience and assumptions or as a result of changes in actuarial assumptions. Prior service costs/(credits) represent the
cost of benefit changes attributable to prior service granted in plan amendments.

The measurement of benefit obligations and net periodic benefit cost is based on estimates and assumptions
approved by the Company’s management. These valuations reflect the terms of the plans and use participant-specific
information such as compensation, age and years of service, as well as certain assumptions, including estimates of discount
rates, expected return on plan assets, rate of compensation increases, interest crediting rates and mortality rates.

The Company participates in non-U.S. multi-employer pension plans and makes required contributions to those
plans, which are recorded in Cost of services and SG&A in the Consolidated Income Statement based on the employees’
respective functions.

Defined Contribution Plans

Prior to the Separation, the Parent offered various defined contribution plans for U.S. and non-U.S. employees. In
September 2021, in preparation for the Separation, Kyndryl established standalone defined contribution plans, and
employees identified as Kyndryl employees were enrolled into these plans. Contribution expense associated with employer
matching benefits are recorded when the employee renders service to the Company. The charge is recorded in Cost of
services and SG&A in the Consolidated Income Statement based on the employees’ respective functions.
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Stock-Based Compensation

Prior to the Separation, the Company participated in various IBM stock-based compensation plans, including
incentive compensation plans and an employee stock purchase plan. All awards granted under the plans were based on
IBM’s common shares and, as such, were reflected in the Parent’s Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity and not
in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Equity. For historical periods, stock-based compensation cost is based on the
awards and terms previously granted to employees by the Parent. Compensation costs associated with Kyndryl employees’
participation in the Parent’s incentive plans have been identified for employees who exclusively support Kyndryl
operations.

Stock-based compensation represents the cost related to stock-based awards granted to employees under the stock-
based compensation plans. The Company establishes stock-based compensation values at the grant date, based on the
estimated fair value of the award and recognizes the cost on a straight-line basis (net of estimated forfeitures) over the
requisite employee service period. Kyndryl grants the Company’s employees Restricted Stock Units (RSUs), market-
conditioned performance awards (Launch Performance Stock Units, or “Launch PSUs”) and stock options. RSUs are stock
awards granted to employees that entitle the holder to shares of Kyndryl common stock as the award vests, typically over a
one- to four-year period. Market-conditioned performance awards are restricted stock units granted to employees with
vesting conditions based on the Company’s stock price and are cliff-vested at the end of the service period. Stock options
are vested over a one- to four-year period. Dividend equivalents are not paid on the stock-based awards described above.
The fair value of the RSUs is determined on the grant date based on Kyndryl’s stock price, adjusted for the exclusion of
dividend equivalents where applicable. The fair value of market-conditioned performance awards is determined on the date
of grant using a Monte Carlo simulation model which estimates the probability of satisfying market conditions. The fair
value of stock options is determined on the grant date using a Black-Scholes model. Stock-based compensation cost is
recorded in Cost of services and SG&A in the Consolidated Income Statement based on the employees’ respective
functions.

At the time of Kyndryl’s Spin-off, each outstanding IBM RSU and PSU held by a Kyndryl employee was
converted into a Kyndryl RSU. The equity award exchange ratio was determined as the closing per share price of IBM
shares on the last trading day prior to the Spin-off divided by the opening price of Kyndryl common stock on the first
trading day following the Spin-off.

The Company records deferred tax assets for awards that result in tax deductions in the consolidated financial
statements calculated using the separate return basis based on the amount of compensation cost recognized and the relevant
statutory tax rates. The differences between the deferred tax assets recognized for financial reporting purposes and the
actual tax deduction reported on the income tax return are recorded as a benefit or expense to the provision for income
taxes in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Derivative Financial Instruments

Prior to the third quarter of 2021, Kyndryl did not independently execute derivative financial instruments to
manage its foreign currency risk and instead participated in a centralized foreign currency hedging program administered
by IBM. The hedging activity allocated to Kyndryl is for the management of the Company’s forecasted foreign currency
expenses.

In the third quarter of 2021, we began to execute trades to manage foreign currency risk. The Company does not
use derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. The Company’s derivative financial instruments
that qualify for hedge accounting are designated as cash flow hedges. Additionally, the Company may enter into derivative
contracts that economically hedge certain of its risks, even when hedge accounting does not apply, or the Company elects
not to apply hedge accounting.

Derivatives are recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at fair value on a gross basis as either assets or
liabilities and classified as current or noncurrent based upon whether the maturity of the instrument is less than or greater
than twelve months. We designate the derivative based on the exposure being hedged and assess, both at the hedge’s
inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the designated derivative instrument is highly effective in offsetting changes
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in cash flows of the hedged items. Changes in the fair value of effective derivatives designated as cash flow hedge are
recorded, net of applicable taxes, in OCI and subsequently reclassified into the same income statement line item as the
hedged exposure when the underlying hedged item is recognized in earnings. Changes in fair value of derivatives not
designated as effective hedges are reported in earnings primarily in other (income) and expense. See Note 7 – Financial
Assets and Liabilities for further information.

The cash flows associated with derivatives designated as cash flow hedges are reported in cash flows from
operating activities in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. Cash flows from derivatives not designated as hedges are
reported in cash flows from investing activities in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.

Translation of Non-U.S. Currency Amounts

Assets and liabilities of non-U.S. subsidiaries that have a local functional currency are translated to U.S. dollars at
year-end exchange rates. Translation adjustments are recorded in OCI. Income and expense items are translated at
weighted-average rates of exchange prevailing during the year.

Property and equipment, deferred income and other non-monetary assets and liabilities of non-U.S. subsidiaries
and branches that operate in U.S. dollars are translated at the approximate exchange rates prevailing when the Company
acquired the assets or liabilities. All other assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than U.S. dollars are
translated at year-end exchange rates with the transaction gain or loss recognized in other (income) and expense. Income
and expense items are translated at the weighted-average rates of exchange prevailing during the year. These translation
gains and losses are included in net income for the period in which exchange rates change.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

All highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less on the date of purchase are
considered to be cash equivalents.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Current Expected Credit Losses

The Company classifies the right to consideration in exchange for products or services transferred to a client as a
receivable. Receivables are recorded concurrent with billing and delivery of a service to customers. An allowance for
uncollectible receivables and contract assets, if needed, is estimated based on specific customer situations, current and
future expected economic conditions and past experiences of losses, as well as an assessment of potential recoverability of
the balance due.

Effective January 1, 2020, the Company adopted the new accounting standard related to current expected credit
losses (Accounting Standards Update 2016-13, “Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326)). The standard applies
to financial assets measured at amortized cost, including accounts receivable and certain off-balance sheet commitments.
As of the effective date, the Company estimates its allowance for current expected credit losses based on an expected loss
model, compared to prior periods which were estimated using an incurred loss model. The impact related to adopting the
new standard was not material.

Receivable losses are charged against the allowance in the period in which the receivable is deemed uncollectible.
Subsequent recoveries, if any, are credited to the allowance. Write-offs of receivables and associated reserves occur to the
extent that the customer is no longer in operation and/or there is no reasonable expectation of additional collections or
repossession.

Transfers of Financial Assets

The Company enters into arrangements to sell to third-party financial institutions certain financial assets
(primarily accounts receivable). For a transfer of financial assets to be considered a sale, the asset must be legally isolated
from the Company, and the purchaser must have control of the asset. Determining whether all the requirements have been
met includes an evaluation of legal considerations, the extent of the Company’s continuing involvement with
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the assets transferred and any other relevant consideration. While we do continue to service the assets, doing so does not
create significant continuing involvement. When the true-sale criteria are met, the Company derecognizes the carrying
value of the financial asset transferred and recognizes a net gain or loss on the sale. The proceeds from these arrangements
are reflected as cash provided by operating activities in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. If the true-sale criteria
are not met, the transfer is considered a secured borrowing, and the financial asset remains on the Consolidated Balance
Sheet with proceeds from the sale recognized as debt and recorded as cash flows from financing activities in the
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.

Arrangements to sell accounts receivable are used in the normal course of business as part of the Company’s cash
and liquidity management. Third-party programs primarily in the U.S. and several countries in Europe enable the Company
to sell certain accounts receivable, without recourse, to third parties to manage credit, collection, concentration and
currency risk. In the fourth quarter of 2021, the Company entered into a third-party factoring program and had
arrangements to sell certain financial assets under this facility. Proceeds from receivables sold under this program and
proceeds from receivables sold to third parties outside of this program, were $326 million and $36 million, respectively, for
the year ended December 31, 2021. Prior to the Separation, the gross amount of the Company’s receivables sold to third
parties under the former Parent’s facility was $296 million, $803 million and $650 million for the years ended December
31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The fees and the net gains and losses associated with the transfer of receivables
were not material for any of the periods presented. Additionally, prior to entering into the third-party factoring program in
the fourth quarter of 2021, the Company had arrangements to assign certain financial assets to IBM’s Global Financing
business. Refer to Note 17 – Related-Party Transactions for further information, including the amount of proceeds under
these arrangements for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

Fair Value Measurement

In determining the fair value of its financial instruments, the Company uses methods and assumptions that are
based on market conditions and risks existing at each balance sheet date. All methods of assessing fair value result in a
general approximation of value, and such value may never actually be realized.

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The Company classifies certain assets and liabilities
based on the following fair value hierarchy:

● Level 1 — Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that can be accessed
at the measurement date;

● Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

● Level 3 — Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Items valued using internally generated models are classified according to the lowest level input or value driver
that is significant to the valuation. The determination of fair value considers various factors including interest rate yield
curves and time value underlying the financial instruments. For derivatives and debt securities, the Company uses a
discounted cash flow analysis using discount rates commensurate with the duration of the instrument.

In determining the fair value of financial instruments, the Company considers certain market valuation
adjustments to the “base valuations” using the methodologies described below for several parameters that market
participants would consider in determining fair value:

● Counterparty credit risk adjustments are applied to financial instruments, taking into account the actual credit
risk of a counterparty as observed in the credit default swap market to determine the true fair value of such an
instrument.
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● Credit risk adjustments are applied to reflect the Company’s own credit risk when valuing all liabilities
measured at fair value. The methodology is consistent with that applied in developing counterparty credit risk
adjustments, but incorporates the Company’s credit risk as observed in the credit default swap market.

The Company holds investments in time deposits that are designated as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale
securities are measured for impairment on a recurring basis by comparing the security’s fair value with its amortized cost
basis. There were no impairments recognized for any of the periods presented.

Certain non-financial assets such as property, plant and equipment, operating right-of-use assets, land, goodwill
and intangible assets are recorded at fair value or at cost, as appropriate, in the period they are initially recognized, and
such fair value may be adjusted in subsequent periods if an event occurs or circumstances change that indicate that the
asset may be impaired. The impairment models used for non-financial assets depend on the type of asset. The fair value
measurements, in such instances, would be classified in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Leases

When procuring goods or services, the Company determines whether an arrangement contains a lease at its
inception. As part of that evaluation, the Company considers whether there is an implicitly or explicitly identified asset in
the arrangement and whether the Company, as the lessee, has the right to control the use of that asset.

In its ordinary course of business, the Company enters into leases as a lessee for property and equipment. Prior to
the Separation, the Company recognized right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and associated lease liabilities in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet for leases with a term of more than twelve months when a majority percentage of utilization was attributed
to the Company. The lease liabilities were measured at the lease commencement date and determined using the present
value of the lease payments not yet paid and the Parent’s incremental borrowing rate, since they were negotiated by the
Parent prior to Separation. Any new or modified leases entered into after the Separation are measured at Kyndryl’s
incremental borrowing rate. The interest rate implicit in the lease is generally not determinable in transactions where the
Company is the lessee. The ROU asset equals the lease liability adjusted for any initial direct costs, prepaid rent and lease
incentives. The Company’s variable lease payments generally relate to payments tied to various indexes, non-lease
components and payments above a contractual minimum fixed amount.

Operating leases are included in operating right-of-use assets net, current operating lease liabilities and operating
lease liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Finance leases are included in property and equipment, short-term debt
and long-term debt in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The lease term includes options to extend or terminate the lease
when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that option.

The Company made a policy election to not recognize leases with a lease term of twelve months or less in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet.

For all asset classes, the Company has elected the lessee practical expedient to combine lease and non-lease
components (e.g., maintenance services) and account for the combined unit as a single lease component. A significant
portion of the Company’s lease portfolio is real estate leases, which are mainly accounted for as operating leases and are
primarily used for corporate offices and data centers. The average term of the real estate leases is approximately five years.
The Company also has equipment leases, such as for IT equipment and vehicles, which have lease terms that range from
two to five years. For certain of these operating and finance leases, the Company applies a portfolio approach to account
for the lease assets and lease liabilities.

Intangible Assets Including Goodwill

Goodwill attributed to the Company represents the historical goodwill balances in the Parent’s managed
infrastructure services business arising from acquisitions specific to the Company. Goodwill represents the excess of the
purchase price over the fair value of net assets, including the amount assigned to identifiable intangible assets. The primary
drivers that generate goodwill are the value of synergies between the acquired entities and the Company and the acquired
assembled workforce, neither of which qualifies as a separately identifiable intangible asset. Goodwill recorded
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in an acquisition is assigned to applicable reporting units based on expected revenues or expected cash flows. Identifiable
intangible assets with finite lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful lives, which approximates the
pattern that the assets’ economic benefits are expected to be consumed over time. Amortization of completed technology is
recorded in cost of services and amortization of all other intangible assets is recorded in SG&A expense. All costs related
to internally developed computer software during planning and evaluation stage are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred
during application development stage are capitalized and included in intangibles.

Impairment

Long-lived assets, other than goodwill, are tested for impairment annually and whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The impairment test is based on undiscounted 
cash flows and, if impaired, the asset is written down to fair value based on either discounted cash flows or appraised 
values. Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually and whenever changes in circumstances indicate an impairment 
may exist. The goodwill impairment test is performed at the reporting unit level, which aligns with our operating segments. 
Impairment charges related to long-lived assets, intangible assets and goodwill, if any, are recorded as impairment expense 
in the Consolidated Income Statement.  

Transaction-related Costs

The Company classifies certain expenses related to the Separation, acquisitions and divestitures (if any) as
“transaction-related costs” in the Consolidated Income Statement. Transaction-related costs include expenditures incurred
to prepare for and execute the Separation and establish Kyndryl as a standalone business. These costs include employee
retention expenses, information technology costs, marketing expenses to establish the Kyndryl brand, legal, accounting,
consulting and other professional service costs required to prepare for and execute the Separation, and other costs related to
contract and supplier novation and integration.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost, or in the case of acquired property and equipment, at fair value at the
date of the acquisition. Expenditures for repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred, whereas expenditures that
extend the life or increase the functionality of the asset are capitalized as additions to property and equipment. When assets
are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts, and any
resulting gain or loss is included in the determination of net income or loss.

We compute depreciated expense on a straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Classification     Estimated Useful Life
Buildings 30 to 50 years
Land improvements 20 years
Leasehold improvements* Estimated useful life or term of lease
Office and other equipment 2 to 20 years
Information technology equipment 1.5 to 5 years

*     Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the related lease term, rarely exceeding 10 years.

Environmental

The costs of internal environmental protection programs that are preventative in nature are expensed as incurred.
When a cleanup program becomes likely and it is probable that the Company will incur cleanup costs and those costs can
be reasonably estimated, the Company accrues remediation costs for known environmental liabilities.
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Income Taxes

Prior to the Separation, our operations were included in the consolidated U.S. federal and certain state and local
and foreign income tax returns filed by IBM, where applicable. The Company also files certain separate foreign income tax
returns. For purposes of the historical periods presented on a “carve-out” basis, the income tax provisions have been
calculated using the separate return basis, as if the Company filed separate tax returns. The separate return method applies
the accounting guidance for income taxes to the standalone financial statements as if the Company were a separate
taxpayer and a standalone enterprise for the periods presented. Tax attributes have been reported based on the hypothetical
separate return basis results for the periods presented in the Company’s financial statements. The calculation of income
taxes on a hypothetical separate return basis requires a considerable amount of judgment and use of both estimates and
allocations; pre-Separation current and deferred taxes may not be reflective of the actual tax balances subsequent to the
Separation.

Post-Separation, the income tax provisions are calculated based on Kyndryl’s operating footprint, as well as tax
return elections and assertions. Current income tax liabilities including amounts for unrecognized tax benefits related to our
activities included in IBM’s income tax returns were deemed to be immediately settled with IBM through the Net Parent
investment account in the Consolidated Balance Sheet and reflected in Net transfers from Parent in the financing activities
section in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. Post-Separation, liabilities related to unrecognized tax benefits for
which the Company is liable are reported within the Consolidated Balance Sheet based upon tax authorities’ ability to
assert the Company may be the primary obligor for historical taxes, among other factors.

Income tax expense is based on reported income before income taxes. Deferred income taxes reflect the tax effect
of temporary differences between asset and liability amounts that are recognized for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts that are recognized for income tax purposes. These deferred taxes are measured by applying currently enacted tax
laws. U.S. tax reform introduced Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income (“GILTI”), which subjects a U.S. shareholder to
current tax on income earned by certain foreign subsidiaries. GAAP allows companies to either (i) recognize deferred taxes
for temporary differences that are expected to reverse as GILTI in future years or (ii) account for taxes on GILTI as period
costs in the year the tax is incurred. The Company has elected to recognize GILTI impact in the specific period in which it
occurs.

Valuation allowances are recognized to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that will more likely than not be
realized. In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, management considers all available evidence for each jurisdiction
including past operating results, estimates of future taxable income and the feasibility of ongoing tax planning strategies
and actions. When there is a change in the determination as to the amount of deferred tax assets that can be realized, the
valuation allowance is adjusted with a corresponding impact to provision for income taxes in the period in which such
determination is made.

The Company recognizes additional tax liabilities when the Company believes that certain positions may not be
fully sustained upon review by tax authorities. Benefits from tax positions are measured at the largest amount of benefit
that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon settlement. The noncurrent portion of tax liabilities is included
in other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. To the extent that new information becomes available which causes
the Company to change its judgment regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities, such changes to tax liabilities will
impact income tax expense in the period in which such determination is made. Interest and penalties, if any, related to
accrued liabilities for potential tax assessments are included in income tax expense.
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Net Loss per Share

Net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss for the period by the weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding during the period. The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for any of the periods
presented prior to the Separation and the Distribution were based on the number of shares outstanding on November 4,
2021. For periods prior to the Separation and Distribution, it is assumed that there are no dilutive equity instruments as
there were no Kyndryl stock-based awards outstanding prior to the Separation and the Distribution. Weighted-average
common shares outstanding do not include restricted stock, market-conditioned performance awards or stock options for
the periods presented because the effect of their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive. Refer to Note 6 – Net Loss per
Share for a reconciliation as well as Note 15 – Stock-based Compensation for further discussion on awards.

NOTE 2. ACCOUNTING CHANGES

New Standards to be Implemented

In October 2021, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued guidance (“Revenue Contracts with
Customers Acquired in a Business Combination”) which requires that an acquirer recognize and measure contract assets
and liabilities acquired in a business combination as if it had originated the contracts, in accordance with ASC 606,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Deferred revenue acquired in a business combination is no longer required to be
measured at its fair value, which had historically resulted in a deferred revenue impairment at the date of acquisition. The
amendment is effective January 1, 2023, and early adoption is permitted. The Company is evaluating the impact of the
guidance and adoption date.

Standards Implemented

In December 2019, the FASB issued guidance (“Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes”) intended to
simplify various aspects of income tax accounting by removing certain exceptions to the general principle of the guidance
and also clarified and amended existing guidance to improve consistency in application. The guidance was effective
January 1, 2021, and early adoption was permitted. The Company adopted the guidance on a prospective basis as of the
effective date. The guidance did not have a material impact in the consolidated financial results.

NOTE 3. REVENUE RECOGNITION

Disaggregation of Revenue

The Company views its segment results to be the best view of disaggregated revenue. Refer to Note 4 – Segments.

Remaining Performance Obligations

The remaining performance obligation (“RPO”) represents the aggregate amount of contractual deliverables yet to
be recognized as revenue at the end of the reporting period. It is intended to be a statement of overall work under contract
that has not yet been performed and does not include contracts in which the customer is not committed. The customer is not
considered committed when it is able to terminate for convenience without payment of a substantive penalty. The RPO also
includes estimates of variable consideration. Additionally, as a practical expedient, the Company does not include contracts
that have an original duration of one year or less. RPO estimates are subject to change and are affected by several factors,
including terminations, changes in the scope of contracts, periodic revalidations, adjustment for revenue that has not
materialized and adjustments for currency.

At December 31, 2021, the aggregate amount of RPO related to customer contracts that are unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied was $49.7 billion. Approximately 54 percent of the amount is expected to be recognized as revenue in the
subsequent two years, approximately 37 percent in subsequent years three through five, and the balance thereafter.
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Revenue Recognized for Performance Obligations Satisfied (or Partially Satisfied) in Prior Periods

For the year ended December 31, 2021, revenue was reduced by $16 million for performance obligations satisfied
(or partially satisfied) in previous periods, mainly due to changes in estimates on contracts with cost-to-cost measures of
progress.

Contract Balances

The following table provides information about accounts receivable, contract assets and deferred income balances:

December 31,
(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020
Accounts receivable (net of allowances of $44 in 2021 and $91 in 2020) $ 2,279 $ 1,444
Contract assets *  62  72
Deferred income (current)  872  854
Deferred income (noncurrent)  475  543

*     Included within prepaid expenses and other current assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

The amount of revenue recognized during the year ended December 31, 2021, that was included within the
deferred income balance at December 31, 2020, was $877 million.

The following table provides roll-forwards of the accounts receivable allowance for expected credit losses for the
years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019:

Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2021     2020     2019
Beginning balance $ 91 $ 82 $ 111
Additions (releases) (23) 25 51
Write-offs (5) (7) (78)
Other * (19) (9) (3)
Ending balance $ 44 $ 91 $ 82

*     Primarily represents translation adjustments and reclassifications.

The decrease in the accounts receivable allowance during 2021 was primarily due to collections from certain
clients that we previously reserved for. The contract assets allowance for expected credit losses was not material in any of
the periods presented.

Deferred Costs

Costs to acquire and fulfill customer contracts are deferred and amortized over the contract period or expected
customer relationship life. The expected customer relationship period is determined based on the average customer
relationship period, including expected renewals, for each offering type and ranges from three to six years. For contracts
with an estimated amortization period of less than one year, we elected the practical expedient to expense incremental costs
immediately.
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The following table provides amounts of capitalized costs to acquire and fulfill customer contracts at
December 31, 2021 and 2020:

December 31,
(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020
Deferred transition costs $ 1,012 $ 1,369
Prepaid software costs  658  679
Capitalized costs to fulfill contracts  235  328
Capitalized costs to obtain contracts  282  269
Total deferred costs * $ 2,185 $ 2,646

*     Of the total deferred costs, $920 million was current and $1,265 million was noncurrent at December 31, 2021, and $1,205 million was current and
$1,441 million was noncurrent at December 31, 2020.

The amount of total deferred costs amortized during the year ended December 31, 2021 was $1.8 billion,
composed of $403 million of amortization of deferred transition costs, $874 million of amortization of prepaid software
and $563 million of amortization of capitalized contract costs. Total deferred costs amortized during the year ended
December 31, 2020 was $2.1 billion, composed of $478 million of amortization of deferred transition costs, $901 million
of amortization of prepaid software and $683 million of amortization of capitalized contract costs. There were no material
impairment losses incurred in both years. Refer to Note 1 – Significant Accounting Policies for additional information on
deferred costs to fulfill a contract and capitalized costs of obtaining a contract.

NOTE 4. SEGMENTS

In conjunction with the Separation, the Company implemented a new operating structure. With this change, the
way the Company organizes its operating and reportable segments was revised to better reflect the way the chief operating
decision maker (“CODM”) reviews performance and allocates resources.

In addition, the measure of segment operating performance used by Kyndryl’s CODM changed. The updated
measure of segment operating performance used by Kyndryl’s CODM is adjusted EBITDA. Adjusted EBITDA is defined
as net income (loss) excluding net interest expense, depreciation and amortization (excluding depreciation of right-of-use
assets and amortization of capitalized contract costs), pension costs other than pension servicing costs and multi-employer
plan costs, early extinguishment of debt charges, workforce rebalancing and restructuring charges, transaction-related and
integration-related items, goodwill and long-lived asset impairment charges, foreign currency impacts of highly
inflationary countries, significant litigation costs, stock-based compensation expense and income taxes. The use of revenue
and adjusted EBITDA aligns with how the CODM assesses performance and allocates resources for the Company’s
segments.

Our four reportable segments consist of the following:

United States: This reportable segment is comprised of Kyndryl’s operations in the United States.

Japan: This reportable segment is comprised of Kyndryl’s operations in Japan.

Principal Markets: This reportable segment represents the aggregation of our operations in Australia / New
Zealand, Canada, France, Germany, India, Italy, Spain / Portugal, and the United Kingdom / Ireland, comprised of
Kyndryl’s operations in those respective countries.

Strategic Markets: This reportable segment is comprised of our operations in all other countries.

While this reporting change did not impact the Company's consolidated results, segment data has been recast in
the tables below to be consistent for all periods presented.

Our geographic markets frequently work together to sell and implement certain contracts. The resulting revenues
and costs from these contracts may be apportioned among the participating geographic markets. The economic
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environment and its effects on the industries served by our geographic markets affect revenues and operating expenses
within our geographic markets to differing degrees. Currency fluctuations also tend to affect our geographic markets
differently, depending on the geographic concentrations and locations of their businesses.

 The following table reflects the results of the Company’s segments:

Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020     2019
Revenue

United States $ 4,805 $ 5,084 $ 5,340
Japan 2,923 3,042 2,929
Principal Markets 7,085 7,187 7,587
Strategic Markets 3,844 4,040 4,424

Total revenue $ 18,657 $ 19,352 $ 20,279
Segment adjusted EBITDA

United States $ 757 $ 859 $ 855
Japan 823 924 757
Principal Markets 144 162 430
Strategic Markets 479 386 662

Total segment adjusted EBITDA $ 2,203 $ 2,332 $ 2,704

The following table reconciles consolidated totals to certain segment information:

Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020 2019
Pretax income (loss) $ (1,922) $ (1,766) $ (579)

Workforce rebalancing charges 39 918 159
Transaction-related costs 627 21             —
Stock-based compensation expense 71 64 51
Impairment expense 469             —             —
Interest expense 64 63 76
Depreciation expense 1,300 1,445 1,469
Amortization expense 1,314 1,408 1,335
Corporate expense not allocated to the segments 154 153 144
Other adjustments * 87 25 50

Segment adjusted EBITDA $ 2,203 $ 2,332 $ 2,704

*     Other adjustments represents significant litigation costs and pension costs other than pension servicing costs and multi-employer plan costs.

Segment Assets and Other Items

The Company does not allocate assets to the above reportable segments for our CODM’s review.

Major Clients

Other than transactions with the Parent (see Note 17 – Related-Party Transactions), no single client represented 10
percent or more of the Company’s total revenue in 2021, 2020 or 2019.
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Geographic Information

The following tables provide information for those countries that represent 10 percent or more of the specific
category. Refer to Note 8 – Property and Equipment and Note 9 – Leases for more information on allocation
methodologies.

    Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020 2019
Revenue*

United States $ 4,805 $ 5,081 $ 5,340
Japan 2,923 3,037 2,925
Other countries 10,930 11,235 12,015

Total revenue $ 18,657 $ 19,352 $ 20,279

* Revenues are attributed to countries based on the location of the client and exclude certain allocations.

    At December 31,
(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020
Property and equipment, net

United States * $ 890 $ 922
Canada 260 430
Other countries 1,773 2,638

Total property and equipment, net $ 2,923 $ 3,991

Operating right-of-use assets, net
United States * $ 205 $ 66
Japan 139 77
Belgium 176 197
Italy 86 114
Other countries 755 677

Total operating right-of-use assets, net $ 1,361 $ 1,131

*       Includes corporate and other.

NOTE 5. TAXES

Prior to the Separation, income taxes have been calculated as if we filed income tax returns for the Company on a
standalone basis. The Company’s operations historically have been included in the income tax returns of IBM.

Income (loss) before income taxes by geography was as follows:

    Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020     2019
Income (loss) before income taxes:

U.S. operations $ (1,765) $ (974) $ (732)
Non-U.S. operations (158) (792) 153

Total income (loss) before income taxes $ (1,922) $ (1,766) $ (579)
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The components of the provision for income taxes by taxing jurisdiction were as follows:

    Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020     2019
U.S. federal:

Current $ 17 $ — $ —
Deferred (73) — —

$ (56) $ — $ —
U.S. state and local:

Current $ — $ — $ —
Deferred (5) — —

$ (5) $ — $ —
Non-U.S.:

Current $ 785 $ 304 $ 411
Deferred (327) (58) (47)

$ 458 $ 246 $ 364
Total provision for income taxes $ 397 $ 246 $ 364

A reconciliation of the statutory U.S. federal tax rate to the Company’s effective tax rate from continuing
operations was as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
    2021     2020     2019

Statutory rate 21.0 % 21.0 % 21.0 %
Tax differential on foreign income (8.8)% (5.9)% (18.9)%
State and local taxes 2.9 % 2.8 % 6.3 %
Valuation allowances (15.9)% (26.1)% (59.1)%
Reserves for uncertain tax positions (8.0)% (4.8)% (6.9)%
Intercompany prepayment * 0.5 % 0.7 % 0.5 %
Undistributed foreign earnings (0.6)% (1.0)% (3.4)%
Impact of foreign operations (4.6)% — % (0.9)%
Separation-related transactions (2.5)% — % — %
Goodwill impairment (3.9)% — % — %
Other (0.7)% (0.6)% (1.6)%
Effective tax rate (20.6)% (13.9)% (62.9)%

*       Represents a U.S. tax rate benefit related to foreign tax prepayment on prepaid royalty income.

The provision for income taxes for 2021 was $397 million compared to $246 million in 2020. The increase in
income tax expense was primarily driven by foreign operations, tax charges related to the transfer of Kyndryl’s operations
from IBM that were deemed to be immediately settled with IBM through the Net Parent Investment account and changes in
uncertain tax positions, offset by valuation allowance reductions. The provision for income taxes for 2020 was $246
million compared to $364 million in 2019. The decrease in the provision was primarily driven by higher pretax losses in 
2020 partially offset by an increase in valuation allowances in jurisdictions with losses.  

The Company’s effective tax rate for 2021 was lower than the statutory tax rate primarily due to changes in
valuation allowances, losses in certain jurisdictions that cannot be benefited from and tax charges related to the transfer of
Kyndryl’s operations from IBM that were deemed to be immediately settled with IBM through the Net Parent Investment
account. The Company’s effective tax rate for 2020 was lower than the statutory tax rate primarily due to changes in
valuation allowances and losses in certain jurisdictions that cannot be benefited from.

U.S. tax reform introduced Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income (“GILTI”), which subjects a U.S. shareholder to
current tax on income earned by certain foreign subsidiaries. GAAP allows companies to either (i) recognize deferred taxes
for temporary differences that are expected to reverse as GILTI in future years or (ii) account for taxes on GILTI as



Table of Contents

72

period costs in the year the tax is incurred. The Company has elected to recognize GILTI impact in the specific period in
which it occurs.

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred taxes were as follows:

    December 31,
(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020
Deferred tax assets
Retirement benefits $ 255 $ 126
Leases 340 380
Stock-based and other compensation 60 37
Domestic tax loss/credit carryforwards 16 643
Deferred income 31 50
Foreign tax loss/credit carryforwards 76 509
Allowance for credit losses 10 37
Fixed assets and depreciation 130 —
Restructuring charges — 59
Limitation on deductibility of interest — 50
Accruals 57 91
Other 54 —
Gross deferred tax assets $ 1,029 $ 1,982
Less: valuation allowance (6) (1,110)
Net deferred tax assets $ 1,023 $ 872

Deferred tax liabilities
Fixed assets and depreciation $ — $ 80
Goodwill and intangible assets — 45
Leases and right-of-use assets 331 331
Undistributed foreign earnings 25 57
Deferred transition costs 106 —
Other 21 12
Gross deferred tax liabilities $ 483 $ 525

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had tax-affected domestic and foreign net operating loss deferred tax
assets of $16 million and $76 million, respectively. If not utilized, the foreign net operating loss carryforwards will begin to
expire in 2022. The federal net operating loss can be carried forward indefinitely.

The valuation allowances as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 were $6 million, $1.11 billion and $650
million, respectively. The additions to valuation allowances for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were $460
million and $342 million, respectively. The reduction in valuation allowances in 2021 was $1.10 billion. The decrease in
valuation allowance is primarily attributable to net operating losses and tax credit carryforwards that existed on a separate
return basis for the historical periods presented on a “carve-out” basis. For purposes of the historical periods presented on a
“carve-out” basis, the Company’s income tax provisions were calculated using the separate return basis, as if the Company
filed separate tax returns. Prior to Separation, the Company’s operations were included in the consolidated U.S. federal and
certain state, local and foreign income tax returns filed by IBM. Post-Separation, certain net operating losses and tax credit
carryforwards that were included for purposes of the historical periods presented on a “carve-out” basis available to be
utilized by IBM are not available for future utilization by the Company and were settled through Net Parent investment
immediately prior to the Separation. The Company scheduled the utilization of net operating losses and tax credit
carryforwards and concluded that a valuation allowance of $6 million should remain on a portion of our foreign net
operating losses that are not more-likely-than-not to be realized prior to expiration. As of December 31, 2021, based on all
available evidence, Management concluded that no other valuation allowance was necessary to reduce the deferred tax
assets remaining post-Separation since estimated future taxable income is expected



Table of Contents

73

to be sufficient to utilize these assets prior to their expiration. Estimates of future taxable income could change, perhaps 
materially, which may require us to revise our assessment of the recoverability of the deferred tax asset at that time.  

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits was as follows:

(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020     2019
Balance at January 1 $ — $ — $ —
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 476 86 40
Additions for tax positions of prior years — — —
Reductions for tax positions of prior years (including impacts due to a lapse of statute) — — —
Settlements (closed out to Net Parent investment) (453) (86) (40)
Balance at December 31 $ 23 $ — $ —

Post-Separation, liabilities related to unrecognized tax benefits for which the Company is liable are reported
within the Consolidated Balance Sheet based upon tax authorities’ ability to assert the Company may be the primary
obligor for historical taxes, among other factors.

With limited exceptions, the Company is subject to U.S. federal, state and local, and non-U.S. income tax audits
for tax years subsequent to September 1, 2021. Pursuant to the Tax Matters Agreement, any tax liabilities attributable to the
tax period (or portion thereof) ending on or before November 3, 2021, are generally not the Company’s liability. As of
December 31, 2021, the Company is not aware of any open income tax audits that would result in a liability owed by the
Company. The Company does not expect a significant increase or decrease in unrecognized tax benefits within the next
twelve months. The net amount of $23 million in unrecognized tax benefits, if recognized, would favorably affect the
Company’s effective tax rate. Interest and penalties related to income tax liabilities are included in income tax expense.
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recognized $0 million in interest expense and penalties. The
Company had $0 million for interest and penalties accrued at December 31, 2021.

              Pursuant to the Tax Matters Agreement with Kyndryl’s former Parent, the Company identified certain tax refunds 
related to estimated tax payments and refundable value-added taxes for which we are required to reimburse our former 
Parent as the refunds are received, as well as certain tax benefits related to net operating losses that were transferred to the 
Company for which we are required to indemnify our former Parent as the tax benefits are realized. As of December 31, 
2021, the Company estimated the amount of our indemnification obligations to our former Parent related to these tax 
refunds and tax benefits to be approximately $99 million, where $66 million is recorded in other accrued expenses and
liabilities expected to be paid within one year, and $33 million is recorded in other liabilities expected to be paid beyond
the one-year period. The Company also estimated the amount of our former Parent’s indemnification obligations to us
related to income tax liabilities attributable to tax periods (or portions thereof) ending on or before November 3, 2021, to
be approximately $41 million, which is recorded in prepaid expenses and other current assets on our Consolidated Balance
Sheet.

At December 31, 2021, the Company’s undistributed earnings from certain non-U.S. subsidiaries were not
indefinitely reinvested. Accordingly, the Company recorded a deferred tax liability of $25 million for the estimated taxes
associated with the repatriation of these earnings. The Company intends to repatriate certain foreign earnings that have
been taxed in the U.S. and undistributed earnings to the extent the foreign earnings are not restricted by local laws and can
be accessed in a cost-effective manner. Undistributed earnings of approximately $122 million and other outside basis 
differences in foreign subsidiaries are indefinitely reinvested in foreign operations. Quantification of the deferred tax 
liability, if any, associated with indefinitely reinvested earnings and outside basis differences is not practicable.  
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NOTE 6. NET LOSS PER SHARE

We did not declare any stock dividends in the periods presented. The following tables provide the computation of
basic and diluted earnings per share of common stock for the twelve months ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

Year Ended December 31,
(In millions, except per share amounts) 2021 2020 2019
Net income (loss) on which basic and diluted earnings per share
is calculated $ (2,319) $ (2,011) $ (943)

Number of shares on which basic and diluted earnings per share
is calculated 224.1 224.1 224.1

Basic earnings (loss) per share  (10.35) (8.97) (4.21)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share  (10.35) (8.97) (4.21)

The following securities were not included in the computation of diluted earnings (loss) per share because they
would have been anti-dilutive:

(In millions)
Nonvested RSUs issued and outstanding 10.2
Market-conditioned performance awards 1.8
Stock options issued and outstanding 3.8
Total 15.8

NOTE 7. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value

The gross balances of derivative assets contained within prepaid expenses and other current assets in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2021, were $9 million. The gross balances of derivative liabilities contained
within other accrued expenses and liabilities, and other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2021,
were $1 million. These financial instruments are categorized as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. There were no
outstanding derivatives in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2020.

The Company may enter into master netting agreements with certain counterparties that allow for netting of
exposures in the event of default or breach. However, in the Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Company does not offset
derivative assets against liabilities with counterparties in master netting arrangements by counterparty, and there were no
derivative instruments activity impacted by master netting agreements at December 31, 2021 and 2020.

The Company also has time deposits that are classified as available-for-sale debt securities with carrying values
that approximate fair value. The balance of these securities contained within cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet at December 31, 2021, was $609 million. These securities are categorized as Level 2 in the fair value
hierarchy. There were no outstanding available-for-sale debt securities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31,
2020.

Financial Assets and Liabilities Not Measured at Fair Value

Accounts receivable are financial assets with carrying values that approximate fair value. Accounts payable, other
accrued expenses and short-term debt (excluding the current portion of long-term debt and including short-term finance
lease liabilities) are financial liabilities with carrying values that approximate fair value. If measured at fair value in the
consolidated financial statements, these financial instruments would be classified as Level 3 in the fair value
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hierarchy, except for short-term debt, which would be classified as Level 2.

Fair value of long-term debt for which quoted prices are not available, is calculated using an expected present
value technique that uses rates currently available to the Company for debt with similar terms and remaining maturities.
The carrying value of long-term debt approximates fair value. If measured at fair value in the consolidated financial
statements, long-term debt (including the current portion) would be classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.

Derivative Financial Instruments

In the normal course of business, we are exposed to risks arising from business operations and economic factors,
such as fluctuations in currency exchange rates. We use derivatives to manage the volatility related to these exposures with
the objective of reducing fluctuations in earnings and cash flows associated with changes in currency exchange rates.

Anticipated Cost Transactions

At December 31, 2021, the total notional amount of forward contracts designated as cash flow hedges of
forecasted foreign currency cost transactions was $213 million. The Company had no forward contracts outstanding under
this program at December 31, 2020. The notional amounts of derivative instruments do not necessarily represent the
amounts exchanged by the Company with third parties and are not necessarily a direct measure of the financial exposure.
The maximum remaining length of time over which the Company hedged its exposure is approximately one year. At
December 31, 2021, the weighted-average remaining maturity of these instruments was approximately 0.5 years.

At December 31, 2021, in connection with cash flow hedges of currency cost transactions, the Company recorded
net deferred gains of $4 million (before taxes) in AOCI. At December 31, 2020, there were no currency exchange
derivatives that were recorded in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The Company estimates that $4 million
(before taxes) of deferred net gains on derivatives in AOCI at December 31, 2021, will be reclassified to net income within
the next twelve months, providing an offsetting economic impact against the underlying anticipated transactions.

Subsidiary Cash and Foreign Currency Asset/Liability Management

The Company uses a global treasury center to manage the cash of its subsidiaries. This center principally uses
currency swaps to convert cash flows in a cost-effective manner. Changes in fair value of derivatives not designated as
hedges are reported in earnings in other (income) and expense. Cash flows from derivatives not designated as hedges are
reported in cash flows from investing activities in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. The terms of these swap
contracts are generally less than one year. The changes in the fair values of these contracts and of the underlying hedged
exposures are generally offsetting and are recorded in other (income) and expense in the Consolidated Income Statement.
At December 31, 2021, the total notional amount of derivative instruments in economic hedges of currency exposure was
$581 million, and there were no outstanding derivatives instruments at December 31, 2020.
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The Effect of Derivative Instruments in the Consolidated Income Statement

The total amounts of income and expense line items presented in the Consolidated Income Statement in which the
effects of cash flow hedges and derivatives not designated as hedging instruments are recorded and the total effect of hedge
activity on these income and expense line items are as follows:

Gains (Losses) from
(Dollars in millions) Total Hedge Activity
For the year ended December 31:     2021     2020 2019     2021     2020     2019
Cost of services $ 16,570 $ 17,143 $ 17,682 $ 1 $ 7 $ 19
Selling, general and administrative
expenses 2,776 2,948 2,970 — (1) 12
Other (income) and expense 35 25 (29) 4 6 20

Gain (Loss) Recognized in Consolidated Income Statement
Consolidated Recognized on Attributable to Risk

(Dollars in millions) Income Statement Derivatives Being Hedged
For the year ended December 31:     Line Item 2021     2020     2019     2021     2020 2019
Derivative instruments not designated
as hedging instruments:   

Foreign exchange contracts Other (income) and expense $ 4 $ 6 $ 20 NA NA NA
Total   $ 4 $ 6 $ 20 $ — $ — $ —

NA – not applicable

Gain (Loss) Recognized in Consolidated Income Statement and Other Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Reclassified

(Dollars in millions) Recognized in OCI Income Statement from AOCI
For the year ended December 31:     2021     2020     2019     Line Item     2021     2020     2019     
Derivative instruments in cash flow
hedges:

              

Foreign exchange contracts $ 4 $ — $ — Cost of services $ 1  $ 7  $ 19
Selling, general and
administrative
expenses — (1) 12

Total $ 4 $ — $ —   $ 1 $ 6 $ 31

For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, there were no gains or losses excluded from the
assessment of hedge effectiveness for cash flow hedges, or associated with an underlying exposure that did not or was not
expected to occur; nor are there any anticipated in the normal course of business.
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NOTE 8. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

The following table presents the balances of property and equipment by type:
    December 31,

(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020
Information technology equipment $ 7,847 $ 10,005
Buildings and leasehold improvements 2,869 2,968
Office and other equipment 397 346
Land and land improvements 72 149
Property and equipment, gross $ 11,185 $ 13,468
Less: Accumulated depreciation 8,261 9,478
Property and equipment, net $ 2,923 $ 3,991

Depreciation of property and equipment was $1.30 billion, $1.45 billion and $1.47 billion for the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company disposed of certain property and equipment with net
book value of approximately $200 million. Additionally, the decrease in net property and equipment in 2021 was 
attributable to depreciation outpacing capital expenditures and the final transfer of assets from our former Parent at 
Separation. In the 2020 period, the Company’s property and equipment balance was based on an allocation of IBM’s 
balances depending on the type of asset. Information technology equipment balances relating to assets specifically utilized 
by the Company were fully allocated to the Company. Leasehold improvements associated with leases attributed to 
Kyndryl were fully allocated to the Company. The remaining asset balances representing assets associated with space 
(land, buildings, and office and other equipment in the space) were allocated based on the percentage of space utilized. The 
2020 basis of presentation prior to Separation assumed a greater basis of assets attributable to Kyndryl as compared to the 
assets ultimately transferred, and the transfer was recorded as a non-cash distribution within the net parent investment at 
Separation.  

NOTE 9. LEASES

The following table presents the various components of lease costs:

    Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020  2019
Finance lease costs  $ 69 $ 61 $ 18
Operating lease costs  354  424 429
Short-term lease costs  7  10 12
Variable lease costs  73  114 124
Sublease income  (5)  (4) (2)
Total lease costs  $ 498 $ 605 $ 581

For pre-Separation periods, the Company’s right-of-use assets and lease liabilities reflected in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet are based on an allocation of IBM’s balances depending on the type of lease. Finance lease balances relating
to assets specifically utilized by the Company were fully allocated to the Company. The real estate lease balances were
allocated based on the percentage of space utilized. The remaining lease balances were allocated to the Company based on
headcount.

The Company had no sale and leaseback transactions for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.
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The following table presents supplemental information relating to the cash flows arising from lease transactions.
Cash payments related to variable lease costs and short-term leases are not included in the measurement of operating and
finance lease liabilities and, as such, are excluded from the amounts below.

Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020 2019
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:       

Operating cash outflows for finance leases $ 3 $ 3 $ 1
Financing cash outflows for finance leases 70 72 19
Operating cash outflows for operating leases 327 450 454

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new finance lease liabilities 86 129 147 *
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities 562 336 1,647 *

* Includes opening balance additions as a result of the adoption of the new lease guidance effective January 1, 2019. The post-adoption addition of
leases for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $430 million for operating leases and $141 million for finance leases.

The following table presents the weighted-average lease term and discount rate for finance and operating leases:

December 31,
    2021 2020

Finance leases
Weighted-average remaining lease term  3.3 years 3.5 years
Weighted-average discount rate  1.41 % 1.35 %

Operating leases  
Weighted-average remaining lease term  5.2 years 5.7 years
Weighted-average discount rate  2.66 % 2.19 %

The following table presents a maturity analysis of expected undiscounted cash flows for operating and finance
leases on an annual basis for the next five years and thereafter.

                            Imputed      
(Dollars in millions)     2022     2023     2024     2025     2026     Thereafter    Interest*     Total**  
Finance leases  $ 78  $ 68  $ 44  $ 28  $ 8  $ —  $ (5) $ 222
Operating leases  403  302  236  201  121  190  (87) 1,366

*      Imputed interest represents the difference between undiscounted cash flows and discounted cash flows.
**    The Company entered into lease agreements for certain facilities and equipment with payments totaling approximately $27 million that have not yet

commenced as of December 31, 2021, and therefore are not included in this table.

The following table presents the total amount of finance leases recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheet:

December 31,
(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020
Right-of-use assets –  Property and equipment $ 221 $ 201
Lease liabilities:     

Short-term debt 76 69
Long-term debt 147 140
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NOTE 10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS INCLUDING GOODWILL

Intangible Assets

The following tables present the Company’s intangible asset balances by major asset class.

At December 31, 2021
    Gross Carrying    Accumulated    Net Carrying

(Dollars in millions)     Amount     Amortization    Amount
Capitalized software $ 16 $ (13) $ 3
Client relationships  130  (97)  33
Completed technology  20  (20)  —
Patents and trademarks  2  (2)  —
Total $ 169 $ (132) $ 36

At December 31, 2020
    Gross Carrying    Accumulated    Net Carrying

(Dollars in millions)     Amount     Amortization    Amount
Capitalized software $ 7 $ (4) $ 3
Client relationships  130  (77)  53
Completed technology  20  (17)  3
Patents and trademarks  2  (2)  —
Total $ 159 $ (99) $ 60

There was no impairment of identifiable intangible assets recorded in 2021 and 2020. The net carrying amount of
intangible assets decreased $24 million during the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily due to intangible asset
amortization, partially offset by additions of capitalized software. The aggregate intangible asset amortization expense was
$37 million, $29 million and $29 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 respectively. In 2021, the
Company retired $7 million of fully amortized intangible assets, impacting both the gross carrying amount and
accumulated amortization by this amount.

The future amortization expense relating to intangible assets currently recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheet
was estimated to be the following at December 31, 2021:

Capitalized Acquired
(Dollars in millions)     Software     Intangibles     Total
2022 $ 3 $ 18 $ 21
2023  —  10  11
2024  —  6  6
2025  —  —  —
2026  —  —  —
Thereafter — —  —

Goodwill

The Company reviews goodwill for impairment annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying value of goodwill may not be recoverable by first assessing qualitative factors to determine if it is
more likely than not that fair value is less than carrying value and whether it is necessary to perform the quantitative
goodwill impairment test. This quantitative test is required only if we conclude that it is more likely than not that a
reporting unit’s fair value is less than its carrying amount. After performing the annual goodwill impairment qualitative
analysis during the fourth quarter of 2021, the Company determined it was necessary to perform the quantitative goodwill
impairment test.

We use an income-based approach where fair value is determined using a discounted cash flow model that
requires significant judgment with respect to revenue and growth rates, based upon annual budgets and long-term
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strategic plans. Fair value estimates employed in our annual impairment review of goodwill involve using various
assumptions. Assumptions critical to our fair value estimates were discount rates, expected revenue growth and projected
EBITDA margins used in determining the fair value of the reporting units. These and other assumptions are impacted by
economic conditions and expectations of management and may change based on different facts and circumstances. We
believe the assumptions used to estimate future cash flows are reasonable, but there can be no assurance that the expected
cash flows will be realized. The use of different assumptions would increase or decrease discounted cash flows or earnings
projections and therefore could change impairment determinations.

In the fourth quarter of 2021, the Company reviewed its goodwill balances for impairment under both the previous
segment structure and the new segment structure, as required. For further details on segment changes, see Note 4 –
Segments. The Company determined that $469 million of goodwill in the former EMEA ($293 million) and current U.S.
($176 million) reporting units was impaired in fourth quarter 2021, largely attributable to margin challenges in the EMEA
segment as well as the geographic re-segmentation of the former Americas segment. The impairment was recorded in the
Impairment expense line item within the Consolidated Income Statement.

The rollforward of goodwill balances by segment for the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020
were as follows:

Foreign Foreign
Currency Currency

Translation Translation
(Dollars in millions) Balance at and Other Balance at and Other Re-allocation Balance at
Segment January 1, 2020     Adjustments*     December 31, 2020 Adjustments* of Goodwill Impairment     December 31, 2021
Americas $ 416 $ 24 $ 440 $ (10) $ (431) $ — $ —
EMEA 272 16 288 5 — (293) —
Asia Pacific 74 4 78 (16) (62) — —
Japan 401 23 424 (9) — — 415
U.S. — — — — 176 (176) —
Principal Markets  —  —  —  1 141  —  142
Strategic Markets  —  —  —  — 176  —  176
Total $ 1,162 $ 67 $ 1,230 $ (29) — $ (469) $ 732

* Primarily driven by foreign currency translation.

NOTE 11. BORROWINGS

Debt

The following table presents the components of our debt:

  Weighted-Average         December 31,
(Dollars in millions) Interest Rate* Maturities* 2021 2020
Long-term debt 2.7% 2024-2041 $ 3,029 $ —
Finance lease obligations 1.4% 2022-2026 222 209

$ 3,251 $ 209
Less: Unamortized discount 5 —
Less: Unamortized debt issuance costs     15 —
Less: Current maturities of long-term debt     103 69
Total     $ 3,128 $ 140

* As of December 31, 2021.
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Contractual obligations of long-term debt outstanding at December 31, 2021, were as follows:

December 31,
(Dollars in millions)*     2021
2022 $ 103
2023  94
2024  572
2025  57
2026  726
Thereafter  1,700
Total $ 3,251

*    Contractual obligations approximate scheduled repayments.

Senior Unsecured Notes

In October 2021, in preparation for the Separation, we completed the offering of $2.4 billion in aggregate
principal amount of senior unsecured fixed-rate notes (the “Notes”) as follows: $700 million aggregate principal amount of
2.05% Senior Notes due 2026, $500 million aggregate principal amount of 2.70% Senior Notes due 2028, $650 million
aggregate principal amount of 3.15% Senior Notes due 2031 and $550 million aggregate principal amount of 4.10% Senior
Notes due 2041. The Notes were offered and sold to qualified institutional buyers in reliance on Rule 144A under the
Securities Act and to non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S of the Securities Act. The Notes are subject to
customary affirmative covenants, negative covenants and events of default for financings of this type and are redeemable at
our option in a customary manner. In connection with the issuance of the Notes, we entered into a registration rights
agreement with the initial purchasers of the Notes, pursuant to which we will use commercially reasonable efforts to file
and have declared effective a registration statement with respect to a registered offer to exchange each series of Notes for
new notes with substantially identical terms by October 15, 2022. If the exchange offer is not completed on or before
October 15, 2022 and, under certain other circumstances, we are required to use commercially reasonable efforts to file and
have declared effective a shelf registration statement relating to the resale of the Notes.

Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility

In October 2021, we entered into a $500 million three-year variable rate term loan credit agreement (the “Term
Loan Credit Agreement”). In November 2021, we drew down the full $500 million available under the Term Loan Credit
Agreement.

In October 2021, we entered into a $3.15 billion multi-currency revolving credit agreement (the “Revolving Credit
Agreement” and, together with the Term Loan Credit Agreement, the “Credit Agreements”) for our future liquidity needs.

The Revolving Credit Agreement expires, unless extended, in October 2026, and the Term Loan Credit
Agreement matures, unless extended, in November 2024. Interest rates on borrowings under the Credit Agreements will be
based on prevailing market interest rates, plus a margin, as further described in the Credit Agreements. The total expense
recorded by the Company for the Term Loan Credit Agreement and Revolving Credit Agreement was immaterial in 2021.

The Notes, revolving credit facility and term loan were initially guaranteed by Parent. Approximately $900
million of the net proceeds from the term loan and the sale of the Notes was transferred to Parent in conjunction with the
Separation. Following the completion of the Separation on November 3, 2021, the guarantee was released and the Notes,
term loan and revolving credit facility are no longer obligations of IBM.

We expect to be able to voluntarily prepay borrowings under the Credit Agreements without premium or penalty,
subject to customary “breakage” costs. The Credit Agreements include certain customary mandatory
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prepayment provisions. In addition, the Credit Agreements include customary events of default and affirmative and
negative covenants as well as a maintenance covenant that will require that the ratio of our indebtedness for borrowed
money to consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Agreements) for any period of four consecutive fiscal quarters be
no greater than 3.50 to 1.00.

Loan Agreement

In the second quarter of 2021, our former Parent entered into a $140 million loan agreement with a bank to
finance a purchase of software licenses on behalf of Kyndryl. The loan was transferred to Kyndryl in conjunction with the
Separation and is included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The carrying amount of the loan
approximates fair value. If measured at fair value in the consolidated financial statements, the loan would be classified as
Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.

The amortizing loan is secured by collateral and contains covenants, primarily for compliance with the scheduled
payments in the loan agreement. Failure to comply with the loan covenants could constitute an event of default and result
in the immediate repayment of the principal and interest on the loan. The Company is in compliance with all of the loan
covenants and is expected to maintain a credit rating at or above the level outlined in the loan agreement.

Interest on Debt

Interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was $64 million, $63 million and $76
million, respectively. Cost of financing and interest capitalized for the periods presented was immaterial. Pre-Separation,
most of the interest in the Consolidated Income Statement reflects the allocation of interest expense associated with debt
issued by IBM for which a portion of the proceeds benefited Kyndryl. Such IBM debt has not been attributed to the
Company for any periods presented because IBM’s borrowings were not the legal obligation of the Company, except for
the loan agreement described below. Post-Separation, interest expense also reflects the standalone interest related to our
fourth quarter borrowings. Refer to Note 17 – Related-Party Transactions for more information on the allocation of IBM’s
corporate expenses.

NOTE 12. OTHER LIABILITIES

The following table provides the components of other liabilities at December 31, 2021 and 2020.

    December 31,
(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020
Workforce rebalancing (current) $ 82 $ 595
Other service accruals 662 279
Other accrued expenses and liabilities $ 744 $ 874
Workforce rebalancing (noncurrent) $ 51 $ 82
Deferred taxes 135 78
Income tax reserve 23 —
Other 293 122
Other noncurrent liabilities $ 501 $ 282

In response to changing business needs, the Company has in the past taken workforce rebalancing actions to
increase productivity, enhance cost-competitiveness and rebalance skills. The noncurrent liabilities related to workforce
rebalancing actions are accruals primarily related to terminated employees who are no longer working for the Company
who were granted annual payments to supplement their incomes in certain countries. Depending on the individual
country’s legal requirements, these required payments will continue until the former employee begins receiving pension
benefits or dies. Workforce rebalancing costs decreased in 2021 compared to 2020.
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Pursuant to the Tax Matters Agreement with our former Parent, the Company will be required to reimburse our
former Parent for certain tax refunds we receive and to indemnify our former Parent for certain tax payments. For more
information, see Note 5 – Taxes.

NOTE 13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company guarantees certain loans and financial commitments. The maximum potential future payment under
these financial guarantees and the fair value of these guarantees recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December
31, 2021, and December 31, 2020, were not material. Additionally, the Company has contractual commitments that are
noncancellable with certain software and cloud partners to provides services to its customers. At December 31, 2021, we
had short-term (in 2022), mid-term (in 2023 and 2024) and long-term (after 2024) purchase commitments in the amount of
$0.8 billion, $1.5 billion and $1.1 billion, respectively.  

As a company with approximately 90,000 employees and with clients around the world, Kyndryl is subject to, or
could become subject to, either as plaintiff or defendant, a variety of contingencies, including claims, demands and suits,
investigations, tax matters and proceedings that arise from time to time in the ordinary course of its business. Given the
rapidly evolving external landscape of cybersecurity, privacy and data protection laws, regulations and threat actors, the
Company or its clients could become subject to actions or proceedings in various jurisdictions. Also, as is typical for
companies of Kyndryl’s scope and scale, the Company is subject to, or could become subject to, actions and proceedings in
various jurisdictions involving a wide range of labor and employment issues (including matters related to contested
employment decisions, country-specific labor and employment laws and the Company’s benefit plans), as well as actions
with respect to contracts, securities, foreign operations, competition law and environmental matters. These actions may be
commenced by a number of different parties, including competitors, clients, employees, government and regulatory
agencies, stockholders and representatives of the locations in which the Company does business. Some of the actions to
which the Company is, or may become, party may involve particularly complex technical issues, and some actions may
raise novel questions under the laws of the various jurisdictions in which these matters arise. Additionally, the Company is,
or may be, a party to agreements pursuant to which it may be obligated to indemnify the other party with respect to certain
matters.

The Company records a provision with respect to a claim, suit, investigation or proceeding when it is probable
that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. In accordance with the relevant
accounting guidance, the Company provides disclosures of matters for which the likelihood of material loss is at least
reasonably possible. In addition, the Company may also disclose matters based on its consideration of other matters and
qualitative factors, including the experience of other companies in the industry and investor, customer and employee
relations considerations. Following the Separation from IBM, the Company has continued to analyze its ongoing disputes
and outstanding claims in the context of the Separation and Distribution agreement from IBM and the avenues available for
resolution post-Separation. In connection with this assessment, in the quarter ended December 31, 2021, the Company
recorded $62 million of estimated liabilities in anticipation of the potential resolution related to these matters.

The Company reviews claims, suits, investigations and proceedings at least quarterly, and decisions are made with
respect to recording or adjusting provisions and disclosing reasonably possible losses or range of losses (individually or in
the aggregate) to reflect the impact and status of settlement discussions, discovery, procedural and substantive rulings,
reviews by counsel and other information pertinent to a particular matter.

Whether any losses, damages or remedies finally determined in any claim, suit, investigation or proceeding could
reasonably have a material effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows will
depend on a number of variables, including the timing and amount of such losses or damages; the structure and type of any
such remedies; the significance of the impact any such losses, damages or remedies may have in the consolidated financial
statements; and the unique facts and circumstances of the particular matter that may give rise to additional factors. While
the Company will continue to defend itself vigorously, it is possible that the Company’s business, financial condition,
results of operations or cash flows could be affected in any particular period by the resolution of one or more of these
matters.
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In July 2017, BMC Software, Inc. (“BMC”) sued IBM in the U.S. Court for the Southern District of Texas in a
dispute involving IBM’s managed infrastructure services business. BMC alleges IBM’s removal of BMC software from
one of its client’s sites at the client’s request constituted breach of contract and trade secret misappropriation. IBM defeated
BMC’s motion for injunctive relief, completed the client’s transformation project and counterclaimed for breach of
contract. In September 2021, the trial court overruled in part and granted in part the magistrate judge’s recommendations
on summary judgment, dismissing IBM’s counterclaims and permitting some of BMC’s claims for damages to proceed.
The case remains pending.

NOTE 14. EQUITY

The following tables present reclassifications and taxes related to items of other comprehensive income (loss) for
the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019:

(Dollars in millions)     Pretax     Tax (Expense)    Net of Tax
For the year ended December 31, 2021:     Amount     Benefit     Amount
Foreign currency translation adjustments $ 198 $ — $ 198
Unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedges

Unrealized gains (losses) arising during the period 4 — 4
Reclassification of (gains) losses to net income (1) — (1)

Total unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedges 3 — 3
Retirement-related benefit plans*:    

Prior service (credits) costs 1 (2) (1)
Net (losses) gains arising during the period 72 (17) 54
Curtailments and settlements 3 (1) 2
Amortization of net (gains) losses 51 (13) 38

Total retirement-related benefit plans 127 (33) 94
Other comprehensive income (loss) $ 329 $ (33) $ 296

* These AOCI components are included in the computation of net periodic benefit cost. Refer to Note 16 – Retirement-Related Benefits for additional
information.

(Dollars in millions)     Pretax     Tax (Expense)     Net of Tax
For the year ended December 31, 2020:     Amount     Benefit     Amount
Foreign currency translation adjustments $ 125 $ — $ 125
Retirement-related benefit plans*:    

Net (losses) gains arising during the period $ (41) $ 13 $ (28)
Amortization of prior service (credits) costs (1) — —
Amortization of net (gains) losses  36 (12) 24

Total retirement-related benefit plans $ (6) $ 2 $ (4)
Other comprehensive income (loss) $ 119 $ 2 $ 121

* These AOCI components are included in the computation of net periodic benefit cost. Refer to Note 16 – Retirement-Related Benefits for additional
information.

(Dollars in millions)     Before Tax     Tax (Expense)     Net of Tax
For the year ended December 31, 2019:     Amount     Benefit     Amount
Foreign currency translation adjustments $ 12 $ — $ 12
Retirement-related benefit plans*:    

Prior service costs (credits) $ (1) $ — $ (1)
Net (losses) gains arising during the period (84) 27 (57)
Amortization of net (gains) losses  27 (9) 18

Total retirement-related benefit plans $ (57) $ 18 $ (39)
Other comprehensive income (loss) $ (45) $ 18 $ (27)

* These AOCI components are included in the computation of net periodic benefit cost. Refer to Note 16 – Retirement-Related Benefits for additional
information.
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The following table presents the components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes:

Net Unrealized Foreign Currency Net Change Accumulated Other
Gains (Losses) Translation Retirement-Related Comprehensive

(Dollars in millions)     on Cash Flow Hedges Adjustments*     Benefit Plans     Income (Loss)
December 31, 2018 $ — $ (1,019) $ (175) $ (1,193)
Other comprehensive income (loss)**  —  12  (39)  (27)
December 31, 2019 $ — $ (1,007) $ (214) $ (1,220)
Other comprehensive income (loss)**  —  125  (4)  121
December 31, 2020 $ — $ (882) $ (218) $ (1,100)
Net transfers from Parent — — (339) (339)
Other comprehensive income (loss)** 3 198 94 296
December 31, 2021 $ 3 $ (684) $ (462) $ (1,143)

* Foreign currency translation adjustments are presented gross.
** No amounts were reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income.

NOTE 15. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The following table presents stock-based compensation cost which is included in net income (loss).

    Year Ended December 31
(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020     2019
Cost of services $ 28 $ 26 $ 15
Selling, general and administrative expense 44 37 35
Pretax stock-based compensation cost $ 71 $ 64 $ 51
Income tax benefits (13) (14) (12)
Stock-based compensation cost, net of tax $ 58 $ 49 $ 40

The Company’s total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested awards at December 31, 2021 was
$235 million and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 2.7 years. If there are any
modifications or cancellations of the underlying unvested awards, the Company may be required to accelerate, increase or
cancel all or a portion of the remaining unearned stock-based compensation expense. Future unearned stock-based
compensation will increase to the extent the Company grants additional equity awards, changes incentive awards terms, or
assumes unvested equity awards in connection with acquisitions. Capitalized stock-based compensation cost was not
material at December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

Incentive Awards

Stock-based incentive awards were provided to employees under the terms of Kyndryl’s employment and the
long-term performance plans (the “Plans” or “LTPP”). Awards under the Plans principally include Restricted Stock Units
(RSUs), market-conditioned performance awards (launch PSUs) and stock options. RSUs and stock options generally vest
based on continued passage of time. Market-conditioned performance awards are cliff-vested at the end of the service
period.
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The following table summarizes RSU, market-conditioned performance award and stock option activities:

Market-Conditioned
RSUs Performance Awards

Weighted- Weighted-
Number Average Number Average

    of Units Grant-Date     of Units     Grant-Date
    (in millions) Fair Value     (in millions)     Fair Value

Balance at December 31, 2020 — $ — — $ —
Awards converted from IBM programs 8.5 28.78 — —
Awards granted 2.0 18.20 1.8 15.14
Awards vested (0.1) 29.30 — —
Awards canceled/ forfeited (0.2) 21.71 — —
Balance at December 31, 2021 10.2 $ 26.82 1.8 $ 15.14

Stock Options
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-

Number Average Average Intrinsic Average
    of Units     Grant-Date Exercise Price Value Contractual
    (in millions)     Fair Value per Share per Share Term (in years)

Balance at December 31, 2020 — $ — $ — $ — —
Awards converted from IBM programs — NM 8.28 9.82 NM
Awards granted 3.8 6.54 17.78 — 6.3
Awards vested — — — — —
Awards canceled/forfeited — — — — —
Balance at December 31, 2021 3.8 $ 6.56 $ 17.76 $ — 6.3

NM – not meaningful; stock options from former Parent were fully vested in 2019.

The weighted-average grant date fair value of RSUs granted for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and
2019 was $18, $117 and $123, respectively. The weighted-average grant price prior to Separation used in the assessment
was derived from the Parent’s stock price at grant. The aggregate fair value (which is based on the stock price at grant date)
of restricted stock units (including former Parent’s PSUs converted to RSUs) vested was $45 million, $36 million and $34
million during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

NOTE 16. RETIREMENT-RELATED BENEFITS

Description of Plans

The Company sponsors and co-sponsors defined benefit pension plans and other nonpension postretirement
benefit plans that cover certain non-U.S. employees and retirees. The defined benefit pension plan benefits are based
principally on employees’ years of service and/or compensation levels at or near retirement. These plans are accounted for
as defined benefit pension plans for purposes of the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, the net benefit plan
obligations and the related benefit plan expenses of those plans have been recorded in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements. The nonpension postretirement benefit plans provide a fixed monthly dollar credit for retiree health
care expense. The benefit obligation and related expenses for these plans are included in the consolidated financial
statements.

Additionally, certain Company employees participate in multi-employer defined benefit pension plans and post-
retirement health plans which are sponsored by third parties and include other participants as well as defined contribution
plans that are sponsored by the Company. Accordingly, the Company does not record an asset or liability to recognize the
funded status of the multi-employer plans. However, the Company records service cost and defined contribution cost
attributable to its employees who participate in the multi-employer and the defined contribution plans, as well as expense
allocated for certain corporate and shared functional employees. These amounts are included in the Consolidated Income
Statement.
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Plan Financial Information

The following tables present the components of net periodic benefit cost for the retirement-related benefit plans
recognized in the Consolidated Income Statement, excluding defined contribution plans.

(Dollars in millions) Defined Benefit Pension Plans Nonpension Postretirement Benefit Plans
For the year ended December 31:     2021     2020     2019     2021     2020     2019
Service cost  $ 81  $ 109  $ 101  $ 2  $ 3  $ 3
Interest cost*  11  10  17  2  1  1
Expected return on plan assets*  (30)  (24)  (27)  (1)  (1)  (1)
Amortization of prior service costs (credits)*  —  (1)  —  —  —  —
Recognized actuarial losses*  51  36  26  —  —  —
Curtailments and settlements*  2  —  —  —  —  —
Multi-employer plans and other costs**  7  13  20  —  —  —
Total net periodic benefit cost  $ 123  $ 143  $ 138  $ 3  $ 3  $ 4

* These components of net periodic benefit cost are included in other (income) and expense in the Consolidated Income Statement.
** Multi-employer plan costs represent required contributions for the period to multi-employer plans, which are plans sponsored by third parties. The

Company recognizes expense in connection with these plans as contributions are funded.

The following table presents the changes in net benefit obligation and plan assets, excluding defined contribution
plans and multi-employer plans.

Defined Benefit Nonpension Postretirement 
Pension Plans Benefit Plans

(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020     2021     2020
Change in benefit obligation              
Benefit obligation at January 1  $ 1,202 $ 1,099 $ 13 $ 13

Service cost*   10  15  —  1
Interest cost   4  10  1  1
Plan participants’ contributions   1  —  —  —
Benefit obligation assumed from former Parent**   1,178  (12)  6  —
Actuarial losses (gains)   (43)  33  3  (1)
Benefits paid from trust   (2)  (21)  —  —
Direct benefit payments   (3)  (19)  —  —
Foreign exchange impact   (34)  97  —  —
Amendments, curtailments, settlements and other   (11)  —  (4)  —

Benefit obligation at December 31  $ 2,302 $ 1,202 $ 19 $ 13
Change in plan assets      
Fair value of plan assets at January 1  $ 654 $ 612 $ 13 $ 12

Actual return on plan assets   39  13  —  2
Employer contributions   23  4  —  —
Fair value of plan assets assumed from former
Parent**   810  (10)  (13)  —
Plan participants’ contributions   1  —  —  —
Benefits paid from trust   (2)  (21)  —  —
Foreign exchange impact   (22)  56  —  (1)
Settlements   (8)  —  —  —

Fair value of plan assets at December 31  $ 1,496 $ 654 $ — $ 13
Funded status at December 31  $ (807) $ (548) $ (19) $ —
Accumulated benefit obligation***  $ 2,181  $ 1,171   

* Represents service costs attributable to Company-sponsored and co-sponsored plans.
** Represents the impact to benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets resulting from pension assets and liabilities assumed in connection with

establishment of certain Kyndryl legal entities.
*** Represents the benefit obligation assuming no future participant compensation increases.
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The following table presents the amounts recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Defined Benefit Nonpension Postretirement
Pension Plans Benefit Plans
December 31, December 31,

(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020     2021     2020
Noncurrent assets – pension assets $ 58 $ — $ — $ 1
Current liabilities – accrued compensation and benefits  (28)  —  —  —
Noncurrent liabilities – retirement and nonpension
postretirement benefit obligations  (836)  (548)  (18)  (1)
Funded status, net $ (807) $ (548) $ (19) $ —

The following table presents information for defined benefit plans with accumulated benefit obligations (ABO) or
projected benefit obligations (PBO) in excess of plan assets.

At December 31, 2021 At December 31, 2020
Benefit Plan Benefit Plan

(Dollars in millions)     Obligation     Assets     Obligation     Assets
PBO in excess of plan assets $ 1,990 $ 1,125 $ 1,202 $ 654
ABO in excess of plan assets  1,790  1,039  1,079  561
Plan assets in excess of PBO  312  371  —  —

The following table presents information for the nonpension postretirement benefit plans with accumulated
postretirement benefit obligations (APBO) in excess of plan assets.

At December 31, 2021 At December 31, 2020
    Benefit     Plan     Benefit     Plan

(Dollars in millions)     Obligation     Assets     Obligation     Assets
APBO in excess of plan assets $ 19 $ — $ 1 $ —
Plan assets in excess of APBO — — 12 13
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The following table presents the pretax net loss and prior service costs (credits) recognized in OCI and the
changes in pretax net loss and prior service costs (credits) as well as Separation-related transfers from Parent recognized in
AOCI for the retirement-related benefits plans.

Defined Benefit Nonpension Postretirement
Pension Plans Benefit Plans

(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020     2021     2020
Net loss (gain) at January 1  $ 314  $ 307  $ (2) $ (1)
Current period loss (gain) (75) 43 3 (2)
Curtailments and settlements (3) — — —
Amortization of net loss included in net periodic benefit cost (51) (36) — —
Separation-related transfers from Parent ** 444 — 5 —
Net loss (gain) at December 31 $ 629 $ 314 $ 6 $ (2)
Prior service costs (credits) at January 1 (2) (3) — —
Current period prior service costs (credits) 3 — (4) —
Amortization for prior service costs (credits) included in net
periodic benefit cost — 1 — —
Separation-related transfers from Parent ** 9 — — —
Prior service costs (credits) at December 31 $ 9 $ (2) $ (4) $ —
Total amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive
loss (income) *  $ 638  $ 312  $ 2  $ (2)

* See Note 14 - Equity for the total change in AOCI and the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the components of net periodic
benefit cost, including the related tax effects, recognized in OCI for the retirement-related benefit plans.

** Separation-related transfers from Parent represent the pretax impact resulting from the assumption of pension assets and liabilities, along with the
associated deferred costs, in connection with establishment of certain Kyndryl legal entities. These transfers are not recognized in OCI; rather they
are recognized as transfers into AOCI. See Note 14 – Equity.

The following table presents the weighted-average assumptions used to measure the net periodic benefit cost and
the year-end benefit obligations.

Defined Benefit Nonpension Postretirement 
Pension Plans Benefit Plans

Weighted-average assumptions used to measure     2021     2020     2019     2021     2020     2019  
Net periodic benefit cost                                     
Discount rate  0.62 %  0.86 %  1.65 %  8.31 %  8.31 %  8.89 %  
Expected long-term returns on plan assets  3.00 %  4.03 %  4.62 %  8.20 %  9.00 %  
Rate of compensation increase  2.22 %  2.25 %  1.37 %    
Benefit obligations
Discount rate 1.19 %  0.62 %  0.86 %  1.04 % 8.31 % 8.31 %
Rate of compensation increase 2.30 %  2.22 %  2.25 %  
Interest crediting rate - cash balance plans 1.43 %  

In certain countries, a portfolio of high-quality corporate bonds is used to construct a yield curve. Cash flows from
the Company’s expected benefit obligation payments are matched to the yield curve to derive discounts. In other countries
where the markets for high-quality long-term bonds are not as well developed, a portfolio of long-term government bonds
is used as a base and a credit spread is added to simulate corporate bond yields at these maturities in the jurisdiction of each
plan. This is the benchmark for developing the respective discount rates.

In developing the expected long-term rate of return on assets, the Company considers the long-term expectations
for future returns. The use of expected returns may result in pension income that is greater or less than the actual return of
those plan assets in a given year. Over time, however, the expected rate of return is expected to
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approximate the actual long-term results, leading to a pattern of income or loss recognition that more closely matches the
pattern of services provided by the employees.

For the nonpension postretirement benefit plans, the Company reviews external data to determine the healthcare
costs trends. The healthcare cost trend rates have an insignificant effect on plan costs or other benefit obligations due to
terms of the plan which limit the Company’s obligation to the participants.

Investment Policies and Strategies

The investment objective of the plan assets is to generate returns that will enable the plan to meet its future
obligations. The weighted-average target allocation for the defined benefit plans is 24 percent equity securities, 45 percent
fixed-income securities, 4 percent real estate, 17 percent insurance contracts and 11 percent other investments. Typically
the responsibility for determining the target allocation and managing the investments lies with a plan governing board that
may include up to 50 percent of members elected by employees and retirees. Generally, these defined benefit plans do not
invest in illiquid assets, and their use of derivatives is mainly for currency hedging, interest rate risk management, credit
exposure and alternative investment strategies.

Plan Assets and Fair Value Measurements

The following table presents the Company’s defined benefit pension plans’ asset classes and their associated fair
value at December 31, 2021 and 2020.

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
(Dollars in millions)     Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total     Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total
Equity

Equity securities $ 9 $ — $ — $ 9 $ — $ — $ — $ —
Fixed income

Government and related (1) — 158 — 158 — 18 — 18
Corporate bonds  —  32  —  32  —  —  —  —
Insurance contracts  —  255  —  255  —  91  —  91

Cash and short-term investments (2)  14  —  —  14  1  —  —  1
Derivative assets (3) 3 12 — 15 — — —
Mutual funds  —  —  —  —  7  —  —  7

Subtotal $ 26 $ 457 $ — $ 483 $ 8 $ 110 $ — $ 118
Investments measured at net asset
value using NAV as a practical
expedient (4)  —  —  —  1,013  —  —  —  537
Fair value of plan assets $ 26 $ 457 $ — $ 1,496 $ 8 $ 110 $ — $ 654

(1) Includes debt issued by national, state and local governments and agencies.
(2) Includes cash, cash equivalents and short-term marketable securities.
(3) Includes forward contracts, interest rate swaps, exchange traded and other over-the-counter derivatives.
(4) Investments measured at fair value using the net asset value (NAV) per share (or its equivalent), as a practical expedient. These investments

include commingled funds, hedge funds, common collective trusts, private equity partnerships and real estate partnerships.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, there were no plan assets in the nonpension postretirement benefit plans.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, the nonpension postretirement benefit plans held plan assets of $13 million,
invested in government debt and corporate bonds categorized as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.

Approximately 78% of plan assets are held in plans which are co-sponsored by the Company along with IBM.
The allocation of the fair value of co-sponsored plan assets is based on the initial pension assets assumed in connection
with establishment of certain Kyndryl legal entities, Company contributions, distributions and market returns.

Retirement-related benefit plan assets are recognized and measured at fair value. Because of the inherent
uncertainty of valuations, these fair value measurements may not necessarily reflect the amounts the Company could
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realize in current market transactions. The following is a description of the valuation techniques used to measure plan
assets at fair value. There were no changes in valuation techniques during the periods presented.

Equity securities and mutual funds: Equity securities are valued at the closing price reported on the stock
exchange on which the individual securities are traded. Mutual funds are typically valued based on quoted market prices.
These assets are generally classified as Level 1.

Fixed income: Fixed-income securities, other than insurance contracts, are typically valued using the closing price
reported on the major market on which the individual securities are traded, if available. Assets fair valued using this
methodology are generally classified as Level 2. If market prices are unavailable, the fair value is estimated using pricing
models or quoted prices of securities with similar characteristics.

Insurance contracts: Fair value is based on the expected value of the insurance benefits of the insurance contracts.
The insurance benefits are assessed using the same interest rate and mortality table used to determine the liability. These
assets are generally classified as Level 2.

Cash and short-term investments: Cash includes money market accounts that are valued at their cost plus interest
on a daily basis, which approximates fair value. Short-term investments represent securities with original maturities of one
year or less. These assets are generally classified as Level 1.

Derivatives assets: Exchange-traded derivatives are valued at the closing price reported on the exchange on which
the individual securities are traded. Forward contracts are valued using a mid-close price. Over-the-counter derivatives are
valued using pricing models. These models require a variety of inputs, yield curves, credit curves, measures of volatility
and foreign exchange rates. Derivative assets are classified as Level 1 or Level 2 depending on availability of quoted
market prices.

Investments measured at net asset value: Certain investments are measured at fair value using the net asset value
(“NAV”) per share (or its equivalent) as a practical expedient. These investments, which may include commingled funds,
hedge funds, common collective trusts, private equity partnerships and real estate partnerships, are typically valued using
the NAV provided by the administrator of the fund. The NAV is based on the value of the underlying assets owned by the 
fund, minus liabilities multiplied by the plan’s ownership of the investment.                 

Contributions and Direct Benefit Payments

It is the Company’s general practice to fund amounts for pensions sufficient to meet the minimum requirements
set forth in applicable employee benefits laws and local tax laws. From time to time, the Company contributes additional
amounts as it deems appropriate.

The following table presents the contributions made to the defined benefit pension plan, nonpension
postretirement benefit plans, multi-employer plans, defined contribution plans and direct payments made in 2021, 2020 and
2019. The cash contributions to the multi-employer plans represent the annual cost included in the net periodic benefit cost
recognized in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020 2019
Defined benefit plans $ 25 $ 4 $ 4
Multi-employer plans*  5 7 9
Defined contribution plans  165 194 207
Direct payments  33 19 16
Total $ 229 $ 225 $ 236

* Multi-employer plans are sponsored by third parties.
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Contributions to nonpension postretirement benefit plans were not material for any periods presented.  

Prior to September 1, 2021, certain U.S. employees were eligible to participate in the IBM 401(k) Plus Plan, which
provided matching contributions up to 6% of eligible pay. On September 1, 2021, employees who participated in the IBM
401(k) Plus Plan were transferred to the Kyndryl 401(k) Plan and eligible to continue to receive matching contributions up
to 6% of eligible pay. For all eligible employees hired or rehired on or after September 1, 2021, the Kyndryl 401(k) Plan
provides a matching contribution of up to 3% of eligible pay.

The Company estimates contributions to its defined benefit and multi-employer plans in 2022 to be approximately
$29 million, the largest of which will be contributed to a defined benefit plan in Spain. This amount generally represents
legally mandated minimum contributions.

Financial market performance in 2022 could increase the legally mandated minimum contribution in certain
countries that require monthly or daily remeasurement of the funded status. The Company could also elect to contribute
more than the legally mandated amount based on market conditions or other factors.

Expected Benefit Payments – Defined Benefit Pension Plans and Nonpension Postretirement Benefit Plans

The following table presents the total expected benefit payments to participants of both the defined benefit
pension plans and nonpension postretirement benefit plans.

Nonpension
Defined Benefit Postretirement

(Dollars in millions)     Pension Plans     Benefit Plans
2022 $ 99 $ —
2023  87 1
2024  87 1
2025  107 1
2026  100 1
2027‑2031  592 3

The 2022 expected benefit payments not covered by the respective plan assets represent a component of
compensation and benefits, within current liabilities, in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

NOTE 17. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related-Party Revenue and Purchases

Kyndryl provides various services to IBM, including those related to hosting data centers and servicing IBM’s
information technology infrastructure, which are reported as revenue in the Company’s Consolidated Income Statement.
Revenue generated from these services was $704 million, $645 million and $613 million for the years ended December 31,
2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Kyndryl utilizes various IBM products and services, recognized as costs of services, in the fulfillment of services
contracts. Total cost of services recognized from these related-party transactions in the Company’s Consolidated Income
Statement was $4.0 billion, $3.8 billion and $3.6 billion for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019,
respectively. Included in these related-party cost of services were: costs incurred by Kyndryl to provide services to the
former Parent for networking and IT services prior to Separation in the amounts of $384 million, $509 million and $484
million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively; costs related to the usage of IBM-branded
software allocated to Kyndryl by the former Parent prior to Separation in the amounts of $2.8 billion, $2.7 billion and $2.6
billion for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively; depreciation charges related to IBM hardware
allocated to Kyndryl prior to Separation in the amounts of $447 million, $520 million and $538 million for the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively; and costs related to services provided to Kyndryl’s customers that were
outsourced to IBM post-Separation in the amount of $312 million during the fourth quarter of 2021.
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The capital expenditures for purchases of IBM hardware were reflected as payments for property and equipment
within the investing section of the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows in the amounts of $299 million, $504
million and $526 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Additionally, as part of the
Separation, IBM has committed to provide Kyndryl, at no cost, up to approximately $265 million of upgraded hardware
over an expected two-year period. The amounts committed by IBM are reflected within other assets (noncurrent) within the
Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2021. The expected average useful life of the upgraded hardware is
approximately five years, and the Company intends to recognize total depreciation approximating $265 million over the
useful life, consistent with our depreciation policy.

Acquired Intangible Assets

Within the historical periods presented, the Company has been charged a management fee for the use of certain
acquired intangible assets by IBM for acquisitions which were not specific to Kyndryl. The amounts reflected within cost
of services on the Consolidated Income Statement for these fees were $26 million, $31 million and $15 million for the
years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The amounts for these fees reflected within Selling, general
and administrative expense within the Consolidated Income Statement were $37 million, $49 million and $23 million for
the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Allocation of Corporate Expenses

The Consolidated Income Statement, Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss) and Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows include an allocation of general corporate expenses from IBM prior to the Separation. The
financial information in these consolidated financial statements does not necessarily include all of the expenses that would
have been incurred by Kyndryl had it been a separate, standalone company. It is not practicable to estimate actual costs that
would have been incurred had Kyndryl been a standalone company during the periods presented. Allocations for
management costs and corporate support services provided to Kyndryl for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and
2019 totaled $1.0 billion, $1.3 billion and $1.2 billion, respectively. These amounts include costs for corporate functions
including, but not limited to, senior management, legal, human resources, finance and accounting, treasury, information
technology and other shared services. All such amounts have been deemed to have been incurred and settled by Kyndryl in
the period in which the costs were recorded and are included in the Net Parent investment. These costs were allocated
based on direct usage as applicable, with the remainder allocated on a pro-rata basis of gross profit, headcount, assets or
other measures.

The following table presents the components of the allocation of general corporate expenses from IBM.

For the Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020 2019
Selling, general and administrative expense $ 932 $ 1,220 $ 1,185
Interest expense 46 63 76
Other (income) and expense 10 4 (31)
Total expense and other (income) $ 989 $ 1,287 $ 1,230

Net Parent Investment

Prior to the Separation, related-party transactions between Kyndryl and IBM were included within Net Parent
investment in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as these related-party transactions were not settled in cash. Net Parent
investment in the Consolidated Balance Sheet and Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity represents IBM’s
historical investment in Kyndryl, the net effect of transactions with and allocations from IBM and Kyndryl’s accumulated
earnings. Net transfers from IBM are included within Net Parent investment. The components of Net
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transfers from IBM and the reconciliation to the corresponding amount presented on the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows were as follows:

    For the Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020 2019
Cash pooling and general financing activities/other $ (445) $ (4,165) $ (4,390)
Allocation of Parent’s corporate expenses/other 1,255 1,668 1,610
Related-party sales and purchases 2,440 2,991 2,944
Related-party intangible assets fee 63 80 38
Income taxes 716 297 397
Issuance of common stock and reclassification of net parent investment (4,029) — —
Total Net transfers (to) from Parent per Consolidated Statement of Equity $ — $ 872 $ 598
Income taxes (716) (297) (397)
Allocation of Parent’s stock-based compensation (58) (64) (51)
Other* 744 (133) (132)
Total Net transfers (to) from Parent per Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows $ (30) $ 377 $ 18

* Approximately $900 million of the net proceeds from the term loan and the sale of the Notes was transferred to IBM in conjunction with the
Separation. See Note 11 – Borrowings.

Assignment of Receivables

A portion of Kyndryl’s receivables with extended payment terms have historically been assigned to IBM’s Global
Financing business. These receivables were not recognized on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet. The gross
amounts of Kyndryl receivables assigned to IBM Global Financing were $1.9 billion, $3.1 billion and $3.0 billion for the
years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The fees and the net gains and losses associated with the
assignment of receivables were not material for any of the periods presented. In October 2021, in preparation for the
Separation, the Company entered into a Receivables Purchase Agreement with an unaffiliated bank with capacity similar to
the amounts historically financed by IBM.

Software Purchase Agreements

In conjunction with the Separation, Kyndryl has agreed to purchase IBM software for internal use and the delivery
of services to Kyndryl customers in a pricing arrangement with IBM that extends through 2026, subject to adjustment in
certain circumstances, including the termination of customer contracts.

Lease Guarantees

Kyndryl identified 71 lease agreements with third parties with an estimated aggregate lease liability guaranteed by
IBM of $181 million.

NOTE 18. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 27, 2022, the Board of Directors approved a change in the Company’s fiscal year from the twelve
months beginning January 1 and ending December 31 to the twelve months beginning April 1 and ending March 31. The
Company will file a transition report on Form 10-QT for the three-month period ended March 31, 2022, in accordance with
SEC rules and regulations. All subsequent fiscal years for the Company will be from April 1 to March 31. The Company is
making the fiscal year change on a prospective basis and will not adjust operating results for prior periods.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure:

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures:

The Company’s management evaluated, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) as of the end of the period covered by this
report. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this report.

There has been no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in
Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act) that occurred during the Company’s last fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal
control over financial reporting or an attestation report of the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm
due to an exemption established by the rules of the SEC for newly public companies.

Item 9B. Other Information:

Section 13(r) Disclosure

Pursuant to Section 219 of the Iran Threat Reduction and Syria Human Rights Act of 2012, which added Section
13(r) of the Exchange Act, we hereby incorporate by reference herein Exhibit 99.1 of this report, which includes
disclosures regarding activities at International Business Machines Corporation, which was, during a portion of the period
covered by this report, our affiliate.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections:

Not applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Set forth below is certain information regarding each of our current directors and executive officers as of
March 10, 2022.

Name     Age     Position
Martin Schroeter 57 Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
David Wyshner 54 Chief Financial Officer
Elly Keinan 57 Group President
Maryjo Charbonnier 52 Chief Human Resources Officer
Edward Sebold 57 General Counsel and Secretary
Vineet Khurana 48 Controller
Dominic J. Caruso 64 Director
John D. Harris II 60 Director
Stephen A. M. Hester 61 Director
Shirley Ann Jackson 75 Director
Janina Kugel 52 Director
Denis Machuel 57 Director
Rahul N. Merchant 65 Director
Jana Schreuder 63 Director
Howard I. Ungerleider 53 Director

The following are brief biographies describing the backgrounds of our executive officers and directors.

Martin Schroeter.   Mr. Schroeter was appointed our first Chief Executive Officer in January 2021 and was
appointed as Chairman of the Board in October 2021 in connection with the Spin-off. Previously, Mr. Schroeter served in a
variety of business line and finance executive positions at IBM including Senior Vice President of Global Markets from
2018 until 2020, responsible for IBM’s global sales, customer relationships and satisfaction and worldwide geographic
operations and overseeing IBM’s marketing and communication functions and building IBM’s brand and reputation
globally, and Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer from 2014 until 2017, leading IBM’s shift in spending
profile to align with IBM strategic initiatives. Earlier in his career, Mr. Schroeter served as General Manager of IBM global
financing, managing a total asset base in excess of $37 billion, and had served numerous roles in Japan, the United States
and Australia. Previously, Mr. Schroeter served as a director of the American Australian Association. Mr. Schroeter
received his MBA from Carnegie Mellon University and his undergraduate degree from Temple University. Mr.
Schroeter’s global business and leadership experience and financial expertise make him a well-qualified addition to our
Board.

David Wyshner.   Mr. Wyshner was appointed our Chief Financial Officer in September 2021. From March 2020
until his appointment as our Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Wyshner served as the Chief Financial Officer at XPO Logistics,
Inc., where he led all financial functions for the global transportation and contract logistics company that manages supply
chains for customers worldwide. Prior to that, Mr. Wyshner served as the Chief Financial Officer at Wyndham Hotels &
Resorts, Inc. from May 2018 to December 2019, and as its senior advisor from December 2019 to March 2020. He served
as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Wyndham Worldwide Corporation, from which Wyndham
Hotels was spun-off, from August 2017 to May 2018. From August 2006 to June 2017, Mr. Wyshner served as the Chief
Financial Officer of Avis Budget Group and also served as Avis Budget Group’s president from January 2016 to June 2017.
Mr. Wyshner received his MBA from the Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania and his bachelor’s degree
from Yale University.
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Elly Keinan.    Mr. Keinan was appointed our Group President in March 2021. From September 2020 until his
appointment as our Group President, Mr. Keinan served as a venture partner at Pitango Venture Capital, Israel’s leading
venture capital group, focused on scaling the success of growth stage technology companies. Prior to that, Mr. Keinan
served a variety of executive roles at IBM from July 1987 to June 2020, including General Manager of IBM North
America and Chairman of IBM Japan, and held top leadership roles in Latin America and Europe. Mr. Keinan currently
serves on the boards of Cellebrite, Ottopia and United Way of New York City. Mr. Keinan received his MBA from
University of Miami Herbert Business School and his Bachelor of Science in Computer Science and Electrical Engineering
from Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute.

Maryjo Charbonnier.    Ms. Charbonnier was appointed our Chief Human Resources Officer in July 2021. From
January 2015 until her appointment, Ms. Charbonnier served as the Chief Human Resources Officer at Wolters Kluwer,
where she was responsible for the design and implementation of all human resources strategies, policies and processes.
Prior to that, Ms. Charbonnier served as the Chief Human Resources Officer at Broadridge Financial Solutions from
August 2008 to December 2014. From August 1995 to August 2008, Ms. Charbonnier was an HR executive in a variety of
leadership roles at PepsiCo, including Vice President for Talent Sustainability for PepsiCo Foods Americas. Ms.
Charbonnier received her MBA from Southern Methodist University and her undergraduate degree from Catholic
University.

Edward Sebold.    Mr. Sebold was appointed our General Counsel and Secretary in October 2021 in connection
with the Spin-off. From March 2012 until his appointment as our General Counsel, Mr. Sebold served as Assistant General
Counsel at IBM, leading several global legal functions at IBM, including teams that worked with services, IBM's Watson
Health, litigation and mergers and acquisitions. Prior to joining IBM in 2012, Mr. Sebold was a partner at Jones Day in the
firm’s Cleveland and Houston offices. Mr. Sebold serves on the board of the Pro Bono Partnership. Mr. Sebold received his
JD from University of Michigan and his undergraduate degree from John Carroll University.

Vineet Khurana.   Mr. Khurana was appointed our Controller in May 2021. Since July 2020, Mr. Khurana had
been serving as Chief Financial Officer of IBM’s Global Business Services. Prior to assuming this role, Mr. Khurana was
the Chief Financial Officer of IBM Europe from March 2018 through July 2020 and the Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of IBM United Kingdom and Ireland from July 2016 until March 2018. Earlier in his IBM tenure, Mr. Khurana has
held roles of increasing responsibility spanning financial strategy and IBM’s Global Financing division. Mr. Khurana also
serves as an External Governor and a member of the Infrastructure and Finance committee of the University of Portsmouth,
United Kingdom. Mr. Khurana received his MBA from University of Warwick and his undergraduate degree from Manipal
Institute of Technology.

Dominic J. Caruso.   Mr. Caruso was elected to our Board in October 2021 in connection with the Spin-off.
Mr. Caruso served as the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Johnson & Johnson from 2007 until his
retirement in 2018. Earlier in his career, Mr. Caruso served Centocor, Inc. as Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial
Officer from 1994 to 1998, and as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer from 1998 until the acquisition of
Centocor by Johnson & Johnson in 1999. Mr. Caruso then joined Johnson & Johnson and served in various executive
positions until his appointment as the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in 2007. Mr. Caruso is a
director of McKesson Corporation. Mr. Caruso previously served as the Co-Chair of the U.S. Chamber of Commerce
Global Initiative on Health and the Economy and currently serves on the Board of Trustees of The Children’s Hospital of
Philadelphia and the Cystic Fibrosis Foundation. Mr. Caruso received his BS from Drexel University. Mr. Caruso’s global
business experience and financial expertise make him a well-qualified member of our Board.
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John D. Harris II.   Mr. Harris was elected to our Board in October 2021 in connection with the Spin-off. Mr.
Harris served as Chief Executive Officer of Raytheon International Inc. from 2013 until 2020.
Mr. Harris also served as Vice President of Business Development for Raytheon Company during his tenure. Mr. Harris
joined Raytheon in 1983 and held positions of increasing responsibility, including Vice President of Operations and
Contracts for Raytheon’s former electronic systems business, Vice President of Contracts for the company’s government
and defense businesses until 2003, and Vice President of Contracts and Supply Chain for Raytheon Company until 2010,
when he was named president of the Raytheon Technical Services Company, a role he served until 2013. Mr. Harris served
on the Radio Technical Commission for Aeronautics NextGen Advisory Committee of the U.S. Department of
Transportation, the National Advisory Council on Minority Business Enterprise with the U.S. Department of Commerce
and the Association of the United States Army’s Council of Trustees. Mr. Harris serves as a board member for Cisco
Systems Inc. and Flex Ltd. He received his undergraduate degree from Boston University. Mr. Harris’ global business
experience and technology, digital and cybersecurity expertise make him a well-qualified member of our Board.

Stephen A. M. Hester.   Mr. Hester was elected to our Board in October 2021 in connection with the Spin-off.
Mr. Hester joined RSA Insurance Group in 2014, and was the Chief Executive Officer until his retirement in June 2021.
Prior to joining RSA, he was group Chief Executive of Royal Bank of Scotland from 2008 to 2013, Chief Executive of
British Land Plc from 2004 to 2008, and Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Abbey National plc from
2002 to 2004. Mr. Hester began his career at Credit Suisse First Boston in 1982 and held positions of increasing
responsibility including Chief Financial Officer and Head of Support Division from 1996 until 2000, when he was
appointed as Global Head of the Fixed Income Division, a role he served until 2001. Mr. Hester currently serves as a non-
executive director of easyJet plc and a director of Centrica plc. Additionally, during the past five years, he served as a
director of RSA Insurance Group plc. Mr. Hester was formerly a director of the Royal Bank of Scotland, Northern Rock
and Abbey National plc. Mr. Hester received his undergraduate degree from Oxford University. Mr. Hester’s global
business experience and financial expertise make him a well-qualified member of our Board.

Shirley Ann Jackson.   Dr. Jackson was elected to our Board in October 2021 in connection with the Spin-off.
Since 1999, Dr. Jackson has served as the President of Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute. From 1995 until she assumed her
current position, Dr. Jackson was the Chairwoman of the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission. From 1991 to 1995
Dr. Jackson served as a consultant to the former AT&T Bell Laboratories and was also a professor of theoretical physics at
Rutgers University. Prior to such roles, Dr. Jackson was a theoretical physicist at the former AT&T Bell Laboratories from
1976 to 1991. Dr. Jackson is a member of the United States Secretary of Energy Advisory Board. She has been Co-Chair of
the President’s Intelligence Advisory Board, a member of the International Security Advisory Board to the United States
Secretary of State. Dr. Jackson is a fellow of the Royal Academy of Engineering (U.K.), the American Academy of Arts
and Sciences, and a member of the U.S. National Academy of Engineering and the American Philosophical Society.
Dr. Jackson is a recipient of the National Medal of Science, the highest award in science and engineering awarded by the
U.S. Government. Dr. Jackson is a member of the Council on Foreign Relations. She is a Regent Emerita and former Vice-
Chair of the Board of Regents of the Smithsonian Institution, a past president of the American Association for the
Advancement of Sciences, and an honorary trustee of the Brookings Institution. Dr. Jackson is a director of FedEx
Corporation and Public Service Enterprise Group Incorporated. Additionally, during the past five years, she served as a
director of IBM. Dr. Jackson received her PhD and BS degrees from MIT. Dr. Jackson’s extensive leadership and
technology experience make her a well-qualified member of our Board.
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Janina Kugel.   Ms. Kugel was elected to our Board in October 2021 in connection with the Spin-off. Ms. Kugel
served as the Chief Human Resources Officer and member of the Managing Board of Siemens AG from 2015 until 2020.
Ms. Kugel joined Siemens AG in 2001 as Vice President of Communications Group Strategy and in 2005, was appointed
Director of Global Commercial Excellence before becoming Director of Human Resources in 2009. Ms. Kugel joined
Osram in 2012, where she served as the Chief Human Resources Officer until 2013, when she was appointed Corporate
Vice President of Human Resources and Chief Diversity Officer at Siemens AG. Ms. Kugel serves on the Board of
Konecranes plc and TUI AG and is a member of the supervisory board of the German Pension Benefit Guaranty
Association (Pensions-Sicherungs-Verein) and the Executive Committee of the Supervisory Board of the Confederation of
German Employers’ Associations (Bundesvereinigung der Deutschen Arbeitgeberverbände). Ms. Kugel is also trustee of
the Hertie School of Governance in Germany, a member of the International Advisory Board of the IESE Business School
in Spain and, the University Council of the Technical University of Munich. Since 2020, Ms. Kugel has served as senior
advisor to EQT, AB Group and Boston Consulting Group, Inc. She received her MS from the Johannes Gutenberg
University Mainz. Ms. Kugel’s global business experience and government service make her a well-qualified member of
our Board.

Denis Machuel.   Mr. Machuel was elected to our Board in October 2021 in connection with the Spin-off. From
2018 to September 2021, Mr. Machuel served as Chief Executive Officer of Sodexo S.A. Mr. Machuel joined Sodexo in
2007 as the Managing Director of Benefits and Rewards Services for Central and Eastern Europe. In 2012, he became
Chief Executive Officer of Sodexo benefits and rewards worldwide. Mr. Machuel joined the Sodexo Group Executive
Committee in 2014, and from 2015 until 2018, served as Group Chief Digital Officer and since 2017, he has served as
Deputy Chief Executive Officer of Sodexo. Additionally, between 2016 and 2017, Mr. Machuel served as Chief Executive
Officer of Personal and Home Services at Sodexo. Mr. Machuel has also been a member of the G7 Business for Inclusive
Growth Coalition and the Consumer Goods Forum. Mr. Machuel received his MS from Texas A&M University and his
undergraduate degree from ENSIMAG College of Engineering. Mr. Machuel’s global business experience and technology
and digital expertise make him a well-qualified member of our Board.

Rahul N. Merchant.   Mr. Merchant was elected to our Board in October 2021 in connection with the Spin-off.
Mr. Merchant has served as Senior Executive Vice President and Head of Client Services and Technology at TIAA since
2015. Prior to serving this role, Mr. Merchant served as citywide Chief Information and Innovation Officer for the City of
New York from 2012 until 2014. From 2006 until 2009, Mr. Merchant served as Executive Vice President, Chief
Information and Operations Officer and member of the Executive Committee at the Federal National Mortgage Association
(Fannie Mae), and Senior Vice President, Chief Information Officer and Chief Technology Officer at Merrill Lynch, Pierce,
Fenner & Smith Incorporated from 2000 until 2006. Mr. Merchant also serves as a director for Juniper Networks, Inc.
Mr. Merchant received his MBA from Temple University, his MS from Memphis State University and his BS from
Bombay University. Mr. Merchant’s global business and technology experience make him a well-qualified member of our
Board.

Jana Schreuder.   Ms. Schreuder was elected to our Board in October 2021 in connection with the Spin-off.
Ms. Schreuder served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of Northern Trust Corporation from 2014
until she retired from that role in 2018. Ms. Schreuder joined Northern Trust in 1980 and during her tenure held multiple
roles as a member of the management team, including service as Chief Risk Officer from 2005 to 2006, President of
Operations and Technology from 2006 to 2011, and President of Wealth Management from 2011 to 2014. Ms. Schreuder is
a member of the Global Governance Committee of Women Corporate Directors. Ms. Schreuder currently sits on the board
of Blucora, Inc. and The Bank of N.T. Butterfield & Son Limited. Additionally, during the past five years, she served as a
director of LifePoint Health Inc. Ms. Schreuder received her MBA from Northwestern University and her BA from
Southern Methodist University. Ms. Schreuder’s technology, digital and cybersecurity expertise make her a well-qualified
member of our Board.
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Howard I. Ungerleider.   Mr. Ungerleider was elected to our Board in October 2021 in connection with the Spin-
off. Mr. Ungerleider has served as President and Chief Financial Officer of Dow Inc. since April 2019. In 1990, he joined
The Dow Chemical Company and subsequently held various positions, including Chief Financial Officer from 2014 to
2015. In 2016, he was appointed Chief Financial Officer of DowDuPont effective upon the merger of The Dow Chemical
Company and E.I. du Pont de Nemours and Company. Mr. Ungerleider served in this role from 2017 until April of 2019,
when Dow Inc. separated from DowDuPont. Mr. Ungerleider is Chairman of the Dow Company Foundation and serves on
the board of directors of FCLTGlobal, the Michigan Israel Business Bridge and Keep America Beautiful. Mr. Ungerleider
is also Chair of the Business Leaders for Michigan business roundtable and the Michigan Climate Executive Advisory
Group. Additionally, during the past five years, he served as a director of Wolverine Bancorp, Inc. Mr. Ungerleider
received his MBA from UCLA and his BBA from The University of Texas at Austin. Mr. Ungerleider’s global business
and leadership experience and financial expertise make him a well-qualified member of our Board.

Our Board of Directors

Our Board of Directors (our “Board”) consists of ten members. Until the conclusion of the 2027 annual meeting,
our Board will be divided into three classes, with each class consisting, as nearly as may be possible, of one-third of the
total number of directors. The directors designated as Class I directors have terms expiring at the annual meeting of
stockholders in 2022. The directors designated as Class II directors have terms expiring at the annual meeting of
stockholders in 2023 and the directors designated as Class III directors have terms expiring at the annual meeting of
stockholders in 2024. Any director elected at the 2022, 2023 or 2024 annual meeting will belong to the class whose term
expires at such annual meeting and will hold office for a three-year term until his or her successor has been duly elected
and qualified or until his or her earlier resignation or removal. Ms. Kugel, Mr. Machuel and Mr. Merchant serve as Class I
directors. Mr. Harris, Ms. Schreuder and Mr. Ungerleider serve as Class II directors. Mr. Caruso, Mr. Hester, Dr. Jackson
and Mr. Schroeter serve as Class III directors.

Beginning at the 2025 annual meeting and at each annual meeting thereafter, all of our directors up for election at
such meeting will be elected annually and will hold office until the next annual meeting and until his or her successor has
been duly elected and qualified or until his or her earlier resignation or removal. Effective as of the conclusion of the 2027
annual meeting, our Board will therefore no longer be divided into three classes. Before our Board is declassified, it would
take at least two elections of directors for any individual or group to gain control of our Board. Accordingly, while the
classified board is in effect, these provisions could discourage a third party from initiating a proxy contest, making a tender
offer or otherwise attempting to control us. This temporary classified Board structure is intended to provide better
continuity of leadership during Kyndryl’s first years of operation as an independent, publicly held business, versus annually
elected directors. 

Business Conduct Guidelines

Our Business Conduct Guidelines are applicable to all of our directors, officers and employees, including our
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Controller and other senior financial officers. Our Business
Conduct Guidelines set forth our policies and expectations on a number of topics, including conflicts of interest,
compliance with laws (including insider trading laws), use of our assets and business conduct and fair dealing. Our
Business Conduct Guidelines also satisfy the requirements for a code of ethics, as defined by Item 406 of Regulation S-K
promulgated by the SEC. The Business Conduct Guidelines may be found on our website at www.kyndryl.com under
Investors: Governance: Governance Documents: Business Conduct Guidelines.

To the extent applicable, we will disclose within four business days any substantive changes in, or waivers of, the
Business Conduct Guidelines granted to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting
officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions, by posting such information on our website as set forth above
rather than by filing a Current Report on Form 8-K. In the case of a waiver for an executive officer or a director, the
required disclosure also will be made available on our website within four business days of the date of such waiver.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of our Board consists entirely of independent directors, Mr. Caruso, Mr. Machuel and Mr.
Merchant, each of whom meets the independence requirements set forth in the listing standards of the New York Stock
Exchange, Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act and our Audit Committee charter. Mr. Caruso serves as Chair of the Audit
Committee. Each member of the Audit Committee is financially literate, and each of Mr. Caruso, Mr. Machuel and Mr.
Merchant has accounting and related financial management expertise and satisfies the criteria to be an “audit committee
financial expert” under the rules and regulations of the SEC, as those qualifications are interpreted by our Board in its
business judgment.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing reports of our financial results, audit reporting, internal
controls, and adherence to our Business Conduct Guidelines in compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
Concurrent with that responsibility, as set out more fully in the Audit Committee charter, the Audit Committee will perform
other functions, including:

● selecting the independent registered public accounting firm, approving all related fees and compensation,
overseeing the work of the independent accountant, and reviewing its selection with the Board;

● annually preapproving the proposed services to be provided by the accounting firm during the year;

● reviewing the procedures of the independent registered public accounting firm for ensuring its independence and
other qualifications with respect to the services performed for us;

● reviewing any significant changes in accounting principles or developments in accounting practices and the
effects of those changes on our financial reporting;

● assessing the effectiveness of our internal audit function and overseeing the adequacy of internal controls and risk
management processes; and

● meeting with management prior to each quarterly earnings release and periodically to discuss the appropriate
approach to earnings press releases and the type of financial information and earnings guidance to be provided to
analysts and rating agencies.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Executive Summary

Introduction

On November 3, 2021, Kyndryl was spun off from IBM and became a standalone publicly-traded company.

During 2021, IBM hired each of our named executive officers (our “NEOs,” as set forth under “�NEOs” below),
other than Mr. Sebold, for their roles with Kyndryl and agreed with Mr. Sebold, who was an employee of IBM, that he
would serve as our General Counsel and Secretary following the Spin-off. In doing so, IBM and the Executive
Compensation and Management Resources Committee of the IBM Board of Directors (the “IBM Compensation
Committee”), with a view toward ensuring we would have a first-class executive team in place at the time of the Spin-off,
reviewed peer group and other market data with its compensation consultant to determine the initial compensation
arrangements of each of the NEOs. See “�Executive Compensation Decision-Making and Oversight � Prior to the Spin-
off” below. For each NEO other than Mr. Sebold, initial compensation arrangements were set forth in an offer letter which
was assumed by Kyndryl following the Spin-off.
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This Compensation Discussion and Analysis and the corresponding compensation tables include information
regarding compensation decisions made by IBM and the IBM Compensation Committee with respect to the compensation
of Kyndryl’s NEOs prior to the Spin-off and by Kyndryl’s Compensation Committee after the Spin-off.

Since the Spin-off, Kyndryl’s Compensation Committee has been responsible for determining Kyndryl’s
compensation programs and policies for our executive officers and approving the compensation levels applicable to them.
In such capacity, following the Spin-off Kyndryl’s Compensation Committee:

● Approved Kyndryl’s compensation philosophy, which is described under “�Our Compensation Philosophy”
below;

● Engaged its independent compensation consultant, as described under “Executive Compensation Decision-
Making and Oversight� After the Spin-off� Role of Compensation Consultants” below, and, with the input of
such compensation consultant and management’s compensation consultant, developed groups of peer companies
to provide comparative executive compensation data as described under “�Executive Compensation Decision-
Making and Oversight� After the Spin-off� Use of Competitive Data” below;

● Developed and recommended an Executive Compensation Clawback Policy that was adopted by Kyndryl’s Board
and is described under “�Additional Compensation Information � Clawback Policy” below;

● Conducted a review and market check of each element of the initial total compensation arrangements of
Kyndryl’s NEOs determined by IBM as described above, and based on that review:

o Adopted the target total direct compensation and each component thereof as determined by IBM except
for adjustments to the annual long-term incentives of Mr. Keinan and Mr. Sebold as described under “�
Elements of Compensation and Compensation Decisions� Long-Term Incentives� After the Spin-off”;

o Determined to award a cash bonus for the partial year following the Spin-off as described under “�
Elements of Compensation and Compensation Decisions� Annual Cash Bonus� After the Spin-off”; and

o Determined to make one-time long-term, predominantly performance-based equity awards (the “Launch
Awards”) to certain executives, including our NEOs, expected to have the biggest impact on Kyndryl’s
future success as described under “�Elements of Compensation and Compensation Decisions� Long-
Term Equity Incentives� After the Spin-off� Launch Awards”; and

· Determined the structure of future long-term equity incentive awards, as described under “�Elements of
Compensation and Compensation Decisions� Long-Term Equity Incentives� Going Forward.”

NEOs

Kyndryl’s NEOs for fiscal year 2021 were the following five executive officers:

● Martin Schroeter, our Chief Executive Officer

● David Wyshner, our Chief Financial Officer

● Elly Keinan, our Group President

● Edward Sebold, our General Counsel and Secretary
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● Maryjo Charbonnier, our Chief Human Resources Officer

Our Compensation Philosophy

Our Compensation Committee bases its compensation decisions with respect to the compensation of our executive
officers on the following principles:

· Pay for performance – the majority of executive compensation opportunity is performance-based and tied to the
Company’s business results and individual performance;

· Align with stockholders – incentives are tied to both short-term and long-term performance goals to balance risk
while rewarding for delivering financial, operating and strategic performance aligned with the Company’s
business strategy and stockholder interests. Furthermore, select executives are required to retain shares earned
until minimum share ownership levels are achieved per our stock ownership guidelines (see “�Additional
Compensation Information � Stock Ownership Guidelines” below); and

· Pay competitively – total target compensation levels are competitive to attract and retain the best, diverse talent;
actual pay levels will vary based on performance results.

How our NEOs are Paid

Prior to the Spin-off

Prior to the Spin-off, to attract top talent to serve in our key executive roles, IBM provided the following primary
elements of compensation to our NEOs in 2021:

NEOs Payment Form
Performance and/or
Service Condition

Base Salary All Cash NA
Transaction Bonus All Cash ● Completion of Spin-off by December 31, 2021

● Active employment through completion of Spin-off
Long-Term Equity
Incentive

All Equity – Performance
Share Units

● Completion of Spin-off by January 1, 2023
● Acceptance of employment by us in current role

following the Spin-off
● Vesting in increments of 33% on the six-month, 33% on

the one-year and 34% on the two-year anniversary of the
Spin-off, subject to the NEO’s active employment on
each applicable vesting date

CFO
CHRO

Equity – Retention
Restricted Share Units
(make-whole award)

● Three years for CFO (vesting in three tranches on the
first three anniversaries of the grant date, subject to
active employment on each applicable vesting date, with
the majority eligible to vest on the third anniversary)

● Two years for CHRO (vesting on the second anniversary
of the grant date, subject to active employment on such
vesting date)

Other Compensation �
Sign-On Bonus

Group President
CHRO

Cash Subject to repayment if employment ends within:
● two years of hire date for Group President; or
● one year of hire date for CHRO

In addition, to provide competitive compensation at an actual cost to the Company lower than the perceived value
to the executives, IBM also provided the NEOs with benefits generally available to all employees and certain limited
perquisites. See “�Other Compensation” below.
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After the Spin-off

After the Spin-off, consistent with our compensation philosophy, our Compensation Committee adopted a
compensation program that combines annual and long-term components, cash and equity, and fixed and variable payments,
with a majority of executive compensation performance-based and tied to the Company’s business results and individual
performance.

2021

The table below presents the primary compensation elements our Compensation Committee determined to provide
to our NEOs in 2021 following the Spin-off, including a partial-year cash bonus (see “�Elements of Compensation and
Compensation Decisions �Annual Cash Bonus �After the Spin-off”) and the Launch Awards, which were special, one-time
long-term equity incentive awards (see “�Elements of Compensation and Compensation Decisions �Long-Term Equity
Incentives �After the Spin-off �Launch Awards”). While these elements were consistent with our Compensation
Committee’s compensation philosophy, they are specific to the unique launch period and not representative of our
executive compensation program going forward.

NEOs Payment Form
Performance and/or
Service Condition Compensation Objective

Base Salary All Cash NA ● Provide market-competitive, fixed
level of compensation

● Attract and retain the best,
diverse talent

Partial-year 2021
Bonus

All Cash NA ● Reward and retain key talent

Launch Awards
(special, one-time
awards)

All Equity – Launch
Performance
Share Units

(“Launch PSUs”)

● Increase in share price
over three-year
performance period

● Active employment
through December 31,
2024

● Tie compensation to business
performance and stock price
Attract and retain the best, diverse
talent
Align NEOs’ interests with that of
stockholders

All Equity – Stock
Options

● Vesting ratably over four
years, subject to
employment through each
applicable vesting date

● Tie compensation to business
performance and stock price

● Attract and retain the best, diverse
talent

● Align NEOs’ interests with that of
stockholders

All Equity – Restricted
Stock Units

● Vesting ratably over four
years, subject to
employment through each
applicable vesting date

● Attract and retain the best, diverse
talent

● Align NEOs’ interests with that of
stockholders

In addition, the Compensation Committee determined that it was appropriate to provide the NEOs with benefits
generally available to all employees and certain limited perquisites the Compensation Committee determined were
necessary to perform their duties efficiently and minimize distractions. See “�Other Compensation” below.
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Going forward

While the table above reflects certain one-time compensation decisions our Compensation Committee made in
connection with the Spin-off in 2021, the table below presents the primary compensation elements our Compensation
Committee intends to provide to the NEOs beginning in 2022.

NEOs Payment Form
Performance and/or
Service Condition Compensation Objective

Base Salary All Cash NA ● Provide market-competitive, fixed
level of compensation

● Attract and retain the best, diverse
talent

Annual Cash Bonus All Cash ● Compensation Committee
intends to annually
evaluate a broad range of
financial and non-financial
metrics

● Tie compensation to business
performance

● Attract and retain the best, diverse
talent

Long-Term Equity
Incentive
(expected award
mix)

All Equity –
Performance
Share Units

● Compensation Committee
intends to annually
evaluate a broad range of
financial and non-financial
metrics

● Tie compensation to business
performance

● Attract and retain the best, diverse
talent

● Align NEOs’ interests with that of
stockholders

All Equity – Restricted
Stock Units

● Time-based vesting ● Attract and retain the best, diverse
talent

● Align NEOs’ interests with that of
stockholders

In addition, our Compensation Committee determined that it is appropriate to provide the NEOs with benefits
generally available to all employees and certain limited perquisites as described above under “�2021.”
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Target Compensation Mix

Consistent with our compensation philosophy, the compensation of our NEOs is primarily long-term and
performance-based. The following pie charts show the annual compensation mix for our CEO and our other NEOs in 2021,
excluding the one-time compensation items approved by IBM prior to the Spin-off (cash sign-on bonuses and make-whole
retention restricted stock unit awards) and by our Compensation Committee following the Spin-off (Launch Awards and
partial-year 2021 bonus).

CEO 2021 Pay Mix (excluding one-time items) Average Other NEO Pay Mix (excluding one-time
items)
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Our Executive Compensation Practices

Our Compensation Committee plans to review the Company’s executive compensation program on an ongoing
basis to evaluate whether it supports the Compensation Committee’s executive compensation philosophies and objectives
and is aligned with stockholder interests. Our executive compensation practices include the following, each of which the
Compensation Committee believes reinforces our executive compensation objectives:

What We Do What We Don’t Do
☑ Significant percentage of target annual compensation
delivered in the form of variable compensation tied to
performance

⌧ We do not provide tax gross-ups*

☑ Long-term objectives aligned with the creation of
stockholder value

⌧ We do not provide “single-trigger” change in control
severance benefits

☑ Market comparison of executive compensation against a
relevant peer group

⌧ We do not provide excessive severance benefits

☑ Use of an independent compensation consultant reporting
directly to the Compensation Committee and providing no
other services to the Company

⌧ We do not provide “single-trigger” change in control
equity vesting

☑ Robust stock ownership guidelines ⌧ We do not allow hedging or pledging of Company shares
by our executive officers

☑ Clawback policy ⌧ We do not have an evergreen provision in our long-term
incentive plan

☑ Noncompetition and nonsolicitation agreements for senior
executives

⌧ We do not permit repricing of underwater stock options
without stockholder approval

☑ Limited perquisites ⌧ We do not have multi-year employment agreements
☑ One-year minimum vesting condition under our long-term
incentive plan

⌧ We do not have guaranteed bonus or equity payments

☑ Annual compensation risk review and assessment

* During the period prior to the Spin-off, pursuant to IBM’s compensation policies, the NEOs were entitled to tax gross-ups for perquisites provided to
them by IBM. We have not continued this policy following the Spin-off.

Executive Compensation Decision-Making and Oversight

Prior to the Spin-off

Because Kyndryl was an independent company for only a portion of the year, many of the decisions impacting
2021 compensation were made by IBM and were grounded in IBM’s compensation philosophies and policies.

Role of Management and the Compensation Committee of IBM

Kyndryl’s NEOs were employed by IBM prior to the Spin-off, but none of the NEOs were executive officers of
IBM at the time of the Spin-off. Prior to the Spin-off, IBM’s management and the IBM Compensation Committee
developed compensation packages, including base salaries, target incentives and annual equity grant values, for Kyndryl’s
NEOs in anticipation of their respective roles with Kyndryl following the Spin-off. The compensation packages were based
on a comprehensive market analysis of the anticipated roles and responsibilities with Kyndryl upon the Spin-off and were
approved prior to the Spin-off by the IBM Compensation Committee in accordance with IBM policies and practices.
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Role of Compensation Consultants to the Compensation Committee of IBM

Prior to the Spin-off, IBM engaged Semler Brossy Consulting Group, LLC and Equity Methods, LLC to provide
consulting services in connection with certain executive and director compensation matters related to the Spin-off. As
discussed above under “�Introduction � Executive Summary” and below under “�After the Spin-off � Role of
Compensation Consultants,” Kyndryl’s Compensation Committee and Nominating and Governance Committee conducted
a review of executive and director compensation decisions, respectively, with Kyndryl’s independent compensation
consultant, Frederic W. Cook & Co. (“FW Cook”).

Use of Competitive Data

In addition, in setting executive and director compensation, prior to the Spin-off, IBM reviewed data from the
following peer group, which is similar to the peer group approved by Kyndryl’s Compensation Committee (described
below under “�After the Spin-off� Use of Competitive Data”) and generally comprised of companies with one-third to
three times Kyndryl’s projected revenue and within similar industries:

Accenture plc DXC Technology Company Oracle Corporation
Automatic Data Processing, Inc. Fidelity National Information Services,

Inc.
Science Applications International
Corporation

Booz Allen Hamilton Holding
Corporation

Fiserv, Inc. Synnex Corporation

CACI International Inc. Hewlett Packard Enterprise Company Unisys Corporation
CDW Corporation Leidos Holdings, Inc. VMware, Inc.
Cognizant Technology Solutions
Corporation

NetApp, Inc.

After the Spin-off

Role of our Compensation Committee and Management.

In connection with the Spin-off, our Board of Directors established our Compensation Committee and delegated
to it the responsibility of making executive compensation decisions. Accordingly, since the Spin-off, our Compensation
Committee has determined the compensation of our Chief Executive Officer and each of our other executive officers. In
setting the compensation of our other executive officers, going forward the Compensation Committee expects to take into
account our Chief Executive Officer’s review of each executive officer’s performance and his recommendations with
respect to his or her compensation. The Chief Executive Officer does not participate in the determination of his own
compensation.

Role of Compensation Consultants

In connection with the Spin-off, our Compensation Committee engaged FW Cook to serve as the Compensation
Committee’s independent compensation consultant. FW Cook and its affiliates do not provide any services to the Company
or any of the Company’s affiliates other than advising the Compensation Committee on executive compensation and the
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee on director compensation. With respect to executive compensation, as
requested by the Compensation Committee, FW Cook advises the Compensation Committee on general marketplace trends
in executive compensation, makes proposals for executive compensation programs, assists in the development of a group
of peer companies for inclusion in competitive market analyses of compensation and otherwise advises the Compensation
Committee with regard to the compensation of our Chief Executive Officer and other executives. In addition, in 2021, FW
Cook provided input to the Nominating and Governance Committee for its review of director compensation, which
compensation is discussed under “Director Compensation.”

In order to give the Compensation Committee time to complete the evaluation process that led to the engagement
of FW Cook as the Compensation Committee’s independent compensation consultant without delaying the
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compilation of market data for the Compensation Committee’s review of executive compensation, management separately
engaged Mercer LLC (“Mercer”) to provide market data with respect to our executive officers, as described under “—Use
of Competitive Data.” While Mercer acted as management’s compensation consultant and assisted management in
formulating its compensation recommendations for our executive officers, the Compensation Committee separately
engaged FW Cook as its independent compensation consultant, as noted above, to provide it with independent advice and
to avoid any conflicts of interest. The Compensation Committee has assessed the independence of FW Cook pursuant to
the applicable rules and determined that its engagement does not raise any conflict of interest.

Use of Competitive Data

Our Compensation Committee believes it is important to clearly understand the relevant market for executive
talent to inform its decision-making and ensure that our compensation program for executive officers attracts and retains
key talent. Following the Spin-off and in preparation for the Compensation Committee’s post-Spin-off review of the
compensation of our NEOs, management worked with Mercer to develop a peer group for purposes of assessing
competitive compensation practices. This peer group was then reviewed by FW Cook and refined by our Compensation
Committee to arrive at the peer group below (the “Peer Group”).

Accenture plc Cognizant Technology Solutions
Corporation

Leidos Holdings, Inc.

Aon plc DXC Technology Company Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc.
Automatic Data Processing, Inc. Fidelity National Information Services,

Inc.
salesforce.com, inc.

Booz Allen Hamilton Holding
Corporation

Fiserv, Inc. Science Applications International
Corporation

Cisco Systems, Inc. Hewlett Packard Enterprise Company VMware, Inc.

The Compensation Committee selected the Peer Group companies based on several important criteria:

● the similarity of their industry classification to Kyndryl’s classification;

● the extent to which they compete with Kyndryl for executive talent and for investors; and

● general comparability of key size measures, primarily revenue and market capitalization.

At the time the Peer Group was approved, the Company’s revenue was approximately at the 75th percentile of the
Peer Group. The Compensation Committee reviews the composition of our peer group annually to ensure that the
companies constituting the peer group continue to provide meaningful and relevant compensation comparisons.

Our Compensation Committee reviewed a report prepared by Mercer for management that included a comparison
of our NEOs’ compensation information to comparable roles within the Peer Group as part of their review of the
compensation of our NEOs after the Spin-off. Our Compensation Committee does not rely solely on data from the Peer
Group in establishing the compensation for our executive officers. Furthermore, our Compensation Committee does not
target a specific competitive position versus the market in determining the compensation of our executive officers. While
our Compensation Committee considers the data from the Peer Group helpful in assessing our competitive position, our
Compensation Committee refers to other resources, including published compensation data from other surveys. The
compensation data of the Peer Group and such other resources are considered alongside the Company’s pay-for-
performance and long-term value creation objectives in determining the compensation for our executive officers that best
aligns management’s interest with those of our stockholders.

In 2021, in addition to data from the Peer Group set forth above, the Compensation Committee reviewed data
from similarly-situated spun-off companies (the “Spin-off Peers”) provided by Mercer when making its determinations
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with respect to the Launch Awards, as described above under “�Elements of Compensation�Long-Term Equity Incentives
�After the Spin-off�Launch Awards.” The Spin-off Peers include:

Dow Inc. Hewlett Packard Enterprise Co. Paypal Holdings, Inc.
Carrier Global Corp. Corteva, Inc. FOX Corp.
Otis Worldwide Corp. Adient plc Alcoa Corp.
Brighthouse Financial, Inc. Yum China Holdings, Inc. Science Applications International Corp.
Arconic Corp. Resideo Technologies, Inc. Fortive Corp.

Elements of Compensation and Compensation Decisions

Base Salaries

Link to Compensation Philosophy

Base salary is intended to provide a market-competitive, fixed level of compensation and attract and retain the best,
diverse talent. Base salaries are expected to be reviewed annually, and the Compensation Committee may adjust
individual base salaries from time to time to recognize outstanding performance, changes in duties or roles with the
Company, and/or changes in overall labor market dynamics.

Following the Spin-off, our Compensation Committee, with the input of FW Cook, conducted a review of the
compensation of our NEOs, including a review of market data provided to management by Mercer. Based on such review,
our Compensation Committee determined to make no change to the annual base salaries of our NEOs. The table below sets
forth the annual base salaries determined for our NEOs by IBM prior to the Spin-off, as well as their annual base salaries
following our Compensation Committee’s compensation review.

Annual Base Salary Prior to Annual Base Salary as of
Name     the Spin-off     December 31, 2021
Martin Schroeter  $  1,000,000  $  1,000,000
David Wyshner   780,000   780,000
Elly Keinan   800,000   800,000
Edward Sebold   666,667   666,667
Maryjo Charbonnier   615,000   615,000

Annual Cash Bonus

Link to Compensation Philosophy

Annual cash bonus opportunities are intended to encourage NEOs, as well as other employees with management
responsibility, to focus on multiple performance objectives that are key to creating stockholder value by delivering
financial, operating and strategic performance that is aligned with our business strategy and stockholder interests.

The Compensation Committee annually evaluates a broad range of financial and non-financial metrics, including metrics
relating to the Company’s environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) strategies, each year to determine the
appropriate annual cash bonus award metrics.
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Prior to the Spin-off

Prior to the Spin-off, to motivate the NEOs as they worked toward the timely completion of the complex Spin-off
transaction, IBM provided the following cash incentive opportunities (the “Transaction Bonus” opportunities) for each of
the NEOs:

Transaction Bonus
Transaction Bonus Percentage of Base

Name     Amount     Salary
Martin Schroeter  $  2,000,000   200 %
David Wyshner   975,000   125 %
Elly Keinan   1,600,000   200 %
Edward Sebold   833,333   125 %
Maryjo Charbonnier   770,000   125 %

For each NEO other than Mr. Sebold, the payment of the Transaction Bonus was subject to the closing of the
Spin-off and his or her remaining actively employed through the closing of the Spin-off. Pursuant to the terms of his/her
respective offer letter, while the Spin-off was expected to occur prior to December 31, 2021, each of Messrs. Schroeter,
Wyshner and Keinan and Ms. Charbonnier could have received payment of the Transaction Bonus if the Spin-off was not
completed by such date if either:

● IBM’s Chief Executive Officer, in his sole discretion, decided to pay the bonus in full prior to February 1, 2022
(provided such NEO was an active employee on the payment date); or

● the Spin-off was not completed for reasons beyond the NEO’s reasonable control and his/her employment was
terminated by IBM without Cause (as defined under “�Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in
Control” below).

In addition, if prior to December 31, 2021, for strategic business reasons, IBM formally announced it would not
complete the Spin-off or if the Company was sold to another buyer, and IBM’s Chief Executive Officer determined that
such announcement or sale was not made as a result of the NEO’s performance in moving the Spin-off to closure, and, in
the case of Mr. Wyshner and Ms. Charbonnier, their performance was otherwise satisfactory, then such NEO would still be
eligible to receive the Transaction Bonus within one month after the later of (a) the announcement of IBM’s decision not to
complete the Spin-off or (b) the closing of the sale to another buyer, subject to the NEO’s continued employment through
such announcement or closing, as applicable.

Pursuant to the terms of Ms. Charbonnier’s offer letter, IBM, in its sole discretion, may have provided Ms.
Charbonnier with a partial payment of $200,000 if she was terminated without Cause prior to the closing of the Spin-off.

For Mr. Sebold, the payment of the Transaction Bonus was subject to the successful completion of the Spin-off by
December 31, 2021, and his remaining an active employee through such date. Had the Spin-off not been completed by
December 31, 2021, IBM’s Chief Executive Officer could have, in his discretion, decided to pay Mr. Sebold’s Transaction
Bonus in full or in part no later than February 1, 2022, so long as Mr. Sebold remained an active employee of IBM or
Kyndryl on such payment date.

Because the Spin-off was completed on November 3, 2021, the Transaction Bonuses were earned in full.

Following the successful completion of the Spin-off on November 3, 2021, IBM paid the Transaction Bonuses in
January 2022, and the amounts of the Transaction Bonus payouts are included in the “Non-Equity Incentive Plan
Compensation” column of the Summary Compensation Table.
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After the Spin-off

Following the Spin-off, in January 2022, the Compensation Committee determined to award a cash bonus (the
“Partial-Year 2021 Bonus”) to each of the NEOs for their performance in the fourth quarter of 2021 following the Spin-off
in the following amounts, which amounts represent 15% of their respective Transaction Bonus payments:

Partial-Year 2021 Bonus
Name     Amount
Martin Schroeter  $  300,000
David Wyshner   146,250
Elly Keinan   240,000
Edward Sebold   125,000
Maryjo Charbonnier   115,500

In determining to pay these bonus amounts, the Compensation Committee considered the fact that the Transaction
Bonus awards did not provide the NEOs any opportunity to earn any performance-based upside in 2021, nor were they
given the opportunity to participate in IBM incentive compensation programs that could have provided such an
opportunity. The Compensation Committee further considered the significant effort required to successfully complete the
Spin-off, the significant efforts required immediately following the Spin-off to establish standalone policies, processes,
strategies and operating practices, and the fact that the NEOs had been given no bonus opportunity for the portion of the
fourth quarter of 2021 following the Spin-off.

The Partial-Year 2021 Bonus amounts are expected to be paid to the NEOs in March 2022, and are included in the
“Bonus” column of the Summary Compensation Table.

Going Forward

In 2022, the Compensation Committee considered its approach to cash incentive compensation in light of the
Company’s decision to change its fiscal year-end from December 31 to March 31. The Compensation Committee intends to
award two cash bonus opportunities under the Kyndryl Annual Incentive Plan for Executives to the NEOs in calendar year
2022 to align with the three-month transition period and our new fiscal year, in a target amount equal to 200% of their
respective base salaries for Messrs. Schroeter and Keinan and 125% of their respective base salaries for Messrs. Wyshner
and Sebold and Ms. Charbonnier.

The NEOs’ target cash bonus opportunity for the three-month transition period is prorated to reflect the three-
month performance period (January 1, 2022, through March 31, 2022) and the payout, which is capped at 200% of target,
will be based on the Company’s achievement of financial goals, subject to adjustment upwards or downwards based on the
Company’s achievement of strategic goals.

The Compensation Committee plans to review and approve separate goals that align with the Company’s fiscal
2023 business and ESG objectives in connection with the bonus opportunity for the Company’s new fiscal year beginning
April 1, 2022 and ending March 31, 2023.
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Long-Term Equity Incentives

Link to Compensation Philosophy

Long-term equity incentive awards are intended to ensure that our NEOs have a continuing stake in our long-term
success, motivate them to achieve longer-term performance objectives linked to our business strategy, and tie their
compensation to stockholder value. We grant long-term equity incentive awards under the Kyndryl 2021 Long-Term
Performance Plan (the “LTPP”).

In determining the size and award mix of the annual long-term incentive opportunity, the Compensation Committee
intends to consider a number of factors, including competitive market data. The Compensation Committee currently
expects to award a mix of performance share units and time-vesting restricted stock units to NEOs as part of the annual
long-term incentive opportunity.

Once performance share unit awards have been granted, the number of shares that an NEO will receive on vesting, if any,
depends on the Company’s attainment of specific financial or strategic targets.

Finally, the Compensation Committee considers time-vesting restricted stock units an important tool to retain key talent
and ensure that executives have a continuing stake in our long-term success.

Prior to the Spin-off

Prior to the Spin-off, to attract and retain key executive leadership for Kyndryl and provide incentive to them to
timely complete the Spin-off, IBM granted equity awards to each of the NEOs. IBM granted each NEO a performance
share unit (“PSU”) award. In addition, IBM granted each of Mr. Wyshner and Ms. Charbonnier a sign-on retention
restricted share unit (“RRSU”) award to offset equity foregone when they left their prior employers. These awards were
made in the following amounts:

Fair Value(1) of RRSU Target Value(1) of PSU  Total Planned Value(1)

Name     Award     Award      of Equity Awards

Martin Schroeter  $ �  $  10,500,000
 
(2) $  10,500,000

David Wyshner   3,500,000   4,000,000   7,500,000

Elly Keinan  �   5,600,000
 
(2)  5,600,000

Edward Sebold  �   1,000,000   1,000,000
Maryjo Charbonnier   700,000   1,000,000   1,700,000

(1) RRSU and PSU grant values reflect the fair or target value of the grant. In the case of the fair or target grant value, the number of shares granted was
determined by dividing the fair or target value by the average of IBM’s closing stock price for the 30 active trading days prior to the date of grant.

(2) If, as of the closing of the Spin-off, the fair market value of the IBM shares underlying Mr. Schroeter’s or Mr. Keinan’s target PSU award (“IBM
PSU Share Value”) had been less than the target value of the PSU award by $50,000 or more, then immediately after the closing of the Spin-off,
provided that the applicable performance criteria had been met or excused, such executive officer would have been entitled to receive a Restricted
Share Unit (“RSU”) award with respect to the number of shares of our common stock with a value on the date of grant equal to the difference
between the target value of his PSU award and the IBM PSU Share Value. Because the IBM PSU Share Value exceeded the target value of their
PSU awards as of the closing of the Spin-off, no RSU awards were issued to Messrs. Schroeter and Keinan.

Performance Share Units (“PSUs”). To tie Kyndryl’s NEOs’ interests to that of IBM’s stockholders by providing
an incentive to Kyndryl’s NEOs to work toward timely completion of the Spin-off and remain with Kyndryl following the
Spin-off, for each of the NEOs, the PSU award would become eligible to vest if (a) the Spin-off was completed as
envisioned by January 1, 2023, and (b) immediately following the completion of the Spin-off such NEO accepted
employment with Kyndryl in their current roles.

Once the performance criteria were achieved upon completion of the Spin-off and the NEOs’ acceptance of
employment with Kyndryl in their current roles, the NEOs’ PSU awards became eligible to vest with respect to 33% of the
PSUs on the six-month anniversary of the Spin-off closing date (i.e. May 3, 2022), 33% on the first anniversary of
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the Spin-off closing date (i.e. November 3, 2022) and 34% on the second anniversary of the Spin-off closing date (i.e.,
November 3, 2023), in each case subject to continued employment on each such date (except as provided below).

In addition, in the case of the NEOs other than Mr. Sebold, if for strategic business reasons, IBM had formally
announced it would not complete the Spin-off or if Kyndryl were sold to another buyer, and IBM’s Chief Executive Officer
determined that such announcement or sale was not made as a result of such NEO’s performance in progressing the Spin-
off to such closure, then such NEO’s PSUs would have been eligible to vest on the six-month, first and second
anniversaries of (i) the announcement not to complete the Spin-off or (ii) the closing of the sale to another buyer (and, in
the case of a sale, (x) if the NEO (other than Mr. Schroeter) was not selected to serve in their current role or a substantially
comparable role and (y) in the case of Mr. Schroeter, if he was selected to become our Chief Executive Officer but declined
the offer), as applicable.

For information regarding the treatment of the PSUs granted to each NEO other than Mr. Sebold in the event of
certain qualifying terminations, see the description of such awards in their respective offer letters under “Narrative
Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan Based Awards in 2021 Table.”

The PSUs were converted to Kyndryl RSUs in connection with the Spin-off as described below under “�
Treatment of Outstanding IBM Equity Awards in connection with the Spin-off.” For information regarding the vesting of
the Kyndryl RSUs upon certain qualifying terminations, see “Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control”
below.

RRSUs. The RRSUs are time-vesting awards. Mr. Wyshner’s sign-on RRSU award was granted on October 1,
2021 and will vest as to 7% of the RRSUs on the first anniversary of the grant date, 7% of the RRSUs on the second
anniversary of the grant date and 86% of the RRSUs on the third anniversary of the grant date, subject to his continued
employment through each applicable vesting date.

Ms. Charbonnier’s sign-on RRSU award was granted on August 2, 2021, and will vest on the second anniversary
of the grant date, subject to her continued employment through such date.

The RRSUs were converted to Kyndryl RSUs in connection with the Spin-off as described below under “�
Treatment of Outstanding IBM Equity Awards in connection with the Spin-off.” For information regarding the vesting of
the converted RRSUs upon certain qualifying terminations, see “Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in
Control” below.

Treatment of Outstanding IBM Equity Awards in connection with the Spin-off

In connection with the Spin-off, each outstanding IBM equity award held by a Kyndryl employee was converted
into a Kyndryl equity award by multiplying the number of shares of IBM common stock to which such equity award
related by a quotient obtained by dividing (a) the closing price of IBM common stock on the last trading day prior to the
Spin-off ($127.13) by (b) the opening price of Kyndryl common stock on the first trading day following the Spin-off
($28.41), carried out to six decimal places (4.474833, such quotient, the “equity award exchange ratio”).
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The following table provides additional information regarding the adjustments that were made to each type of
outstanding IBM equity award held by Kyndryl’s NEOs.

Type of IBM Equity Award Adjustment for Kyndryl Employees (Including our NEOs)
RSUs IBM RSUs were converted according to the formula above into RSUs relating to

Kyndryl common stock with the same terms and conditions (including the vesting
schedule)

PSUs IBM PSUs were converted according to the formula above into RSUs relating to
Kyndryl common stock subject solely to time-based vesting conditions and otherwise
subject to the same terms and conditions (including vesting schedule, but not any
performance conditions), assuming actual achievement of the relevant performance
goals as of the Spin-off as determined by the IBM Compensation Committee

Under applicable accounting guidance, the conversion of certain IBM equity awards held by Mr. Sebold at the
time of the Spin-off resulted in a grant modification that caused incremental compensation expense determined by
comparing the aggregate fair value of the outstanding awards immediately before and after the modification. The aggregate
incremental compensation expense resulting from the conversion is included in the “Stock Awards” column of the
Summary Compensation Table and in the Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2021 table.

After the Spin-off

Following the Spin-off, as part of the review of the compensation of our NEOs undertaken by the Compensation
Committee and described under “�Base Salaries” above, our Compensation Committee reviewed the target long-term
equity incentives of each of the NEOs, including in comparison to market data. Following such review, in light of market
data for executive officers in Mr. Sebold’s role and in recognition of Mr. Keinan’s significant role with Kyndryl and his
prior experience and performance at IBM, the Compensation Committee determined to increase the target long-term equity
incentives (“LTI”) for Mr. Keinan and Mr. Sebold as follows:

Old Target LTI New Target LTI  
(% of Total Target (% of Total Target  

Name     Old Target LTI     Compensation)     New Target LTI     Compensation)  
Elly Keinan  $  5,600,000   70 %  $  7,600,000   76 %
Edward Sebold   1,000,000   40 %   1,500,000   50 %

As demonstrated in the table above, this change to their target long-term incentives had the effect of increasing the
weight of Mr. Keinan’s and Mr. Sebold’s long-term equity compensation relative to their total compensation, consistent
with our compensation philosophy of aligning the interests of our executive officers with those of our stockholders.

Launch Awards. In November 2021, the Compensation Committee reviewed data regarding the equity
compensation practices of the Spin-off Peers set forth under “�Executive Compensation Decision-Making and Oversight�
After the Spin-Off� Use of Competitive Data” above. These companies were, with one exception, spun off from their
parent companies since 2015, had revenue of at least $4.5 billion and had disclosed compensation for the fiscal year of
their Spin-off. Following such review, in December 2021, based in part on consideration of the recommendation of FW
Cook, the Compensation Committee granted long-term equity incentive awards pursuant to the LTPP to certain executives
expected to have the greatest impact on our future success, including the NEOs.

In recognition of the scale and complexity of the Spin-off, and in order to ensure retention of key talent and
further align the interests of Kyndryl’s executives with that of Kyndryl’s stockholders, the Compensation Committee
determined that the total target Launch Award amounts would be equal to 1.2 times an executive’s target long-term
incentive opportunity (excluding the sign-on RRSU awards to Mr. Wyshner and Ms. Charbonnier).
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The Launch Awards were composed of an approximately equally-weighted mix of RSUs, stock options and
Launch PSUs.

Launch Awards Mix
RSUs (33.4%) Options (33.3%) Launch PSUs (33.3%)

Time Vesting (66.7%) Performance Vesting (33.3%)
Performance Based (66.6%)

The Compensation Committee chose to closely tie the value that can be realized by the NEOs and other Launch
Award recipients to the creation of stockholder value by granting approximately one-third of the total Launch Award
amount in the form of stock options (which only have value to the extent our stock price increases from the date of grant)
and approximately one-third of the total Launch Award amount in the form of PSUs that vest based on the increase in the
value of our common stock, as described in more detail below. In each case, our NEOs will only be able to realize value in
these awards if our investors realize an increase in the value of their Kyndryl stock. The Compensation Committee
determined to balance the goal of aligning the interests of the Launch Award recipients with that of stockholders with the
goal of retaining these executives by granting approximately one-third of the total Launch Award amount in the form of
time-vesting RSUs.

The table below sets forth the total target value of the Launch Awards as well as the fair market value on the grant
date of the RSUs and the stock options and the target value of the PSUs, assuming that the target level of performance is
achieved.

Target Launch Stock Option Total Target
Name     RSU Value(1)     PSU Value(2)     Value(3)     Value
Martin Schroeter  $  4,208,400  $  4,195,800  $  4,195,800  $  12,600,000
David Wyshner   1,603,200   1,598,400   1,598,400   4,800,000
Elly Keinan   3,046,080   3,036,960   3,036,960   9,120,000
Edward Sebold   601,200   599,400   599,400   1,800,000
Maryjo Charbonnier   400,800   399,600   399,600   1,200,000

(1) The number of RSUs our NEOs received was determined by dividing the values in the table above by the closing price of our common stock on the
New York Stock Exchange on the day prior to the grant date ($17.78).

(2) The target number of Launch PSUs our NEOs received was determined by dividing the values in the table above by the product of the closing price
of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the day prior to the grant date and a Monte Carlo valuation percentage.

(3) The number of stock options our NEOs received was determined by dividing the values in the table above by the product of the closing price of our
common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the day prior to the grant date and a Black-Scholes valuation percentage.

RSUs. The RSUs vest in four equal annual installments beginning on the anniversary of the grant date, subject to
the NEO’s continued employment with the Company through each applicable vesting date.

Stock Options. The stock options have an exercise price of $17.78 and vest in four equal annual installments
beginning on the anniversary of the grant date, subject to the NEO’s continued employment with the Company through
each applicable vesting date.
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Launch PSUs. The Launch PSUs vest based on the increase in the Company’s share price from the “Initial Share
Price” of $19.338, which represents the average closing share price of the Company’s common stock on the New York
Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) from November 4, 2021 (the initial day of regular way trading), through December 3, 2021,
during the performance period beginning on December 16, 2021, and ending on December 15, 2024 (the “Performance
Period”).

The actual number of Launch PSUs that become vested is based on the highest multiple of the Initial Share Price
set out in the tiers below which is maintained for at least 90 consecutive calendar days during the Performance Period.

Multiple of Initial Share Performance Vesting  
    Price     Share Price Target     Level  

Tier 1  1.25x  $  24.17   50 %
Tier 2  1.50x   29.01   100 %
Tier 3  1.75x   33.84   150 %
Tier 4  2.00x   38.68   200 %

In the event of actual performance that falls between the tiers set forth above, the number of Launch PSUs that
vest will be based on the vesting level of the tier actually achieved (i.e., the tier below the performance achieved). In the
event of performance that falls below Tier 1, no Launch PSUs will vest. Following the last day of the Performance Period,
the Compensation Committee will calculate the payout and the Launch PSUs determined to be earned, if any, will vest on
December 31, 2024, subject to the NEO’s continued employment through such date. As of December 31, 2021, our
performance was below Tier 1. For our NEOs to earn any vesting of their Launch PSUs, we would have to achieve an
approximately 33% increase in our stock price from the closing price of our common stock on the New York Stock
Exchange on December 31, 2021, and maintain such increased stock price for at least 90 consecutive calendar days.

For information about the treatment of the Launch Awards in the event of certain terminations or a change in
control, see “Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control” below.

Going Forward

Beginning in 2022, the Compensation Committee intends to make annual long-term equity incentive awards under
the LTPP in the form of PSUs and RSUs. The Compensation Committee intends to balance its goals of tying our NEOs’
compensation to achievement of business objectives and attracting and retaining the best, diverse talent by awarding 65%
of the total target award opportunity in the form of PSUs and 35% of the total target award opportunity in the form of time-
vesting RSUs for each of our executive officers.

Target LTI Mix

PSUs     RSUs  
65% 35%

Other Compensation

Sign-On Bonuses

In recognition of their expected contributions to the Company and to recognize the compensation they forfeited by
separating from their prior employers to join the Company, the IBM Compensation Committee awarded each of Mr.
Keinan and Ms. Charbonnier a cash sign-on bonus.

Mr. Keinan’s $2,000,000 sign-on bonus must be repaid if his employment with us ends within two years after his
IBM hire date, except in the event he is terminated without Cause.
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Ms. Charbonnier’s $875,000 sign-on bonus must be repaid if her employment with us ends within one year after
her IBM hire date, except in the event she is terminated without Cause.

Mr. Keinan or Ms. Charbonnier, as applicable, would not have been required to repay the sign-on bonus in the
event of a termination of employment from IBM and us in certain situations where the Spin-off was not completed or we
were purchased by another buyer, or in the event such termination was without Cause.

The sign-on bonuses are included in the “Bonus” column of the Summary Compensation Table.

Executive Severance and Retirement Plan

In December 2021 the Compensation Committee reviewed market data with respect to the prevalence and design
of executive severance plans. In addition to the market data, the Compensation Committee considered the Company’s
desire not to engage in case-by-case negotiations with respect to executive departures, the importance of having a
severance plan to the Company’s ability to attract and retain talented executives, that being covered under the terms of a
severance plan would allow executives to focus on their duties and provide them security in the event of proposed
extraordinary transactions, and the recommendation of FW Cook. Based on such review and considerations, the
Compensation Committee adopted the Kyndryl Executive Severance and Retirement Plan (the “Severance Plan”), which is
described in detail under “Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control” below. Each of the NEOs is entitled
to benefits under the Severance Plan, as set forth under “Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control.”

Limited Perquisites

In November 2021, our Compensation Committee approved the provision of limited perquisites not generally
available to all employees for our NEOs. The Compensation Committee determined that the perquisites set forth in the
table below are necessary to enable the NEOs to perform their duties efficiently and to minimize distractions, and that the
benefits the Company receives from providing these perquisites significantly outweighs the cost of providing them.

Benefit CEO Other NEOs Description and Business Rationale
Executive Wellbeing Program

X X
Executive health exams are offered to encourage senior leaders
of the Company to set an example by living healthfully and
actively.

Executive Financial Wellness
Programs X X

Financial planning and tax preparation services are offered to
allow our NEOs to focus more fully on their service to the
Company without the distraction of sometimes complex tax
compliance and financial planning.

Personal Use of Aircraft

X

We permit Mr. Schroeter, but do not permit any of the other
NEOs, to fly on a Company-provided aircraft for personal
travel in an amount limited to an aggregate incremental cost to
the Company of $200,000 per calendar year. We provide this
benefit to Mr. Schroeter so he can use his travel time more
productively for the Company, for security purposes and to
ensure that he can be immediately available to respond to
business priorities.

Company Car and Driver

X Group
President

A Company car and driver are provided when necessary for
security and/or productivity reasons. Messrs. Schroeter and
Keinan (and their families) are provided use of a Company car
and driver. No other NEO is provided with a Company car or
driver.
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It is our policy not to provide tax gross-ups for the perquisites we provide to our NEOs. The incremental cost to
the Company to provide these limited perquisites is included in the “All Other Compensation” column of the Summary
Compensation Table.

Other Benefits

Our executives, including our NEOs, are eligible to participate in the following broad-based employee benefit
plans, which are generally available to all U.S. salaried employees and do not discriminate in scope in favor of our NEOs:

● Group medical insurance ● Group AD&D insurance ● Flexible spending accounts
● Group dental insurance ● Group life insurance ● Kyndryl 401(k) Plan
● Group vision insurance

Excess Plan. In addition, in connection with the Spin-off, we adopted the Kyndryl Excess Plan (the “Kyndryl
Excess Plan”), a nonqualified deferred compensation plan that, starting in 2022, offers eligible employees, including the
NEOs, an opportunity to defer up to 80% of their eligible compensation (including base and performance pay, but not any
non-recurring compensation) in excess of the limits imposed by the Code, under the Kyndryl 401(k) Plan. For eligible
employees that transferred from IBM, including Messrs. Schroeter, Keinan and Sebold and Ms. Charbonnier, we will make
an annual contribution to the Excess Plan equal to 6% of the eligible pay in excess of the limits under the Code, but will
not make any contributions to the Kyndryl Excess Plan for new hires. With respect to participants in IBM’s excess plan
who became participants in the Kyndryl Excess Plan in 2021, including Messrs. Schroeter, Keinan and Sebold, the
applicable deferral elections and automatic and matching contributions that would have applied under IBM’s excess plan
for the remainder of 2021 will instead apply to the Kyndryl Excess Plan. Distributions are made following death (in a lump
sum) or following a separation from service (in a lump sum or installments, based on the employee’s distribution election),
subject to certain exceptions for compliance with Section 409A of the Code. For additional information about the Kyndryl
Excess Plan, as well as IBM’s excess plan (in which Messrs. Schroeter, Keinan and Sebold participated in 2021), see
“Nonqualified Deferred Compensation for 2021.”

Additional Compensation Information

Employment Agreements

We generally do not enter into employment agreements with our executives. In connection with the Spin-off, we
assumed the offer letters each of Messrs. Schroeter, Wyshner and Keinan and Ms. Charbonnier had with IBM, which set
forth their initial compensation, as described in this Compensation Discussion and Analysis. The terms of the offer letters
are described under “Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2021
Table.”

Noncompetition and Nonsolicitation Agreements

Certain of our executives, including the NEOs, have signed noncompetition and nonsolicitation agreements. The
agreements contain a noncompetition covenant that applies during the executive’s employment and for twelve months
following termination of employment (except in the case where such termination is a direct result of a resource action or
similar restructuring action and not for Cause) and a nonsolicitation covenant that applies during the executive’s
employment and for two years following termination of employment.

Clawback Policy

To protect Company and stockholder interests in the case of an event that causes significant damage to the
Company and deter inappropriate actions or decisions by our executives, we maintain an Executive Compensation
Clawback Policy (the “Clawback Policy”) applicable to the NEOs and certain other senior executives of the Company
(each, a “covered individual”). Under the Clawback Policy:
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● in the event of a restatement of the Company’s financial statements (other than a restatement caused by a change
in applicable accounting rules or interpretations), the Compensation Committee may, in its sole discretion, recoup
incentive compensation paid to a covered individual during the three-year period preceding the announcement of
the restatement that would not have been paid based upon the restated results; and

● in the event a covered individual engages directly or indirectly in, or contributes to, fraudulent or other wrongful
conduct by action or omission, which causes material harm to the finances, business, reputation, condition, assets
or results of operations of the Company, the Committee may, in its sole discretion, recoup incentive compensation
paid to such covered individual at any time since the act of misconduct.

In addition, under the terms of the LTPP, our Compensation Committee may:

● cancel, rescind, suspend, withhold or otherwise limit any outstanding awards held by any plan participant if the
participant engages in “Detrimental Activity” (as defined in the LTPP) or is otherwise not in compliance with the
terms of the applicable award agreement or the LTPP; and

● during the two-year period following any exercise, payment or delivery of an award, rescind such exercise,
payment or delivery if the participant engages in Detrimental Activity during the rescission period established by
the Compensation Committee (which rescission period shall not be less than six months after any exercise,
payment or delivery pursuant to an Award).

Stock Ownership Guidelines

To further align management and stockholder interests and discourage inappropriate or excessive risk-taking, our
stock ownership guidelines require each of our NEOs, certain other executives and non-employee directors to obtain a
substantial equity stake in our common stock within five years of first becoming subject to the guidelines. The multiples of
base salary required by the guidelines for our NEOs, other executives subject to the stock ownership guidelines and non-
employee directors are as follows:

● CEO: six times base salary

● NEOs (other than CEO): three times base salary

● Next layers of management, generally encompassing our top 100 non-NEO executives: two times base salary
or 100% of base salary, depending on level within organization

● Non-employee directors: five times annual cash retainer

Executives subject to our stock ownership guidelines, including our NEOs, and our non-employee directors are
required to retain 100% of any Company stock received as part of their compensation, net of any amounts required to pay
taxes and exercise prices, until the stock ownership guidelines are achieved. For purposes of determining compliance with
the stock ownership guidelines, the following are included:

● Shares held directly by the covered person

● Shares held by members of the covered person’s household

● Deferred stock units, so long as not forfeitable

● Unvested restricted stock or RSU awards

Unexercised stock options and unvested PSUs are excluded for purposes of determining compliance with the
stock ownership guidelines.
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Once a person subject to the stock ownership guidelines has acquired a number of shares that satisfies the
ownership multiple then applicable to him or her, such number of shares then becomes his or her minimum ownership
requirement (even if the fair market value of such shares subsequently changes) unless and until his or her ownership target
increases due to an increase in base salary or annual retainer or such individual sells any such holdings. In the event of an
increase in base salary or annual retainer, a covered individual is expected to meet the applicable ownership target within
the later of the original five-year deadline or three years following such increase. Each of our NEOs and non-employee
directors was in compliance with the stock ownership guidelines as of December 31, 2021, having acquired the required
number of shares or having more time to do so.

Hedging and Pledging of Company Stock

Pursuant to our Securities Trading Policy, directors and officers who are subject to Section 16 under the Exchange
Act (“Section 16 officers”), as well as their spouses, minor children, anyone living in their household, and any of their
family members who do not live in their household but whose transactions in Kyndryl securities are directed by them or are
subject to their influence or control, partnerships in which they are a general partner, trusts of which they are a trustee,
estates of which they are an executor and other entities that they control (collectively, their “Related Parties”) are
prohibited from engaging in hedging or monetization transactions with respect to the Company’s securities, such as short-
sales, prepaid variable forward contracts, equity swaps, collars and exchange funds and other transactions that hedge or
offset, or are designed to hedge or offset, any decrease in the market value of Kyndryl securities.

Pursuant to our Securities Trading Policy, directors and officers who are subject to Section 16 under the Exchange
Act and their Related Parties are also prohibited from pledging Kyndryl securities at any time, which includes having
Kyndryl securities in a margin account or using Kyndryl securities as collateral for a loan.

Risk Management and Mitigation of Compensation Policies and Practices

The Compensation Committee has reviewed our executive and non-executive compensation programs, discussed
the concept of risk as it relates to our compensation programs, considered various mitigating factors, and reviewed these
items with its independent compensation consultant, FW Cook. In addition, our Compensation Committee asked FW Cook
to conduct an independent risk assessment of our compensation programs. In particular, the Compensation Committee
considered that there is appropriate balance in the Company’s compensation mix, that policies are in place to mitigate
compensation-related risk and that Compensation Committee oversight extends below the executive level. Based on these
reviews and discussions, the Compensation Committee does not believe our compensation program creates risks that are
reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our business. In particular, the Compensation Committee considered:
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Attribute Risk-Mitigating Effect
Emphasis on long-term, equity-based compensation at the
executive level

Discourages risk-taking that produces short-term results at
the expense of building long-term stockholder value

Stock options and RSUs vest over four years and PSUs are
subject to a three-year performance and vesting period; all
are subject to our Clawback Policy

Helps ensure our executives realize their compensation over
a time horizon consistent with achieving long-term
stockholder value

Number of shares that may be earned under our PSU awards
are capped

Reduces the possibility that extraordinary events or
formulaic payments could distort incentives or over-
emphasize short-term over long-term performance

Payments under our Annual Incentive Plan awards are
capped

Reduces the possibility that extraordinary events or
formulaic payments could distort incentives

Robust stock ownership guidelines Helps ensure our executives’ economic interests are aligned
with the long-term interests of our stockholders

Prohibition on hedging transactions by Section 16 officers
and their Related Parties

Helps ensure the alignment of interests generated by our
executive officers’ equity holdings is not undermined by
hedging or similar transactions

Clawback Policy Deters inappropriate actions or decisions by our executives
by reducing the potential financial gain to be realized as a
result of such actions or decisions

Use of an independent compensation consultant that
performs no other services for the Company

Helps ensure advice will not be influenced by conflicts of
interest

For the foregoing reasons, the Compensation Committee has concluded that the programs by which our executives
are compensated strike an appropriate balance between short-term and long-term compensation and incentivize our
executives to act in a manner that prudently manages enterprise risk.

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed the foregoing “Compensation Discussion and
Analysis” with management. Based upon this review and discussion, the Compensation Committee recommended to the
Board that the “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” be included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2021.

Submitted by the Compensation Committee of the Board:

Jana Schreuder, Chair
Janina Kugel
Howard I. Ungerleider
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Summary Compensation Table

The following table presents summary information regarding the total compensation awarded to, earned by, or
paid to each of our NEOs for their service in fiscal 2021. Prior to November 3, 2021, such amounts were paid by IBM.
Beginning November 3, 2021, such amounts were paid by us.

Change in
Pension Value

and Adjusted
Non-Equity Nonqualified Total

Incentive Deferred (Excluding
Name and Stock Option Plan Compensation All Other One-Time
Principal Salary Bonus Awards Awards Compensation Earnings Compensation Total Awards)

Position
  
Year

  
 ($)(1)

  
 ($)(2)

  
 ($)(3)

  
 ($)(4)

  
 ($)(5)

  
 ($)(6)

  
($)(7)

  
 ($)

  ($)(8)

Martin Schroeter  2021  962,122   300,000  18,849,141   4,198,987   2,000,000  �  66,912 26,377,162 13,062,081
Chief Executive
Officer              

David Wyshner  2021  242,273   146,250  11,089,084   1,599,619   975,000  �  � 14,052,225 5,340,225
Chief Financial
Officer              

Elly Keinan  2021  651,515   2,240,000  12,274,703   3,039,269   1,600,000  �  48,736 19,854,223 8,193,767
Group President              

Edward Sebold  2021  619,356   125,000  2,365,295   599,855   833,333  �  66,412 4,609,252 2,583,308
General
Counsel and
Secretary           

Maryjo Charbonnier 2021  300,511   990,500  2,536,373   399,908   770,000  �  11,019 5,008,311 2,079,594
Chief Human
Resources
Officer                         

(1) Amounts in this column reflect the salary earned during the fiscal year, whether paid or deferred under our Excess Plan.
(2) Amounts in this column reflect sign-on bonuses paid to Mr. Keinan and Ms. Charbonnier of $2,000,000 and $875,000, respectively, and the

Partial-Year 2021 Bonus amounts paid to each of the NEOs.
(3) Amounts in this column reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of stock awards granted to the NEOs during 2021, computed in accordance

with Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation (“Topic
718”) using the assumptions discussed under “Stock-Based Compensation” in Note 1 to the accompanying financial statements for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2021. The fiscal 2021 stock awards consist of the RRSUs and PSUs granted to the NEOs by IBM prior to the Spin-
off and the RSUs and Launch PSUs granted to the NEOs by us under the LTPP following the Spin-off. The terms of the 2021 stock awards are
summarized under “Compensation Discussion and Analysis— Elements of Compensation and Compensation Decisions� Long-Term Equity
Incentives.” Because they are subject solely to market conditions, the Launch PSUs have no maximum grant date fair values that differ from
the fair values presented in the table. In addition, amounts shown include $152,700 in incremental compensation expense resulting from the
conversion of IBM equity awards held by Mr. Sebold into Kyndryl equity awards. Pursuant to accounting guidance prescribed under Topic
718, the conversion resulted in a grant modification that caused incremental compensation expense determined by comparing the aggregate
fair value of the outstanding awards immediately before and after the modification.

(4) Amounts in this column reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of options granted to the NEOs during fiscal 2021, computed in accordance
with Topic 718 using the assumptions discussed under “Stock-Based Compensation” in Note 1 to the accompanying financial statements for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021. The fiscal 2021 option awards consist of the stock options granted to the NEOs by us under the
LTPP following the Spin-off. The terms of the fiscal 2021 option awards are summarized under “Compensation Discussion and Analysis—
Elements of Compensation and Compensation Decisions� Long-Term Equity Incentives.”

(5) Reflects the Transaction Bonuses earned by the NEOs. See “Compensation Discussion and Analysis— Elements of Compensation and
Compensation Decisions� Annual Cash Bonus.”

(6) We do not provide any of our executives with any above-market or preferential earnings on non-qualified deferred compensation.
(7) Amounts shown in this column include the following for 2021: for Messrs. Schroeter, Keinan and Sebold, 401(k) matching contributions by 

IBM of $8,061, $13,591 and $14,500, respectively and 401(k) automatic contributions by IBM of $2,900;  for Messrs. Schroeter, Keinan and 
Sebold and Ms. Charbonnier, 401(k) matching contributions by Kyndryl of $9,339, $3,809, $2,900 and $11,019, respectively; for Mr. Sebold, 
matching contributions by IBM to the IBM Excess Plan of $20,371; for Messrs. Schroeter, Keinan and Sebold, automatic contributions by 
IBM to the IBM Excess Plan of $8,636, $2,282 and $4,074, respectively; for Mr. Sebold, matching contributions by us to the Kyndryl Excess 
Plan of $5,556;  for Messrs. Schroeter, Keinan and Sebold, automatic contributions by us to the Kyndryl Excess Plan of $1,667, $1,333 and 
$1,111, respectively; and, for each of the NEOs, life insurance premiums paid by the Company. 

Amounts shown in this column also include the following perquisites for 2021: For Mr. Schroeter, personal financial planning,
ground transportation, personal use of aircraft and participation in an IBM company-sponsored event; for Mr. Keinan, personal financial
planning and ground transportation; and for Mr. Sebold, personal financial planning.

The aggregate incremental cost to the Company of Mr. Schroeter’s personal use of company-provided aircraft reported above is
based on IBM’s actual invoiced amount from a third-party provider for the variable costs incurred on each trip. Since the aircraft is used
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primarily for business travel, this methodology excludes fixed costs that do not change based on usage, such as management fees. Mr.
Schroeter did not have any personal use of a Company-provided aircraft between the completion of the Spin-off and the end of 2021. Mr.
Schroeter’s personal travel on Company-provided aircraft is limited to an aggregate incremental cost to the Company not to exceed $200,000
per year. In addition to the above, on certain occasions, an executive’s spouse or other family member may accompany the executive on a
flight when such person is invited to attend the event for appropriate business purposes.

The aggregate incremental cost to IBM and the Company, as applicable, of Mr. Schroeter’s and Mr. Keinan’s personal use of
company-provided ground transportation is calculated, for use of a company-leased car and company driver, by multiplying the variable rate
by the applicable driving time. The variable rate includes a driver’s salary and overtime payments, plus a cost per mile calculation based on
fuel and maintenance expense. For use of an authorized car service, the incremental cost is the full cost to the company for such service.

(8) To supplement the SEC-required disclosure in the Summary Compensation Table, we have included this additional column, “Adjusted Total
(Excluding One-Time Awards),” to the right of the Summary Compensation Table. The additional column, “Adjusted Total (Excluding One-
Time Awards),” reflects the “Total” excluding the following one-time awards and compensation items: for Mr. Schroeter, his Partial-Year 2021
Bonus and his Launch Awards; for Mr. Wyshner, his Partial-Year 2021 Bonus, the make-whole RRSU award granted to him by IBM and his
Launch Awards; for Mr. Keinan, his sign-on bonus, his Partial-Year 2021 Bonus and his Launch Awards; for Mr. Sebold, his Partial-Year 2021
Bonus, his Launch Awards and the incremental fair value in connection with the conversion of his IBM equity awards; and for Ms.
Charbonnier, her sign-on bonus, her Partial-Year 2021 Bonus, the make-whole RRSU award granted to her by IBM and her Launch Awards.
Sign-on bonus and Partial-Year 2021 Bonus amounts are set forth in the “Bonus” column of the Summary Compensation Table. The grant date
fair values of the make-whole RRSU awards and the Launch PSU, RSU and option awards comprising the Launch Awards, as well as the
aggregate incremental fair values in connection with the conversion of Mr. Sebold’s equity awards, are set forth in the “Grants of Plan-Based
Awards in 2021” table below. Amounts reported in the “Adjusted Total (Excluding One-Time Awards)” column differ substantially from the
amounts determined under SEC rules as reported in the “Total” column, and are not a substitute for “Total Compensation” as determined under
SEC rules.
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2021

The following table sets forth grants of plan-based awards to the NEOs during the fiscal year that ended
December 31, 2021, including equity and non-equity awards granted to our NEOs by IBM prior to the Spin-off. Equity
awards originally granted by IBM were converted to Kyndryl awards in connection with the Spin-off with vesting dates
consistent with the original awards from IBM and are presented on an as-converted basis.
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All
Other
Stock All Other Grant

Awards: Option Date
Number Awards: Exercise Fair

Estimated Possible Payouts Estimated Future Payouts of Number of or Base Value of
 Under Non-Equity Under Equity Shares Securities Price of Stock and

Incentive Plan Awards(1)  Incentive Plan Awards of Stock  Underlying Option Option
Threshold Target Maximum Threshold Target Maximum or Units Options Awards(5) Awards(6)

Name Grant Date Award Type ($) ($) ($) (#) (#) (#)  (#) (#) ($/Sh) ($)
Martin
Schroeter

Transaction
Bonus 2,000,000           

2/1/2021(2) IBM PSU     374,647     10,033,047
12/16/2021(3) Launch PSU 152,170 304,339 608,678   4,607,692
12/16/2021 Launch RSU         236,693 4,208,402

12/16/2021
Launch
Option         642,047 17.78 4,198,987

David
Wyshner

Transaction
Bonus 975,000           

10/1/2021(2) IBM PSU     129,775     4,122,952
10/1/2021(4) IBM RRSU         113,554 3,607,611
12/16/2021(3) Launch PSU 57,970 115,939 231,878   1,755,316
12/16/2021 Launch RSU         90,169 1,603,205

12/16/2021
Launch
Option         244,590 17.78 1,599,619

Elly Keinan
Transaction

Bonus 1,600,000           
4/1/2021(2) IBM PSU     198,168     5,893,516
12/16/2021(3) Launch PSU 110,142 220,284 440,568   3,335,100
12/16/2021 Launch RSU         171,321 3,046,087

12/16/2021
Launch
Option         464,720 17.78 3,039,269

Edward
Sebold

Transaction
Bonus 833,333           

5/3/2021(2) IBM PSU     32,917     1,064,207
12/16/2021(3) Launch PSU 21,739 43,477 86,954   658,242
12/16/2021 Launch RSU         33,814 601,213

12/16/2021
Launch
Option         91,721 17.78 599,855

11/3/2021(7)

Equity
Conversion –

IBM PSU 3,558 1,638

11/3/2021(7)

Equity
Conversion –

IBM PSU 4,708 9,053

11/3/2021(8)

Equity
Conversion –

IBM RSU 963 1,170

11/3/2021(8)

Equity
Conversion –

IBM RSU 2,659 5,134

11/3/2021(8)

Equity
Conversion –

IBM RSU 4,363 11,557
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11/3/2021(9)

Equity
Conversion –
IBM RRSU 4,936 13,082

Maryjo
Chabonnier

Transaction
Bonus 770,000           

8/2/2021(2) IBM PSU     31,445     998,064
8/2/2021(4) IBM RRSU         22,012 698,661
12/16/2021(3) Launch PSU 14,493 28,985 57,970 438,833
12/16/2021 Launch RSU         22,543 400,815

12/16/2021
Launch
Option         61,148 17.78 399,908

(1) Reflects the possible payout under the Transaction Bonus awarded to the NEO by IBM. The amount paid out is included in the “Non-Equity
Incentive Plan Compensation” column of the Summary Compensation Table.

(2) Reflects the PSU award granted to the NEO by IBM. The PSUs were converted to Kyndryl RSUs in connection with the Spin-off. In the case of
Messrs. Schroeter and Keinan, if, as of the closing of the Spin-off, the IBM PSU Share Value of his PSU award was less than the PSU target grant
value by $50,000 or more, then immediately after the closing of the Spin-off, provided that the applicable performance criteria had been met or
excused, such NEO would have received an RSU award with respect to a number of Kyndryl shares with a fair market value equal to the difference
between such PSU target grant value and the IBM PSU Share Value. Because the IBM PSU Share Value exceeded the target value of their PSU
awards as of the closing of the Spin-off no RSU awards were issued to Messrs. Schroeter and Keinan.

(3) Reflects the Launch PSU award granted to the NEO as part of the Launch Awards. Amounts reported in the “Threshold” column assume that 50% of
the target PSUs will vest and amounts reported in the “Maximum” column assume that 200% of the target PSUs will vest.

(4) Reflects the sign-on RRSU award granted to the NEO by IBM. The RRSUs were converted to Kyndryl RSUs in connection with the Spin-off.
(5) The stock options have an exercise price per share equal to the closing price of the Company’s common stock as reported on the NYSE on the day

immediately prior to the date of grant.
(6) Computed in accordance with Topic 718 using the assumptions discussed under “Stock-Based Compensation” in Note 1 to the accompanying

financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.
(7) The amount shown reflects the incremental compensation expense associated with the conversion of the outstanding IBM PSU award granted prior

to 2021 into a Kyndryl RSU award in connection with the Spin-off.
(8) The amount shown reflects the incremental compensation expense associated with the conversion of the outstanding IBM RSU award granted prior

to 2021 into a Kyndryl RSU award in connection with the Spin-off.
(9) The amount shown reflects the incremental compensation expense associated with the conversion of the outstanding IBM RRSU award granted

prior to 2021 into a Kyndryl RSU award in connection with the Spin-off.

Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan Based Awards in 2021 Table

Offer Letters with our NEOs

We have no multi-year employment agreements with our NEOs. In 2021, IBM entered into offer letters with each
of Mr. Schroeter, Mr. Wyshner, Mr. Keinan and Ms. Charbonnier setting forth the initial terms of their compensation,
which we assumed in connection with the Spin-off.

CEO Offer Letter. On January 2, 2021, IBM entered into an offer letter with Mr. Schroeter, which became
effective when he was hired on January 15, 2021. The offer letter provides that Mr. Schroeter will serve as our Chief
Executive Officer and for such service is entitled to:

● an annual base salary of $1,000,000, prorated for 2021 based on Mr. Schroeter’s actual service during such year;

● a $2,000,000 transaction bonus (the terms of which are set forth under “Compensation Discussion and Analysis�
Compensation Elements and Decisions� Prior to the Spin-off� Transaction Bonuses”); and

● a new-hire PSU award of $10,500,000 in target value.

PSU Terms. Mr. Schroeter’s new-hire PSU award was granted on February 1, 2021, and became eligible to vest when
(i) the Spin-off was completed as envisioned by January 1, 2023, and (ii) immediately following the closing of the Spin-
off, Mr. Schroeter accepted employment as our Chief Executive Officer. Once the performance criteria were achieved, the
PSU award vests 33% on the six-month anniversary of the Spin-off closing date, 33% on the first anniversary of the
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Spin-off closing date and 34% on the second anniversary of the Spin-off closing date, subject to continued employment on
such dates (except as provided below). In addition, if for strategic business reasons, IBM formally announced it would not
complete the Spin-off or if we were sold to another buyer, and IBM’s Chief Executive Officer determined that such
announcement or sale was not made as a result of Mr. Schroeter’s performance in moving the Spin-off to closure, then
Mr. Schroeter would still have been eligible to receive the PSUs on the six-month, first and second anniversaries of (i) the
announcement not to complete the Spin-off or (ii) the closing of the sale to another buyer (in the case of a sale, also if
Mr. Schroeter was not selected to become our Chief Executive Officer or was selected to become the Chief Executive
Officer, but declined the offer), as applicable. Furthermore, if Mr. Schroeter’s employment was terminated without Cause
(as defined under “Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control”) prior to the Spin-off or the sale to a third
party, or if the Spin-off was completed and Kyndryl’s offer of employment was not comparable in the aggregate to the
terms of his offer letter (including with respect to annual salary, bonus and equity awards) or our Board did not appoint
Mr. Schroeter as Chairman of our Board, then Mr. Schroeter would have still been eligible to receive the PSUs on the six-
month, first and second anniversaries of the termination date. If, other than by death or disability, the performance
conditions were not met for any other reason by January 1, 2023, the PSUs would have been canceled. Upon
Mr. Schroeter’s death or disability, the PSU award will remain eligible to vest in accordance with its terms and would have
vested if the Spin-off did not occur as envisaged by January 1, 2023.

If, as of the closing of the Spin-off, the IBM PSU Share Value of Mr. Schroeter’s PSU award was less than
$10,500,000 by $50,000 or more, then immediately after the closing of the Spin-off, provided that the applicable
performance criteria had been met or excused, Mr. Schroeter would have received an RSU award with respect to the
number of shares of Kyndryl common stock with a value on the date of grant equal to the difference between $10,500,000
and the IBM PSU Share Value, with such RSUs vesting on the same schedule as the PSU award. If the Spin-off did not
occur and we were instead sold to another buyer and as of the sale date the IBM PSU Share Value of Mr. Schroeter’s PSU
award was less than $10,500,000 by $50,000 or more, and Mr. Schroeter accepted employment with the buyer, then the
buyer would have granted an RSU award, or substantially equivalent cash or equity-based award in an affiliate of the
buyer, with a value equal to the difference between $10,500,000 and the IBM PSU Share Value, with the award vesting on
the same schedule as the PSU award.

CFO Offer Letter. On July 25, 2021, IBM entered into an offer letter with Mr. Wyshner which became effective on
September 9, 2021. The offer letter provides that Mr. Wyshner will serve as our Chief Financial Officer and for such
service is entitled to:

● an annual base salary of $780,000, prorated for 2021 based on Mr. Wyshner’s actual service during such year;

● a $975,000 transaction bonus (the terms of which are set forth under “Compensation Discussion and Analysis�
Compensation Elements and Decisions� Annual Cash Bonus� Prior to the Spin-off”);

● a new-hire PSU award of $4,000,000 in target value; and

● a sign-on equity RRSU award of $3,500,000 in planned value (the terms of which are set forth under
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis� Compensation Elements and Decisions� Long-Term Incentives� Prior
to the Spin-off”).

PSU Terms. Mr. Wyshner’s new-hire PSU award was granted on October 1, 2021, and became eligible to vest when (i) the
Spin-off was completed as envisioned by January 1, 2023, and (ii) immediately following the closing of the Spin-off,
Mr. Wyshner accepted employment as our Chief Financial Officer. Once the performance criteria were achieved, the PSU
award vests 33% on the six-month anniversary of the Spin-off closing date, 33% on the first anniversary of the Spin-off
closing date and 34% on the second anniversary of the Spin-off closing date, subject to continued employment on such
dates (except as provided below). In addition, if for strategic business reasons, IBM formally announced it would not
complete the Spin-off or if we were sold to another buyer, and IBM’s Chief Executive Officer determined that such
announcement or sale was not made as a result of Mr. Wyshner’s performance in moving the Spin-off to such closure, then
Mr. Wyshner would still have been eligible to receive the PSUs on the six-month, first and second anniversaries of (i) the
announcement not to complete the Spin-off or (ii) the closing of the sale to another buyer (in the case of a sale, also if
Mr. Wyshner was not selected to become our Chief Financial Officer or a substantially comparable
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role), as applicable. Furthermore, if Mr. Wyshner’s employment was terminated without Cause prior to the Spin-off or the
sale to a third party, or if the Spin-off was completed and our offer of employment was not comparable in the aggregate to
the terms of his offer letter (including with respect to annual salary, bonus and equity awards or Mr. Wyshner was not
selected to become our Chief Financial Officer or a substantially comparable role), then Mr. Wyshner would still have been
eligible to receive the PSUs on the six-month, first and second anniversaries of the termination date. If, other than by death
or disability, the performance conditions were not met for any other reason by January 1, 2023, the PSUs would have been
canceled. Upon Mr. Wyshner’s death or disability, the PSU award will remain eligible to vest in accordance with its terms
and would have vested if the Spin-off did not occur as envisaged by January 1, 2023.

Group President Offer Letter. On March 1, 2021, IBM entered into an offer letter with Mr. Keinan which became
effective on March 8, 2021. The offer letter provides that Mr. Keinan will serve as our Group President and for such service
is entitled to:

● an annual base salary of $800,000, prorated for 2021 based on Mr. Keinan’s actual service during such year;

● a $1,600,000 transaction bonus (the terms of which are set forth under “Compensation Discussion and Analysis�
Compensation Elements and Decisions� Annual Cash Bonus� Prior to the Spin-off”);

● a new-hire equity PSU award of $5,600,000 in target value; and

● a $2,000,000 sign-on bonus (the terms of which are set forth under “Compensation Discussion and Analysis�
Compensation Elements and Decisions� Other Compensation� Sign-on Bonuses”).

PSU Terms. Mr. Keinan’s new-hire PSU award was granted on April 1, 2021, and became eligible to vest when (i) the
Spin-off was completed as envisioned by January 1, 2023, and (ii) immediately following the closing of the Spin-off,
Mr. Keinan accepted employment as our Group President. Once the performance criteria were achieved, the PSU award
vests 33% on the six-month anniversary of the Spin-off closing date, 33% on the first anniversary of the Spin-off closing
date and 34% on the second anniversary of the Spin-off closing date, subject to continued employment on such dates
(except as provided below). In addition, if for strategic business reasons, IBM formally announced it would not complete
the Spin-off or if we were sold to another buyer, and IBM’s Chief Executive Officer determined that such announcement or
sale was not made as a result of Mr. Keinan’s performance in moving the Spin-off to such closure, then Mr. Keinan would
still have been eligible to receive the PSUs on the six-month, first and second anniversaries of (i) the announcement not to
complete the Spin-off or (ii) the closing of the sale to another buyer (in the case of a sale, also if Mr. Keinan was not
selected to become our Group President or a substantially comparable role), as applicable. Furthermore, if Mr. Keinan’s
employment was terminated without Cause prior to the Spin-off or the sale to a third party, or if the Spin-off was completed
and our offer of employment was not comparable in the aggregate to the terms of his offer letter (including with respect to
annual salary, bonus and equity awards), then Mr. Keinan would still have been eligible to receive the PSUs on the six-
month, first and second anniversaries of the termination date. If, other than by death or disability, the performance
conditions were not met for any other reason by January 1, 2023, the PSUs would have been canceled. Upon Mr. Keinan’s
death or disability, the PSU award will remain eligible to vest in accordance with its terms and would have vested if the
Spin-off did not occur as envisaged by January 1, 2023.

If, as of the closing of the Spin-off, the IBM PSU Share Value of Mr. Keinan’s PSU award was less than
$5,600,000 by $50,000 or more, then immediately after the closing of the Spin-off, provided that the applicable
performance criteria had been met or excused, Mr. Keinan would have received an RSU award with respect to the number
of shares of Kyndryl common stock with a value on the date of grant equal to the difference between $5,600,000 and the
IBM PSU Share Value, with such RSUs vesting on the same schedule as the PSU award. If the Spin-off did not occur and
we were instead sold to another buyer and as of the sale date the IBM PSU Share Value of Mr. Keinan’s PSU award was
less than $5,600,000 by $50,000 or more, and Mr. Keinan accepted employment with the buyer, then the buyer would have
granted an RSU award or substantially equivalent cash or equity-based award in an affiliate of the buyer, with a value equal
to the difference between $5,600,000 and the IBM PSU Share Value, with the award vesting on the same schedule as the
PSU award.
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Chief Human Resources Officer Offer Letter. On May 28, 2021, IBM entered into an offer letter with
Ms. Charbonnier which became effective on July 6, 2021. The offer letter provides that Ms. Charbonnier will serve as our
Chief Human Resources Officer and for such service is entitled to:

● an annual base salary of $615,000, prorated for 2021 based on Ms. Charbonnier’s actual IBM start date during
such year;

● a $770,000 transaction bonus (the terms of which are set forth under “Compensation Discussion and Analysis�
Compensation Elements and Decisions� Annual Cash Bonus� Prior to the Spin-off”);

● a new-hire equity PSU award of $1,000,000 in target value;

● a sign-on equity RRSU award of $700,000 in planned value (the terms of which are set forth under
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis� Compensation Elements and Decisions� Long-Term Incentives� Prior
to the Spin-off”); and

● a $875,000 sign-on bonus (the terms of which are set forth under “Compensation Discussion and Analysis�
Compensation Elements and Decisions� Other Compensation� Sign-on Bonuses”).

PSU Terms. Ms. Charbonnier’s new-hire PSU award was granted on August 1, 2021, and became eligible to vest when
(i) the Spin-off was completed as envisioned by January 1, 2023, and (ii) immediately following the closing of the Spin-
off, Ms. Charbonnier accepted employment as our Chief Human Resources Officer. Once the performance criteria were
achieved, the PSU award vests 33% on the six-month anniversary of the Spin-off closing date, 33% on the first anniversary
of the Spin-off closing date and 34% on the second anniversary of the Spin-off closing date, subject to continued
employment on such dates (except as provided below). In addition, if for strategic business reasons, IBM formally
announced it would not complete the Spin-off or if we were sold to another buyer, and IBM’s Chief Executive Officer
determined that such announcement or sale was not made as a result of Ms. Charbonnier’s performance in moving the
Spin-off to such closure, then Ms. Charbonnier would still have been eligible to receive the PSUs on the six-month, first
and second anniversaries of (i) the announcement not to complete the Spin-off or (ii) the closing of the sale to another
buyer (in the case of a sale, also if Ms. Charbonnier was not selected to become our Chief Human Resources Officer or a
substantially comparable role), as applicable. Furthermore, if Ms. Charbonnier’s employment was terminated without
Cause prior to the Spin-off or the sale to a third party, if the Spin-off was completed and our offer of employment was not
comparable in the aggregate to the terms of her offer letter (including with respect to annual salary, bonus and equity
awards) or the Spin-off was completed and her geographic location was greater than 50 miles from her work location, then
Ms. Charbonnier would still have been eligible to receive the PSUs on the six-month, first and second anniversaries of the
termination date. If, other than by death or disability, the performance conditions were not met for any other reason by
January 1, 2023, the PSUs would have been canceled. Upon Ms. Charbonnier’s death or disability, the PSU award will
remain eligible to vest in accordance with its terms and would have vested if the Spin-off did not occur as envisaged by
January 1, 2023.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at December 31, 2021

The following table sets forth the number of securities underlying outstanding equity awards for each of our
NEOs as of December 31, 2021. The information set forth below with respect to outstanding equity awards made by IBM
prior to the Spin-off reflect the conversion of such awards in connection with the Spin-off.
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    Option Awards(1)(2)     Stock Awards(2)

Equity
Incentive

Plan
Equity Awards:

Incentive Market or
 Plan Payout

 Awards: Value of
Market Number of Unearned

Number of Value of Unearned Shares,
Number of Number of Shares or Shares or Shares, Units or

Securities Securities Units of Units of Units or
 Other 
Rights

Underlying Underlying Option Stock that
 Stock 

that Other Rights that Have
Unexercised Unexercised Exercise Option  Have Not Have Not  that Have Not
 Options (#)  Options (#) Price Expiration Vested Vested(13) Not Vested Vested(13)

Name     Grant Date     Exercisable     Unexercisable     ($)     Date     (#)     ($)     (#)     ($)
Martin
Schroeter 2/1/2021(3)     374,647 6,781,111     

12/16/2021(4)     236,693 4,284,143     
12/16/2021(5)         152,170 2,754,277
12/16/2021 � 642,047 17.78 12/16/2031         

David
Wyshner 10/1/2021(6)   113,554 2,055,327     

10/1/2021(3)     129,775 2,348,928     
12/16/2021(4)     90,169 1,632,059     
12/16/2021(5)         57,970 1,049,257
12/16/2021 � 244,590 17.78 12/16/2031         

Elly Keinan 4/1/2021(3)     198,168 3,586,841     
12/16/2021(4)     171,321 3,100,910     
12/16/2021(5)         110,142 1,993,570
12/16/2021 � 464,720 17.78 12/16/2031         

Edward
Sebold 6/8/2018(7)   963 17,430     

6/7/2019(8)     2,659 48,128     
6/8/2020(9)     4,708 85,215     
6/8/2020(10)     4,363 78,970     
6/3/2019(11)     4,936 89,342     
5/3/2021(3)     32,917 595,798     
12/16/2021(4)     33,814 612,033     
12/16/2021(5)         21,739 393,476
12/16/2021 � 91,721 17.78 12/16/2031         

Maryjo
Charbonnier 8/2/2021(12)   22,012 398,417     

8/2/2021(3)     31,445 569,155     
12/16/2021(4)     22,543 408,028     
12/16/2021(5)     14,493 262,323
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12/16/2021 � 61,148 17.78 12/16/2031         

(1) Stock options vest in four equal annual installments beginning on the anniversary of the grant date.
(2) For information on vesting upon specified termination events or a change in control, see “Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in

Control.”
(3) These RSUs vest as follows: 33% on May 3, 2022; 33% of November 3, 2022; and 34% on November 3, 2023.
(4) These RSUs vest in four equal annual installments beginning on the anniversary of the grant date.
(5) The number of shares reflected for each of the NEOs represents the threshold number of shares that may be earned under the Launch PSU awards.

We have reflected the threshold number of shares for each of the NEOs because our performance as of December 31, 2021 was below threshold.
The actual number of shares that will be distributed with respect to the Launch PSU awards is not yet determinable. The Launch PSU awards vest
in proportion to actual performance over the three-year performance period ending on December 16, 2024. See the description of the Launch PSU
awards in “Compensation Discussion and Analysis � Elements of Compensation and Compensation Decisions � Long-Term Equity Incentives �
After the Spin-off � Launch Awards.”

(6) These RRSUs vest in three installments as follows:  8,108 on October 1, 2022, 8,113 on October 1, 2023, and 97,333 on October 1, 2024.
(7) These RSUs vest on June 8, 2022.
(8) These RSUs vest in substantially equal installments on June 7, 2022 and June 7, 2023.
(9) These RSUs vest in full on December 31, 2022.
(10) These RSUs vest as follows: 33% on June 8, 2022, 33% on June 8, 2023, and 34% on June 8, 2024.
(11) These RRSUs vest in full on June 3, 2023.
(12) These RRSUs vest in full on August 2, 2023.
(13) The market value is based on the closing price on the NYSE of our common stock on December 31, 2021, the last trading day of 2021 ($18.10),

multiplied by the number of outstanding shares.

Option Exercises and Stock Vested in 2021

The following table provides information regarding RSUs that vested during 2021 for our NEOs. Our NEOs did
not exercise any options during 2021.

    Stock Awards
Number of Shares Acquired on

Vesting(1) Value Realized on Vesting(2)

Name      (#)      ($)
Martin Schroeter(3)  �  �

David Wyshner  �  �

Elly Keinan(3)  �  �

Edward Sebold   3,558   64,400
Maryjo Charbonnier  �  �

(1) The shares acquired on vesting represent RSUs that vested on December 31, 2021.
(2) The value realized on vesting is based on the closing price of our common stock on the NYSE on the vesting date. If vesting occurs on a day on

which the NYSE is closed, the value realized on vesting is based on the closing price on the last trading day prior to the vesting date.
(3) This table does not include Kyndryl RSUs that vested during 2021 and that relate to equity awards granted to Messrs. Schroeter and Keinan prior to

their respective retirements from IBM which, upon their respective retirements, remained outstanding and subject to vesting as if they had been
employed by IBM on each applicable vesting date.

Pension Benefits in 2021

During 2021, no NEOs participated in either a tax-qualified or non-qualified defined benefit plan sponsored by the
Company.
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Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation for 2021

The following table provides information regarding contributions, earnings and balances for our NEOs under the
Kyndryl Excess Plan, as well as under the IBM Excess 401(k) Plus Plan, in which they participated in 2021 and maintain
balances, but to which they may not make further contributions. Under each of the plans, deferred account balances are
fully vested at all times. In addition, neither plan provides any opportunity for above-market or preferential earnings, nor
does either plan provide any minimum internal rate of return. Additionally, the Kyndryl Excess Plan and the IBM Excess
401(k) Plus Plan do not permit “hardship” withdrawals. The Kyndryl Excess Plan and the IBM Excess 401(k) Plus Plan are
not funded, and plan participants have only an unsecured contractual commitment by the applicable company to pay
amounts owed under each plan. Each of these plans is further described below.

Aggregate
Executive Registrant Aggregate Aggregate Balance

Contributions Contributions Earnings in Withdrawals/ at Last
in Last FY in Last FY Last FY  Distributions FYE

Name     ($)(1)     ($)(2)     ($)(3)     ($)     ($)
Martin Schroeter(4)

Kyndryl Excess Plan � 1,667 � � 1,667
IBM Excess 401 (k) Plus Plan � 8,636 3,303 2,784,000 8,723

David Wyshner
Kyndryl Excess Plan � � � � �

IBM Excess 401 (k) Plus Plan � � � � �

Elly Keinan(4)

Kyndryl Excess Plan � 1,333 � � 1,333
IBM Excess 401 (k) Plus Plan � 2,282 35 � 2,316

Edward Sebold
Kyndryl Excess Plan 33,139 6,667 266 � 40,072
IBM Excess 401 (k) Plus Plan 150,555 24,445 246,316 � 1,889,730

Maryjo Charbonnier
Kyndryl Excess Plan � � � � �

IBM Excess 401 (k) Plus Plan � � � � �

(1) The amounts in this column are reported as compensation for fiscal 2021 in the “Base Salary” column of the Summary Compensation Table.
(2) Represents the amount of the automatic and/or matching contribution made by us in accordance with the Kyndryl Excess Plan or the amount of the

automatic contribution and/or matching contribution made by IBM in accordance with IBM’s Excess 401(k) Plus Plan, as applicable. Matching
contributions are reported for the year in which the compensation against which the applicable deferral election is applied has been earned
(regardless of whether such matching contribution is actually credited to the NEO’s non-qualified deferred compensation account in that year or the
following year). The amounts in this column are reported as compensation for fiscal 2021 in the “All Other Compensation” column of the Summary
Compensation Table.

(3) Amounts in this column are not reported as compensation for fiscal 2021 in the Summary Compensation Table since they do not reflect above-
market or preferential earnings.

(4) This table does not include Kyndryl RSUs that relate to equity awards granted to Messrs. Schroeter and Keinan prior to their respective retirements
from IBM and which, upon their respective retirements, remained outstanding and subject to vesting as if they had been employed by IBM on each
applicable vesting date.

IBM Excess 401(k) Plus Plan

IBM maintains the IBM Excess 401(k) Plus Plan (the “IBM Excess Plan”), in which each of our NEOs other than
Mr. Wyshner and Ms. Charbonnier participated in 2021. Under the IBM Excess Plan, an eligible employee may elect to
defer up to 80% of salary and eligible performance pay, which includes annual incentive program payments. In both cases,
the deferral elections must be made prior to the year in which the deferred amounts are earned. Only Mr. Sebold was
eligible to elect any deferrals under the IBM Excess Plan in 2021.

For eligible participants who defer salary or eligible performance pay under the IBM Excess Plan, IBM credits
matching contributions to their accounts. For Mr. Sebold, who was the only NEO eligible for a matching contribution in
2021, IBM’s matching contribution to his account equaled 5% of the sum of (i) the amount he elected to defer under the
IBM Excess Plan and (ii) his eligible compensation after reaching the compensation limits in the Code.
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IBM also credits automatic contributions to the accounts of eligible participants including, in 2021, Messrs.
Schroeter, Keinan and Sebold. Mr. Wyshner and Ms. Charbonnier were not eligible for automatic contributions in 2021. In
each case, the automatic contributions were equal to 1% of the sum of (i) the amount the participant elected to defer under
the IBM Excess Plan and (ii) the participant’s eligible compensation after reaching the compensation limits in the Code.

Deferrals under the IBM Excess Plan may be allocated among 34 notional investment choices, each of which
replicates the performance of the comparable investment funds in the IBM 401(k) Plan. For Messrs. Schroeter, Keinan and
Sebold, their transfer to Kyndryl in connection with the Spin-off did not trigger a distribution of the amounts in their
accounts in the IBM Excess Plan. Rather, upon their separation of service from Kyndryl, they will receive a distribution of
the amounts in their accounts in a lump sum or installments based upon their distribution election. Mr. Schroeter’s account
under the IBM Excess Plan was distributed to him in February 2021 in connection with his separation of service from IBM
in 2020.

Kyndryl Excess Plan

In connection with the Spin-Off, we adopted the Kyndryl Excess Plan, a nonqualified deferred compensation plan
that, starting in 2022, offers eligible employees an opportunity to defer up to 80% of their eligible compensation (including
base and performance pay, but not any non-recurring compensation) in excess of the limits imposed by the Code under the
Kyndryl 401(k) Plan.

Employees are eligible to participate in the Kyndryl Excess Plan if they (i) were hired as an executive or promoted
to an executive position by Kyndryl after September 1, 2021 and prior to November 15, 2021 or (ii) directly transferred
from IBM to Kyndryl and either (a) made elective deferrals under the IBM Excess plan for the 2021 plan year or (b) were
hired as an executive by IBM between November 15, 2020 and September 1, 2021. Each of the NEOs is eligible to
participate in the Kyndryl Excess Plan.

For certain eligible employees that transferred from IBM, including Messrs. Schroeter, Keinan and Sebold and
Ms. Charbonnier, we will make an annual automatic contribution to the Kyndryl Excess Plan equal to 6% of their eligible
pay in excess of the limits under the Code.

With respect to participants in the IBM Excess Plan who became participants in the Kyndryl Excess Plan in 2021,
including Messrs. Schroeter, Keinan and Sebold, the applicable deferral elections and automatic and matching
contributions that would have applied under the IBM Excess Plan for the remainder of 2021 following the Spin-off instead
applied to the Kyndryl Excess Plan. However, the Kyndryl Excess Plan will not provide for matching contributions
commencing in 2022. Distributions are made following death (in a lump sum) or following a separation from service (in a
lump sum or installments, based on the employee’s distribution election), subject to certain exceptions for compliance with
Section 409A of the Code.

Deferrals under the Kyndryl Excess Plan may be allocated among hypothetical investment options that mirror the
investment options available under our qualified Kyndryl 401(k) Plan.

Messrs. Schroeter, Keinan and Sebold were the only NEOs who had balances under the Kyndryl Excess Plan as of
December 31, 2021.

Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control

The following table describes the potential payments and benefits under the Company’s compensation and benefit
plans and contractual agreements to which the NEOs would have been entitled if a termination of employment or change in
control occurred on the last business day of fiscal 2021.
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The only agreements, arrangements or plans that entitle the NEOs to severance, perquisites or other enhanced
benefits upon termination of their employment or a change in control are:

● the Severance Plan; and

● the terms of the NEOs’ equity awards.

The amounts shown in the table do not include:

● payments and benefits to the extent they are provided generally to all salaried employees upon termination of
employment and do not discriminate in scope, terms or operation in favor of the NEOs; and

● distributions of previously vested plan balances under the Kyndryl 401(k) Plan, the Kyndryl Excess Plan and the
IBM Excess Plan (see “�Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation for 2021” above for information about the
Kyndryl Excess Plan and the IBM Excess Plan).

Potential Payments to NEOs upon Termination of Employment or Change in Control Table

Qualifying
Termination
following a

    Termination     Change in     Qualifying          
without Cause Control Retirement Disability Death

Name ($) ($) ($)  ($)  ($)
Martin Schroeter           

Cash Severance Payment(1)  4,000,000 8,000,000 � � �

Acceleration of Equity Awards(2)  205,455 16,779,245 11,270,709 16,779,245 16,779,245
Value of Continuing Benefits(3)  46,708 46,708 � � �

Outplacement Benefit(4)  4,500 4,500 � � �

Total  4,256,663 24,830,453 11,270,709 16,779,245 16,779,245
David Wyshner  

Cash Severance Payment(1)  2,145,000 3,607,500 � � �

Acceleration of Equity Awards(2)  � 8,213,079 � 8,213,079 8,213,079
Value of Continuing Benefits(3)  38,207 38,207 � � �

Outplacement Benefit(4)  4,500 4,500 � � �

Total  2,187,707 11,863,286 � 8,213,079 8,213,079
Elly Keinan  

Cash Severance Payment(1)  2,800,000 5,200,000 � � �

Acceleration of Equity Awards(2)  148,710 10,823,602 6,836,461 10,823,602 10,823,602
Value of Continuing Benefits(3)  26,595 26,595 � � �

Outplacement Benefit(4)  4,500 4,500 � � �

Total  2,979,805 16,054,697 6,836,461 10,823,602 10,823,602
Edward Sebold  

Cash Severance Payment(1)  1,833,334 3,083,333 � � �

Acceleration of Equity Awards(2)  � 2,343,200 � 2,343,200 2,343,200
Value of Continuing Benefits(3)  33,470 33,470 � � �

Outplacement Benefit(4)  4,500 4,500 � � �

Total  1,871,304 5,464,503 � 2,343,200 2,343,200
Maryjo Charbonnier  

Cash Severance Payment(1)  1,692,500 2,847,500 � � �

Acceleration of Equity Awards(2)  � 1,919,796 � 1,919,796 1,919,796
Value of Continuing Benefits(3)  1,946 1,946 � � �

Outplacement Benefit(4)  4,500 4,500 � � �

Total  1,698,946 4,773,742 � 1,919,796 1,919,796

(1) Cash Severance Payments:
● Under the Severance Plan, as described more fully below, each NEO is entitled to cash severance in the event of a termination without

Cause or, solely following a Change in Control, with Good Reason, subject to certain conditions;
● The amounts of the cash severance payments included in the table assume that there is no notice period prior to the termination without

Cause; and
● The cash severance payments included in the table assume there would be no cutback of payments to avoid subjecting the NEOs to an

excise tax under Section 280G of the Code.
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(2) Acceleration of Equity Awards:
● The values under “Acceleration of Equity Awards” are presented as the sum of the values as of the last business day of 2021 of the

additional benefit from the acceleration of vesting, if any, of RSUs, stock options and performance shares that would have occurred as a
result of termination under the different circumstances presented.

● The value of accelerated stock options, for purposes of this table, was determined by subtracting the exercise price of the original stock
option from the closing stock price on the NYSE of $18.10 at December 31, 2021, and multiplying the result, if a positive number (in-
the-money), by the number of option shares that would vest as a result of termination.

● With respect to Messrs. Schroeter and Keinan, a termination without cause would constitute a “qualifying LTPP retirement” as described
under “�Treatment of Outstanding Equity Awards in the Event of Certain Qualifying Terminations” below.

(3) Value of Continuing Benefits:
● Reflects the cost of providing continued group health coverage (on the same basis as actively employed employees of the Company), for

a period of 24 months in the case of Mr. Schroeter or 18 months in the case of each of the other NEOs, assuming 2021 rates; and
● The amounts included in the table assume that there is no notice period prior to the termination without Cause.

(4) Reflects the estimated cost of six months of outplacement services.

Severance Plan

The Severance Plan provides for payment of severance and other benefits to eligible executives, including the
NEOs, in the event of a termination of employment with the Company without Cause (as that term is defined in the LTPP
and as set forth below) or, solely in connection with a change in control, with Good Reason (as defined below, and each of
a termination without Cause and a termination with Good Reason, a “covered termination”), in each case, subject to the
executive’s (i) execution and non-revocation of a general release of claims in favor of the Company, (ii) execution of a two-
year noncompetition and nonsolicitation agreement and (iii) continued compliance with the executive’s Agreement
Regarding Confidential Information and Intellectual Property with the Company. The Severance Plan also provides for
continued vesting of certain equity awards upon a “qualifying retirement” (as defined below).

In the event of a covered termination, in addition to certain accrued obligations, as of December 31, 2021, the
Severance Plan provided for the following payments and benefits to the NEOs:

● a lump-sum pro-rata bonus for the year of termination, based on actual performance;

● continued payment over a 24-month period in the case of Mr. Schroeter, or an 18-month period in the case of
each of the other NEOs, of such NEO’s base salary, in each case inclusive of any notice period;

● continued health insurance coverage, or reimbursement of premiums for coverage, at substantially the same
level as provided immediately prior to such termination, at the same cost as generally provided to similarly
situated active Company employees, for a period of 24 months for Mr. Schroeter or 18 months for each of the
other NEOs (the “welfare benefit”), in each case inclusive of any notice period; and

● payment of, or reimbursement for, six months of outplacement services (the “outplacement benefit”).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event such covered termination occurs within the 24-month period
following a change in control (as defined in the LTPP), in addition to certain accrued obligations, the Severance Plan
provides for the following payments and benefits to the NEOs:

● a lump-sum pro-rata bonus for the year of termination, based on target performance;

● a lump-sum cash severance amount equal to the sum of the NEO’s annual base salary and target annual
bonus amount times the multiplier applicable to such executive (which is 2.0 for Mr. Schroeter and 1.5 for
each of the other NEOs);

● the welfare benefit; and

● the outplacement benefit.
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In addition, the Severance Plan provides that, upon a termination in connection with a “qualifying retirement,”
subject to the NEO’s (i) provision of six months’ notice of intent to retire, (ii) execution and non-revocation of a general
release of claims in favor of the Company, (iii) execution of a two-year noncompetition agreement and (iv) continued
compliance with the Agreement Regarding Confidential Information and Intellectual Property with the Company,
notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the LTPP or the award agreements relating to the NEO’s outstanding RSU
awards, such outstanding RSU awards will not be canceled but will instead remain outstanding and subject to vesting in
accordance with their terms as if the NEO remained an active employee of the Company through each applicable vesting
date.

The Severance Plan provides that if any payments and/or benefits due to a participant (including any NEO) under
the Severance Plan and/or any other arrangements will constitute “excess parachute payments” (as defined in Section 280G
(“Section 280G”) of the Code), the Company will reduce the amount of payments under the Severance Plan by the
minimum amount necessary such that the present value of the participant’s “parachute payments” (as defined in
Section 280G) is below 300% of such participant’s “base amount” (as defined in Section 280G), calculated in accordance
with the Treasury Regulations promulgated under Section 280G; provided, however, in no event will the amount of any
severance payments be reduced unless (a) the net after-tax amount of such payments and benefits as so reduced is greater
than or equal to (b) the net after-tax amount of such payments and benefits without such reduction.

For purposes of the Severance Plan:

● a “qualifying retirement” is a termination of employment (other than for Cause as defined the LTPP and set
forth below) after attaining the age of 55 and completing at least ten years of service with the Company at the
time of termination. For purposes of calculating years of service, (a) in certain circumstances, years of
service to IBM will be counted for participants who transfer employment directly to the Company from IBM
and (b) years of service will include years of service with an entity acquired by the Company for participants
whose employment is transferred directly to the Company in connection with such acquisition; and

● a termination with “Good Reason” is a termination of employment due to (a) a material diminution in the
participant’s authority, duties or responsibilities, (b) a reduction in the participant’s then current base salary
or bonus opportunity, (c) a material breach by the Company of an existing agreement between the Company
and the participant, (d) the failure of the Company’s successor to assume in writing the Company’s
obligations under the Severance Plan or any other agreement with the participant if not assumed by successor
by operation of law, or (e) a relocation of more than 40 miles from both the participant’s then current primary
place of employment and their assigned primary Company office; provided, however, that the participant
must provide the Company with written notice of the circumstance that the participant claims to be good
reason within 90 days after such circumstance first occurs, such circumstance is not remedied within 30 days
after the Company receives the written notice, and the participant’s termination of employment is effective as
soon as practicable after the end of such 30-day cure period.

In February 2022, our Compensation Committee amended the Severance Plan to provide that (i) the base salary
amount payable to our NEOs upon a covered termination described above would be paid in a lump sum, rather than over a
24-month period, in the case of Mr. Schroeter, or an 18-month period, in the case of the other NEOs and (ii) continued
health insurance coverage, or reimbursement of premiums for coverage, at substantially the same level as provided
immediately prior to such termination, for Mr. Schroeter would be limited to a period of 18 months.

Treatment of Outstanding Equity Awards in the Event of Certain Qualifying Terminations (Other than Terminations in
Connection with a Change in Control)

RSUs

Except as provided in the case of a “qualifying retirement” under the Severance Plan, in the event of termination
of employment other than on account of death or disability, all unvested RSUs will be canceled. In the event
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of the NEO’s death, all unvested RSUs will immediately vest. In the event the NEO becomes disabled (as described in the
LTPP), unvested RSUs will remain outstanding and continue to vest in accordance with their terms as if the NEO remained
an active employee of the Company through each applicable vesting date.

Stock Options

In the event of termination of employment other than in connection with a “qualifying LTPP retirement” or on
account of death or disability, any stock options that are not exercisable will be canceled immediately, and any stock
options that are exercisable as of the date of termination of employment (other than for Cause (as defined in the LTPP and
set forth below)) will remain exercisable for 90 days after the date of termination, after which any unexercised stock
options will be canceled. In the event of termination of employment in connection with a “qualifying LTPP retirement”
(which is a termination of employment (other than for Cause) after attaining the age of 55 and completing at least ten years
of service with the Company at the time of termination), any unvested stock options will vest and become exercisable, and
all stock options that are exercisable as of the date of termination will remain exercisable until the earlier of the expiration
of the full term and the fifth anniversary of the date the NEO’s employment terminates. In the event of the NEO’s death or
in the event the NEO becomes disabled, all stock options will become fully exercisable and remain exercisable until the
earlier of the expiration of their full term and the third anniversary of the date the NEO’s employment terminates.

PSUs

In the event of a termination of employment other than in connection with a “qualifying LTPP retirement” or on
account of death or disability, all unvested PSUs will be canceled. In the event of termination of employment in connection
with a “qualifying LTPP retirement” at least one year after the grant date of the PSUs, the NEO will receive a payout that is
prorated for the time worked as an active executive during the Performance Period following the Compensation
Committee’s calculation of the PSU payout. In the event of a NEO’s death or in the event the NEO becomes disabled, the
PSUs will remain outstanding and continue to vest in accordance with their terms.

Treatment of Outstanding Equity Awards in the Event of a Change in Control

In the event of a change in control (as defined in the LTPP)

● if the acquirer or successor company in such change in control has agreed to provide for the substitution,
assumption, exchange or other continuation of awards granted pursuant to the LTPP, then, if the participant’s
employment with or service to the Company or an affiliate is terminated by the Company or affiliate without
cause (and other than due to death or disability) on or within 24 months following a change in control, then
unless otherwise provided by the Compensation Committee, all options and stock appreciation rights held by
such participant will become immediately exercisable with respect to 100% of the shares subject to such
options and stock appreciation rights, and the restricted period (and any other conditions) will expire
immediately with respect to 100% of the shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units and any other
awards (other than other cash-based awards) held by such participant (including a waiver of any applicable
performance conditions); provided that if the vesting or exercisability of any award would otherwise be
subject to the achievement of performance conditions, the portion of such award that will become fully
vested and immediately exercisable will be based on the assumed achievement of actual or target
performance as determined by the Compensation Committee;

● if the acquirer or successor company in such change in control has not agreed to provide for the substitution,
assumption, exchange or other continuation of awards granted pursuant to the LTPP, then unless otherwise
provided by the Compensation Committee, all stock options and stock appreciation rights held by such
participant will become immediately exercisable with respect to 100% of the shares subject to such stock
options and stock appreciation rights, and the restricted period (and any other conditions) will expire
immediately with respect to 100% of the shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units and any other
awards (other than other cash-based award) held by such participant (including a waiver of any applicable
performance conditions); provided that if the vesting or exercisability of any award would
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otherwise be subject to the achievement of performance conditions, the portion of such award that will
become fully vested and immediately exercisable will be based on the assumed achievement of actual or
target performance as determined by the Compensation Committee; and

● the Compensation Committee may upon at least ten days’ advance notice to the affected participants, cancel
any outstanding award and pay to the holders thereof, in cash, securities or other property (including of the
acquiring or successor company), or any combination thereof, the value of such awards based upon the price
per share received or to be received by other stockholders of the Company in the event (it being understood
that any stock option or stock appreciation right having a per-share exercise or hurdle price equal to, or in
excess of, the fair market value (as of the date specified by the Compensation Committee) of a share subject
thereto may be canceled and terminated without any payment or consideration therefor).

Notwithstanding the above, the Compensation Committee will exercise such discretion over the timing of
settlement of any award subject to Code Section 409A at the time such award is granted. To the extent practicable, these
provisions will occur in a manner and at a time that allows affected participants the ability to participate in the change in
control transaction with respect to the shares subject to their awards.

Definition of Cause

“Cause” means, as reasonably determined by Kyndryl, the occurrence of any of the following: (i) embezzlement,
misappropriation of corporate funds or other material acts of dishonesty; (ii) commission or conviction of any felony or of
any misdemeanor involving moral turpitude, or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere to any felony or misdemeanor
(other than a minor traffic violation or other minor infraction); (iii) engagement in any activity that the employee knows or
should know could harm the business or reputation of the Company; (iv) failure to adhere to the Company’s corporate
codes, policies or procedures; (v) a breach of any covenant in any employment agreement or any intellectual property
agreement, or a breach of any other provision of the employment agreement, in either case if the breach is not cured to the
Company’s satisfaction within a reasonable period after notice of the breach (no notice and cure period is required if the
breach cannot be cured); (vi) failure to perform duties or follow management direction, which failure is not cured to the
Company’s satisfaction within a reasonable period of time after a written demand for substantial performance is delivered
to the employee (no notice or cure period is required if the failure to perform cannot be cured); (vii) violation of any
statutory, contractual or common law duty or obligation to the Company, including, without limitation, the duty of loyalty;
(viii) rendering of services for any organization or engaging directly or indirectly in any business which is or becomes
competitive with the Company, or which organization or business, or the rendering of services to such organization or
business, is or becomes otherwise prejudicial to or in conflict with the interests of the Company; or (ix) acceptance of an
offer to engage in or associate with any business which is or becomes competitive with the Company; provided, however,
that the mere failure to achieve performance objectives shall not constitute Cause.
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Director Compensation in 2021

The table below sets forth information regarding the compensation of each of our non-employee directors for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.

Fees Earned or Paid in Cash Stock Awards Total
Name     ($)     ($)(1)     ($)
Dominic J. Caruso  25,288 195,402 220,690
John D. Harris II  15,890 195,402 211,292
Stephen A.M. Hester  26,616 195,402 222,018
Shirley Ann Jackson  15,890 195,402 211,292
Janina Kugel  15,890 195,402 211,292
Denis Machuel  15,890 195,402 211,292
Rahul N. Merchant  15,890 195,402 211,292
Jana Schreuder  19,466 195,402 214,868
Howard I. Ungerleider  15,890 195,402 211,292

(1) Represents the aggregate grant date fair value of RSUs granted during 2021 computed in accordance with Topic 718. The assumptions used in the
valuation are discussed under the heading “Stock-Based Compensation” in Note 1 to the accompanying financial statements for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2021. As of December 31, 2021, each of our non-employee directors had 10,990 RSUs outstanding, which will vest on December 16,
2022, subject to continued service through such date.

Board and Committee Fees in 2021

In connection with the Spin-off, our Board adopted the following director compensation program for our non-
employee directors:

● An annual cash retainer of $100,000, payable in installments and prorated for partial years of service.

● An additional annual cash retainer for service as the chair of a Board committee or as Lead Independent
Director payable in installments and prorated for partial years of service as follows: Audit Committee Chair:
$30,000; Compensation Committee Chair: $22,500; Nominating and Governance Committee Chair: $22,500;
and Lead Independent Director: $45,000.

● An annual RSU grant with a target value of $200,000 and vesting on the first anniversary of the date of grant.

Accordingly, in December 2021, we granted each of our non-employee directors 10,990 RSUs that vest in full on
the first anniversary of the grant date, subject to the director’s continued service through such date. Our directors are
subject to the Stock Ownership Guidelines described under “Compensation Discussion and Analysis� Additional
Compensation Information� Stock Ownership Guidelines.” Pursuant to such guidelines, our non-employee directors are
required to retain 100% of the shares of our common stock underlying such RSUs, net of any amounts required to pay
taxes, until they achieve the ownership required by the guidelines.

Prior to the completion of the Spin-off, IBM employees Simon J. Beaumont, Nicholas Fehring and Frank
Sedlarcik served as interim directors of Kyndryl. Messrs. Beaumont, Fehring and Sedlarcik resigned prior to the Spin-
off. The interim directors did not receive any incremental compensation for their service as interim directors.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

The members of our Compensation Committee during 2021 included Janina Kugel, Jana Schreuder and Howard I.
Ungerleider. None of the members of our Compensation Committee during 2021 has at any time been one of our executive
officers or employees. None of our executive officers currently serves, or has served during the last completed fiscal year,
on the compensation committee or board of directors of any other entity that has one or more executive officers serving as
a member of our Board or Compensation Committee.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table sets forth, as of December 31, 2021, certain information regarding our equity compensation
plans. The only plan pursuant to which we may currently make equity grants is the Kyndryl 2021 Long-Term Performance
Plan.

            Number of
Securities

Remaining
Available for

Number of Future Issuance
Securities to be Under Equity

Issued Upon Weighted-average Compensation
Exercise of Exercise Price of Plans (Excluding

Outstanding Outstanding Securities
Options, Warrants Options, Warrants  Reflected in

 and Rights and Rights  Column (a))
Plan Category (a) (b)  (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders  15,798,953 (1) $18 per share (2)  6,478,287 (3)

(1) Total includes (i) 3,829,722 stock options, (ii) 1,792,467 performance share units (assuming maximum performance with respect to each of the
performance measures) and (iii) 10,176,764 restricted stock units.

(2) The weighted-average exercise price relates only to stock options. The calculation of the weighted-average exercise price does not include
outstanding equity awards that are received or exercised for no consideration.

(3) These shares are available for grant as of December 31, 2021, under the Kyndryl 2021 Long-Term Performance Plan pursuant to which the
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors may make various stock-based awards, including stock options, stock appreciation rights,
restricted stock, restricted stock units and other awards based, in whole or in part, on the value of our common stock.
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Ownership of Securities

Directors and Executive Officers

The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of shares of our common stock as of
December 31, 2021, by each of our directors and named executive officers and all of our directors and executive officers as
a group.

Number of Shares or Units Beneficially Owned as
 of December 31, 2021(1)

Stock Options
   Exercisable  
   and Restricted 
   Stock Units
 Shares of   Settling

 Common   Within 60
 Stock Owned   Days of Total
 Directly and   December 31,  Beneficial

Name      Indirectly (2)      2021 (3)      Ownership (4)

Martin Schroeter   58,300   134,326   192,626
David Wyshner   14,898  �   14,898
Elly Keinan   29,150   13,331   42,481
Edward Sebold  �   3,558   3,558
Maryjo Charbonnier  �  �  �

Dominic J. Caruso  �  �  �

John D. Harris II   56  �   56
Stephen A.M. Hester  �  �  �

Shirley Ann Jackson   6,726  �   6,726
Janina Kugel  �  �  �

Denis Machuel  �  �  �

Rahul N. Merchant  �  �  �

Jana Schreuder  �  �  �

Howard I. Ungerleider  �  �  �

Directors and executive officers as a group (15 persons)   109,130   155,663   264,793

(1) Each individual and member of the group has sole investment power with respect to the shares owned. As of December 31, 2021, (i) no director or
executive officer beneficially owned 1% or more of the outstanding common stock of the Company and (ii) the directors and executive officers as a
group beneficially owned approximately less than 1% of the outstanding common stock of the Company (including common stock they can acquire
within 60 days).

(2) Included are shares of common stock owned outright.
(3) The number of shares shown in this column are not currently outstanding but are deemed beneficially owned because the individual has the right to

acquire them pursuant to options exercisable or restricted stock units settling within 60 days of December 31, 2021.
(4) These amounts are the sum of the number of shares shown in the prior columns.
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5% Owners

The following table provides information about stockholders known to us to beneficially own more than 5% of
our outstanding common stock as of December 31, 2021.

    Amount and Nature of    Percent of Company 
Beneficial Owner      Beneficial Ownership      Common Stock  
International Business Machines Corporation 44,603,072(1) 19.9 %

One New Orchard Road
Armonk, NY 10504

The Vanguard Group 17,928,827(2) 8.0 %
100 Vanguard Blvd
Malvern, PA 19355

BlackRock, Inc. 15,320,271(3) 6.8 %
55 East 52nd Street
 New York, NY 10055

(1) As of December 31, 2021, International Business Machines Corporation had sole dispositive power with respect to 44,603,072 shares of common
stock.

(2) As of December 31, 2021, and based on the Schedule 13G filed by The Vanguard Group (“Vanguard”) with the SEC on February 11, 2022,
Vanguard had (i) shared voting power with respect to 116,137 shares of common stock, (ii) sole dispositive power with respect to 17,529,027 shares
of common stock and (iii) shared dispositive power with respect to 399,800 shares of common stock.

(3) As of December 31, 2021, and based on the Schedule 13G filed by BlackRock, Inc. (“BlackRock”) with the SEC on February 7, 2022, BlackRock
had (i) sole voting power with respect to 14,326,465 shares of common stock and (ii) sole dispositive power with respect to 15,320,271 shares of
common stock held by BlackRock Life Limited, BlackRock Advisors, LLC, Aperio Group, LLC, BlackRock (Netherlands) B.V., BlackRock
Institutional Trust Company, National Association, BlackRock Asset Management Ireland Limited, BlackRock Financial Management, Inc.,
BlackRock Asset Management Schweiz AG, BlackRock Investment Management, LLC, FutureAdvisor, Inc., BlackRock Investment Management
(UK) Limited, BlackRock Asset Management Canada Limited, BlackRock Asset Management Deutschland AG, BlackRock (Luxembourg) S.A.,
BlackRock Investment Management (Australia) Limited, BlackRock Advisors (UK) Limited, BlackRock Fund Advisors, BlackRock Asset
Management North Asia Limited and BlackRock Fund Managers Ltd.
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

Policy on Related Person Transactions

The Board has adopted a written Policy on Related Person Transactions to assist it in reviewing, approving and
ratifying related person transactions and to assist us in the preparation of related disclosures required by the SEC.

The Policy on Related Person Transactions does not prohibit related person transactions covered by the policy, but
provides that such transactions must be reviewed, approved or ratified and disclosed in accordance with the SEC’s rules
regarding related person transactions.

Under our Policy on Related Person Transactions, information about transactions involving related persons is
assessed by the independent directors on our Board. Related persons include our directors and executive officers, as well as
immediate family members of directors and officers, and beneficial owners of more than five percent of our common stock.
If the determination is made that a related person has a material interest in any transaction with the Company, then our
independent directors will review, approve or ratify it, and the transaction is required to be disclosed in accordance with the
SEC rules. If the related person at issue is a director, or a family member of a director, then that director may not
participate in those discussions. In general, we are of the view that the following transactions with related persons are not
significant to investors because they take place under our standard policies and procedures: the sale or purchase of products
or services in the ordinary course of business and on an arm’s-length basis; the employment by us where the compensation
and other terms of employment are determined on a basis consistent with our human resources policies; and any grants or
contributions made by us under one of our grant programs and in accordance with our corporate contributions guidelines.

In addition to our Policy on Related Person Transactions, our Business Conduct Guidelines require that all
employees, officers and directors avoid any situation that involves or appears to involve a conflict of interest between their
personal and professional relationships. Our Audit Committee provides oversight regarding compliance with our Business
Conduct Guidelines. Our Business Conduct Guidelines also require that all employees seek approval from senior
management and Kyndryl counsel prior to accepting membership on the board of directors, advisory board, advisory
council or similar position at another company.

Agreements with IBM

In order to govern the ongoing relationships between us and IBM after the Spin-off and to facilitate an orderly
transition, we and IBM entered into agreements providing for various services and rights following the Spin-off, and under
which we and IBM agreed to indemnify each other against certain liabilities arising from our respective businesses. The
following summarizes the terms of the material agreements we entered into with IBM.

Separation and Distribution Agreement

We entered into a Separation and Distribution Agreement with IBM in advance of the Distribution. The
Separation and Distribution Agreement sets forth our agreements with IBM regarding the principal actions to be taken in
connection with the Spin-off. It also sets forth other agreements that govern aspects of our relationship with IBM following
the Spin-off.
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Transfer of Assets and Assumption of Liabilities

The Separation and Distribution Agreement identifies certain transfers of assets and assumptions of liabilities that
were necessary in advance of our separation from IBM so that we and IBM retain the assets of, and the liabilities
associated with, our respective businesses. The Separation and Distribution Agreement generally provides that the assets
comprising our business consist of those exclusively related to our current business and operations (except for intellectual
property assets, which are allocated as further described below under Intellectual Property Agreements or otherwise
allocated to the business through a process of dividing shared assets). The liabilities assumed in connection with the Spin-
off generally consist of those related to the assets comprising our business or to the past and future operations of our
business, including our locations used in our current operations. The Separation and Distribution Agreement also provides
for the settlement or extinguishment of certain liabilities and other obligations between us and IBM.

Reorganization Transactions

The Separation and Distribution Agreement describes certain actions related to our separation from IBM that
occurred prior to the Distribution such as the formation of our subsidiaries and certain other internal restructuring actions
taken by us and IBM, including the contribution by IBM to us of the assets and liabilities that comprise our business.

Intercompany Arrangements

All agreements, arrangements, commitments and understandings, including most intercompany accounts payable
or accounts receivable, between us, on the one hand, and IBM, on the other hand, terminated and/or were repaid effective
as of the Distribution Date or shortly thereafter, except specified agreements and arrangements that are intended to survive
the Distribution.

Credit Support

We agreed to use reasonable best efforts to arrange, on or prior to the Distribution, for the replacement of all
guarantees, covenants, indemnities, surety bonds, letters of credit or similar assurances of credit support, other than certain
specified credit support instruments, currently provided by or through IBM or any of its subsidiaries for the benefit of us or
any of our subsidiaries.

Representations and Warranties

In general, neither we nor IBM made any representations or warranties regarding any assets or liabilities
transferred or assumed, any consents or approvals required in connection with these transfers or assumptions, the value or
freedom from any lien or other security interest of any assets transferred, the absence of any defenses relating to any claim
of either party or the legal sufficiency of any conveyance documents. Except as expressly set forth in the Separation and
Distribution Agreement, all assets have been transferred on an “as-is,” “where-is” basis.

Further Assurances

The parties will use reasonable best efforts to effect any transfers contemplated by the Separation and Distribution
Agreement that have not been consummated prior to the Distribution. In addition, the parties will use reasonable best
efforts to effect any transfer or re-transfer of any asset or liability that was improperly transferred or retained.

The Distribution

The Separation and Distribution Agreement governs IBM’s and our respective rights and obligations regarding the
proposed Distribution. On or prior to the Distribution Date, IBM delivered 80.1% of the issued and outstanding shares of
our common stock to the distribution agent. Following the Distribution, the distribution agent electronically delivered the
shares of our common stock to IBM stockholders based on the distribution ratio. The IBM board of
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directors, in its sole and absolute discretion, determined the Record Date, the Distribution Date and the terms of the Spin-
off, including the amount of the shares of our common stock it retained. In addition, IBM, at any time until the
Distribution, could have decided to abandon the Distribution or modify or change the terms of the Distribution.

Conditions

The Separation and Distribution Agreement also provided that several conditions must have been satisfied or, to
the extent permitted by law, waived by IBM, in its sole and absolute discretion, before the Distribution could occur.

Exchange of Information

We and IBM agreed to provide each other with information reasonably necessary to comply with reporting,
disclosure, filing or other requirements of any national securities exchange or governmental authority, for use in judicial,
regulatory, administrative and other proceedings and to satisfy audit, accounting, litigation and other similar requests. We
and IBM also agreed to use reasonable best efforts to retain such information in accordance with our respective record
retention policies applicable to our own information or such longer period as required by law. Each party also agreed to use
its reasonable best efforts to assist the other with its financial reporting and audit obligations.

Termination

The IBM board of directors, in its sole and absolute discretion, could have terminated the Separation and
Distribution Agreement at any time prior to the Distribution.

Release of Claims

We and IBM each agreed to release the other and its affiliates, successors and assigns, and all persons that prior to
the Distribution had been the other’s stockholders, directors, officers, members, agents and employees, and their respective
heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns, from any and all liabilities that such party is taking on in
connection with the Spin-off, whether at law or in equity (including any right of contribution), whether arising under any
contract, by operation of law or otherwise, existing or arising from any acts or events occurring, or failing to occur, or
alleged to have occurred, or to have failed to occur, or any conditions existing or alleged to have existed on or before the
Distribution, including in connection with the Spin-off and all other activities to implement the Spin-off. These releases are
subject to exceptions set forth in the Separation and Distribution Agreement.

Indemnification

We and IBM each agreed to indemnify the other and each of the other’s current and former directors, officers and
employees, and each of the heirs, executors, successors and assigns of any of them, against certain liabilities incurred in
connection with the Spin-off and our and IBM’s respective businesses. The amount of either IBM’s or our indemnification
obligations will be reduced by any net insurance proceeds the party being indemnified receives. The Separation and
Distribution Agreement also specifies procedures regarding claims subject to indemnification.

Transition Services Agreement

 We entered into a Transition Services Agreement pursuant to which IBM will provide us with certain specified
services for a limited time to ensure an orderly transition following the Distribution. The services IBM will provide
predominantly consist of information technology services, among others. The services are generally intended to be
provided for a period no longer than two years following the Distribution. Each party may terminate the agreement in its
entirety in the event of a material breach of the agreement by the other party that is not cured within a specified time
period. We may also terminate the services on an individual basis upon prior written notice to IBM, provided that a partial
termination of a service will require mutual agreement between us and IBM. The Transition Services Agreement provides
for customary indemnification and limits on liability. Given the short-term nature of the Transition Services Agreement, we
are in the process of increasing our internal capabilities to eliminate reliance on IBM for the transition
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services it will provide us following the Spin-off. During the year ended December 31, 2021, we paid IBM $60 million in
fees pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement.

Tax Matters Agreement

We entered into a Tax Matters Agreement with IBM that governs the respective rights, responsibilities and
obligations of IBM and us after the Distribution with respect to all tax matters (including tax liabilities, tax attributes, tax
returns and tax contests).

The Tax Matters Agreement generally provides that we are responsible and will indemnify IBM for all taxes,
including income taxes, sales taxes, value-added and payroll taxes, relating to our business for all periods following the
Distribution; IBM is responsible and will indemnify us for all taxes relating to our business for all periods preceding the
Distribution, except as otherwise provided in the Tax Matters Agreement. In addition, the Tax Matters Agreement
addresses the allocation of liability for taxes that were incurred as a result of restructuring activities undertaken to
effectuate the Spin-off.

In addition, the Tax Matters Agreement provides that we are required to indemnify IBM for any taxes (and
reasonable expenses) resulting from the failure of the Spin-off and related internal transactions to qualify for their intended
tax treatment under U.S. federal, state and local income tax law, as well as foreign tax law, where such taxes result from
(i) breaches of covenants and representations we made and agreed to in connection with the Spin-off, (ii) the application of
certain provisions of U.S. federal income tax law to these transactions or (iii) any other action or omission (other than
actions expressly required or permitted by the Separation and Distribution Agreement, the Tax Matters Agreement or other
ancillary agreements) we take after the Distribution that gives rise to these taxes. IBM has the exclusive right to control the
conduct of any audit or contest relating to these taxes, but we have the right to review and comment on IBM’s conduct of
any such audit or contest, to the extent that we could be liable for taxes under the Tax Matters Agreement as a result of
such audit or contest.

The Tax Matters Agreement imposes certain restrictions on us and our subsidiaries (including restrictions on share
issuances, redemptions or repurchases, mergers or other business combinations, sales of assets and similar transactions)
that are designed to address compliance with Section 355 and related provisions of the Code, as well as state, local and
foreign tax law, and are intended to preserve the tax-free nature of the Spin-off and related transactions. Under the Tax
Matters Agreement, these restrictions apply for two years following the Distribution, unless IBM obtains a private letter
ruling from the IRS or we obtain an opinion of counsel, in each case acceptable to IBM in its discretion, that the restricted
action would not impact the non-recognition treatment of the Spin-off or other transaction, or unless IBM otherwise gives
its consent for us to take a restricted action in its discretion. Even if such a private letter ruling or opinion is obtained, or
IBM does otherwise consent to our taking an otherwise restricted action, we will remain liable to indemnify IBM in the
event such restricted action gives rise to an otherwise indemnifiable liability. These restrictions may limit our ability to
pursue strategic transactions or engage in new businesses or other transactions that may maximize the value of our
business, and might discourage or delay a strategic transaction that our stockholders may consider favorable.

Employee Matters Agreement

We entered into an Employee Matters Agreement with IBM that addresses employment and employee
compensation and benefits matters. The Employee Matters Agreement addresses the allocation and treatment of assets and
liabilities relating to employees and compensation and benefit plans and programs in which our employees participated
prior to the Spin-off. Except as specifically provided in the Employee Matters Agreement, we are generally responsible for
all employment and employee compensation and benefits-related liabilities relating to our employees, former employees
and other service providers. In particular, we assumed certain assets and liabilities with respect to our current employees
under certain of IBM’s non-U.S. defined benefit pension plans (with assets and liabilities allocated based on formulas
specified in the Employee Matters Agreement for each pension plan). Generally, except as may be provided in a transition
services agreement, each of our employees ceased active participation in IBM compensation and benefit plans as of the
Spin-off. The Employee Matters Agreement also provides that we establish certain compensation and benefit plans for the
benefit of our employees following the Spin-off, including a 401(k) savings plan, which accepts
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direct rollovers of account balances from the IBM 401(k) savings plan for any of our employees who elect to do so.
Generally, following the Spin-off, we assume and are responsible for any annual bonus payments, including with respect to
the year in which the Spin-off occurs, and any other cash-based incentive or retention awards to our current and former
employees. IBM long-term incentive compensation awards, including restricted share units, performance share units, stock
options and restricted stock, held by Kyndryl employees are treated as described in “Compensation Discussion and
Analysis—Elements of Compensation and Compensation Decisions�Long-Term Equity Incentives�Treatment of
Outstanding IBM Equity Awards in connection with the Spin-off”. The Employee Matters Agreement incorporates the
indemnification provisions contained in the Separation and Distribution Agreement and described above.

In addition, the Employee Matters Agreement provides that we indemnify IBM for certain employee-related
liabilities associated with the failure to establish benefit plans or in connection with joint-employer liability claims by our
employees.

Agreements Governing Intellectual Property

Allocation of Intellectual Property

The agreements we entered into with IBM governing intellectual property provide for (i) us to own certain
specified patents and patent applications, trademarks, domain names, copyrights in proprietary software and
documentation, database rights and certain other intellectual property rights solely developed by or exclusively related to
our business and (ii) IBM to retain any of its other intellectual property rights related to our business. Intellectual property
rights were generally allocated to us if those rights were solely developed by our business (including with respect to
software, database rights and certain other technologies) or are exclusively related to our business. Any intellectual
property and technologies that are not allocated to us will be retained by IBM.

Intellectual Property Agreement

We entered into an Intellectual Property Agreement with IBM, pursuant to which IBM granted us perpetual and
irrevocable, non-exclusive, royalty-free licenses to certain proprietary software and documentation, databases, trade secrets
and certain other intellectual property rights (excluding patents and trademarks) that are used in our business but are being
retained by IBM. The foregoing licenses exclude IBM’s commercial software, which is subject to IBM’s standard
commercial terms if we choose to use it in our business. Additionally, we granted to IBM perpetual and irrevocable, non-
exclusive, royalty-free licenses to certain proprietary software and documentation, databases, trade secrets and certain other
intellectual property rights (excluding patents and trademarks) that were allocated to us (other than certain restricted
software and research assets, to which IBM was granted limited or no rights). The field of use for the licenses granted to us
is generally our business as conducted immediately prior to the Spin-off, with natural extensions and evolutions. The field
of use for the licenses granted to IBM is generally all businesses, operations, products and services. The licenses are
generally transferable with any sale or transfer of an entity or line of business that utilizes the relevant intellectual property,
and the transferred license is limited to the business, products and services as conducted by the transferred entity or line of
business as of the date of the transfer, with natural extensions and evolutions. In addition, pursuant to the Intellectual
Property Agreement, we are permitted to continue using certain of IBM’s trademarks, trade names and service marks with
respect to the “IBM” brands in connection with certain limited transitional uses. The permitted transitional uses generally
do not exceed one to two years. The Intellectual Property Agreement also provides that we will use commercially
reasonable efforts to cease using such IBM trademarks as soon as reasonably practicable.

Other Intellectual Property Arrangements

We entered into a patent cross-license agreement with IBM, pursuant to which we granted to IBM, and IBM
granted to us, a non-exclusive, worldwide, fully paid-up license to our respective patent portfolios as of the Spin-off. The
license will continue until the expiration of the last to expire of the licensed patents, unless earlier terminated (as described
below). IBM will also separately be licensed under any patents issuing from applications we file based on invention
disclosures assigned to us in the Spin-off.
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The field of our license to IBM’s patent portfolio generally covers information handling systems (subject to
certain exclusions related to quantum systems, IBM’s System z servers, integrated circuits and semiconductor fabrication)
and the performance of services, including services for information handling systems. The field of IBM’s license to our
patent portfolio generally covers information handling systems and the performance of services, including services for
information handling systems. Both licenses include certain rights to extend new licenses to divested entities or in
connection with divested product or service lines, subject to certain limitations on the volume of licensed products and
services under the new license and rights of the licensor party to terminate the new license if the counterparty asserts any
patent infringement claim against the licensor, its subsidiaries or any of their customers or distributors. In addition, such
new license does not include the right to engage in further divestitures. The licenses under the patent cross-license
agreement are also transferable if a party is acquired and becomes a subsidiary of a third party, but the transferred license is
limited to only licensed products and services of the acquired party immediately prior to the acquisition and may also be
terminated by the non-acquired party if the acquirer or its affiliates asserts any claim of patent infringement against the
non-acquired party, its subsidiaries or their respective customers or distributors. If either party to the patent cross-license
agreement is acquired by a third party such that it is no longer a separate legal entity, the license to that party will terminate
as of the date of such acquisition.

In addition, we were granted licenses under certain of IBM’s patent cross-license agreements with third parties
that have been identified as being relevant to the Business, and IBM will work together with us to extend us rights under
these agreements to the extent permitted thereunder.

We also entered into a research master collaboration agreement with IBM, setting forth the general terms and
conditions applicable to certain, to be determined, joint research projects between us and IBM’s Research Division.

Real Estate Matters Agreement

We entered into a Real Estate Matters Agreement with IBM that governs the allocation and transfer of real estate
between IBM and Kyndryl and the colocation of IBM and Kyndryl following the Spin-off. Real estate assets are
predominantly allocated such that properties with greater than 50% occupancy by one company are allocated in full to such
company and the non-majority company moves to another location, except that the non-majority company is not required
to vacate earlier than the expiration date of any applicable lease or sublease entered into pursuant to the Real Estate Matters
Agreement (the “Allocation Principles”). Certain sites will need to be transferred from one company to the other to ensure
conformity with the Allocation Principles. Certain sites are occupied by both IBM and Kyndryl employees following the
Spin-off pursuant to a lease, occupancy agreement or sublease. IBM bears all costs relating to (i) the transfer of owned real
property (e.g., transfer taxes and recording fees), (ii) the transfer of leased real property (e.g., the costs of obtaining
consents) and (iii) except as stated otherwise in the applicable lease form, sublease form or split lease, any alterations or
improvements reasonably required to separate IBM from Kyndryl employees with respect to all properties.

Other Arrangements

We also entered into commercial arrangements with IBM. We entered into an IBM International Client
Relationship Agreement with IBM that governs transactions by which we may order from IBM its branded programs,
services and products and third-party products and services for use in our internal business and to service our customers.

We also entered into a Master Subcontracting Framework Agreement with IBM that governs relationships where
either we or IBM can serve as the prime contractor or subcontractor with respect to a particular customer. The Master
Subcontracting Framework Agreement (i) sets forth the general principles by which we and IBM may establish
subcontracting relationships, (ii) provides a template for developing the subcontract for each particular engagement and
(iii) establishes standard terms and approaches to be applied in the ordinary course of subcontracting between us and IBM.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we incurred costs of $3.9 billion pursuant to these commercial
arrangements.
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Stockholder Registration Rights Agreement

We entered into a Stockholder and Registration Rights Agreement with IBM pursuant to which we agreed that,
upon the request of IBM, subject to certain limitations, we will use our reasonable best efforts to effect the registration
under applicable federal or state securities laws of any shares of our common stock retained by IBM. If we intend to file on
our behalf or on behalf of any of our other security holders a registration statement in connection with a public offering of
any of our securities in a manner that would permit the registration for offer and sale of our common stock held by
IBM, IBM will have the right to include its shares of our common stock in that offering. We are generally responsible for
all registration expenses in connection with the performance of our obligations under the registration rights provisions in
the agreement, and IBM will be responsible for its own internal fees and expenses, any applicable underwriting discounts
or commissions and any stock transfer taxes. The agreement also contains customary indemnification and contribution
provisions by us for the benefit of IBM and, in limited situations, by IBM for the benefit of us with respect to the
information provided by IBM included in any registration statement, prospectus or related document. If IBM transfers
shares covered by the agreement, it will be able to transfer the benefits of the Stockholder’s and Registration Rights
Agreement to transferees of 5% or more of the shares of our common stock outstanding immediately following the
Distribution, provided that each transferee agrees to be bound by the terms of the Stockholder and Registration Rights
Agreement. In addition, IBM agreed to vote any shares of our common stock that it retains immediately after the
Distribution in proportion to the votes cast by our other stockholders. In connection with such agreement, IBM will grant
us a proxy to vote its shares of our retained common stock in such proportion. As a result, IBM will not be able to exert
any control over us through the shares of our common stock it retains. Any such proxy, however, will be automatically
revoked as to a particular share upon any sale or transfer of such share from IBM to a person other than IBM, and neither
the Stockholder and Registration Rights Agreement nor proxy will limit or prohibit any such sale or transfer.

Guarantee Agreements

In October 2021, IBM entered into guarantee agreements pursuant to which IBM initially guaranteed on a senior
unsecured basis (i) $700 million aggregate principal amount of our 2.050% Senior Notes due 2026, (ii) $500 million
aggregate principal amount of our 2.700% Senior Notes due 2028, (iii) $650 million aggregate principal amount of our
3.150% Senior Notes due 2031, (iv) $550 million aggregate principal amount of our 4.100% Senior Notes due 2041 and (v)
$500 million in borrowings under our term loan credit agreement. IBM was automatically and unconditionally released and
discharged from all obligations under these guarantee agreements at the time the Spin-off was completed.

Other Related Person Transactions

From time to time, we may have employees who are related to our executive officers or directors. The daughter of
Mr. Keinan (our Group President), was an IBM employee for a portion of 2021 and transferred to Kyndryl to hold a non-
executive position until December 31, 2021, when she left Kyndryl. She received compensation of $128,900 in 2021. Her
compensation and other terms of employment were determined on a basis consistent with our human resources policies and
industry practices.

Director Independence

Under our Corporate Governance Guidelines and NYSE rules, a director is not independent unless our Board
affirmatively determines that he or she does not have a direct or indirect material relationship with us or any of our
subsidiaries.

Our Corporate Governance Guidelines define independence in accordance with the independence definition in the
current NYSE corporate governance rules for listed companies. Our Corporate Governance Guidelines require our
Nominating and Governance Committee and our Board to review the independence of all directors at least annually.
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In the event a director has a relationship with the Company that is relevant to his or her independence and is not
addressed by the objective tests set forth in the NYSE independence definition, our Board will determine, considering all
relevant facts and circumstances, whether such relationship is material.

Our Board has affirmatively determined that each of Messrs. Hester, Caruso, Harris, Machuel, Merchant and
Ungerleider and Mses. Jackson, Kugel and Schreuder is independent under the guidelines for director independence set
forth in the Corporate Governance Guidelines and under all applicable NYSE guidelines, including with respect to
committee membership. Our Board also has determined that each of Messrs. Caruso, Machuel and Merchant is
“independent” for purposes of Section 10A(m)(3) of the Exchange Act, and that each of Mses. Kugel and Schreuder and
Mr. Ungerleider is “independent” for purposes of Section 10C(a)(3) of the Exchange Act. In making its independence
determinations, our Board considered and reviewed all information known to it (including information identified through
annual directors’ questionnaires), including the various commercial transactions and relationships between IBM and/or us
and our subsidiaries and the entities with which certain of our directors are or have been affiliated. The Board determined
that the transactions identified were not material and did not affect the independence of any of our non-employee directors
under either the Company’s Governance Guidelines or the applicable NYSE rules.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”) began serving as our independent registered public accounting firm in
2020. In connection with the audit of the 2021 financial statements, we entered into an agreement with PwC which sets
forth the terms by which PwC would perform audit services for the Company. The following table presents fees for
professional audit and other services rendered by PwC for the year ended December 31, 2021. For the year ended
December 31, 2020, we did not pay any fees for professional services to PwC. Prior to the Separation, IBM paid any audit,
audit-related, tax or other fees related to Kyndryl’s business. As a result, the amounts reported below are not necessarily
representative of the fees we expect to pay PwC in future years. All PwC services for 2020 and 2021 were approved in
advance by our Audit Committee (or, prior to the Spin-off, by IBM’s audit committee).

(Dollars in millions)     2021     2020
Audit Fees(1) $  17 $ NA
Audit-Related Fees(2)   14  NA
Tax Fees(3)   —  NA
All Other Fees(4)   —  NA
Total $  31 $ NA

NA – Not applicable
(1) Fees in 2021 include the audit of Kyndryl’s consolidated annual financial statements, the review of interim financial statements in Kyndryl’s

quarterly reports on Form 10-Q filed subsequent to the Separation and the performance of audits in accordance with statutory requirements.
(2) Fees in 2021 include the services provided related to process control reports delivered to the Company and its clients.
(3) Tax fees were not applicable for the period presented.
(4) The Company did not incur other fees for the period presented.

The Audit Committee considered whether providing the non-audit services included in this table was compatible
with maintaining PwC’s independence and concluded that it was.

Pre-Approval of Services Provided by Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consistent with its charter and applicable SEC rules, our Audit Committee approves all fees paid to, and all
services performed by, our independent registered public accounting firm. At the time of the Spin-off, the Audit Committee
approved and, going forward, at the beginning of each year, the Audit Committee approves the proposed services,
including the nature, type and scope of service contemplated and the related fees, to be rendered by PwC during the year. In
addition, pursuant to authority delegated by the Audit Committee, the Audit Committee chair may approve engagements
that are outside the scope of the services and fees approved by the Audit Committee, which are later presented to the
Committee. For each category of proposed service, the independent registered public accounting firm is required to
confirm that the provision of such services does not impair its independence.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules:

Exhibit Number Description of Exhibit
2.1 The Separation and Distribution Agreement, dated as of November 2, 2021, by and between

International Business Machines Corporation and the registrant was filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 4, 2021 and is hereby incorporated by
reference.

3.1 The Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the registrant was filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 4, 2021 and is hereby incorporated by
reference.

3.2 The Amended and Restated Bylaws of the registrant was filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on November 4, 2021 and is hereby incorporated by reference.

4.1 The Indenture, dated as of October 15, 2021, between Kyndryl Holdings, Inc. and The Bank of New
York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee, was filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the registrant’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on October 15, 2021 and is hereby incorporated by reference.

4.2 The First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 15, 2021, between Kyndryl Holdings, Inc. and
The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee, was filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 15, 2021 and is hereby incorporated by
reference.

4.3 Guarantee Agreement, dated as of October 15, 2021, among International Business Machines
Corporation, Kyndryl Holdings, Inc. and the Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as
trustee, in favor of the holders of the notes (filed herewith).

4.4 The Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of October 15, 2021, among Kyndryl Holdings, Inc. and
the representatives of the initial purchasers of the notes, was filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 15, 2021 and is hereby incorporated by reference.

4.5 Description of the registrant’s securities registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act (filed
herewith).

10.1 The Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of October 18, 2021, by and among Kyndryl Holdings, Inc.,
the lenders party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as administrative agent, and the other
financial institutions party thereto, was filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed on October 22, 2021 and is hereby incorporated by reference.

10.2 The Five-Year Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of October 18, 2021, by and among Kyndryl
Holdings, Inc., the lenders party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as administrative agent, and
the other financial institutions party thereto, was filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on October 22, 2021 and is hereby incorporated by reference.

10.3 The Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 28, 2021, among
Kyndryl, Inc., Banco Santander S.A. and solely for the purposes of Section 13.19, Kyndryl Holdings,
Inc., was filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K filed on November 1, 2021
and is hereby incorporated by reference.

10.4 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 26,
2022, among Kyndryl, Inc., Kyndryl Holdings, Inc. and Banco Santander S.A. (filed herewith).

10.5 The Transition Services Agreement, dated as of November 2, 2021, between International Business
Machines Corporation and Kyndryl Holdings, Inc., was filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on November 4, 2021 and is hereby incorporated by reference.*

10.6 The Tax Matters Agreement, dated as of November 2, 2021, between International Business Machines
Corporation and Kyndryl Holdings, Inc. was filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on November 4, 2021 and is hereby incorporated by reference.

10.7 The Employee Matters Agreement, dated as of November 2, 2021, between International Business
Machines Corporation and Kyndryl Holdings, Inc. was filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on November 4, 2021 and is hereby incorporated by reference.
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10.8 The Intellectual Property Agreement, dated as of November 2, 2021, between International Business
Machines Corporation and Kyndryl, Inc. was filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on November 4, 2021 and is hereby incorporated by reference.

10.9 The Real Estate Matters Agreement, dated as of November 2, 2021, between International Business
Machines Corporation and Kyndryl Holdings, Inc. was filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on November 4, 2021 and is hereby incorporated by reference.

10.10 The IBM International Client Relationship Agreement, dated as of November 2, 2021, between
International Business Machines Corporation and Kyndryl, Inc. was filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 4, 2021 and is hereby incorporated by
reference.*

10.11 The Master Subcontracting Framework Agreement, dated as of November 2, 2021, between
International Business Machines Corporation and Kyndryl, Inc. was filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 4, 2021 and is hereby incorporated by
reference.*

10.12 The Stockholder and Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of November 2, 2021, between
International Business Machines Corporation and Kyndryl Holdings, Inc. was filed as Exhibit 10.8 to
the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 4, 2021 and is hereby incorporated by
reference.

10.13 The Kyndryl 2021 Long-Term Performance Plan was filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on November 4, 2021 and is hereby incorporated by reference.†

10.14 The Forms of LTPP equity award agreements for (i) stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock
units, cash-settled restricted stock units and (ii) retention restricted stock unit awards was filed as
Exhibit 10.10 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 4, 2021 and is hereby
incorporated by reference.†

10.15 The Form of LTPP equity award agreement for performance share units was filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 4, 2021 and is hereby incorporated by
reference.†

10.16 The Form of Terms and Conditions of LTPP equity award agreements was filed as Exhibit 10.12 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 4, 2021 and is hereby incorporated by
reference.†

10.17 The Kyndryl Excess Plan was filed as Exhibit 10.13 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on November 4, 2021 and is hereby incorporated by reference.†

10.18 The Offer Letter by and between International Business Machines Corporation and Martin Schroeter,
dated January 2, 2021, the LTPP performance share unit award agreement, dated February 1, 2021, and
the related terms and conditions document, effective December 15, 2020, and the noncompetition
agreement, dated January 3, 2021, was filed as Exhibit 10.13 to the registrant’s Registration Statement
on Form 10 filed on October 12, 2021 and is hereby incorporated by reference.†

10.19 The Offer Letter by and between International Business Machines Corporation and David Wyshner,
dated July 23, 2021, and the noncompetition agreement, dated July 25, 2021, was filed as Exhibit 10.14
to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10 filed on October 12, 2021 and is hereby
incorporated by reference.†

10.20 The Offer Letter by and between International Business Machines Corporation and Elly Keinan, dated
March 1, 2021, the LTPP performance share unit award agreement, dated April 1, 2021, and the related
terms and conditions document, effective March 1, 2021, the Executive Sign-on Repayment Agreement
and the noncompetition agreement, dated March 2, 2021, was filed as Exhibit 10.15 to the registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form 10 filed on October 12, 2021 and is hereby incorporated by reference.†

10.21 The Offer Letter by and between International Business Machines Corporation and Maryjo Charbonnier,
dated May 28, 2021, the LTPP performance share unit award agreement, dated August 2, 2021, and the
related terms and conditions document, effective March 1, 2021, the LTPP retention restricted stock unit
award agreement, dated August 2, 2021, and the related terms and conditions document, effective June
1, 2020, the Executive Sign-on Repayment Agreement and the noncompetition agreement, dated June 1,
2021, was filed as Exhibit 10.16 to the registrant’s
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Registration Statement on Form 10 filed on October 12, 2021 and is hereby incorporated by reference.†
10.22 The LTPP performance share unit award agreement for Edward Sebold, dated May 3, 2021, and the

related terms and conditions document, effective May 1, 2021, and the noncompetition agreement, dated
April 25, 2012, was filed as Exhibit 10.17 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10 filed on
October 12, 2021 and is hereby incorporated by reference.†

10.23 The Kyndryl Holdings, Inc. Executive Severance and Retirement Plan was filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 25, 2022 and is hereby incorporated by
reference.†

10.24 The Kyndryl Annual Incentive Plan for Executives was filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on February 25, 2022 and is hereby incorporated by reference. †

10.25 Form of LTPP equity award agreement for directors (filed herewith).†
10.26 Form of Terms and Conditions for LTPP equity award agreement for directors (filed herewith).†
21.1 Subsidiaries of the registrant (filed herewith).
23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (filed herewith).
24.1 Power of attorney (filed herewith).
31.1 Certification of principal executive officer, as required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002 (filed herewith).
31.2 Certification of principal financial officer, as required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002 (filed herewith).
32.1 Certification of principal executive officer, as required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002 (furnished herewith).
32.2 Certification of principal financial officer, as required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002 (furnished herewith).
99.1 Section 13(r) Disclosure.
101.INS XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear on the Interactive Data File because

its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File – the cover page interactive data file does not appear in the Interactive

Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

* Certain portions of this exhibit have been redacted pursuant to Item 601(b)(10)(iv) of Regulation S-K. The Company
agrees to furnish supplementally an unredacted copy of the exhibit to the Commission upon its request.
† Management contract or compensatory plan in which directors and/or executive officers are eligible to participate.

The agreements and other documents filed as exhibits to this report are not intended to provide factual information or other
disclosure other than with respect to the terms of the agreements or other documents themselves and you should not rely on
them for that purpose. In particular, any representations and warranties made by the Company in these agreements or other
documents were made solely within the specific context of the relevant agreement or document and do not apply in any
other context or at any time other than the date they were made.
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Item 16. Form 10-K Summary:

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Kyndryl Holdings, Inc.
(Registrant)

Date: March 10, 2022
By: /s/ Martin J. Schroeter

Martin J. Schroeter
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
(Authorized Signatory)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Date
By /s/ Martin J. Schroeter Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer March 10, 2022

Martin J. Schroeter (Principal Executive Officer)
By /s/ David B. Wyshner Chief Financial Officer March 10, 2022

David B. Wyshner (Principal Financial Officer)
By /s/ Vineet Khurana Vice President and Controller March 10, 2022

Vineet Khurana (Principal Accounting Officer)
By * Director March 10, 2022

Dominic J. Caruso
By * Director March 10, 2022

John D. Harris II
By * Director March 10, 2022

Stephen A.M. Hester
By * Director March 10, 2022

Shirley Ann Jackson
By * Director March 10, 2022

Janina Kugel
By * Director March 10, 2022

Denis Machuel
By * Director March 10, 2022

Rahul N. Merchant
By * Director March 10, 2022

Jana Schreuder
By * Director March 10, 2022

Howard I. Ungerleider
*By /s/ Evan Barth

Evan Barth, Attorney-in-fact



Exhibit 4.3

GUARANTEE AGREEMENT

BY

INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS MACHINES CORPORATION

in favor of

THE HOLDERS,

KYNDRYL HOLDINGS, INC.

and

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A.,

as Trustee for the Holders of the Securities Specified Below of

KYNDRYL HOLDINGS, INC.

$700,000,000 of 2.050% Notes due 2026

$500,000,000 of 2.700% Notes due 2028

$650,000,000 of 3.150% Notes due 2031

$550,000,000 of 4.100% Notes due 2041

October 15, 2021



GUARANTEE AGREEMENT, dated as of October 15, 2021 (as amended from time to time, this
“Guarantee”), made by International Business Machines Corporation, a New York corporation (the
“Guarantor”), in favor of (a) the Holders (as defined in the Indenture (as defined below)) of $700,000,000 of
2.050% Senior Notes due 2026 (the “2026 Notes”), $500,000,000 of 2.700% Senior Notes due 2028 (the “2028
Notes”), $650,000,000 of 3.150% Senior Notes due 2031 (the “2031 Notes”) and $550,000,000 of 4.100% Senior
Notes due 2041 (the “2041 Notes” and, together with the 2026 Notes, the 2028 Notes and the 2031 Notes, the
“Securities”), (b) Kyndryl Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Issuer”), and (c) The Bank of New York
Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (the “Trustee”) under the Indenture.

WITNESSETH:

SECTION 1. Guarantee.

The Guarantor hereby irrevocably and unconditionally guarantees, as a primary obligor and not
merely as a surety, to the Holders from time to time of the Securities the full and punctual payment of the
principal of, premium, if any, and interest on each series of Securities, when and as the same become due and
payable, whether at stated maturity, upon redemption, by declaration of acceleration or otherwise, as well as all
other obligations of the Company to the Holders and the Trustee under the Indenture (as defined below) or the
Securities and any other amounts due and owing under the Indenture (the “Obligations”), according to the terms
of the Securities and as set forth in the Indenture dated as of October 15, 2021 (the “Base Indenture”), between
the Issuer and the Trustee, as supplemented by the first supplemental indenture thereto, dated as of October 15,
2021 (the “Supplemental Indenture” and, together with the Base Indenture, as each may be amended, modified
or otherwise supplemented from time to time after the date hereof with applicability to the Securities, the
“Indenture”), between the Issuer and the Trustee, and the Securities, in each case subject to any applicable grace
period or notice requirement or both. The guarantee hereunder constitutes a guarantee of payment when due
(whether or not any bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or other similar proceeding shall have stayed the accrual
or collection of any of the Obligations or operated as a discharge thereof) and not merely of collection.

SECTION 2. Guarantee Absolute.

The Guarantor guarantees that the Obligations will be paid strictly in accordance with the terms of
the Indenture and the Securities, regardless of any law, regulation or order now or hereafter in effect in any
jurisdiction affecting any of such terms or the rights of Holders of the Securities with respect thereto. The liability
of the Guarantor under this Guarantee shall (subject to Section 3 hereof) be absolute and unconditional
irrespective of:

(a) any invalidity, illegality or unenforceability of the Indenture, the Securities or any other
agreement or instrument relating thereto;
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(b) any change in the time, manner or place of payment of, or in any other term of, all or any of
the Obligations, or any other amendment or waiver of or any consent to departure from the Indenture; or

(c) any other circumstance which might otherwise constitute a defense available to, or a
discharge of, the Issuer or a guarantor.

The obligation of the Guarantor to make any payment hereunder may be satisfied by causing the 
Issuer to make such payment.  Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, nothing shall be 
construed to impose upon the Guarantor any obligations greater than, in addition to, or other than, the obligations 
of the Issuer under the Indenture and the Securities.

SECTION 3. Termination of Guarantee.

(a) This Guarantee shall terminate, and the obligations of the Guarantor under this Guarantee
shall cease to exist, with respect to a particular series of Securities, upon payment in full of the Obligations with
respect to such series of Securities.

(b) Unless earlier terminated pursuant to Section 3(a), this Guarantee shall automatically and
unconditionally terminate, and all obligations of the Guarantor under this Guarantee shall cease to exist, at such
time as the Distribution (as defined in Exhibit 99.1 to the Registration Statement on Form 10 filed by the Issuer on
October 12, 2021 with the Securities and Exchange Commission) has been completed. Upon the satisfaction of the
conditions in the immediately preceding sentence, the Trustee and each Holder of the Securities shall be deemed
to consent to the termination of this Guarantee, without any action on the part of the Trustee or any Holder of the
Securities.

SECTION 4. Waiver; Subrogation.

(a) The Guarantor hereby waives notice of acceptance of this Guarantee, diligence,
presentment, demand of payment, filing of claims with a court in the event of merger or bankruptcy of the Issuer,
any right to require a proceeding filed first against the Issuer, protest or notice with respect to the Securities or the
indebtedness evidenced thereby and all demands whatsoever.

(b) The Guarantor shall be subrogated to all rights of the Trustee or the Holders of any
Securities against the Issuer in respect of any amounts paid to the Trustee or such Holder by the Guarantor
pursuant to the provisions of this Guarantee; provided, however, that the Guarantor shall not be entitled to enforce,
or to receive any payments arising out of, or based upon, such right of subrogation until all Obligations shall have
been paid in full.
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SECTION 5. No Waiver; Remedies.

No failure on the part of the Trustee or any Holder of any series of Securities to exercise, and no
delay in exercising, any right hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of
any right hereunder preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right. The remedies
herein provided are cumulative and not exclusive of any remedies provided by law.

SECTION 6. Transfer of Interest.

This Guarantee shall be binding upon the Guarantor, its successors and assigns, and shall inure to
the benefit of and be enforceable by any Holder of Securities, the Trustee, and by their respective successors,
transferees and assigns, pursuant to the terms hereof. This Guarantee shall not be deemed to create any right in, or
to be in whole or in part for the benefit of any other person.

SECTION 7. Amendment.

The Guarantor may amend this Guarantee at any time for any purpose without the consent of the
Trustee or any Holder of Securities of any series; provided, however, that if such amendment adversely affects the
rights of the Trustee or any Holder of any series of Securities in any material respect, the prior written consent of
the Trustee or each Holder affected, as the case may be, shall be required.

SECTION 8. Governing Law.

THIS GUARANTEE SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, WITHOUT REGARD TO ANY CONFLICT OF LAWS
PROVISIONS THEREOF THAT WOULD RESULT IN THE APPLICATION OF THE LAWS OF ANY OTHER
JURISDICTION.

SECTION 9. No Recourse Against Others.

A director, officer, employee, stockholder, partner or other owner of the Guarantor, as such, shall
not have any liability for any obligations of the Guarantor under this Guarantee or for any claim based on, in
respect of or by reason of such obligations or their creation.

SECTION 10. Reports by Guarantor.

The Guarantor shall file with the Trustee and the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“Commission”), and transmit to Holders, such information, documents and other reports, and such summaries
thereof, as may be required pursuant to the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, as then in effect (the “TIA”),
at the times and in the manner provided pursuant to the TIA; provided, however, that any such information,
documents or reports required to be filed with the Commission pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), shall be filed with the Trustee within 15 days after the
same is so filed with the Commission.



4

The Guarantor shall be deemed to have complied with the previous sentence to the extent that such information,
documents and reports are filed with the Commission via EDGAR (or any successor electronic delivery
procedure); provided, however, that the Trustee shall have no obligation to determine whether or not such
information, documents or reports have been filed pursuant to the EDGAR system (or its successor).

SECTION 11. Separability.

In case any provision in this Guarantee shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity,
legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby,
it being intended that all of the provisions hereof shall be enforceable to the full extent permitted by law.

SECTION 12. Headings.

The section headings of this Guarantee have been inserted for convenience of reference only, are
not to be considered a part of this Guarantee and shall in no way modify or restrict any of the terms or provisions
hereof.

SECTION 13. Notices, Etc., to the Guarantor.

Any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent, waiver or Act (as defined in the
Indenture) of Holders or other document provided or permitted by this Guarantee to be made upon, given or
furnished to, or filed with, the Guarantor by the Trustee or by any Holder shall be sufficient for every purpose
hereunder (unless otherwise herein expressly provided) if in writing and mailed, first-class postage prepaid, to the
Guarantor addressed to the address last furnished in writing to the Trustee by the Guarantor, or, if no such address
has been furnished, to International Business Machines Corporation, One New Orchard Road, Armonk, New York
10504, Attention: Manager, Corporate Matters.

SECTION 14. Counterparts.

This Guarantee may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which so executed shall be
deemed to be an original, but all such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.

The exchange of copies of this Guarantee and of signature pages by facsimile or electronic (i.e.,
“pdf” or “tif”) transmission shall constitute effective execution and delivery of this Guarantee as to the parties
hereto and may be used in lieu of the original Guarantee for all purposes. The exchange of copies of this
Guarantee and of signature pages that are executed by manual signatures that are scanned, photocopied or faxed or
by other electronic signing created on an electronic platform (such as DocuSign) or by digital signing (such as
Adobe Sign), in each case that is approved by the Trustee, shall constitute effective execution and delivery of this
Guarantee for all purposes. Signatures of the parties hereto that are executed by manual signatures that are
scanned, photocopied or faxed or by other electronic signing created on an electronic platform (such as DocuSign)
or by digital signing (such as Adobe Sign), in each case that
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is approved by the Trustee, shall be deemed to be their original signatures for all purposes of this Guarantee as to
the parties hereto and may be used in lieu of the original.

SECTION 15. Trustee Disclaimer.

The Trustee makes no representation as to the validity, adequacy or sufficiency of this Guarantee.
The recitals and statements herein are deemed to be those of the Guarantor and not the Trustee and the Trustee
assumes no responsibility for the same and the Trustee does not make any representation with respect to such
matters. The Trustee shall have all of the rights (including indemnification rights), powers, benefits, privileges,
protections, indemnities and immunities granted to the Trustee under the Indenture, all of which are incorporated
herein mutatis mutandis.



[Signature Page to the Guarantee Agreement]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Guarantor has caused this Guarantee to be duly executed and
delivered by its officer thereunto duly authorized as of the date first above written.

INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS MACHINES
CORPORATION

By: /s/ Frank Sedlarcik
Name: Frank Sedlarcik
Title: Vice President, Assistant

General Counsel Secretary



[Signature Page to the Guarantee Agreement]

Agreed and Accepted:

KYNDRYL HOLDINGS, INC.

By: /s/ Mark Hobbert
Name: Mark Hobbert
Title: Assistant Treasurer



[Signature Page to the Guarantee Agreement]

Agreed and Accepted:

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A.
as Trustee under the Indenture

By: /s/ Julie Hoffman-Ramos
Name: Julie Hoffman-Ramos
Title: Vice President



Exhibit 4.5

DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OF KYNDRYL HOLDINGS, INC. REGISTERED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

In this document, the “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Kyndryl Holdings, Inc., a Delaware
corporation. The following description of our common stock summarizes material provisions of our amended and restated
certificate of incorporation (the “certificate of incorporation”), our amended and restated bylaws (the “bylaws”) and
certain provisions of Delaware law. The description is intended as a summary, and is qualified in its entirety by reference
to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation (our “certificate of incorporation”) and our amended and
restated bylaws (our “bylaws”), copies of which have been filed as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and the
applicable provisions of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”).

Authorized Capital Stock

Our authorized capital stock consists of 1,000,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, and
100,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share.

Common Stock

Dividends

Holders of shares of our common stock are entitled to receive dividends when, as and if declared by our board of
directors (the “Board”) at its discretion out of funds legally available for that purpose, subject to the preferential rights of
any preferred stock that may be outstanding. We currently do not pay a dividend. The timing, declaration, amount and
payment of future dividends will depend on our financial condition, earnings, capital requirements and debt service
obligations, as well as legal requirements, regulatory constraints, industry practice and other factors that our Board deems
relevant. Our Board will make all decisions regarding our payment of dividends from time to time in accordance with
applicable law.

Voting Rights

The holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held of record on all matters submitted to
a vote of the stockholders.

Other Rights

Subject to the preferential liquidation rights of any preferred stock that may be outstanding, upon our liquidation,
dissolution or winding-up, the holders of our common stock are entitled to share ratably in our assets legally available for
distribution to our stockholders.

Fully Paid

The issued and outstanding shares of our common stock are fully paid and non-assessable. Any additional shares
of common stock that we may issue in the future will also be fully paid and non-assessable. The holders of our common
stock do not have preemptive rights or preferential rights to subscribe for shares of our capital stock.

Preferred Stock

Our certificate of incorporation authorizes our Board to designate and issue from time to time one or more series
of preferred stock without stockholder approval. Our Board may fix and determine the preferences, limitations and relative
rights of each series of preferred stock.
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Certain Provisions of Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws and Delaware Law

Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws

Certain provisions in our certificate of incorporation and our bylaws summarized below may be deemed to have
an anti-takeover effect and may delay, deter or prevent a tender offer or takeover attempt. These provisions are intended to
enhance the likelihood of continuity and stability in the composition of our Board and in the policies formulated by our
Board and to discourage certain types of transactions that may involve an actual or threatened change of control.

● Classified Board. Our certificate of incorporation provides that, until the conclusion of the 2027 annual
meeting, our Board will be divided into three classes, with each class consisting, as nearly as may be
possible, of one-third of the total number of directors. The directors designated as Class I directors have terms
expiring at the Company’s annual meeting of stockholders in 2022. The directors designated as Class II
directors have terms expiring at the Company’s annual meeting of stockholders in 2023, and the directors
designated as Class III directors have terms expiring at the Company’s annual meeting of stockholders in
2024. Any director elected at the 2022, 2023 or 2024 annual meeting will belong to the class whose term
expires at such annual meeting and will hold office for a three-year term until his or her successor has been
duly elected and qualified or until his or her earlier resignation or removal. Beginning at the Company’s
annual meeting of stockholders in 2025 and at each annual meeting thereafter, all of our directors up for
election at such meeting will be elected annually and will hold office until the next annual meeting and until
his or her successor has been duly elected and qualified or until his or her earlier resignation or removal.
Effective as of the conclusion of the Company’s annual meeting of stockholders in 2027, our Board will
therefore no longer be divided into three classes. Before our Board is declassified, it would take at least two
elections of directors for any individual or group to gain control of our Board. Accordingly, while the
classified Board is in effect, these provisions could discourage a third party from initiating a proxy contest,
making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to control us.

● Removal. Our certificate of incorporation provides that (i) prior to our Board being declassified as discussed
above, our stockholders may remove directors only for cause and (ii) after our Board has been fully
declassified, our stockholders may remove directors with or without cause. Removal will require the
affirmative vote of holders of at least a majority of our voting stock.

● Vacancies. Our bylaws provide that any vacancies created on the Board for any reason, including resulting
from any increase in the authorized number of directors or the death, resignation, disqualification or removal
from office of any director, will be filled exclusively by a majority of the directors then in office, even if less
than a quorum, or by the sole remaining director. Any director elected to fill a vacancy on our Board will hold
office until the expiration of the term of office of the director he or she replaced or until his or her successor
is duly elected and qualified.

● Blank Check Preferred Stock. Our certificate of incorporation authorizes our Board to designate and issue,
without any further vote or action by the stockholders, up to 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock from time
to time in one or more series and, with respect to each such series, to fix the number of shares constituting the
series and the designation of the series, the voting powers (if any) of the shares of the series, and the
preferences and relative, participating, optional and other rights, if any, and any qualifications, limitations or
restrictions, of the shares of such series. The ability to issue such preferred stock could discourage potential
acquisition proposals and could delay or prevent a change in control.

● Authorized but Unissued Common Stock. Delaware law does not require stockholder approval for any
issuance of authorized shares. However, the listing requirements of the New York Stock Exchange (the
“NYSE”), which would apply if and so long as our common stock remains listed on the NYSE, require
stockholder approval of certain issuances equal to or exceeding 20% of the then outstanding voting power or
then outstanding number of shares of common stock. Additional shares that may be used in the future may be
used for a variety of corporate purposes, including future public offerings, to raise additional capital or to
facilitate acquisitions. One of the effects of the existence of authorized and unissued common
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stock may be to enable our Board of Directors to issue shares to persons friendly to current management,
which issuance could render more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain control of the Company.

● No Stockholder Action by Written Consent. Our certificate of incorporation expressly excludes the right of our
stockholders to act by written consent. Stockholder action must take place at an annual meeting or at a special
meeting of our stockholders.

● Special Stockholder Meetings. Our certificate of incorporation and our bylaws provide that holders of at least
25% of our outstanding shares or our Board are able to call a special meeting of stockholders.

● Requirements for Advance Notification of Stockholder Nominations and Proposals. Under our bylaws,
stockholders of record are able to nominate persons for election to our Board or bring other business
constituting a proper matter for stockholder action only by providing proper notice to our Secretary. In the
case of annual meetings, proper notice must be given, generally between 90 and 120 days prior to the first
anniversary of the prior year’s annual meeting as first specified in the notice of meeting provided, however,
that if (A) the annual meeting is advanced by more than 30 days, or delayed by more than 60 days, from the
first anniversary of the prior year’s annual meeting or (B) no annual meeting was held during the prior year,
the notice by the stockholder to be timely must be received (1) no earlier than 120 days before such annual
meeting and (2) no later than the later of 90 days before such annual meeting and the tenth day after the day
on which the notice of such annual meeting was first made by mail or public disclosure. In the case of special
meetings, proper notice must be given no earlier than the 120th day prior to the relevant meeting and no later
than the later of the 90th day prior to such meeting or the 10th day following the public announcement of the
meeting. Our bylaws also specify the requirements as to the form and content of a stockholder’s notice. These
provisions may also defer, delay or discourage a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies
to elect the acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to influence or obtain control of the
Company.

● Proxy Access. Our bylaws allow one or more stockholders (up to 20, collectively), owning at least 3% of our
outstanding shares continuously for at least three years, to nominate for election to our Board and to be
included in our proxy materials up to the greater of two individuals or 20% of our Board, only by sending
proper notice to our Secretary.

● Cumulative Voting. The DGCL provides that stockholders are denied the right to cumulate votes in the
election of directors unless the Company’s certificate of incorporation provides otherwise. Our certificate of
incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting.

● Amendments to Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws. The DGCL provides that the affirmative vote of
holders of a majority of a company’s voting stock then outstanding is required to amend the Company’s
certificate of incorporation unless the Company’s certificate of incorporation provides a higher threshold, and
our certificate of incorporation does not provide for a higher threshold. Our certificate of incorporation
provides that our bylaws may be amended by our Board or by the affirmative vote of holders of at least a
majority of our voting stock.

Delaware Takeover Statute

We are subject to Section 203 of the DGCL, which, subject to certain exceptions, prohibits a Delaware
corporation from engaging in any business combination with any interested stockholder for a period of three years
following the date that such stockholder became an interested stockholder.
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Exclusive Forum

Our certificate of incorporation provides, in all cases to the fullest extent permitted by law, that unless we consent
in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery located within the State of Delaware will be the
sole and exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of us, any action asserting a claim of
breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer, agent, employee or stockholder of the Company to us or our
stockholders, any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to the DGCL or as to which the DGCL confers jurisdiction on
the Court of Chancery located in the State of Delaware, any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs
doctrine, or any action asserting a claim arising under the DGCL, our certificate of incorporation or our bylaws. However,
if the Court of Chancery within the State of Delaware does not have jurisdiction, the action may be brought in the United
States District Court for the District of Delaware. Additionally, our certificate of incorporation states that the foregoing
provision will not apply to claims arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”). Unless we
consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States of America shall
be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. The
exclusive forum provisions may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for
disputes with us or any of our directors, officers or stockholders, which may discourage lawsuits with respect to such
claims. Our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with the federal securities laws and the
rules and regulations thereunder as a result of our exclusive forum provisions.



1

Exhibit 10.4

FIRST AMENDMENT TO
AMENDED AND RESTATED RECEIVABLES PURCHASE AGREEMENT

THIS FIRST   AMENDMENT   TO   AMENDED   AND   RESTATED   RECEIVABLES
PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this “Amendment”), dated as of January 26, 2022 (the “Amendment Effective
Date”), is entered into by and among Banco Santander S.A. (“Santander”), Kyndryl, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(“Kyndryl”), and Kyndryl Holdings Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Parent”). This Amendment amends that certain
Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 28, 2021 (the “Agreement”), among,
inter alia, Kyndryl, Santander, and solely for purposes of Section 13.19 thereof, Parent.

For good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties
hereby agree as follows:

A. Defined Terms. All initially capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the respective
meanings ascribed thereto in the Agreement, as amended hereby.

B. Amendments to the Agreement. The Agreement is hereby amended as follows:

1. In Section 2.2 of the Agreement (Purchase and Sale), subsections (b) and (c) are hereby deleted in their entirety
and replaced with the following:

(b) Rejected Offers. If a Specification delivered by Seller to Purchaser pursuant to Section 2.2(a) does not
comply with the requirements herein described or the Purchaser exercises its option to not purchase any
Designated Receivables owing by an Obligor (Uncommitted), the Purchaser shall promptly (and in any event
no later than 5:00 a.m. New York City time on the second Business Day after the applicable Cut Off Date)
notify Seller in writing that it rejects such Specification (which may be in whole or in part) or rejects the
purchase of the Designated Receivables of such Obligor (Uncommitted) (which also may be in whole or in
part), as the case may be, and the Purchaser shall not purchase any such rejected Designated Receivables.
Except as set forth in Section 2.2(c), there shall be no more than one Specification delivered by Seller to
Purchaser in any calendar month; provided, that (i) for the avoidance of doubt, references herein to “Seller”
refer separately to Kyndryl and each Affiliate of Kyndryl that becomes a “Seller” hereunder by executing a
Participation Agreement, and each of Kyndryl and any such other “Seller” may deliver a separate
Specification by the applicable Cut Off Date in any calendar month and (ii) if a Specification (or any
Designated Receivables listed thereon) is rejected by Purchaser pursuant to this Section 2.2(b), Seller may
provide another Specification for the same proposed Approved Purchase Date (correcting any deficiencies in
any rejected Specification or substituting Designated Receivables from any rejected Obligor (Uncommitted)),
as long as such Specification is received by Purchaser no later than 5:00 p.m. New York City time on the
second Business Day after the applicable Cut Off Date and such Specification (together with any portion of
the Specification delivered for the same Approved Purchase Date that was not rejected, as if constituting one
Specification) meets the requirements described in Section 2.2(a); provided, further, that if Designated
Receivables from any Obligor (Uncommitted) are replaced in a resubmitted Specification with Designated
Receivables of the same or any other Obligor (Uncommitted) or all or any portion of such resubmitted
Specification is noncompliant with the requirements described in Section 2.2(a), then Purchaser may reject
the Designated Receivables of such Obligor (Uncommitted) that are in such resubmitted Specification or the
noncompliant portion of such resubmitted Specification, as the case may be. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary in this Agreement, if the Purchaser 
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rejects a noncompliant Specification or the purchase of Designated Receivables of an Obligor (Uncommitted)
requested under a Specification, as the case may be, and such rejection does not apply to all Designated
Receivables on such Specification, then such Specification shall continue to be valid for the compliant portion
of such Specification or the Designated Receivables that were not so rejected by the Purchaser, as applicable.

(c) Additional Quarterly Purchases. On any Business Day after the Cut Off Date and prior to the Approved
Purchase Date for the final month in any fiscal quarter of Seller, Seller may deliver one additional
Specification to Purchaser (an “End of Period Specification”) that lists solely Designated Receivables that are
Eligible Receivables owing by an Obligor (Committed). Subject to the conditions precedent set forth herein
and other terms and conditions of this Agreement, as long as any such End of Period Specification (when
taken together with any other Specification for the same calendar month) complies with the terms set forth in
Section 2.2(a) with respect to the applicable Obligor Limits and Facility Limit and the other terms and
conditions herein set forth, the Purchaser will purchase the Designated Receivables set forth on such End of
Period Specification, but solely in accordance with the process set forth in Section 2.2(e). Seller has provided
its fiscal calendar to Purchaser as of the Closing Date and shall provide to Purchaser notice of any changes
thereto promptly after any such changes are made.

2. In Section 2.4 of the Agreement (Settlement; Certain Collection Matters; Obligor Notices), clause (i) of
subsection (a) is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

(i) On each Reconciliation Advance Report Date, Purchaser shall deliver to Kyndryl a report (a
“Reconciliation Advance Report”) setting forth the Purchased Receivables outstanding on such date (as
determined by Purchaser based on the most recent Reconciliation Report received by Purchaser prior to such
date). On each Reconciliation Date, Kyndryl shall deliver to Purchaser a Reconciliation Report with respect to
all Purchased Receivables that shall, among other things, set forth (A) the total amount of Purchased
Collections (in each applicable currency) received by or on behalf of Kyndryl, any other Seller, or any
Affiliate, agent or representative of any of them, that were not included in any prior Reconciliation Report
and that were so received on or prior to the third Business Day preceding such Reconciliation Date and (B)
solely if requested in advance by Purchaser, the amount of any interest or fees due by an Obligor as a result of
a late payment by such Obligor that were reduced or waived by Seller without the prior written consent of
Purchaser pursuant to the proviso to Section 8.2(a) on or prior to the Business Day immediately preceding
such Reconciliation Date and that were not included in any Reconciliation Report provided in the previous
thirty (30) days.

3. In Section 8.2 of the Agreement (Seller Negative Covenants), subsection (a) is hereby amended by adding the
following at the conclusion thereof:

provided, that Seller may waive or reduce the amount of any interest or fees due by an Obligor solely as a
result of a late payment by such Obligor without the prior written consent of Purchaser up to an amount
recommended by Kyndryl that has been specifically approved in writing (including by email) by Purchaser
(the “pre-approved amount”), taking into consideration Kyndryl’s recommendation, in Purchaser’s sole and
absolute discretion (a “pre- approval”), which pre-approval may be with respect to a particular Obligor or all
Obligors generally (as specified in such pre-approval), and which pre-approval shall remain effective until
Purchaser (in its sole and absolute discretion) notifies Seller in writing (including by email) of (A) a
rescission of such pre-approval or (B) any change in such pre-approved amount with respect to any Obligor or
all Obligors (which new pre-approved amount shall then be in effect until further notice by Purchaser);
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4. In Section 9 of the Agreement (Repurchase Events), Section 9.1 is hereby amended by adding the following at
the conclusion thereof (following the final paragraph of such section):

Upon request of Kyndryl (but not more than once in any calendar year), Purchaser and Kyndryl will
cooperate in good faith to reach mutual agreement, in each such party’s discretion, regarding a credit to be
given by Purchaser to Kyndryl to reflect a reduced Repurchase Price for any Purchased Receivables (not
subject to a Credit Risk Event) repurchased hereunder as the result of a Repurchase Event of the type set forth
in Section 9.1(b), taking into account the difference between the Purchase Price originally paid by the
Purchaser for any such Purchased Receivable and the Purchase Price that would have been payable if the
Discount Period used in such calculation had ended on the applicable repurchase date.

5. In Section 11 of the Agreement (Termination Events), Section 11.1 is hereby amended by (a) deleting the phrase
“IBM (prior to the Spin-Off Date),” each time it appears therein; (b) deleting subsections (n), (o) and (p) in their
entirety (with no replacement); and (c) deleting each of subsection (h) and (l) therefrom and replacing each such
subsection with the corresponding subsection set forth below (in the same location as the corresponding subsection
being replaced):

(h) this Agreement (expressly including Section 13.19), any Participation Agreement or any Fee Letter shall
cease to be a valid and binding obligation enforceable against each Person listed as a party hereto or thereto,
as applicable, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, reorganization, moratorium and other
Applicable Laws affecting or relating to the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally, and subject to general
principles of equity and such failure, solely to the extent capable of cure, shall remain unremedied for five (5)
Business Days after knowledge thereof or notice thereof in writing from Purchaser to Seller; provided that if a
Participation Agreement shall give rise to Purchaser Termination Event under this Section 11.1(h), Purchaser
shall only be entitled to exercise its remedies under this Section 11.1 with respect to such Participation
Agreement; provided, further, however (for the avoidance of doubt), the foregoing does not limit or modify
the rights of Purchaser against Parent resulting therefrom pursuant to Section 13.19 and the guaranty by
Parent under such section shall apply with equal force and effect to the obligations arising under or in
connection with any such Participation Agreement, whether or not such Participation Agreement is
enforceable against the applicable Seller;

(l) at any time, either (i) the long-term unsecured indebtedness credit rating of Parent is not at least BBB- or
Baa3, as applicable, by either S&P or Moody’s or (ii) Parent has no long-term unsecured indebtedness credit
rating by either S&P or Moody’s; or

6. Appendix A to the Agreement (Certain Defined Terms) is hereby amended to add each of the defined terms (and
corresponding definitions) set forth below in its correct alphabetical location thereon and, where applicable, any prior
definition for the same defined term is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the new definition set forth
below:

“Applicable Rate” means, for each Designated Receivable (i) if the final Payment Due Date for such
Designated Receivable is not more than 1 year from the applicable invoice date and such Receivable is
denominated in one of the Eligible Funding Currencies, subject to Schedule 4-A (following the chart thereon)
and Schedule 4-B, the screen rate listed opposite such Eligible Funding Currency in Schedule 4-A determined
by the Purchaser to be equal to the rate that results from interpolating on a linear basis between (A) the
applicable screen rate for the period for which such screen rate is available for the relevant Eligible Funding
Currency that is equal to (and if unavailable,  the first  period higher than) the remaining tenor of the  relevant
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Designated Receivable and (B) the applicable screen rate for the period for which such screen rate is available
for the relevant Eligible Funding Currency that is equal to (and if unavailable, the first period lower than) the
remaining tenor of the relevant Designated Receivable and (ii) otherwise, the rate set forth in a written notice
(including via email) provided by Purchaser to Seller, as determined in good faith by Purchaser based on
independent references such as (by way of example) the applicable market rate at such time under zero-
coupon bonds or other instruments and IMM swaps and futures contracts (giving effect to the applicable tenor
and currency); provided, in no event shall the Applicable Rate (whether determined pursuant to the foregoing
clause (i) or clause (ii)) be less than 0.00%.

“Approved Purchase Date” means, with respect to any calendar month, unless otherwise agreed in writing by
Purchaser, either (i) the Business Day preceding the last Business Day of such calendar month (i.e., the
second-to-last Business Day of such calendar month) or (ii) the Business Day in such calendar month
expressly set forth as the “Approved Purchase Date” in the applicable Participation Agreement with respect to
a particular Seller. For any Cut Off Date, the “related” Approved Purchase Date shall be the Approved
Purchase Date occurring during the same calendar month.

“Buffer Period” means, with respect to any Seller, the number of days that is notified in writing (including by
email) by Purchaser to such Seller at any time and from time to time (effective on and after the date of any
such notification unless a new notification has been delivered with respect thereto), which notice by
Purchaser shall supersede any “Buffer Period” set forth on the Seller Schedule, in any Participation
Agreement or in any prior notice with respect to such Seller and shall apply notwithstanding anything to the
contrary set forth herein or in any other Transaction Document. On the date hereof, the Buffer Period with
respect to Kyndryl is 9 days.

“Cut Off Date” means, with respect to any calendar month during the Availability Period, either
(i) 23:00 (Madrid time) on the fourth Business Day prior to the end of such calendar month or as otherwise
set forth in the applicable Participation Agreement with respect to any Seller other than Kyndryl or (ii) such
other date during a calendar month as notified in writing (including by email) by Purchaser to Kyndryl or to
any other Seller (if only applicable to such other Seller) at any time and from time to time (effective on and
after the date of any such notification unless a new notification has been delivered by Purchaser with respect
thereto); provided, that any such notice by Purchaser of a Cut Off Date hereunder shall supersede any “Cut
Off Date” set forth in the foregoing clause (i), in any Participation Agreement or in any prior notice (as
applicable to any particular Seller) and shall apply notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein or
in any other Transaction Document.

“Expected Reconciliation Date” means, with respect to any Designated Receivable, the Reconciliation Date
first occurring at least three (3) Business Days after the Expected Payment Date for such Designated
Receivable (or such earlier date as the parties may otherwise agree, but any use of an earlier date will not set a
course of dealing in any respect).

“Reconciliation Advance Report” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(a)(i).

“Reconciliation Advance Report Date” means (i) the third (3rd) Business Day of each calendar month and (ii)
the third (3rd) Business Day following the first Reconciliation Date of each calendar month.

“Reconciliation Date” means (i) the tenth (10th) day of each calendar month and (ii) the twenty- fifth (25th)
day of each calendar month; provided, if either such day is not a Business Day, the next Business Day.
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“Reconciliation Report” means the report provided by Kyndryl to Purchaser pursuant to Section 2.4(a) in
form and substance mutually agreed by Kyndryl and Purchaser at any time and from time to time.

“Release” means, that certain release dated as of October 28, 2021 between IBM Credit LLC and Banco
Santander S.A.

7. Schedule 1 to the Agreement (Addresses For Notices) is hereby amended by deleting it in its entirety and
replacing it with Attachment I hereto.

8. Schedule 2 to the Agreement (Seller Schedule) is hereby amended by deleting the final column (Buffer
Period) in its entirety (but such Seller Schedule shall otherwise remain unchanged).

9. Schedule 4-A to the Agreement (Currency and Interest Rate Information) is hereby amended by deleting it in
its entirety and replacing it with Attachment II hereto.

10. Schedule 7 to the Agreement (Purchaser Accounts) is hereby amended by deleting it in its entirety and
replacing it with Attachment III hereto.

C. Representations and Warranties. Each of Parent and Kyndryl hereby represents and warrants as
of the Amendment Effective Date as follows:

1. Both immediately before and immediately after giving effect to this Amendment, the representations and
warranties set forth in the Agreement and each other Transaction Document (including, without limitation, each
Participation Agreement executed on or prior to the date hereof) are true and correct on and as of the date hereof, as
though made on the date hereof (except to the extent that such representations and warranties expressly relate solely
to an earlier date, in which case such representations and warranties shall be true and correct as of such earlier date).

2. To the extent that notice to or the consent, acceptance, acknowledgement or approval of any Seller (other than
Kyndryl) is required pursuant to the applicable Participation Agreement to which it is party to effectuate any
amendment to or modification of the Agreement, as incorporated by reference into such Participation Agreement,
such Seller has received such notice or provided such consent, acceptance, acknowledgement or approval
(collectively, the “Required Consents”) and Kyndryl is executing this Agreement on behalf of itself and each such
other Seller. Kyndryl will provide a copy of this Agreement to each other Seller (whether or not consent hereto is
required by any such other Seller).

3. Both immediately before and immediately after giving effect to this Amendment, the representations and
warranties set forth in subsections (b) though (i) of Section 6.1 of the Agreement are true and correct with respect to
Parent in connection with its obligations under Section 13.19 of the Agreement, as if each reference in such
representations and warranties to “Seller” were a reference to “Parent” for purposes hereof.
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4. Each of Parent, Kyndryl and each other Seller has the organizational power and authority to execute (if
applicable) and be bound by the terms and provisions of this Amendment (and any applicable Required Consent to
which any other Seller is a signatory) and each of them has taken all necessary organizational action to authorize and
approve the execution and delivery (to the extent applicable) and performance of this Amendment and the
Agreement, as amended hereby (and, in the case of each Seller other than Kyndryl, as the Agreement, as amended
hereby, is incorporated into the Participation Agreement to which it is a party), and the foregoing constitutes the
legal, valid, and binding obligation of such party, enforceable against such party in accordance with its terms, except
as the enforceability thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights
generally and subject to general principles of equity.

5. No Triggering Event, Purchaser Termination Event, or event that with the giving of notice, or lapse of time or
both would give rise to a Triggering Event or Purchaser Termination Event has occurred, in each such case, both
immediately before and immediately after giving effect to this Amendment.

6. No Insolvency Event has occurred with respect to Parent, Kyndryl or any other Seller.

D. Additional Terms. The parties hereto further agree to the following terms.

1. This Amendment shall be effective solely for the specific purpose for which it is given and shall not create a
course of dealing between the parties in any respect. The execution, delivery, and performance of this Amendment
shall not operate, except as expressly set forth herein, as a waiver of, consent to, or a modification or amendment of,
any right, power, or remedy of Purchaser under the Agreement, any Participation Agreement, or any other
Transaction Document. Except for the amendments to the Agreement expressly set forth herein (and as the
Agreement, as amended hereby, is incorporated by reference into each Participation Agreement), the Agreement,
each Participation Agreement and each other Transaction Document shall remain unchanged and in full force and
effect in accordance with their respective terms and are hereby ratified and confirmed in all respects.

2. Upon and after the effectiveness of this Amendment, each reference in the Agreement to “this Agreement”,
“hereunder”, “herein”, “hereof” or words of like import referring to the Agreement, and each reference in any
Participation Agreement or any other Transaction Document to “the Receivables Purchase Agreement”, “the
Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement”, “thereunder”, “therein”, “thereof” or words of like import
referring to the Agreement, shall mean and be a reference to the Agreement as modified and amended hereby.

3. This Amendment, and the terms and provisions hereof, the Agreement (as amended hereby) and the other
Transaction Documents (after giving effect to this Amendment) constitute the entire understanding and agreement
between the parties hereto or thereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof and supersede any and all
prior or contemporaneous amendments or understandings with respect to the subject matter hereof, whether express
or implied, oral or written. The terms and provisions of this Amendment shall prevail over any conflicting terms of
any other Transaction Document.
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4. Each of Parent and Kyndryl, on behalf of itself and each other Seller, hereby (i) reaffirms its obligations under
each Transaction Document to which it is a party after giving effect to the terms and provisions of this Amendment
and (ii) ratifies and reaffirms the validity, enforceability, perfection and first priority ownership interest of the
Purchaser in, to and under each Purchased Receivable transferred pursuant to the Agreement or any Participation
Agreement, as applicable.

5. If any provision in this Amendment shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, such provision shall be
severable from the remainder of this Amendment and the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining
provisions shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.

6. SECTIONS 13.9, 13.10 AND 13.11 OF THE AGREEMENT (GOVERNING LAW, SUBMISSION TO
JURISDICTION AND WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL) ARE HEREBY INCORPORATED HEREIN MUTATIS
MUTANDIS AS IF SET FORTH IN FULL HEREIN.

7. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties hereto in separate
counterparts, each of which, when executed and delivered, shall be deemed to be an original, and all of which, taken
together, shall constitute but one and the same agreement. Delivery of an executed counterpart of this Amendment by
facsimile or other electronic method of transmission shall be equally effective as delivery of an original executed
counterpart of this Amendment.

[signature pages follow]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be executed and delivered as of the
date first above written.

BANCO SANTANDER S.A., as Purchaser

By:  /s/Anita Martinez
Name: Anita Martinez
Title:

By:  /s/Gerardo Revilla Varas
Name: Gerardo Revilla Varas
Title:

Signature Page to First Amendment to Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement



KYNDRYL, INC., as Seller
By: /s/ Evan Barth
Name: Evan Barth
Title: Assistant Corporate Secretary

  Kyndryl Holdings Inc., solely for purposes of Section 13.19 of
the Receivables Purchase Agreement, as Parent

By: /s/ Evan Barth

Name: Evan Barth

Title: Assistant Corporate Secretary

Signature Page to First Amendment to Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement
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Form of

Kyndryl

Director Equity Award Agreement

Plan Kyndryl 2021 Long-Term Performance Plan (the “Plan”)

Award Type Restricted Stock Units

Purpose The purpose of this Award is to retain and reward the service of non-employee members of the Board. You recognize
that this Award represents a potentially significant benefit to you and is awarded for the purpose stated here.

Awarded to
Home Country 
Global ID`

Sample
United States (USA) [ID]
[Global ID]

Award
Agreement

This Equity Award Agreement, together with the “Terms and Conditions of Your Equity Award: Effective December
16, 2021” (“Terms and Conditions”) document and the Plan
http://w3.kyndryl.net/hr/web/compensation/executive/eq_prospectus/, both of which are incorporated herein by
reference, together constitute the entire agreement between you and Kyndryl with respect to your Award.

Grant Date of Grant: [Month Date Year]
Number of Units Awarded: [XX]

Vesting This Award vests as set forth below, subject to your continued service with Kyndryl as described in the Terms and
Conditions document.

Units Date 
[number of units] [Month Date Year]

Terms and
Conditions of
Your Equity
Award

Refer to the Terms and Conditions document attached for an explanation of the terms and conditions applicable to
your Award, including those relating to:

· Cancellation and rescission of awards (also see below)

· Jurisdiction, governing law, expenses and taxes

· Non-solicitation of Company employees and clients, if applicable

· Treatment of your Award in the event of death or disability or leave of absence

· Treatment of your Award upon cessation of service

· Treatment of your Award upon a Change in Control

It is strongly recommended that you print the Terms and Conditions document for later reference.



Terms and Conditions of Your Equity Award:

2

Cancellation and
Rescission

You understand that Kyndryl may cancel, modify, rescind, suspend, withhold or otherwise limit or restrict this Award
in accordance with the terms of the Plan, including, without limitation, canceling or rescinding this Award if you
render services for a competitor prior to, or during the Rescission Period. You understand that the Rescission Period
that has been established is 12 months. Refer to the Terms and Conditions document and the Plan for further details.

Data Privacy,
Electronic
Delivery

By accepting this Award, you agree that data, including your personal data, necessary to administer this Award may
be exchanged among Kyndryl and its subsidiaries and affiliates as necessary, and with any vendor engaged by
Kyndryl to administer this Award, subject to the Terms and Conditions document; you also consent to receiving
information and materials in connection with this Award or any subsequent awards under Kyndryl’s long-term
performance plans, including without limitation any prospectuses and plan documents, by any means of electronic
delivery available now and/or in the future (including without limitation by e-mail, by Web site access and/or by
facsimile), such consent to remain in effect unless and until revoked in writing by you.

Extraordinary
Compensation

Your participation in the Plan is voluntary. The Plan is discretionary in nature. This Award is a one-time benefit that
does not create any contractual or other right to receive additional awards or other benefits in the future. Future
grants, if any, are at the sole grace and discretion of Kyndryl, including but not limited to, the timing of the grant, the
number of units and vesting provisions.

Accept Your
Award

This Award is considered valid when you accept it. This Award will be cancelled unless you accept it by 11:59 p.m.
Eastern time two business days prior to the first vesting date in the “Vesting” section of this Agreement. By pressing
the Accept button below to accept your Award, you acknowledge having received and read this Equity Award
Agreement, the Terms and Conditions document and the Plan under which this Award was granted and you agree (i)
not to hedge the economic risk of this Award or any previously-granted outstanding awards, which includes entering
into any derivative transaction on Kyndryl securities (e.g., any short sale, put, swap, forward, option, collar, etc.), and
(ii) to comply with the terms of the Plan, this Equity Award Agreement and the Terms and Conditions document,
including those provisions relating to cancellation and rescission of awards and jurisdiction and governing law.
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KYNDRYL
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 EFFECTIVE December 16, 2021
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Terms and Conditions of Your Equity Award
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Terms and Conditions of Your Equity Award

Introduction

This document provides you with the terms and conditions of your Award that are in addition to the terms and conditions
contained in your Equity Award Agreement for your specific Award. Also, your Award is subject to the terms and conditions
in the governing plan document; the applicable document is indicated in your Equity Award Agreement and can be found at
http://w3.kyndryl.net/hr/web/compensation/executive/eq_prospectus/.

As an Award recipient, you can see a personalized summary of all your outstanding equity grants in the Portfolio section of
the Kyndryl Morgan Stanley stockplanconnect web site www.stockplanconnect.com. This site also contains other information
about long-term incentive awards, including copies of the prospectus (the governing plan document). If you have additional
questions and you are based in the U.S., you can call the Benefits Center – Provided by Fidelity at 866-937-0720, weekdays
from 8:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m. Eastern time (TTY available at 711). Outside of the U.S. dial your country’s toll-free AT&T
Direct® access number, and then enter 866-937-0720. In the U.S., call 800-225-5288 to obtain AT&T Direct access
numbers. Access numbers are also available online at www.att.com/traveler or from your local operator.

How to Use This Document

Terms and conditions that apply to all awards in all countries can be found on page 6. Review these in addition to any
award- or country-specific terms and conditions that may be listed. Once you have reviewed these general terms, check in
your Equity Award Agreement for any award-specific and/or country-specific terms that apply to your Award.
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Terms and Conditions of Your Equity Award:

Definition of Terms

The following are defined terms from the Long-Term Performance Plan, your Equity Award Agreement, or this Terms and
Conditions document. These are provided for your information. In addition to this document, see the Plan prospectus and
your Equity Award Agreement for more details.

“Awards” -- The grant of any form of stock option, stock or cash award, whether granted singly, in combination or in tandem,
to a Participant pursuant to such terms, conditions, performance requirements, limitations and restrictions as the Committee
may establish in order to fulfill the objectives of the Plan.

“Board” -- The Board of Directors of Kyndryl Holdings, Inc.

“Common Stock” -- Authorized and issued or unissued Common Stock of Kyndryl, at such par value as may be established
from time to time.

“Committee” -- The committee designated by the Board to administer the Plan.

“Company” -- Kyndryl and its affiliates and subsidiaries including subsidiaries of subsidiaries and partnerships and other
business ventures in which Kyndryl has an equity interest.

“Engage in or Associate with” includes, without limitation, engagement or association as a sole proprietor, owner, employer,
director, partner, principal, joint venture, associate, employee, member, consultant, or contractor. This also includes
engagement or association as a shareholder or investor during the course of your service relationship with the Company,
and includes beneficial ownership of five percent (5%) or more of any class of outstanding stock of a competitor of the
Company following the cessation of your service relationship with the Company.

“Equity Award Agreement” -- The document provided to the Participant which provides the grant details.

“Fair Market Value” -- The average of the high and low prices of Common Stock on the New York Stock Exchange for the
date in question, provided that, if no sales of Common Stock were made on said exchange on that date, the average of the
high and low prices of Common Stock as reported for the most recent preceding day on which sales of Common Stock were
made on said exchange.

“Participant” -- An individual to whom an Award has been made under the Plan. Awards may be made to any employee of,
or any other individual providing services to, the Company. However, incentive stock options may be granted only to
individuals who are employed by Kyndryl or by a subsidiary corporation (within the meaning of section 424(f) of the Code) of
Kyndryl, including a subsidiary that becomes such after the adoption of the Plan.

“Plan” -- Any Kyndryl Long-Term Performance Plan.

“Termination of Service” -- For the purposes of determining when you cease to be a director for the cancellation of any 
Award, a Participant will be deemed to be terminated if the Participant is no longer providing services to Kyndryl or a 
subsidiary corporation that the Participant was providing services to when the Award was granted unless approved by a 
method designated by those administering the Plan.  For the avoidance of doubt, any references to “employment” or a 
“termination of employment” under the Plan, shall be interpreted to mean service or a Termination of Service, as applicable.
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Terms and Conditions of Your Equity Award:

Provisions that apply to all countries

The following terms apply to all countries.

Cancellation and Rescission

All determinations regarding enforcement, waiver or modification of the cancellation and rescission and other provisions of
the Plan and your Equity Award Agreement (including the provisions relating to termination of service, death and disability)
shall be made in Kyndryl’s sole discretion. Determinations made under your Equity Award Agreement and the Plan need not
be uniform and may be made selectively among individuals, whether or not such individuals are similarly situated.

You agree that the cancellation and rescission provisions of the Plan and your Equity Award Agreement are reasonable and
agree not to challenge the reasonableness of such provisions, even where forfeiture of your Award is the penalty for
violation. Engaging in Detrimental Activity (as defined in the Plan) during the period of your service relationship or after your
service relationship has ended may result in cancellation or rescission of your Award.

The cancellation and rescission provisions of the Plan may be triggered by your acceptance of an offer to Engage in or
Associate with any business which is or becomes competitive with the Company. Notwithstanding the above, the
cancellation and rescission provisions of the Plan will apply to all Awards if during your service relationship with Kyndryl you
engage in any Detrimental Activity, including competitive activities, described in Section 13(a) of the Plan.

For the avoidance of doubt: (a) all other cancellation and rescission provisions of the Plan will apply to all Awards if after
your service relationship has ended with Kyndryl but during the Rescission Period you engage in any Detrimental Activity
described in Section 13(a) (excluding Section 13(a)(i)) of the Plan; and (b) the cancellation and rescission provisions of the
Plan will apply to all Awards if during your service relationship with Kyndryl you engage in any Detrimental Activity, including
competitive activities, described in Section 13(a)of the Plan.

Jurisdiction, Governing Law, Expenses, Taxes and Administration

Your Equity Award Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York, 
without regard to its conflict of law rules. You agree that any action or proceeding with respect to your Equity Award 
Agreement shall be brought exclusively in the state and federal courts sitting in New York County or Westchester County, 
New York.  You agree to the personal jurisdiction thereof, and irrevocably waive any objection to the venue of such action, 
including any objection that the action has been brought in an inconvenient forum.

If any court of competent jurisdiction finds any provision of your Equity Award Agreement, or portion thereof, to be
unenforceable, that provision shall be enforced to the maximum extent permissible so as to effect the intent of the parties,
and the remainder of your Equity Award Agreement shall continue in full force and effect.

If you or the Company brings an action to enforce your Equity Award Agreement and the Company prevails, you will pay all
costs and expenses incurred by the Company in connection with that action and in connection with collection, including
reasonable attorneys’ fees.

If the Company, in its sole discretion, determines that it has incurred or will incur any obligation to withhold taxes as a result
of your Award, without limiting the Company’s rights under Section 9 of the Plan, the Company may withhold the number of
shares that it determines is required to satisfy such liability and/or the Company may withhold amounts from other
compensation to the extent required to satisfy such
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liability under federal, state, provincial, local, foreign or other tax laws. To the extent that such amounts are not withheld, the
Company may require you to pay to the Company any amount demanded by the Company for the purpose of satisfying such
liability.

If the Company changes the vendor engaged to administer the Plan, you consent to moving all of the shares you have
received under the Plan that is in an account with such vendor (including unvested and previously vested shares), to the
new vendor that the Company engages to administer the Plan. Such consent will remain in effect unless and until revoked in
writing by you.
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Terms and Conditions of Your Equity Award:

Provisions that apply to all countries other than those in Latin America

The following provision applies to Awards granted to all individuals in all countries except those with a home country
of Latin America, specifically: Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Chile, Columbia, Costa Rica, Ecuador, Mexico, Paraguay,
Peru, Uruguay, and Venezuela.

Non-Solicitation

In consideration of your Award, you agree that during your service relationship with the Company and for one year
following the termination of your service for any reason, you will not directly or indirectly hire, solicit or make an offer
to any employee of the Company to be employed or perform services outside of the Company. Also, you agree that
during the period of your service relationship with the Company and for one year following the termination of your
service for any reason, you will not directly or indirectly, solicit, for competitive business purposes, any customer of
the Company with which you were involved as part of your responsibilities during the last year of your service with
the Company. By accepting your Award, you acknowledge that the Company would suffer irreparable harm if you fail
to comply with the foregoing, and that the Company would be entitled to any appropriate relief, including money
damages, equitable relief and attorneys’ fees.

Termination of Service including Death, Disability and Leave of Absence

Termination of Service

In the event you cease to be a director (other than on account of death or are disabled as described in Section 12 of
the Plan) prior to the Vesting Date(s) set in your Equity Award Agreement, all then unvested RSUs under your
Award shall be canceled.

Death or Disability

Upon your death all RSUs covered by this Agreement shall vest immediately and your Vesting Date shall be your
date of death. If you are disabled as described in Section 12 of the Plan, your RSUs shall continue to vest according
to the terms of your Award.

Leave of Absence

In the event of an approved leave of absence, any unvested RSUs shall continue to vest as if you were actively
providing services to the Company, subject to the terms in this document and your Equity Award Agreement. If you
return to active status, your unvested RSUs will continue to vest in accordance with the terms in this document and
your Equity Award Agreement.

Change in Control

Upon a Change in Control, all RSUs covered by this Agreement shall vest immediately and your Vesting Date shall
be the date of such Change in Control.

Dividend Equivalents

Dividend equivalents shall accrue on RSUs until the underlying award vests, upon which time they shall be paid out
in cash.
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Settlement of Award

Subject to Sections 12 and 13 of the Plan and the section “Termination of Service including Death, Disability and
Leave of Absence” above, upon the Vesting Date(s), or as soon thereafter as may be practicable but in no event
later than March 15 of the following calendar year, Kyndryl shall make a payment to Participant in shares of
Common Stock equal to the number of vested RSUs, subject to any applicable tax withholding requirements as
described in Section 9 of the Plan, and the respective RSUs shall thereupon be canceled. RSUs are not shares of
Common Stock and do not convey any stockholder rights.
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Terms and Conditions of Your Equity Award:

Provisions that apply to specific countries

a. Denmark

The following non-solicitation clause will replace the above-non-solicitation provision for individuals with the home
country of Denmark:

“In consideration of your Award, you agree that during your period of service with the Company, you will not directly
or indirectly, solicit, for competitive business purposes, any customer of the Company. By accepting your Award, you
acknowledge that the Company would suffer irreparable harm if you fail to comply with the foregoing, and that the
Company would be entitled to any appropriate relief, including money damages, equitable relief and attorneys’ fees.”

b. Israel

Data Privacy
In addition to the data privacy provisions in your Equity Award Agreement, you agree that data, including your
personal data, necessary to administer this Award may be exchanged among Kyndryl and its subsidiaries and
affiliates as necessary (including transferring such data out of the country of origin both in and out of the EEA), and
with any vendor engaged by Kyndryl to administer this Award.

c. United States

Nothing in the Plan prospectus, your Equity Award Agreement or this Document affects your rights, immunities, or
obligations under any federal, state, or local law, including under the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016, as
described in Company policies, or prohibits you from reporting possible violations of law or regulation to a
government agency, as protected by law.

If you are, and have been for at least 30 days immediately preceding, a resident of, or an employee or service
provider in Massachusetts at the time of the termination of your service with Kyndryl, cancellation and rescission
provisions of the Plan will not apply if you engage in competitive activities after your service relationship has ended
with Kyndryl. For the avoidance of doubt, cancellation and rescission provisions of the Plan will apply if you engage
in (1) any Detrimental Activity prior to your employment relationship ending with Kyndryl or (2) any Detrimental
Activity described in Section 13(a) of the Plan other than engaging in competitive activities after your employment
relationship has ended with Kyndryl.
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SUBSIDIARIES
 

Subsidiaries—as of December 31, 2021 

Company Name

State or Country of
Incorporation or

Organization
Kyndryl Argentina S.R.L.  Argentina
Kyndryl Australia Pty Ltd  Australia
Kyndryl Austria GmbH  Austria
Kyndryl Belgium BV/SRL  Belgium
Kyndryl Brasil Serviços Limitada  Brazil
Kyndryl Bulgaria EOOD  Bulgaria
Kyndryl Canada Limited  Canada
Kyndryl Chile SpA  Chile
Kyndryl (China) Information Technology Company Limited  China
Kyndryl Colombia SAS  Colombia
Kyndryl Costa Rica, Sociedad de Responsabilidad Limitada  Costa Rica
Kyndryl doo  Croatia
Kyndryl Česká republika, spol. s r.o.  Czech Republic
Kyndryl Danmark Aps  Denmark
Kyndryl Ecuador S.A.S.  Ecuador
Kyndryl Egypt LLC  Egypt
Kyndryl Estonia OU  Estonia
Kyndryl Finland Oy  Finland
Kyndryl France S.A.S.  France
Kyndryl Deutschland GmbH  Germany
Kyndryl Hellas Single Member Societe Anonyme  Greece
Kyndryl Hong Kong Limited  Hong Kong
Kyndryl Hungary Kft.  Hungary
Kyndryl Solutions Private Limited  India
PT Kyndryl Solutions Indonesia  Indonesia
Kyndryl Ireland Limited  Ireland
Kyndryl Treasury Services Designated Activity Company  Ireland
Kyndryl Israel Ltd.  Israel
Kyndryl Italia S.P.A.  Italy
Kyndryl Japan GK  Japan
Kyndryl Korea LLC  Korea
Kyndryl Latvia SIA  Latvia
Kyndryl Lithuania UAB  Lithuania
Kyndryl Luxembourg S.a.r.l.  Luxembourg
Kyndryl Macau Limited  Macao
Kyndryl Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.  Malaysia
Kyndryl Mexico S. de R.L. de C.V.  Mexico



Kyndryl 1 B.V.  Netherlands
Kyndryl Nederland B.V.  Netherlands
Kyndryl New Zealand Limited  New Zealand
Kyndryl Norway AS  Norway
Kyndryl Pakistan (Private) Limited  Pakistan
Kyndryl Peru S.A.C.  Peru
Kyndryl Philippines, Incorporated  Philippines
Kyndryl Poland Sp. z.o.o.  Poland
KNDRL Services Portugal, S.A.  Portugal
Kyndryl Romania S.R.L.  Romania
Kyndryl Saudi Arabia LLC  Saudi Arabia
Kyndryl (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.  Singapore
Kyndryl Services Slovensko, spol. s r.o.  Slovakia
Kyndryl Ljubljana, storitve informacijske tehnologije, d.o.o.  Slovenia
Kyndryl South Africa (Pty) Limited  South Africa
Kyndryl España, S.A.  Spain
Kyndryl Svenska Aktiebolag  Sweden
Kyndryl Switzerland GmbH  Switzerland
Kyndryl Taiwan Corporation  Taiwan
Kyndryl (Thailand) Company Limited  Thailand
Kyndryl Turkey Limited Turkey
Kyndryl Middle East LLC  UAE
Kyndryl Ukraine LLC  Ukraine
Kyndryl UK Limited  United Kingdom
Kyndryl, Inc.  United States
Kyndryl Uruguay S.A.  Uruguay
Kyndryl Venezuela S.C.A  Venezuela
Kyndryl Vietnam Company Limited  Vietnam

The names of particular subsidiaries have been omitted because, considered in the aggregate as a single subsidiary,
they would not constitute, as of the end of the year covered by this report, a “significant subsidiary” as that term is
defined in Rule 1-02(w) of Regulation S-X under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-260412) of Kyndryl Holdings,
Inc. of our report dated March 10, 2022 relating to the financial statements, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
New York, New York
March 10, 2022
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and appoints Edward Sebold and Evan Barth, and
each of them, any of whom may act without joinder of the other, the individual’s true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and
agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for the person and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and
all capacities, to sign this Annual Report on Form 10-K and any or all amendments thereto, and all other documents in
connection therewith to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and
agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary
to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby
ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact as agents or any of them, or their substitute or substitutes, may
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof. This Power of Attorney may be signed in any number of counterparts,
each of which shall constitute and original and all of which, taken together, shall constitute one Power of Attorney.

  Signature     Title   Date

By /s/ Martin J. Schroeter Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board February 24, 2022
Martin J. Schroeter (Principal Executive Officer)

By /s/ David B. Wyshner Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer February 24, 2022
David B. Wyshner (Principal Financial Officer)

By /s/ Vineet Khurana Vice President and Controller February 24, 2022
Vineet Khurana (Principal Accounting Officer)

By /s/ Dominic J. Caruso Director February 24, 2022
Dominic J. Caruso

By /s/ John D. Harris II Director February 24, 2022
John D. Harris II

By
/s/ Stephen A.M. Hester Director February 24, 2022
Stephen A.M. Hester

By /s/ Shirley Ann Jackson Director February 24, 2022
Shirley Ann Jackson

By /s/ Janina Kugel Director February 24, 2022
Janina Kugel

By /s/ Denis Machuel Director February 24, 2022
Denis Machuel

By /s/ Rahul N. Merchant Director February 24, 2022
Rahul N. Merchant

By /s/ Jana Schreuder Director February 24, 2022
Jana Schreuder

By /s/ Howard I. Ungerleider Director February 24, 2022
Howard I. Ungerleider
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CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, Martin J. Schroeter, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Kyndryl Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 10, 2022

/s/ Martin J. Schroeter
Martin J. Schroeter
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, David B. Wyshner, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Kyndryl Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 10, 2022

/s/ David B. Wyshner
David B. Wyshner
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

KYNDRYL HOLDINGS, INC.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Kyndryl Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2021, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Martin J.
Schroeter, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

Date: March 10, 2022

/s/ Martin J. Schroeter
Martin J. Schroeter
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 32.2

KYNDRYL HOLDINGS, INC.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Kyndryl Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2021, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, David B.
Wyshner, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

Date: March 10, 2022

/s/ David B. Wyshner
David B. Wyshner
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 99.1

SECTION 13(r) DISCLOSURE

International Business Machines Corporation, which was, during a portion of the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2021, an affiliate of Kyndryl Holdings, Inc. (“Kyndryl”), filed the disclosure reproduced below
with the Securities and Exchange Commission with respect to the quarterly periods ended June 30, 2021,
September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2021 in accordance with Section 13(r) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended. Kyndryl did not independently verify or participate in the preparation of the disclosure
reproduced below.

International Business Machines Corporation included the following disclosure in its Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2021:

“Disclosure pursuant to Section 13(r) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

On March 2, 2021, the U.S. government designated the Russian Federal Security Service (FSB) as a
blocked party under Executive Order 13382. On the same day, the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Office of
Foreign Assets Control issued Cyber-related General License 1B “Authorizing Certain Transactions with the
Federal Security Service” (GL 1B), which generally authorizes U.S. companies to engage in certain licensing,
permitting, certification, notification and related transactions with the FSB to the extent such activities are
required for the importation, distribution or use of information technology products in the Russian Federation,
though the fact of such activities are now to be disclosed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 in
companies’ periodic filings.

During the quarter ended June 30, 2021, as permitted under GL 1B, IBM filed notifications with the
FSB as required in connection with the importation and distribution of our products in the Russian Federation.
No payments were issued or received, and no gross revenue or net profits were generated in connection with
these filing activities. IBM and its subsidiaries do not sell products or provide services to the FSB. To the extent
permitted by applicable law, IBM and its subsidiaries expect to continue to file notifications with the FSB and
may apply for import licenses and permits from the FSB in connection the importation and distribution of our
products in the Russian Federation.”

International Business Machines Corporation included the following disclosure in its Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2021:

“Disclosure pursuant to Section 13(r) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

On March 2, 2021, the U.S. government designated the Russian Federal Security Service (FSB) as a
blocked party under Executive Order 13382. On the same day, the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Office of
Foreign Assets Control issued Cyber-related General License 1B “Authorizing Certain Transactions with the
Federal Security Service” (GL 1B), which generally authorizes U.S. companies to engage in certain licensing,
permitting, certification, notification and related transactions with the FSB to the extent such activities are
required for the importation, distribution or use of information technology products in the Russian Federation,
though the fact of such activities are now to be disclosed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 in
companies’ periodic filings.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2021, as permitted under GL 1B, IBM filed notifications with
the FSB as required in connection with the importation and distribution of our products in the Russian
Federation. No payments were issued or received, and no gross revenue or net profits were generated in
connection with these filing activities. IBM and its subsidiaries do not sell products or provide services to the
FSB. To the extent permitted by applicable law, IBM and its subsidiaries expect to continue to file notifications
with the FSB and may apply for import licenses and permits from the FSB in connection the importation and
distribution of our products in the Russian Federation.”



International Business Machines Corporation included the following disclosure in its Annual Report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021:

“Disclosure pursuant to Section 13(r) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

On March 2, 2021, the U.S. government designated the Russian Federal Security Service (FSB) as a
blocked party under Executive Order 13382. On the same day, the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Office of
Foreign Assets Control issued Cyber-related General License 1B “Authorizing Certain Transactions with the
Federal Security Service” (GL 1B), which generally authorizes U.S. companies to engage in certain licensing,
permitting, certification, notification and related transactions with the FSB to the extent such activities are
required for the importation, distribution or use of information technology products in the Russian Federation,
though the fact of such activities are now to be disclosed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 in
companies’ periodic filings.

During the quarter ended December 31, 2021, as permitted under GL 1B, IBM filed notifications with
the FSB as required in connection with the importation and distribution of our products in the Russian
Federation. No payments were issued or received, and no gross revenue or net profits were generated in
connection with these filing activities. IBM and its subsidiaries do not sell products or provide services to the
FSB. To the extent permitted by applicable law, IBM and its subsidiaries expect to continue to file notifications
with the FSB and may apply for import licenses and permits from the FSB in connection the importation and
distribution of our products in the Russian Federation.”


